# NOVEL STRATEGIES FOR ANTI-TUMOR VACCINES

EDITED BY: Roberto S. Accolla, Michal Bassani-Sternberg, Hans-Georg Rammensee, Cornelis Melief and Luigi Buonaguro PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology and Frontiers in Oncology







#### Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88963-488-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88963-488-0

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### **Frontiers Journal Series**

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### **Dedication to Quality**

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

# NOVEL STRATEGIES FOR ANTI-TUMOR VACCINES

**Topic Editors:** 

Roberto S. Accolla, University of Insubria, Italy Michal Bassani-Sternberg, Lausanne University Hospital (CHUV), Switzerland Hans-Georg Rammensee, University of Tübingen, Germany Cornelis Melief, ISA Pharmaceuticals, Netherlands Luigi Buonaguro, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

**Citation:** Accolla, R. S., Bassani-Sternberg, M., Rammensee, H.-G., Melief, C., Buonaguro, L., eds. (2020). Novel Strategies for Anti-Tumor Vaccines. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88963-488-0

# Table of Contents

- 05 Editorial: Novel Strategies for Anti-Tumor Vaccines Roberto S. Accolla, Luigi Buonaguro, Cornelis Melief, Hans-George Rammensee and Michal Bassani-Sternberg
- 08 The Promise of Anti-idiotype Revisited Heinz Kohler, Anastas Pashov and Thomas Kieber-Emmons
- 15 Attacking Tumors From All Sides: Personalized Multiplex Vaccines to Tackle Intratumor Heterogeneity

Felix L. Fennemann, I. Jolanda M. de Vries, Carl G. Figdor and Martijn Verdoes

24 Increased Akt-Driven Glycolysis is the Basis for the Higher Potency of CD137L-DCs

Qun Zeng, Karthik Mallilankaraman and Herbert Schwarz

38 Combining the Specific Anti-MUC1 Antibody TAB004 and Lip-MSA-IL-2 Limits Pancreatic Cancer Progression in Immune Competent Murine Models of Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma

Didier Dréau, Laura Jeffords Moore, Mike Wu, Lopa Das Roy, Lloye Dillion, Travis Porter, Rahul Puri, Noor Momin, K. Dane Wittrup and Pinku Mukherjee

- **53** Biomaterial-Based Activation and Expansion of Tumor-Specific T Cells Marjolein Schluck, Roel Hammink, Carl G. Figdor, Martijn Verdoes and Jorieke Weiden
- 64 Determinants for Neoantigen Identification Andrea Garcia-Garijo, Carlos Alberto Fajardo and Alena Gros
- 83 Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Based Cancer Vaccines Xiaoming Ouyang, Melinda L. Telli and Joseph C. Wu
- **91** CIITA-Driven MHC Class II Expressing Tumor Cells as Antigen Presenting Cell Performers: Toward the Construction of an Optimal Anti-tumor Vaccine Roberto S. Accolla, Elise Ramia, Alessandra Tedeschi and Greta Forlani
- 99 Development of a Human Cytomegalovirus (HCMV)-Based Therapeutic Cancer Vaccine Uncovers a Previously Unsuspected Viral Block of MHC Class I Antigen Presentation

Mohammed O. Abdelaziz, Sophia Ossmann, Andreas M. Kaufmann, Judith Leitner, Peter Steinberger, Gerald Willimsky, Martin J. Raftery and Günther Schönrich

 114 Immune Conversion of Tumor Microenvironment by Oncolytic Viruses: The Protoparvovirus H-1PV Case Study
Antonio Marchini, Laurent Daeffler, Vitaly I. Pozdeev, Assia Angelova and Jean Rommelaere

131 A Phase Ib Study of the Combination of Personalized Autologous Dendritic Cell Vaccine, Aspirin, and Standard of Care Adjuvant Chemotherapy Followed by Nivolumab for Resected Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma—A Proof of Antigen Discovery Feasibility in Three Patients

Michal Bassani-Sternberg, Antonia Digklia, Florian Huber, Dorothea Wagner, Christine Sempoux, Brian J. Stevenson, Anne-Christine Thierry, Justine Michaux, HuiSong Pak, Julien Racle, Caroline Boudousquie, Klara Balint, George Coukos, David Gfeller, Silvia Martin Lluesma, Alexandre Harari, Nicolas Demartines and Lana E. Kandalaft

#### 148 A Non-interventional Clinical Trial Assessing Immune Responses After Radiofrequency Ablation of Liver Metastases From Colorectal Cancer

Markus W. Löffler, Bianca Nussbaum, Günter Jäger, Philipp S. Jurmeister, Jan Budczies, Philippe L. Pereira, Stephan Clasen, Daniel J. Kowalewski, Lena Mühlenbruch, Ingmar Königsrainer, Stefan Beckert, Ruth Ladurner, Silvia Wagner, Florian Bullinger, Thorben H. Gross, Christopher Schroeder, Bence Sipos, Alfred Königsrainer, Stefan Stevanović, Carsten Denkert, Hans-Georg Rammensee, Cécile Gouttefangeas and Sebastian P. Haen





# **Editorial: Novel Strategies for Anti-Tumor Vaccines**

Roberto S. Accolla<sup>1\*</sup>, Luigi Buonaguro<sup>2</sup>, Cornelis Melief<sup>3,4</sup>, Hans-George Rammensee<sup>5</sup> and Michal Bassani-Sternberg<sup>6</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Medicine and Surgery, School of Medicine, University of Insubria, Varese, Italy, <sup>2</sup> Cancer Immunoregulation Unit, Istituto Nazionale Tumori, IRCCS, "Fond G. Pascale", Naples, Italy, <sup>3</sup> Department of Immunohematology and Blood Transfusion, Leiden University Medical Center, Leiden, Netherlands, <sup>4</sup> ISA Pharmaceuticals, Leiden, Netherlands, <sup>5</sup> Department of Immunology, Institute for Cell Biology, University of Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>6</sup> Department of Oncology, Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

Keywords: tumor vaccine, HLA peptidome, tumor antigens, neoantigens, APC, T helper cells (Th)

Editorial on the Research Topic

#### Novel Strategies for Anti-Tumor Vaccines

The old dream of tumor immunologists is the construction of efficient anti-tumor vaccines to fight cancer. Anti-tumor vaccine strategies are necessarily focused, however, on patients who are already affected by the pathology in which the tumor not only has eluded the host initial immune response but often further creates suppressive mechanisms that keep counteracting the action of the immune system.

This Research Topic was intended to focus on several aspects of anti-tumor vaccinology and particularly on ways to increase the potency of anti-tumor vaccines by acting both on facilitating tumor antigen selection and presentation to cells of adaptive immunity and on reducing the effect of suppressive mechanisms on these immune responses. We are convinced, however, that to fight cancer single immune-based approaches cannot stand alone and thus vaccine approaches need to be complemented by other immune approaches.

Identification of the optimal repertoire of tumor antigens, in particular neoantigens, for the best use in anti-tumor vaccination is extensively discussed by Garcia-Garijo et al., who provide an overview of the existing strategies to identify neoantigens and to evaluate their immunogenicity. Indeed, only a small fraction of all tumor somatic non-synonymous mutations (NSM) identified represent *bona fide* immunogenic neoantigens, and even fewer mediate tumor rejection. Thus, the impact of neoantigens for vaccine purposes may be overestimated (1). A rich source of tumor antigens that are non-mutated but still highly tumor specific comes from analysis of the HLA ligandome landscape of tumors. To complement these studies, Fennemann et al. describe how personalized tumor vaccines containing multiple neoantigens can broaden and enhance the anti-tumor immune response. They also focus on the issue of the intratumor mutational landscape containing different tumor cell subclones, temporal and spatial diversity of neoantigen presentation and burden, and the relation to tumor immunogenicity, all parameters to be taken into account to improve clinical efficacy of personalized tumor vaccines.

The use of embryonic and pluripotent stem cells for the identification of additional suitable antigens to induce an optimal anti-tumor response are described by Ouyang et al. Approaches that combine an autologous induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC) vaccine with an immune adjuvant

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited and reviewed by:

Denise Doolan, James Cook University, Australia

> \*Correspondence: Roberto S. Accolla roberto.accolla@uninsubria.it

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vaccines and Molecular Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 12 December 2019 Accepted: 20 December 2019 Published: 17 January 2020

#### Citation:

Accolla RS, Buonaguro L, Melief C, Rammensee H-G and Bassani-Sternberg M (2020) Editorial: Novel Strategies for Anti-Tumor Vaccines. Front. Immunol. 10:3117. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.03117

5

have demonstrated great promise to elicit potent anti-tumor responses for cancer treatment. Insights on future directions are described by the authors.

Targeting tumor-associated antigens with specific antibodies in association with stimulating cytokines in novel formulations can be beneficial particularly in case of neoplastic diseases characterized by the pronounced expression of these antigens as it is the case of the unique tumor-associated form of MUC1 in pancreatic ductal carcinoma (PDA) described by Dreau et al.. Interestingly, the treatment results in infiltration of cells that can mediate ADCC function of phagocytes and reduction of suppressive regulatory cells, stressing the fact that effective antitumor treatment can also include a drastic modification of the tumor microenvironment.

Mimicking tumor antigens by approaches of anti-idiotype responses is revisited by Kohler et al.. They discuss advantages and limitations of this approach and explain how this old/novel strategy can be adapted in Biotech-standard production of therapeutic antibodies. As all nominal antigens, tumor antigens become immunogenic only if appropriately processed and presented by antigen presenting cells (APC). A novel therapeutic strategy of combining personalized vaccines in combination with standard therapy and anti-PD1 checkpoint inhibitors is proposed by Bassani-Sternberg et al. as a Phase1b study in resected pancreatic adenocarcinoma (PDAC) patients. The vaccine platform is based on autologous dendritic cells (DCs) loaded with mutated neoantigens and tumor-specific antigens identified through their original proteo-genomics antigen discovery pipeline. The addition of nivolumab to boost and maintain the vaccine effect underscores once more the belief that multiple immunological approaches should be used for optimal triggering and maintenance of the anti-tumor immune response.

Ameliorating and/or selecting the optimal DC subpopulation to present tumor antigens are discussed also by Zeng et al. who focus on a new type of DC, designated CD137 ligand-induced DC (CD137L-DCs), that induce strong cytotoxic T cell responses. They show that superior potency of CD137L-DCs in APC activity compared to other types of DCs is due to their intrinsic increased Akt-driven glycolysis, thus suggesting that Akt-driven glycolysis could be a therapeutic target to manipulate the function of CD137L-DCs for better clinical efficacy.

Increasing tumor antigen availability and T cell priming are crucial parameters for the efficient response to anti-cancer vaccines. Accolla et al. reviewed their work on tumor cells genetically modified by transfection with the MHC class II transactivator CIITA. These modified tumor cells can not only process and present antigens to naïve Th cells but they can also prime virgin tumor specific T cells. Their experimental approach has been extended to isolate MHC-II-bound relevant tumor peptides to formulate novel multipeptide vaccines (MHC-I + MHC-II- bound) against human hepatocarcinoma, presently in clinical trial<sup>1</sup>.

Alternative procedures of tumor antigen presentation and T cell priming are also discussed by Schluck et al. who concentrate on artificial APC methods employing biomaterials,

highly promising tools to activate T cells and evoke robust *in vitro* and *in vivo* immune responses. In this perspective, they presented an overview of molecular cues that could be used to selectively expand T cell subsets that are beneficial for strong anti-tumor immune responses.

Ways to facilitate triggering of anti-tumor immune response *in vivo* have been also analyzed by Loeffler et al. who studied the immune response of patients undergoing radio-frequency ablation (RFA) of liver metastasis from colorectal cancers. RFA induced and/or boosted T cell responses specific for individual tumor antigens were frequently detectable, but not sufficient for the rejection of established tumors, indicating once more that combination therapies, such as immune checkpoint inhibitors should be considered.

Oncolytic virus (OV) therapy is also becoming an interesting strategy not only to treat but also to trigger and/or increase the anti-tumor immune response for vaccination purposes as Marchini et al. summarized in their review. They also provide information about OV-mediated immune conversion of the tumor microenvironment. As a case study they focus on the rodent protoparvovirus H-1PV and its dual role as an oncolytic and immunomodulatory agent.

Construction of therapeutic vaccines against tumors must take into account reduced or loss of MHC-I expression in tumor cells as an important mechanism of immune escape. Abdelaziz et al. stress this point and present intriguing new data on unexpected block of MHC-I-restricted tumor antigen presentation without reduction of cell surface expression of MHC-I molecule by using a Human Cytomegalovirus (HCMV)based vector including a HPV E6/E7 fusion protein in a murine glioblastoma model. The molecular mechanism of lack of MHC-I presentation is not fully clear but it seems to correlate with defects of proteasome function generated by the HCMV vector. Of course this should be taken in serious considerations when approaches of tumor peptide vaccination using HCMV as host for gene sequences of tumor peptides are used.

In conclusion, we are confident that this Research Topic will help to better delineate the past and present problems related to the efficacy of anti-tumor vaccines and, based on this background, develop new ideas and strategies to improve their construction and efficacy for tomorrow.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We wish to convey our appreciation to all the authors who have participated in this Research Topic and the reviewers for their insightful comments.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>http://www.hepavac.eu.

# REFERENCES

 Finn OJ, Rammensee HG. Is it possible to develop cancer vaccines to neoantigens, what are the major challenges, and how can these be overcome? Neoantigens: nothing new in spite of the name. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2018) 10:a028829. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a028829

Conflict of Interest: CM is employed by ISA Pharmaceuticals.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest. Copyright © 2020 Accolla, Buonaguro, Melief, Rammensee and Bassani-Sternberg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# The Promise of Anti-idiotype Revisited

#### Heinz Kohler<sup>1\*</sup>, Anastas Pashov<sup>2</sup> and Thomas Kieber-Emmons<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Kentucky, Lexington, KY, United States, <sup>2</sup> Stephan Angelov Institute of Microbiology, Bulgarian Academy of Sciences, Sofia, Bulgaria, <sup>3</sup> Department of Pathology, Winthrop P. Rockefeller Cancer Institute, University of Arkansas for Medical Sciences, Little Rock, AR, United States

The promise of idiotype-based therapeutics has been disappointing forcing a new look at the concept and its potential to generate an effective approach for immunotherapy. Here, the idiotype network theory is revisited with regard to the development of efficacious anti-idiotype vaccines. The experience of polyclonal anti-Idiotype reagents in animal models as well as an understanding of the immune response in humans lends to the proposition that polyclonal anti-Idiotype vaccines. This novel strategy can be adapted in Biotech-standard production of therapeutic antibodies.

Keywords: idiotype, polyclonal, vaccines, polyreactive, multi-epitope binding, therapeutic, mimetic

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Roberto S. Accolla, University of Insubria, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Yvonne Paterson, University of Pennsylvania, United States Wayne Robert Thomas, Telethon Kids Institute, Australia

> \*Correspondence: Heinz Kohler heinz.kohler@uky.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vaccines and Molecular Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 10 February 2019 Accepted: 26 March 2019 Published: 12 April 2019

#### Citation:

Kohler H, Pashov A and Kieber-Emmons T (2019) The Promise of Anti-idiotype Revisited. Front. Immunol. 10:808. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00808 **1. INTRODUCTION** 

The strategy of using anti-idiotype (anti-Id) antibodies as surrogate antigens stems from the Idiotype cascade proposed by Niels Jerne (1). Accordingly, anti-Id antibodies were originally described as  $Ab2\alpha$  and  $Ab2\beta$ , whereby the former does not block antigen binding and the latter can inhibit binding of the corresponding Ab1 to its antigen. This lent to the conclusion that  $Ab2\beta$  mimics structurally the antigen for Ab1. The concept and its experimental use have been extensively reviewed, (2–5). Noted advantages of using anti-Ids over nominal antigens as therapeutic vaccines include difficulties to produce vaccines containing non-protein antigens. Anti-Ids can be produced that mimic lipid, carbohydrate or nucleic acid epitopes or even drugs. Tolerance to antigens is a major hurdle in vaccine development. Antibody-B Cell Receptor binding occurs at multiple sites, while antigen strictly binds to Complementary Determining Regions (CDRs) of antibodies. This allows stimulation of a broader determinate targeting antibody response that might include epitope spreading. Finally, anti-Ids can be persistent in inducing an immune response against antigens while avoiding autoimmune responses triggered by nominal antigen based vaccines (6).

A major obstacle both theoretically and practically is reconciling the immunization concept with the postulated restriction of the putative idiotypic network of natural antibody producing B cell clones (7). Natural antibodies, in the strictest sense, are constitutively produced (8), but this strict definition leaves out some polyreactive antibodies induced in marginal zone B cells and in T-cell independent responses, which can also be defined as natural antibodies in a broader sense (9–11). The gray zone of the natural antibody concept probably contains the answers to some of the paradoxes of idiotypy. Thus, several animal studies using anti-Id antibodies support their utility, as vaccines while human trials with monoclonal Ab2 $\beta$  were disappointing and have failed in later phase trials. Here, we analyze this failure and propose an alternative strategy for an idiotype-based immunotherapy.

8

## 2. SETTING THE STAGE FOR THE IDIOTYPE INTERACTIONS IN REGULATING AN IMMUNE RESPONSE

In 1963 two laboratories reported evidence for a new marker on antibodies distinct from allotypes (12, 13). The term IDIOTYPE for determinants recognized by antibodies was adopted. Recognizing that antibodies against antibodies exist and playing a number game on the multitude of B-cells producing antibodies, Jerne concluded that there must be a functional network of idiotype (Id) and anti-idiotypes (anti-Id) (14). Thus, the idiotype network hypothesis was born. Yet, evidence was lacking for network interactions during an induced immune response and that an anti-Id response might have a regulating function. In 1972 several reports appeared on the potential of anti-Id antibodies to suppress a specific immune response (15-17). Such results suggested that anti-Ids can affect an immune response, but did not establish that immune-modulation is part of an antigen-induced immune response. Two reports supported this latter premise (17, 18). An idiotypic cascade was perceived: Ab1>Ab2 $\beta$  >Ab3. Ab3 would resemble Ab1 and were labeled Ab1'. Jerne distinguished two types of anti-Ids (1, 14): Based on this concept, Ab2β's resemble structurally the antigen; thus the term Internal Image of antigen emerged as an explanation for this mimicry.

Shortly after this concept emerged several laboratories put this to the test by using Ab2ß as antigen to induce target-specific immune responses (19-23). The dual functional property of Ab2 was demonstrated as either suppression (15) or induction of a specific response (24) to be dependent on the IgG-class (25). The idiotypic cascade implies that Ab1 used therapeutically might induce an antigen specific antibody response (26). Clinically, support for the idiotypic cascade is suggested in that patients developing low-level Human Anti-Mouse Antibody (HAMA) to a GD2 reactive Ab1 were shown to have higher longterm survival rates than those who did not (27, 28). GD2 is a disialoganglioside expressed on tumors of neuroectodermal origin, including human neuroblastoma and melanoma, with highly restricted expression on normal tissues, principally to the cerebellum and peripheral nerves in humans. The relatively tumor specific expression of GD2 makes it a suitable target for monoclonal antibody therapy and potentially a proving ground to probe and dissect network interactions.

The idiotype cascade has been suggested to be part of the functional utility of at least one monoclonal antibody presently approved by the US FDA [dinutuximab targeting the GD2 antigen: (29)]. The FDA approved Dinutuximab (Ch14.18, trade name Unituxin) and Dinutuximab beta (trade name Isquette), a monoclonal antibody used as a second-line treatment for children with high-risk neuroblastoma. However, differences in immune responses to Ab1 might be attributed to differences in Germline origins of the selected monoclonal Ab1 used in therapeutic application. A clinical trial with Ch14.18, a chimeric, in combination with IL-2, while showing a strong activation of antibody effector functions, did not show a better clinical outcome (30). Development of human anti-chimeric antibody (HACA) (21% of patients) did result in strong

reduction of ch14.18 levels, abrogating complement dependent cytotoxicity and antibody dependent cellular cytotoxicity (31). The monoclonal studied in Cheung et al. (27, 28) is of the IGVH2-9\*02 germline while the ch14.18 variable region is derived from the IGHV1S135\*01 germ line. Little attention is paid to such difference yet we know that no two antibodies need to be alike immunologically.

# 3. LESSONS LEARNED FROM THERAPEUTIC ANTI-ID ANTIBODIES

While the earlier anti-Id data were generated with polyclonal antibodies, later experiments used monoclonal anti-Ids (32, 33). The successful use of monoclonal anti-Ids as vaccines in inbred mice prompted several clinical trials with monoclonal Ab2 $\beta$  antibodies. The early studies on the immunomodulatory activities of Ab2, while consistently demonstrating immunological activity in animals, clinical trials with anti-Ids in the cancer space proved to be mixed (34). Herlyn and coworkers demonstrated that humoral immune reactivity against a tumor can be enhanced upon active anti-id vaccination (35). In these studies 30 patients with advanced colorectal carcinoma (CRC) were treated with alum-precipitated polyclonal goat anti-Id antibodies to monoclonal anti-CRC antibody CO17-1A (Ab1) in doses between 0.5 and 4 mg per injection. All patients developed Ab3 with binding specificities on the surface of cultured tumor cells similar to the specificity of Ab1. Furthermore, the Ab3 competed with Ab1 for binding to CRC cells. Fractions of Ab3-containing sera obtained after elution of the serum immunoglobulin from CRC cells bound to purified tumor antigen and inhibited binding of Ab2 to Ab1. Six patients showed partial clinical remission and seven patients showed arrest of metastases following immunotherapy (35). Therefore, it was concluded that the Ab3 could share binding similarities with Ab1.

In other studies, an anti-Id vaccine to induce anti-Carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) antibodies (Ab3) was tested in non-human primates (36). CEA is a tumor marker largely utilized for the detection of minimal disease associated with colon cancer and considered a target for immunotherapy. The murine monoclonal antibody specific for CEA, was generated via hybridoma technology and selected for inhibition of the binding to CEA. These successful preclinical studies led to clinical trials in humans with CEA positive tumors (37). In this trial, 9 of 12 patients demonstrated an anti-anti-idiotypic (Ab3) response. All nine patients generated specific anti-CEA antibody demonstrated by reactivity with radiolabeled purified CEA. Toxicity was limited to local reaction with mild fever and chills. However, in all 12 patients the tumor progressed after completion of the trial. Four of seven responding patients were reported to have T cell responses to purified CEA suggesting that there was an antigen specific T cell response after immunization (37). A patent was filed for the anti-Id (Chatterjee et al. 5,977,315). Yet, a phase II trial with anti-Id did not improve relapse of tumor (38) and a phase III study with the anti-Id and 5-Fluorouracil (5-FU) did not improve the overall outcome of the study (39). In preclinical models CEA was found to be up-regulated after exposure of cancer cells to 5-FU (40). Therefore, the premise for combination therapy would be to increase the expression of the target antigen for Ab3 to bind to.

Further anti-Id-based vaccine studies in humans have included those associated with Tumor Associated Carbohydrate Antigens (TACAs), particularly the ganglioside targets GD3 and GD2. The anti-Id BEC2, a mimic for GD3, was found not to be highly immunogenic in melanoma patients suggesting adjuvants might be necessary (41-43). More recently BEC2 was considered as a therapeutic intervention in GBS by neutralizing specific pathogenic anti-ganglioside antibodies (44). The murine monoclonal anti-Id antibody 1A7 (TriGem), a mimic of GD2, has been tested in pre-clinical studies and in the clinic (45). In pre-clinical studies, active immunization of mice, rabbits, and monkeys with TriGem induced polyclonal IgG anti-GD2 responses and TriGem specific T cell proliferative responses suggesting the generation of CD4+ T cell help. In clinical trials, it was demonstrated that patients with advanced metastatic melanoma and patients with high-risk melanoma in the postsurgical adjuvant setting generated active immune responses against GD2 following immunization with TriGem. IgG subclasses were shown to be predominately IgG1 and IgG4, suggesting the possibility of the generation of CD4+ T cell help. Median survival was 16+ months for 47 patients with advanced disease. Eighty-two percent of 69 patients with stage III disease were alive at a median follow up of 2 years.

An anti-Id vaccine has reached the market. Racotumomab (Vaxira) is now the first approved anti-Id vaccine—with approval in Cuba and Argentina. Vaxira was shown to increase the survival of Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer patients in recurrent or advanced stages (IIIB/IV). A phase III trial is currently ongoing (NCT01460472). The vaccine was initiated by the Center for Molecular Immunology in Havana, Cuba. Racotumomab, an Ab2 $\gamma$ , was raised against the murine anti-ganglioside N-glycolyl (NGc) GM3 (NGcGM3) (46). The safety of Racotumomab was established in several phase I trials in melanoma, breast and lung cancers (47, 48). In the lung trial, patients developed antibodies against NGcGM3 and had longer medium survival times (49). Results from a randomized trial with Racotumomab showed necrosis of tumor cells as a mechanism for efficacy (50).

While preclinical studies suggested that anti-Ids could mediate cellular responses, little evidence in humans demonstrates this aspect (51, 52). The most direct example for the activation of CD8+ Cytotoxic T Lymphocytes (CTL) involvement comes from a clinical trial testing a combination of the murine anti-id monoclonal antibodies MEL-2 and MF11-30 that are mimics of the high molecular weight melanomaassociated antigen (HMW-MAA) (53). The two anti-ids mimic two distinct epitopes of HMW-MAA. This combination called MELIMMUNE was shown to induce HLA-A2-restricted CTLs that lyse melanoma cells expressing both HLA-A2 antigen and HMW-MAA (53). Collectively, preclinical and clinical trials, albeit very limited, indicate that anti-Id vaccines can induce B and T-cell immune responses both in general terms supporting CD4+ T cell activation for IgG production and tumor antigen specific CD8+ CTLs if the anti-Ids are properly chosen.

# 4. SOLVING THE PROBLEMS WITH CURRENT ANTI-ID VACCINES

While showing promise, to date no anti-Id-based vaccines has been approved by the US FDA for use in patients. Reasons for the failure of anti-Id vaccines against tumors are similar to generalized failures of other cancer vaccines. On the one hand it is possible that such failures reflect the patient populations used in the studies. We have now come to realize that checkpoint inhibitors are necessary to take the brakes off the immune system. On the other hand a major problem in cancer is the complexity and heterogeneity of antigen expression, the antigens that are potential targets of T and Bcells are multiple, diverse and endlessly adaptable. This reduces the ability of responding immune cells to consistently carry out their task to recognize, bind and destroy. A lesson might be forthcoming from consideration of the "normal" immune response to pathogens as many viruses, bacteria, and parasites induce a strong polyclonal B cell response, which can be crucial for early host defense against rapidly dividing microorganisms. In certain situations the response is restricted such as in HIV infections (54, 55). Interestingly, this clonal-restricted antibody response shares an idiotypic marker (56), termed Ab28. The polyclonal and sometimes oligoclonal antibodies in immune reactions would suggest that, in order to stimulate the polyclonal Ab1 spectrum, Ab2 should also be polyclonal. Early vaccine experiments were performed in rabbits and not subject to potential monoclonal anti-Id restrictions (25, 57). Later experiments suggested a strategy to simulate polyclonal immunization by combining monoclonals that are functional anti-Ids in that they compete with antigen clearly are not distinguished in their ability to activate functional T cell responses a priori (53, 58, 59). Yet making a panel of hybridomas by screening and selecting only high affinity binders may not be enough to distinguish between protective and non-protective anti-Ids (59).

The advantages of polyclonal vs. monoclonal antibodies has recently been reviewed (60). Previous discussions have suggested a soluble antigen reflective of multiple epitopes can be a more potent modulator of humoral and cellular immune responses than Ab2 that represents a singular epitope (61). Counter arguments have been made (62). However, these arguments often neglect a possible influence of a network and the structural basis for antibody recognition. The major characteristic of polyclonal responses is their clonal and structural diversity. Multi-epitope binding increases the overall avidity to the target. For optimizing the targeting of Ab2 to idiotype expressing B-cell receptors all classes of anti-Id, (Ab2a, Ab2 $\beta$ , Ab2 $\gamma$ , and Ab2 $\delta$ ) should be involved. Thus, a polyclonal or oligoclonal anti-Id vaccine would improve targeting, by invoking a "normal' polyclonal immune response. Polyclonal B cell response is a natural mode of an immune response in adaptive immunity. It is a practical and functionally important element of a healthy immune system, with considerable evidence to support its role in protection from at the least infectious agents. Consequently, we are proposing to change the strategy of monoclonal-based anti-Id vaccine development and use. Immunizing with polyclonal-based anti-Ids has the capacity to induce humoral antigen spread in patients by engaging multiple BCR's with the potential to activate both targeted and non-targeted antibody producing B and T cells. Immunizations with selected polyclonal anti-Ids to one or multiple target antigens might be a plausible strategy to amplify preexisting B cells and potentially preexisting T cell responses in addition to *de novo* generation of novel responses. This strategy abandons the concept that the idiotype vaccine represents the "Internal Image" of the antigen and supports our earlier suggestion of being a "Network Antigen" (63).

#### 5. RECIPES FOR MAKING POLYCLONAL ANTI-ID-BASED VACCINES

A key prerequisite for an idiotypic network is poly/autoreactivity of some B cell clones. Moreover, it implies positive selection on existing variable regions for which there is evidence (64-66). Positive selection of the B cell repertoire has been demonstrated numerous times over a span of years (67-71) but the nature and the intensity of the self-signal define the choice between elimination, annergy and survival. This implies that a certain range of signal intensities including from existing antibody variable regions can probably recruit the emergent repertoire (7). A constant component of natural IgM would provide the necessary signal exposing idiotopes in the CDR3 regions (72), albeit other regions can be defined as idiotope containing (73), of the required concentration. The unique structures would be too dilute but those shared by a number of clones or sets of clonal products recognized cross-reactively by the same paratope would provide signal sufficient either for positive selection or for negative if the signal were too strong. Maybe this precludes the selection by too broadly distributed public idiotopes. It is interesting to speculate that every strong antibody response might temporarily provide a similar signal. During this time of optimal intensity it may recruit corresponding anti-idiotypic immature B cells. This mechanism may constitute an indirect way to elicit anti-Ids by (inadvertently) manipulating the existing natural antibody network and its capacity to recruit anti-Ids. It may reconcile the "second generation" network concept (7) with experimental induction of anti-Ids as well as introduce the notion that a set of clones rather than a single antibody may be necessary to put this machine in motion.

To stimulate and simulate a polyclonal response, Ab2s can be a mixture of monoclonal antibodies stimulating B and Tcells (53, 58). There are examples of anti-Ids containing both B and T cell epitopes (59, 74). Admixing them might broaden a response. An alternative concept of inducing antibodies against multiple tumor-associated antigens is a pan-immunogen, which harbors "fuzzy" mimicking determinants to induce a polyclonal response to multiple antigens. This concept has not been developed with an Ab2-based vaccine but antigenmimicking peptides of glycans and TACA have shown such an ability in preclinical (75–80) and clinical studies (81, 82) where a carbohydrate mimetic peptide can induce polyclonal responses to two or more TACAs (81–83). This can be due both to shared epitopes as well as to a multifaceted mimotope exposing diverse antigenic determinants—a structural substrate of immunological polyspecificity.

The advantage of monoclonal antibodies over polyclonal is its consistency and excellent characterization. Monoclonals are produced by cell cultures seeded from a reference cell bank. In contrast polyclonal antibodies are derived from immunized animals producing a unique batch-specific biochemical and biophysical property. For use in humans, each batch must be validated satisfying the advertised criteria. The call for polyclonal or oligoclonal anti-Id antibodies must be answered with novel production strategies. The final step in monoclonal antibody production by hybridoma or recombinant technologies is the selection of the most potent clone or cell line. This is performed under socalled limiting dilution conditions. Suppose one reduced the stringency of selection and mixed a number of clones including ones with lower affinity. The number of antibodies in this polyclonal mix can be controlled. A master cell bank can be established, similar to the master banks in monoclonal production. However, since there is no experience with the clonal stability of cell lines growing in large cell culture tanks research will be required to maintain the original cell culture mix.

#### **COVERED IN THIS REVIEW**

- 1. Rationale and strategy of idiotype-based vaccines-Sections 1-5.
- 2. Ab1 can also be used to initiate idiotype cascades Section 2.
- 3. Lessons learned Section 3
  - a. Ab3 can share binding similarities with Ab1
  - b. Utility in combination therapy
  - c. Clinically, Anti-Ids can induce B and T-cell immune responses against antigens.
- 4. Rational for importance of polyclonal responses Section 4.
- 5. Redefining the mimetic nature of anti-Ids as network antigens Section 4.
- 6. Introduction of a Master Bank for Polyclonal anti-Ids Section 5.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

HK originally laid out the framework and draft of this review. AP contributed to the discussion on polyclonal immunology. TK-E provided clinical assessment of previously published work. All authors contributed to the writing of the manuscript.

## REFERENCES

- Jerne NK. Towards a network theory of the immune system. Ann Immunol. (1974) 125C:373–89.
- 2. Kieber-Emmons Τ. Monzavi-Karbassi B. Pashov Α. Saha S, Murali R, Kohler H. The promise of the anti-idiotype Oncol. (2012)2:196. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2012. concept. Front 00196
- Ladjemi MZ. Anti-idiotypic antibodies as cancer vaccines: achievements and future improvements. *Front Oncol.* (2012) 2:158. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2012.00158
- Lemke, H. Immune Response regulation by antigen receptors' clone-specific nonself parts. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:1471. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01471
- Vazquez AM, Rodreguez-Zhurbenko N, Lopez AM. Anti-ganglioside antiidiotypic vaccination: more than molecular mimicry. *Front Oncol.* (2012) 2:170. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2012.00170
- Naveed A, Rahman SU, Arshad MI, Aslam B. Immune modulatory potential of anti-idiotype antibodies as a surrogate of foot-and-mouth disease virus antigen. *mSphere*. (2018) 3:e00522–18. doi: 10.1128/mSphere.00522-18
- Varela F, Coutinho A. Second generation immune networks. *Immunol Today*. (1991) 12:159–66. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5699(05)80046-5
- Baumgarth N, Waffarn EE, Nguyen TT. Natural and induced B-1 cell immunity to infections raises questions of nature versus nurture. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2015) 1362:188–99. doi: 10.1111/nyas.12804
- Cerutti A, Cols M, Puga I. Marginal zone B cells: virtues of innatelike antibody-producing lymphocytes. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2013) 13:118–32. doi: 10.1038/nri3383
- Palm AK, Friedrich HC, Mezger A, Salomonsson M, Myers LK, Kleinau S. Function and regulation of self-reactive marginal zone B cells in autoimmune arthritis. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2015) 12:493–504. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2015.37
- Zhou Z, Niu H, Zheng YY, Morel L. Autoreactive marginal zone B cells enter the follicles and interact with CD4+ T cells in lupus-prone mice. *BMC Immunol.* (2011) 12:7. doi: 10.1186/1471-2172-12-7
- Kunkel HG, Mannik M, Williams RC. Individual antigenic specificity of isolated antibodies. *Science*. (1963) 140:1218–9. doi: 10.1126/science.140.3572.1218
- Oudin J, Michel M. [A new allotype form of rabbit serum gamma-globulins, apparently associated with antibody function and specificity]. C R Hebd Seances Acad Sci. (1963) 257:805–8.
- Jerne NK. The immune system: a web of V-domains. *Harvey Lect.* (1974) 70 Series:93–110.
- Cosenza H, Kohler H. Specific suppression of the antibody response by antibodies to receptors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1972) 69:2701–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.69.9.2701
- Cosenza H, Kohler H. Specific inhibition of plaque formation to phosphorylcholine by antibody against antibody. *Science*. (1972) 176:1027–9. doi: 10.1126/science.176.4038.1027
- Hart DA, Wang AL, Pawlak LL, Nisonoff A. Suppression of idiotypic specificities in adult mice by administration of antiidiotypic antibody. *J Exp Med.* (1972) 135:1293–300. doi: 10.1084/jem.135.6.1293
- Cosenza, H. Detection of anti-idiotype reactive cells in the response to phosphorylcholine. *Eur J Immunol.* (1976) 6:114–6. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830060208
- Grzych JM, Capron M, Lambert PH, Dissous C, Torres S, Capron A. An anti-idiotype vaccine against experimental schistosomiasis. *Nature*. (1985) 316:74–6. doi: 10.1038/316074a0
- Herlyn D, Somasundaram R, Zaloudik J, Jacob L, Harris D, Kieny MP, et al. Anti-idiotype and recombinant antigen in immunotherapy of colorectal cancer. *Cell Biophys.* (1994) 24–5:143–53. doi: 10.1007/BF027 89225
- Raychaudhuri S, Saeki Y, Fuji H, Kohler H. Tumor-specific idiotype vaccines. I. Generation and characterization of internal image tumor antigen. J Immunol. (1986) 137:1743–9.
- Schreiber JR, Patawaran M, Tosi M, Lennon J, Pier GB. Anti-idiotypeinduced, lipopolysaccharide-specific antibody response to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa. J Immunol.* (1990) 144:1023–9.
- Ward MM, Ward RE, Huang JH, Kohler H. Idiotope vaccine against Streptococcus pneumoniae. A precursor study. J Immunol. (1987) 139:2775–80.

- 24. Trenkner E, Riblet R. Induction of antiphosphorylcholine antibody formation by anti-idiotypic antibodies. *J Exp Med.* (1975) 142:1121–32. doi: 10.1084/jem.142.5.1121
- Eichmann K, Rajewsky K. Induction of T and B cell immunity by anti-idiotypic antibody. *Eur J Immunol.* (1975) 5:661–6. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830051002
- Forni L, Coutinho A, Kohler G, Jerne NK. IgM antibodies induce the production of antibodies of the same specificity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1980) 77:1125–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.77.2.1125
- 27. Cheung NK, Cheung IY, Kushner BH, Ostrovnaya I, Chamberlain E, Kramer K, et al. Murine anti-GD2 monoclonal antibody 3F8 combined with granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor and 13-cisretinoic acid in high-risk patients with stage 4 neuroblastoma in first remission. J Clin Oncol. (2012) 30:3264–70. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2011.4 1.3807
- Cheung NK, Guo HF, Heller G, Cheung IY. Induction of Ab3 and Ab3' antibody was associated with long-term survival after anti-G(D2) antibody therapy of stage 4 neuroblastoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2000) 6:2653–60.
- Siebert N, Eger C, Seidel D, Juttner M, Lode HN. Validated detection of human anti-chimeric immune responses in serum of neuroblastoma patients treated with ch14.18/CHO. J Immunol Methods. (2014) 407:108–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2014.04.001
- 30. Siebert N, Eger C, Seidel D, Juttner M, Zumpe M, Wegner D, et al. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of ch14.18/CHO in relapsed/refractory high-risk neuroblastoma patients treated by long-term infusion in combination with IL-2. *MAbs.* (2016) 8:604–16. doi: 10.1080/19420862.2015.1130196
- Siebert N, Troschke-Meurer S, Marx M, Zumpe M, Ehlert K, Gray J, et al. Impact of HACA on immunomodulation and treatment toxicity following ch14.18/CHO long-term infusion with interleukin-2: results from a SIOPEN phase 2 trial. *Cancers.* (2018) 10:E387. doi: 10.3390/cancers10 100387
- Kearney JF, Barletta R, Quan ZS, Quintans J. Monoclonal vs. heterogeneous anti-H-8 antibodies in the analysis of the anti-phosphorylcholine response in BALB/c mice. *Eur J Immunol.* (1981) 11:877–83. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830 111106
- Wittner MK, Bach MA, Kohler H. Immune response to phosphorylcholine. IX. Characterization of hybridoma anti-TEPC15 antibodies. J Immunol. (1982) 128:595–9.
- Herlyn D, Somasundaram R, Li W, Maruyama H. Anti-idiotype cancer vaccines: past and future. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (1996) 43:65–76. doi: 10.1007/s002620050305
- Herlyn D, Wettendorff M, Schmoll E, Iliopoulos D, Schedel I, Dreikhausen U, et al. Anti-idiotype immunization of cancer patients: modulation of the immune response. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1987) 84:8055–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.22.8055
- Chakraborty M, Foon KA, Kohler H, Bhattacharya-Chatterjee M. Preclinical evaluation in nonhuman primates of an anti-idiotypic antibody that mimicks the carcinoembryonic antigen. J Immunother Emphasis Tumor Immunol. (1995) 18:95–103. doi: 10.1097/00002371-19950800 0-00003
- Foon KA, Chakraborty M, John WJ, Sherratt A, Kohler H, Bhattacharya-Chatterjee M. Immune response to the carcinoembryonic antigen in patients treated with an anti-idiotype antibody vaccine. *J Clin Invest.* (1995) 96:334–42. doi: 10.1172/JCI118039
- Posner MC, Niedzwiecki D, Venook AP, Hollis DR, Kindler HL, Martin EW, et al. A phase II prospective multi-institutional trial of adjuvant active specific immunotherapy following curative resection of colorectal cancer hepatic metastases: cancer and leukemia group B study 89903. Ann Surg Oncol. (2008) 15:158–64. doi: 10.1245/s10434-00 7-9654-7
- 39. Chong G, Bhatnagar A, Cunningham D, Cosgriff TM, Harper PG, Steward W, et al. Phase III trial of 5-fluorouracil and leucovorin plus either 3H1 antiidiotype monoclonal antibody or placebo in patients with advanced colorectal cancer. Ann Oncol. (2006) 17:437–42. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdj090
- Aquino A, Prete SP, Guadagni F, Greiner JW, Giuliani A, Orlando L, et al. Effect of 5-fluorouracil on carcinoembryonic antigen expression and shedding at clonal level in colon cancer cells. *Anticancer Res.* (2000) 20:3475–84.

- Grant SC, Kris MG, Houghton AN, Chapman PB. Long survival of patients with small cell lung cancer after adjuvant treatment with the antiidiotypic antibody BEC2 plus Bacillus Calmette-Guerin. *Clin Cancer Res.* (1999) 5:1319–23.
- McCaffery M, Yao TJ, Williams L, Livingston PO, Houghton AN, Chapman PB. Immunization of melanoma patients with BEC2 antiidiotypic monoclonal antibody that mimics GD3 ganglioside: enhanced immunogenicity when combined with adjuvant. *Clin Cancer Res.* (1996) 2:679–86.
- 43. Yao TJ, Meyers M, Livingston PO, Houghton AN, Chapman PB. Immunization of melanoma patients with BEC2-keyhole limpet hemocyanin plus BCG intradermally followed by intravenous booster immunizations with BEC2 to induce anti-GD3 ganglioside antibodies. *Clin Cancer Res.* (1999) 5:77–81.
- Usuki S, Taguchi K, Thompson SA, Chapman PB, Yu RK. Novel anti-idiotype antibody therapy for lipooligosaccharide-induced experimental autoimmune neuritis: use relevant to Guillain-Barre syndrome. J Neurosci Res. (2010) 88:1651–63. doi: 10.1002/jnr.22330
- 45. Foon KA, Lutzky J, Baral RN, Yannelli JR, Hutchins L, Teitelbaum A, et al. Clinical and immune responses in advanced melanoma patients immunized with an anti-idiotype antibody mimicking disialoganglioside GD2. J Clin Oncol. (2000) 18:376–84. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2000.18.2.376
- 46. Perez A, Mier ES, Vispo NS, Vazquez AM, Perez Rodriguez R. A monoclonal antibody against NeuGc-containing gangliosides contains a regulatory idiotope involved in the interaction with B and T cells. *Mol Immunol.* (2002) 39:103–12. doi: 10.1016/S0161-5890(02)00041-X
- Diaz A, Alfonso M, Alonso R, Saurez G, Troche M, Catala M, et al. Immune responses in breast cancer patients immunized with an anti-idiotype antibody mimicking NeuGc-containing gangliosides. *Clin Immunol.* (2003) 107:80–9. doi: 10.1016/S1521-6616(03)00036-6
- Neninger E, Diaz RM, de la Torre A, Rives R, Diaz A, Saurez G, et al. Active immunotherapy with 1E10 anti-idiotype vaccine in patients with small cell lung cancer: report of a phase I trial. *Cancer Biol Ther.* (2007) 6:145–50. doi: 10.4161/cbt.6.2.3574
- 49. Hernandez AM, Toledo D, Martinez D, Grinan T, Brito V, Macias A, et al. Characterization of the antibody response against NeuGcGM3 ganglioside elicited in non-small cell lung cancer patients immunized with an anti-idiotype antibody. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:6625–34. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.9.6625
- Alfonso S, Valdes-Zayas A, Santiesteban ER, Flores YI, Areces F, Hernandez M, et al. A randomized, multicenter, placebo-controlled clinical trial of racotumomab-alum vaccine as switch maintenance therapy in advanced non-small cell lung cancer patients. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:3660–71. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-1674
- Durrant LG, Buckley TJ, Denton GW, Hardcastle JD, Sewell HF, Robins RA. Enhanced cell-mediated tumor killing in patients immunized with human monoclonal antiidiotypic antibody 105AD7. *Cancer Res.* (1994) 54:4837–40.
- Buckley DT, Robins AR, Durrant LG. Clinical evidence that the human monoclonal anti-idiotypic antibody 105AD7, delays tumor growth by stimulating anti-tumor T-cell responses. *Hum Antibodies Hybridomas*. (1995) 6:68–72. doi: 10.3233/HAB-1995-6205
- Murray JL, Gillogly M, Kawano K, Efferson CL, Lee JE, Ross M, et al. Fine specificity of high molecular weight-melanoma-associated antigenspecific cytotoxic T lymphocytes elicited by anti-idiotypic monoclonal antibodies in patients with melanoma. *Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:5481–8. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-0517
- Muller S, Nara P, D'Amelio R, Biselli R, Gold D, Wang H, et al. Clonal patterns in the human immune response to HIV-1 infection. *Int Rev Immunol.* (1992) 9:1–13. doi: 10.3109/08830189209061779
- Muller S, Wang H, Silverman GJ, Bramlet G, Haigwood N, Kohler H. B-cell abnormalities in AIDS: stable and clonally-restricted antibody response in HIV-1 infection. *Scand J Immunol.* (1993) 38:327–34. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3083.1993.tb01734.x
- Wang H, Muller S, Zolla-Pazner S, Kohler H. Human monoclonal and polyclonal anti-human immunodeficiency virus-1 antibodies share a common clonotypic specificity. *Eur J Immunol.* (1992) 22:1749–55. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830220713

- Oudin J, Michel M. Idiotypy of rabbit antibodies. I. Comparison of idiotypy of antibodies against *Salmonella typhi* with that of antibodies against other bacteria in the same rabbits, or of antibodies against Salmonella typhi in various rabbits. *J Exp Med.* (1969) 130:595–617. doi: 10.1084/jem.13 0.3.595
- Pride MW, Shuey S, Grillo-Lopez A, Braslawsky G, Ross M, Legha SS, et al. Enhancement of cell-mediated immunity in melanoma patients immunized with murine anti-idiotypic monoclonal antibodies (MELIMMUNE) that mimic the high molecular weight proteoglycan antigen. *Clin Cancer Res.* (1998) 4:2363–70.
- Raychaudhuri S, Kang CY, Kaveri SV, Kieber-Emmons T, Kohler, H. Tumor idiotype vaccines. VII Analysis and correlation of structural, idiotypic, and biologic properties of protective and nonprotective Ab2. J Immunol. (1990) 145:760–7.
- Ascoli CA, Aggeler B. Overlooked benefits of using polyclonal antibodies. *Biotechniques*. (2018) 65:127–36. doi: 10.2144/btn-201 8-0065
- Maruyama H, Zaloudik J, Li W, Sperlagh M, Koido T, Somasundaram R, et al. Cancer vaccines: single-epitope anti-idiotype vaccine versus multipleepitope antigen vaccine. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2000) 49:123–32. doi: 10.1007/s002620050611
- 62. Bhattachary-Chatterjee M, Nath Baral R, Chatterjee SK, Das R, Zeytin H, Chakraborty M, et al. Counterpoint. Cancer vaccines: singleepitope anti-idiotype vaccine versus multiple-epitope antigen vaccine. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2000) 49:133–41. doi: 10.1007/s002620 050612
- Kohler H, Kieber-Emmons T, Srinivasan S, Kaveri S, Morrow WJ, Muller S, et al. Revised immune network concepts. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol.* (1989) 52:104–16. doi: 10.1016/0090-1229(89) 90197-9
- 64. Dietrich G, Varela FJ, Hurez V, Bouanani M, Kazatchkine MD. Selection of the expressed B cell repertoire by infusion of normal immunoglobulin G in a patient with autoimmune thyroiditis. *Eur J Immunol.* (1993) 23:2945–50. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830231133
- Freitas AA, Burlen O, Coutinho A. Selection of antibody repertoires by antiidiotypes can occur at multiple steps of B cell differentiation. *J Immunol.* (1988) 140:4097–102.
- Freitas AA, Viale AC, Sundblad A, Heusser C, Coutinho A. Normal serum immunoglobulins participate in the selection of peripheral B-cell repertoires. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1991) 88:5640–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.88.13.5640
- Chen X, Martin F, Forbush KA, Perlmutter RM, Kearney JF. Evidence for selection of a population of multi-reactive B cells into the splenic marginal zone. *Int Immunol.* (1997) 9:27–41. doi: 10.1093/intimm/9.1.27
- Hayakawa K, Asano M, Shinton SA, Gui M, Allman D, Stewart CL, et al. Positive selection of natural autoreactive B cells. *Science*. (1999) 285:113–6. doi: 10.1126/science.285.5424.113
- Townsend SE, Weintraub BC, Goodnow CC. Growing up on the streets: why B-cell development differs from T-cell development. *Immunol Today*. (1999) 20:217–20. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5699(98)01440-6
- Übelhart R, Jumaa H. Autoreactivity and the positive selection of B cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2015) 45:2971–7. doi: 10.1002/eji.201444622
- Wen L, Brill-Dashoff J, Shinton SA, Asano M, Hardy RR, Hayakawa K. Evidence of marginal-zone B cell-positive selection in spleen. *Immunity*. (2005) 23:297–308. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2005.08.007
- Lemke, H. Antigen receptor-intrinsic non-self: the key to understanding regulatory lymphocyte-mediated idiotypic control of adaptive immune responses. *Critic Rev Immunol.* (2016) 36:13–56. doi: 10.1615/CritRevImmunol.2016016606
- Kieber-Emmons T, Kohler H. Towards a unified theory of immunoglobulin structure-function relations. *Immunol Rev.* (1986) 90:29–48. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.1986.tb01476.x
- Pride MW, Shi H, Anchin JM, Linthicum DS, LoVerde PT, Thakur A, et al. Molecular mimicry of hepatitis B surface antigen by an anti-idiotypederived synthetic peptide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1992) 89:11900–4. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.24.11900
- Westerink MA, Giardina PC, Apicella MA, Kieber-Emmons T. Peptide mimicry of the meningococcal group C capsular polysaccharide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1995) 92:4021–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.9.4021

- Agadjanyan M, Luo P, Westerink MA, Carey LA, Hutchins W, Steplewski Z, et al. Peptide mimicry of carbohydrate epitopes on human immunodeficiency virus. *Nat Biotechnol.* (1997) 15:547–51. doi: 10.1038/nbt0697-547
- Hennings L, Artaud C, Jousheghany F, Monzavi-Karbassi B, Pashov A, Kieber-Emmons T. Carbohydrate mimetic peptides augment carbohydrate-reactive immune responses in the absence of immune pathology. *Cancers*. (2011) 3:4151–69. doi: 10.3390/cancers3044151
- Kieber-Emmons T, Luo P, Qiu J, Chang TY, Insug O, Blaszczyk-Thurin M, et al. Vaccination with carbohydrate peptide mimotopes promotes anti-tumor responses. *Nat Biotechnol.* (1999) 17:660–5. doi: 10.1038/ 10870
- Monzavi-Karbassi B, Hennings LJ, Artaud C, Liu T, Jousheghany F, Pashov A, et al. Preclinical studies of carbohydrate mimetic peptide vaccines for breast cancer and melanoma. *Vaccine*. (2007) 25:3022–31. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.01.072.Epub2007Jan26
- Wondimu A, Zhang T, Kieber-Emmons T, Gimotty P, Sproesser K, Somasundaram R, et al. Peptides mimicking GD2 ganglioside elicit cellular, humoral and tumor-protective immune responses in mice. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2008) 57:1079–89. doi: 10.1007/s00262-007-0439-4
- Hutchins LF, Makhoul I, Emanuel PD, Pennisi A, Siegel ER, Jousheghany F, et al. Targeting tumor-associated carbohydrate antigens: a phase I study of a carbohydrate mimetic-peptide vaccine in stage IV breast cancer subjects. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:99161–78. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.21959
- Makhoul I, Hutchins L, Emanuel PD, Pennisi A, Siegel E, Jousheghany F, et al. Moving a carbohydrate mimetic peptide into the clinic.

Hum Vaccin Immunother. (2015) 11:37-44. doi: 10.4161/hv. 34300

 Luo P, Agadjanyan M, Qiu J, Westerink MA, Steplewski Z, Kieber-Emmons T. Antigenic and immunological mimicry of peptide mimotopes of Lewis carbohydrate antigens. *Mol Immunol.* (1998) 35:865–79. doi: 10.1016/S0161-5890(98)00067-4

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** TK-E and AP are named as inventors on an institutional patent application filled by UAMS that is related to the CMP vaccine briefly described in this manuscript. Therefore, TK-E and AP and UAMS have a potential financial interest in the vaccine described. No financial or other support of any kind has resulted from this patent application. These financial interests have been reviewed by approved supervision in accordance with the UAMS conflict of interest policies.

The remaining author declares that this research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Kohler, Pashov and Kieber-Emmons. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Attacking Tumors From All Sides: Personalized Multiplex Vaccines to Tackle Intratumor Heterogeneity

Felix L. Fennemann<sup>1</sup>, I. Jolanda M. de Vries<sup>1,2</sup>, Carl G. Figdor<sup>1,3,4</sup> and Martijn Verdoes<sup>1,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Tumor Immunology, Radboud Institute for Molecular Life Sciences, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands, <sup>2</sup> Department of Medical Oncology, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands, <sup>3</sup> Division of Immunotherapy, Oncode Institute, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands, <sup>4</sup> Institute for Chemical Immunology, Nijmegen, Netherlands

Tumor vaccines are an important asset in the field of cancer immunotherapy. Whether prophylactic or therapeutic, these vaccines aim to enhance the T cell-mediated anti-tumor immune response that is orchestrated by dendritic cells. Although promising preclinical and early-stage clinical results have been obtained, large-scale clinical implementation of cancer vaccination is stagnating due to poor clinical response. The challenges of clinical efficacy of tumor vaccines can be mainly attributed to tumor induced immunosuppression and poor immunogenicity of the chosen tumor antigens. Recently, intratumor heterogeneity and the relation with tumor-specific neoantigen clonality were put in the equation. In this perspective we provide an overview of recent studies showing how personalized tumor vaccines containing multiple neoantigens can broaden and enhance the anti-tumor immune response. Furthermore, we summarize advances in the understanding of the intratumor mutational landscape containing different tumor cell subclones and the temporal and spatial diversity of neoantigen presentation and burden, and the relation between these factors with respect to tumor immunogenicity. Together, the presented knowledge calls for the investment in the characterization of neoantigens in the context of intratumor heterogeneity to improve clinical efficacy of personalized tumor vaccines.

Keywords: tumor vaccines, personalized vaccines, neoantigens, intratumor heterogeneity, multiplex neoantigen vaccines

## INTRODUCTION-A SHORT HISTORY OF TUMOR VACCINES

The beginnings of immunotherapy date back to the late Nineteenth century. In 1891, the American bone surgeon William B. Coley started to treat cancer patients with bacterial injections with the rationale to stimulate the immune system and thereby enhance tumor cell killing. With varying success "Coley's Toxins" were accepted as treatment for inoperable bone cancers but could never fully be clinically established (1). In 1909, Paul Ehrlich established the concept of protective vaccinations of mice by transplanting them with foreign tumors. He described that in 50–100% of vaccinated mice an acquired tumor-directed immunity could be observed (2). The genetic basis of this type of rejection was discovered in 1914 by Clarence Little (3), and later linked to histocompatibility antigens on transplanted tumors by Gorer et al. (4). In line with these findings, Foley (5) and Prehn et al. (6) investigated the mechanism of protection in mice against carcinogen-induced sarcomas after rechallenge with the same tumor, thereby formulating the rational of using

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Roberto S. Accolla, University of Insubria, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Estrella Mariel Levy, National Council for Scientific and Technical Research (CONICET), Argentina Elizabeth Ann Repasky, University at Buffalo, United States

\*Correspondence:

Martijn Verdoes martijn.verdoes@radboudumc.nl

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vaccines and Molecular Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 15 February 2019 Accepted: 28 March 2019 Published: 16 April 2019

#### Citation:

Fennemann FL, de Vries IJM, Figdor CG and Verdoes M (2019) Attacking Tumors From All Sides: Personalized Multiplex Vaccines to Tackle Intratumor Heterogeneity. Front. Immunol. 10:824. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00824

15

tumor tissue as a vaccine. In the following years more pieces of the immunological puzzle were solved finally culminating in the concept of immunological surveillance, formulated by Burnet in 1970, further justifying the use of cancer vaccines (7).

Nowadays, it is well-established that tumor vaccines can effectively mount an anti-tumor immune response. These vaccines can be comprised of whole tumor lysates, recombinant tumor proteins, tumor antigen derived epitope peptides, or antigen encoding mRNA and DNA (8). Once injected, dendritic cells (DCs) play a crucial role by taking up the vaccine and presenting the vaccine-derived tumor epitope in the context of major histocompatibility class (MHC) I or II complexes to CD8<sup>+</sup> or CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, respectively (9, 10). In turn, ideally tumor specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells will be activated, proliferate and infiltrate into the tumor to exert cytotoxic functions. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are skewed toward T helper cell subsets and support the anti-tumor immune response by the release of cytokines (11, 12) or tumor cell killing (13).

Despite promising results obtained in 1995 with a DC vaccine pulsed *ex vivo* with the melanoma tumor antigen 1 (MAGE-1) (14, 15), it was not until 2010 before the first DC-based vaccine Sipuleucel-T was approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). This revitalized the tumor vaccine field resulting in the initiation of clinical trials to test new formulations and delivery methods of tumor vaccines across multiple types of cancers.

Especially, recent developments in the understanding of the nature of tumor antigens have attributed to the improvement of tumor vaccines. Together with new insights into the mutational landscape of tumors and their evolution these findings are instrumental for the rise of novel, multiplex and personalized tumor vaccines.

# THE IMPORTANCE OF ANTIGEN-SPECIFICITY FOR TUMOR VACCINES

Since Edward Tyzzer coined the term "somatic mutation" in 1916 for describing "modifications of the somatic tissue" that determine foreignness and antigenicity of a transplanted tumor, it took until 1991 to discover the first tumor antigen MAGE-1(16, 17). MAGE-1 was shown to be expressed on patientderived melanoma cells and in immune privileged sites, such as testis, hence the name cancer/testis antigen (CTA), and therefore qualified as a good target for immunotherapy (17). Although CTAs are specific targets on tumor cells and therefore classify as candidates for tumor vaccines, their expression is limited to a small number of tumors and patients (18). In contrast to cancer/testis antigens, tumor-associated antigens (TAAs), such as gp100, tyrosinase or EGFR, are overexpressed on tumor cells and are shared in a bigger patient population (19). Their concurrent expression on healthy cells however, will result in a weaker antigen-specific immune response, due to negative selection as a consequence of central tolerance. Furthermore, DCs and regulatory T cells will dampen the immune response by inducing peripheral tolerance and inhibiting effector T cells (20). Together with the potential of inducing auto-immune reactions, these features underline that TAAs are not ideal candidates for effective tumor vaccination and that therapy targets are preferably expressed exclusively on tumor cells.

In 1994, the first report of such tumor-specific antigen (TSA) was published, being a mutated version of the membrane protein Connexin-37 in Lewis lung carcinoma (21). In the following years the rise of next-generation sequencing techniques led to the discovery of more TSAs or so called neoantigens. Neoantigens are seen as highly specific tumor antigens that arise due to somatic mutations exclusively in tumor cells while being absent in healthy cells [for extensive reviews about neoantigens see (22, 23)]. Except of mutations in driver genes, such as isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (IDH1)(24) or KRAS(25) and in a rare form of hereditary colon cancer, called Lynch syndrome(26), neoantigens are not shared between individual patients and can have differential expression in tumor clones within one patient, as will be discussed later. Moreover, the load of neoantigens has been positively correlated with the presence of tumor-infiltrating, neoantigen-specific T cells and a good prognosis for checkpoint inhibitor therapy and survival across different types of cancers (27, 28). In turn researchers have made use of sequencing and peptide-based assays combined with computational filtering and prediction algorithms for the selection of candidate neoantigens to design the first generation of personalized tumor vaccines (29, 30). An example of such, is a point mutation in the gene encoding IDH1, which is shared by about 70% of diffuse grade II and III glioma patients, as mentioned above. Using the mutant IDH1 as synthetic long peptide vaccine, Schumacher et al. observed reduced tumor growth in vaccinated mice carrying tumors with the IDH1 point mutation compared to mice carrying IDH1 WT tumors (Table 1) (24).

# FROM SINGLE TO MULTIPLEX PERSONALIZED NEOANTIGEN VACCINES

The IDH1 synthetic long peptide is an example of a rationally designed neoantigen vaccine based on a tumor-specific point mutation shared by a large patient population with a mildly immunogenic tumor. For more immunogenic tumors with higher mutational load such as melanoma, high throughput genome screens are needed. One of the first studies applying this strategy used massive parallel sequencing of mouse tumor and healthy tissue combined with RNA expression profiling and immunogenicity tests to obtain potential neoantigen sequences for vaccination purposes. Eventually, vaccinations were performed with two to five neoantigens in the form of synthetic long peptides or mRNA. These led to significant delay of tumor growth and protection of mice in a prophylactic (29) or therapeutic setting (29, 30). Predicted mutations for the B16F10 melanoma, CT-26 colon cancer or 4T1 mammary carcinoma models by Castle and Kreiter et al. were subsequently used and extended to generate neoantigen vaccines targeting more than one epitope simultaneously, and delivered as synthetic long peptide (43), mRNA (41), by carrier molecules such as nanoparticles (31, 34, 36, 39), nanodiscs (38, 45) or other modalities (33, 35, 46) (Table 1). In addition to this, in

Tumor type	Organism	Neoantigen identification (origin, method)	Neoantigen prediction	Vaccine format	Amount of neoantigens used for vaccination	Year	Publication
Melanoma, B16F10	Mouse	(29) Mass spectronomy	-	PLGA capturing endogenous neoantigen containing proteins	n.m.	2017	(31)
Colon cancer CT26, TC-1, melanoma B16F10	Mouse	(29)	-	SLP in polyethyleneimine mesoporous silica microrods	n.m.	2018	(32)
Colon cancer MC-38, TC-1	Mouse	(33)	-	Ferritin nanoparticle neoantigen conjugates	1 (TC-1) 3 (MC-38)	2019	(34)
Sarcoma, A2.DR1	Mouse	(Most frequent point mutation in glioma)	-	SLP	1	2014	(24)
Colon cancer CT26, TC-1, melanoma	Mouse	(29)	-	RNA lipoplex	1	2016	(35)
Colon cancer, MC-38	Mouse	(33)	-	RNA-DNA nanostructures	1	2018	(36)
Sarcoma, d42m1-T3 and F244	Mouse	Complement DNA capture sequencing,	3x MHCI epitope binding, processing by immunoproteasome	SLP	2	2014	(37)
Melanoma, B16F10	Mouse	B16F10 cells, DNA/RNA sequencing	Expression, Location, mutation type, immunogenicity	SLP	2	2012	(29)
Melanoma B16F10, colon cancer MC-38	Mouse	(29, 33)	-	RNA nanodisc	2	2016	(38)
Colon cancer MC38	Mouse	Whole exon and RNA sequencing, Mass spectronomy	netMHC binding prediction, solvent exposure in MHC	SLP	3	2014	(33)
Melanoma, colon cancer, HPV E6/E7	Mouse	(29)	-	PC7A nanoparticle	3	2017	(39)
Melanoma B16F10	Mouse	Exome/RNA sequencing	MHCII Class binding	mRNA	5	2015	(30)
Melanoma	Human	Resected tumor, Exome sequencing	Binding to HLA-A, cDNA expression	SLP	7	2015	(40)
Stage III/IV Melanoma	Human	Tumor biopsy, Exome and RNA sequencing	Binding affinity to HLA class II and expression of mutation encoding RNA, and HLA class I binding	mRNA	10	2017	(41)
Lewis lung carcinoma, TC-1, ovarian cancer ID8	Mouse	Cell lines and lysed tumor, Whole exome and RNA sequencing	Binding affinity to HLA class I and II, proteasomal processing	Plasmid DNA	12	2019	(42)
Melanoma Stage IIIB/C Stage IVM1a/b	Human	Whole exon sequencing and RNA sequencing	Binding to HLA-A and -B	SLP	20	2017	(43)
Glioblastoma	Human Phase I/Ib	Whole exon sequencing and RNA sequencing	Binding to HLA-A and -B	SLP	20	2019	(44)

TABLE 1 | Summary of neoantigen vaccine studies ordered by the amount of neoepitopes that are incorporated in the vaccine.

n.m, not mentioned.

pre-clinical mouse studies, the concurrent use of checkpoint inhibitors programmed cell death-1 (PD-1) or cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein-4 (CTLA-4) at the time of vaccination worked synergistically and enhanced the treatment outcome (31, 34, 39, 45).

In clinical studies of late stage melanoma patients, multiplex personalized neoantigen vaccines have achieved significant results in clinical studies of late stage melanoma patients, as nicely summarized by Hellmann and Snyder (47). Recently, a similar approach has been presented for phase Ib glioblastoma patients. These patients received personalized neoantigen vaccines, covering 20 neoepitopes in the form of long peptides, based on mutational profiling and RNA expression analysis of surgically resected tumors. Although all patients died due to progressive disease, neoantigen-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells could be observed which were able to infiltrate into the tumor (44).

Finally, also DNA has been used as a delivery vector for encoding neoantigen vaccines. Duperret et al. used a combination of intramuscular injection and electroporation of plasmids with strings of up to twelve 9-mer neoepitopes, derived from lung carcinoma or ovarian cancer. Neoantigen-specific immune response were predominantly guided by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and resulted in a delay of tumor growth and increased survival in prophylactically or therapeutically vaccinated mice (42).

Concurrently, a general trend that can be observed in recent studies is an increase in neoepitope incorporation into tumor vaccines (**Table 1**). This is mainly the result of the increasing improvements of next-generation sequencing and computational tools for prediction of neoantigens, providing a more detailed view on the mutational landscape of tumors.

Argumentation supporting multiplex neoantigen vaccines can be found in a more fundamental aspect of tumor evolution which has been elucidated, especially within the last 10 years. It relates to the understanding of the identity of individual tumor cells within specific regions in the tumor mass. Although it is wellknown that tumors are heterogeneous, comprised of different cell types, such as immune cells and stromal cells, more knowledge had to be gained at the single cell- and genotypic- level of malignant cells. As such, it was elucidated that a certain degree of tumor cell evolution takes place within one tumor leading to the formation of subclones separated not only spatially, but also by mutational patterns (48-52). The latest key findings on the deciphering of intratumor heterogeneity (ITH), its relation to neoantigen expression and its effect on the immune system and immunotherapy present an essential milestone toward the next generation of multiplex personalized neoantigen vaccines and offer an outlook on the challenges we face in the future.

#### INTRATUMOR HETEROGENEITY CHALLENGING MULTIPLEX PERSONALIZED NEOANTIGEN VACCINES

The concept of ITH was first introduced in the 1970's by Prehn et al. who investigated the immunogenicity of methylcholanthrene-induced murine sarcomas. Paired cancer cell subclones from different regions of a primary tumor showed differential induction of immune responses after transplantation into recipient mice. These differences were thought to be caused by distinct antigenicity and immunogenicity of subclones, hence a heterogeneous distribution within one tumor (53). In the following years other groups extended this knowledge by delineating the types of immune responses toward heterogeneous tumors based on subclonal expression of tumor antigens (54).

The first human study to investigate the extent of ITH within one tumor mass was performed in 2012 by Gerlinger et al. (48). In this study, several biopsies from a patient-derived primary renal-cell carcinoma were analyzed by whole-exome sequencing and aligned to healthy tissue. Next to several shared mutations between different subclones, ca. 23% of the mutations were only found in specific regions of the tumor. Strikingly, a single biopsy of that same tumor only covered around 55% of

the total mutational diversity, underlining the need for multiregion sampling. Tracing the order of mutations in different subclones revealed that they develop in a branching fashion from the primary tumor clone, harboring the driver mutation, rather than in a linear model. Remarkably, these differentially branched subclones harbored different mutations in the same gene which suggests a mode of convergent evolution (48). These findings emphasize the importance of multi-region sampling of tumor samples, as it can explain the mutational ancestry of a tumor and thereby aid in the selection of neoantigens for tumor vaccination, which ideally target mutations from the trunk of the phylogenetic tree.

Besides being able to reconstruct the mutational history, it is also important to correlate this to the developmental stage of the tumor as shown by De Bruin et al. (49). In patients with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) mutational events in the primary tumor coupled to known driver genes could be identified in the context of tobacco-induced carcinogenesis, bearing typical C>T transitions in early development. Mutations in driver genes were also observed in subclones of later development, however these clones also acquired other somatic mutations indicative of a branched evolution and supporting the idea of ITH in NSCLC. Knowing that these tumors carry driver mutations in late stage development, in different regions of the tumor, emphasizes the benefit of multi-dimensional sampling and sequencing for developing tumor vaccines that target these driver mutations (49). Importantly, in this study <5% of the tumor tissue could be analyzed, which probably underestimates the extend of observed ITH.

As growing evidence suggests that diverse sets of mutations occur in subclones in distinct regions of one tumor, McGranahan et al. asked to what extent these mutations translate into neoantigens and how neoantigen ITH (NITH) relates to the antitumor immune response (50). Analysis of neoantigen burden and NITH in single biopsies from roughly 200 cases of different types of lung cancers was performed. Using whole-genome and -exome sequencing and bioinformatic processing revealed that a high clonal neoantigen burden (upper quartile of total neoantigen burden) combined with a low NITH (smaller than 1%) correlates with a longer survival in lung adenocarcinoma patients. In contrast, a lower neoantigen clonality (higher NITH) characterized the tumor as more heterogeneous which correlates with a shorter survival (Figure 1A). More homogeneous tumors showed genetic signatures of an inflamed or hot tumor microenvironment with upregulated genes for antigen presentation, T cell migration and effector functions next to inhibitory molecules such as programmed death receptor ligand 1 (PD-L1). As a consequence to this environment, active interferon y, granzyme B, H and A producing, PD-L1 and lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG-3) expressing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells specific to clonal neoantigens could be identified within the tumors by MHC multimer staining and flowcytometric analysis. Whether earlier in the development of the tumor it was more heterogeneous, homogenized by initial neoantigen specific T cell infiltration, leading to attraction of more immune cells and an inflamed tumor microenvironment, is however difficult to investigate due to the lack of samples



FIGURE 1 | (A) The impact of low and high intratumor heterogeneity (ITH) on clonal ancestry, neoantigen clonality and T cell responses. Tumors that show low ITH (left panel) typically have few branching mutations as indicated in the clonal ancestry panel. In turn, more cells in the tumor harbor the same mutation, which is potentially translated and presented on the cell as a neoantigen. The overall neoantigen clonality (the number of cells that express one specific neoantigen, indicated by black-gray triangle) is therefore higher, leading to a lower neoantigen ITH and subsequently in a better neoantigen-specific T cell response. Tumors that have a high ITH in contrast (right panel), show more branching mutations leading to an increased amount of neoantigens expressed. Having more subclones with specific neoantigen clonality and increases neoantigen ITH. This will result in a weaker neoantigen-specific T cell response. (B) Workflow (Continued)

FIGURE 1 | for the designing of next generation multiplex neoantigen vaccines addressing ITH (1–6). (1) Ideally, the generation of multiplex neoantigen vaccines starts with multi-region tumor sampling by preferentially, non-invasive techniques. (2) Acquired data will then be analyzed by whole-genome/-exome sequencing for detection of mutations and RNA expression analysis to infer whether these mutations are located within transcribed regions. (3, 4) From this the subclonal ancestry can be inferred to determine the overall neoantigen clonality and ITH. (5) By mapping found neoantigens to subclones in the tumor and the ancestral tree, target neoantigen can be chosen that are located in the trunk and/or branching regions. (6) Finally, state-off the art prediction algorithms can supplement the aforementioned workflow to cross-validate found neoantigen vaccine candidates that will be incorporated in the final vaccine or vaccine carrier. Panels I-III depict the *in vivo* processing of multiplex neoantigen vaccines leading to a multi-angled anti-tumor T cell response. (I) After injection of multiplex neoantigen vaccines dendritic cells (DCs) will take up and process the vaccine and present antigenic epitopes on the cell surface complexed with MHC molecules. (II) Subsequently, T cells will finally perform cell receptor-MHC interaction and co-stimulatory molecules and will be further activated under the influence of cytokines. (III) Effector T cells will finally perform cytotoxic effector functions targeting several subclones in the heterogenous tumor.

from these earlier developmental stages of the tumor. The observation that these tumors harbored an inflamed, PD-1/L1 expressing microenvironment was the rationale to inhibit PD-1 by checkpoint immunotherapy, which resulted in a clinical benefit for patients with these inflamed tumors. In the same study, similar results have been obtained in a melanoma patient cohort treated with PD-1 checkpoint immunotherapy, where patients with high clonal neoantigen burden and low NITH showed prolonged survival (50). Another example supporting combination of multiplex neoantigen vaccines and checkpoint immunotherapy is provided by two clinical studies of Ott et al. (43) and Sahin et al. (41). In these studies, stage III-IV melanoma patients are initially treated with RNA -or long peptide-based multiplex neoantigen vaccines (Table 1). While most of the patients experienced progression free survival as consequence of neoantigen specific T cell infiltration into the tumor, some showed recurrent disease during multiplex neoantigen vaccination. In these cases, combinatorial treatment with PD-1 blocking antibodies was able to remove tumor mediated immunosuppression and unleash neoantigen-specific T cells that were generated by the vaccine (41, 43).

The discovery that checkpoint immunotherapy results in prolonged survival once neoantigen-specific cytotoxic T cells have infiltrated these tumors, presents a rationale to combine multiplex neoantigen vaccination with checkpoint immunotherapy for tumors with low NITH.

Based on the aforementioned clinical examples a sequential treatment with first multiplex neoantigen vaccines and then, if needed, checkpoint therapy can be suggested to reduce the amount of patients that are unnecessarily treated with checkpoint inhibitors.

As already briefly touched upon above, to what extent neoantigen-specific immune responses shape the heterogeneity of a tumor throughout tumorigenesis by targeting dominant subclones and whether this can lead to tumor escape of untargeted clones remains to be determined.

By applying multi-color barcoding of male  $E\mu$ -myc lymphoma cells, Milo et al. studied tumorigenesis and subclonal distribution in a metastatic mouse model (51). When injected in male recipient mice, the differentially colored tumor cells seeded in different proximal niches, ultimately resulting in equally heterogeneous tumors, demonstrating equal survival and outgrowth of the injected barcoded tumor cells. When these cells were injected in female recipient mice, homogeneous tumors with one or two dominant colors established in a CD8<sup>+</sup>

T cell dependent manner. Part of the explanation for this observation can be found in the expression of Y-chromosome derived H-Y antigens, which induced an antigen-specific T cell-mediated immune response. However, the injected mix of color coded tumor cells contained up to 25% non-immunogenic cells due to a loss of the Y-chromosome, suggesting additional clonal reduction as a result of epitope spreading, ultimately resulting in homogeneous Y chromosome deficient tumors. Additionally, whole genome exome-sequencing was applied in this system to infer whether the neoantigen repertoire is narrowed as a consequence of the anti-tumor immune response. In line with the reduction in color-coded subclones in female recipients also NITH was reduced, underlining that the immune system actively shapes subclone diversity and NITH during immunosurveillance, resulting in the evolution of one or few escaping subclones (51).

In a first attempt to study the contribution of neoantigen immunogenicity in the emergence of dominant tumor cell subclones Gejman et al. developed an artificial antigenpresentation system allowing the construction of heterogeneous tumors, expressing up to five thousand defined artificial MHCI neoepitopes (52). Looking at the clearance of immunogenic subclones within a largely heterogeneous tumor in mice, it was revealed that the immune system was incapable of elimintating small clonal fractions of immunogenic subclones. It appeared that the percentage of neoepitope subclonal tumor cell representation is an important determinant for its clearance. This critical subclonal percentage seemed to differ between individual neoepitopes (52). The exact mechanisms behind the persistence of tumor cell subclones, although partly assigned to absence of antigenicity or clonality, remains to be elucidated in more detail. These two studies emphasize the need for controlled systems to investigate the dynamic process of immunosurveillance in the context of heterogeneous tumors with known mutations or neoepitopes to determine how the immune system can be used to reduce subclone diversity and ultimately enable the total clearance of the tumor.

# CONCLUSION

The discovery of neoantigens and their use as tumor vaccines generated a lot of momentum in the tumor vaccination field. Personalized neoantigen vaccines hold promise in generating specific anti-tumor immune responses and durable survival benefits as emphasized by several pre-clinical and clinical studies. Especially in the last 2 years, vaccines comprising of not one, but several neoepitopes, so called multiplex neoantigen vaccines, have been developed in order to successfully increase the breadth of the anti-tumor immune response.

A rationale that supports this development is obtained from recent insights into the dynamic evolution of tumors. This evolution is characterized by the time-dependent acquisition of region-specific mutations and leads to the emergence of genetically distinct tumor cell subclones within one tumor, as shown by multi-region sampling and massive parallel sequencing. These subclone-specific mutations define the neoantigen clonality, burden and therefore the total NITH, which in turn affects the potency of immunosurveillance. Tumors with a high neoantigen clonality and a low NITH show a better tumor clearance. More heterogeneous tumors with lower neoantigen clonality are more difficult to eradicate (Figure 1A). Depending on this balance between neoantigen clonality and NITH, T cells are able to reduce the diversity of subclones within a tumor and thereby actively shape the ITH. Two important factors which influence the efficacy with which T cells can clear a specific subclone within a heterogeneous tumor seem to be the antigen itself and the percentage of tumor cells expressing this antigen. The exact underlying mechanism has still to be uncovered and can possibly aid us in choosing the right antigens for preventing the emergence of dominant subclones. In the meanwhile, targeting more neoantigens by multiplex neoantigen vaccines is a feasible approach to induce a specific immune response against several subclones in the tumor and thereby address ITH.

# **FUTURE PERSPECTIVES**

Although current studies with multiplex neoantigen vaccines (Table 1) seem to tackle ITH by including more neoepitopes, they are limited by the snapshot of the mutanome acquired by a single biopsy. We believe that the lack of multi-dimensional tumor information in these neoantigen vaccine studies impairs the power of inducing a multi-angled immune response against all the subclones in a tumor. Challenging pre-clinical longitudinal studies of tumorigenesis are needed, taking into account samples from different locations in the tumor at different time points, both before and after treatment. These studies would gain insight in the dynamics of tumor evolution in the context of multiplex neoantigen vaccination. Ultimately, this knowledge could be integrated into the process of designing the next generation of multiplex neoantigen vaccines. Currently, driving neoepitope selection criteria are predicted MHCI binding as well as T cell receptor affinities. We propose a workflow (Figure 1B) starting with the multi-regional NITH acquisition of available biopsies, to obtain multi-dimensional tumor biopsy information, from which dominant clonal neoepitope vaccine candidates could potentially be extrapolated. Attractive, less invasive and practically more feasible alternatives, such as circulating tumor DNA or tumor exosome DNA sequencing, deserve special attention. Varying reports exist about the success of these two techniques in comprehending ITH, which underlines the need for further development of these tools (55-57). Next-generation sequencing and bioinformatic tools that have been developed in the recent years (48, 58-62) will then be an essential asset to acquire genomic sequence information of high, subclonal resolution. With this information the clonal architecture and mutational ancestry of subclones can be reconstructed. Subsequently, neoantigen clonality and burden can be inferred to predict total NITH and map neoantigens to the subclone architecture of the tumor. This dynamic genomic blueprint of the tumor will aid in determining optimal neoantigen candidates for vaccination purposes and can be complemented with bioinformatic prediction algorithms and novel tools to assay T cell reactivity on a large scale (63). Current vaccine production platforms as described earlier, can then facilitate the efficient formulation and delivery of the vaccine to the patient in vivo, where DCs will process vaccine content and activate neoantigen specific T cells that will infiltrate and eradicate the tumor (Figure 1B, p. 1-3).

We are convinced that the development of more refined techniques to sample and predict the right neoantigens for vaccination can address ITH, and will be essential to fuel the progress that is currently made with regard to time efficient formulation, design and delivery of multiplex neoantigen vaccines [as extensively reviewed by others (64, 65)]. With these techniques in mind, we could create a more detailed map of the neoantigen clonality in primary tumors and metastasis to determine shared mutations within these regions as shown earlier (48). Along this line, combining multiplex neoantigen vaccines with TAA or CTA epitopes could present a handle to increase the chances of epitope spreading and sensitize the immune system for a priori low abundant neoantigens. A full comprehension of tumor evolution and neoantigen distribution will be the fundament for counteracting the survival of the fittest tumor clone and will pave the way for powerful next-generation multiplex neoantigen vaccines.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

FF, IdV, CF, and MV contributed to researching the data for the article, discussing the content and to reviewing and editing the manuscript before submission. FF and MV were responsible for writing the article. FF was responsible for figure design.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the Oncode Institute and the Institute of Chemical Immunology (grant 024.002.009). IdV received a Vici grant from the Netherlands Organization for Scientific Research (NWO) (918.14.655). CF received the NWO Spinoza award. MV is recipient of ERC Starting grant CHEMCHECK (679921) and a Gravity Program Institute for Chemical Immunology tenure track grant by NWO.

# REFERENCES

- McCarthy EF. The toxins of William B. Coley and the Treatment of Bone and Soft-Tissue Sarcomas. Iowa Orthop J. (2006) 26:154–8. Available online at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16789469 (accessed Nov 14, 2018).
- Ehrlich P. Über Den Jetzigen Stand Der Karzinomforschung [the Present State of Carcinoma Research]. Ned Tijdschr Geneeskd. (1909) 5:271–90.
- 3. Little CC. A possible mendelian explanation for a type of inheritance apparently non-mendelian in nature. *Science*. (1914) 40:904–6. doi: 10.1126/science.40.1042.904
- 4. Gorer PA, Lyman S, Snell GD. Studies on the genetic and antigenic basis of tumour transplantation. linkage between a histocompatibility gene and "Fused" in mice. Proc R Soc London Ser B Biol Sci. (1948) 135:499–505. doi: 10.1098/rspb.1948.0026
- Foley EJ. Antigenic Properties of Methylcholanthrene-induced Tumors in Mice of the Strain of Origin. (1953). Available online at: http://cancerres. aacrjournals.org/content/13/12/835.full-text.pdf (accessed March 15, 2019).
- Prehn RT, Main JM. Immunity to methylcholanthrene-induced sarcomas. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. (1957) 18:769–778. doi: 10.1093/jnci/18.6.769
- Burnet FM. The concept of immunological surveillance. In: Schwartz RS editor. *Immunological Aspects of Neoplasia. Progress in Tumor Research*. Basel: Karger (1970), Vol. 13, p. 1–27. doi: 10.1159/000386035
- Constantino J, Gomes C, Falcão A, Neves BM, Cruz MT. Dendritic cell-based immunotherapy: a basic review and recent advances. *Immunol Res.* (2017) 65:798–810. doi: 10.1007/s12026-017-8931-1
- Boudreau JE, Bonehill A, Thielemans K, Wan Y. Engineering dendritic cells to enhance cancer immunotherapy. *Mol Ther.* (2011) 19:841–853. doi: 10.1038/MT.2011.57
- Steinman RM, Banchereau J. Taking dendritic cells into medicine. Nature. (2007) 449:419–26. doi: 10.1038/nature06175
- den Haan JM, Lehar SM, Bevan MJ. CD8(+) but not CD8(-) dendritic cells cross-prime cytotoxic T cells *in vivo*. J Exp Med. (2000) 192:1685–96. doi: 10.1084/JEM.192.12.1685
- Itano AA, McSorley SJ, Reinhardt RL, Ehst BD, Ingulli E, Rudensky AY, et al. Distinct dendritic cell populations sequentially present antigen to CD4 T cells and stimulate different aspects of cell-mediated immunity. *Immunity*. (2003) 19:47–57. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(03)00175-4
- Borst J, Ahrends T, Bąbała N, Melief CJM, Kastenmüller W. CD4+ T cell help in cancer immunology and immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2018) 18:635–47. doi: 10.1038/s41577-018-0044-0
- 14. Mukherji B, Chakraborty NG, Yamasaki S, Okino T, Yamase H, Sporn JR, et al. Induction of antigen-specific cytolytic T cells *in situ* in human melanoma by immunization with synthetic peptide-pulsed autologous antigen presenting cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1995) 92:8078–82. doi: 10.1073/PNAS.92.17.8078
- Constantino J, Gomes C, Falcão A, Cruz MT, Neves BM. Antitumor dendritic cell-based vaccines: lessons from 20 years of clinical trials and future perspectives. *Transl Res.* (2016) 168:74–95. doi: 10.1016/J.TRSL.2015.07.008
- Tyzzer EE. *Tumor Immunity*. (2019). Available online at: http://cancerres. aacrjournals.org/content/1/2/125.full-text.pdf (accessed January 10, 2019).
- 17. van der Bruggen P, Traversari C, Chomez P, Lurquin C, De Plaen E, Van den Eynde B, et al. A gene encoding an antigen recognized by cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human melanoma. *Science*. (1991) 254:1643–7. doi: 10.1126/SCIENCE.1840703
- Chomez P, De Backer O, Bertrand M, De Plaen E, Boon T, Lucas S. An overview of the MAGE gene family with the identification of all human members of the family. *Cancer Res.* (2001) 61:5544–51.
- Tagliamonte M, Petrizzo A, Tornesello ML, Buonaguro FM, Buonaguro L. Antigen-specific vaccines for cancer treatment. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2014) 10:3332–46. doi: 10.4161/21645515.2014.973317
- Takaba H, Takayanagi H. The mechanisms of T cell selection in the thymus. *Trends Immunol.* 38:805–816. (2017) doi: 10.1016/j.it.2017. 07.010
- Mandelboim O, Berke G, Fridkin M, Feldman M, Eisenstein M, Eisenbach L. CTL induction by a tumour-associated antigen octapeptide derived from a murine lung carcinoma. *Nature*. (1994) 369:67–71. doi: 10.1038/369 067a0

- Heemskerk B, Kvistborg P, Schumacher TNM. The cancer antigenome. *EMBO J.* (2013) 32:194–203. doi: 10.1038/emboj.2012.333
- Yarchoan M, Johnson BA, Lutz ER, Laheru DA, Jaffee EM. Targeting neoantigens to augment antitumour immunity. Nat Rev Cancer. (2017) 17:209–22. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.154
- Schumacher T, Bunse L, Pusch S, Sahm F, Wiestler B, Quandt J, et al. A vaccine targeting mutant IDH1 induces antitumour immunity. *Nature*. (2014) 512:324–7. doi: 10.1038/nature13387
- Tran E, Robbins PF, Lu Y-C, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Jia L, et al. T-cell transfer therapy targeting mutant KRAS in cancer. *N Engl J Med.* (2016) 375:2255–62. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1609279
- Westdorp H, Fennemann FL, Weren RDA, Bisseling TM, Ligtenberg MJL, Figdor CG, et al. Opportunities for immunotherapy in microsatellite instable colorectal cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2016) 65:1249–59. doi: 10.1007/s00262-016-1832-7
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. *N Engl J Med.* (2014) 371:2189–99. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1406498
- Rooney MS, Shukla SA, Wu CJ, Getz G, Hacohen N. Molecular and genetic properties of tumors associated with local immune cytolytic activity. *Cell*. (2015) 160:48–61. doi: 10.1016/J.CELL.2014.12.033
- Castle JC, Kreiter S, Diekmann J, Löwer M, Van De Roemer N, De Graaf J, Selmi A, et al. Exploiting the mutanome for tumor vaccination. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:1081–91. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3722
- Kreiter S, Vormehr M, Van De Roemer N, Diken M, Löwer M, Diekmann J, et al. Mutant MHC class II epitopes drive therapeutic immune responses to cancer. *Nature*. (2015) 520:692–6. doi: 10.1038/nature14426
- Min Y, Roche KC, Tian S, Eblan MJ, McKinnon KP, Caster JM, et al. Antigen-capturing nanoparticles improve the abscopal effect and cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Nanotechnol.* (2017) 12:877–82. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2017.113
- Li AW, Sobral MC, Badrinath S, Choi Y, Graveline A, Stafford AG, et al. A facile approach to enhance antigen response for personalized cancer vaccination. *Nat Mater.* (2018) 17:528–34. doi: 10.1038/s41563-018-0028-2
- Yadav M, Jhunjhunwala S, Phung QT, Lupardus P, Tanguay J, Bumbaca S, et al. Predicting immunogenic tumour mutations by combining mass spectrometry and exome sequencing. *Nature*. (2014) 515:572–6. doi: 10.1038/nature14001
- Wang W, Liu Z, Zhou X, Guo Z, Zhang J, Zhu P, et al. Ferritin nanoparticlebased SpyTag/SpyCatcher-enabled click vaccine for tumor immunotherapy. *Nanomed Nanotechnol Biol Med.* 16:69–78. doi: 10.1016/J.NANO.2018.11.009
- Kranz LM, Diken M, Haas H, Kreiter S, Loquai C, Reuter KC, et al. Systemic RNA delivery to dendritic cells exploits antiviral defence for cancer immunotherapy. *Nature*. (2016) 534:396–401. doi: 10.1038/nature18300
- 36. Zhu G, Mei L, Vishwasrao HD, Jacobson O, Wang Z, Liu Y, et al. Intertwining DNA-RNA nanocapsules loaded with tumor neoantigens as synergistic nanovaccines for cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:1482. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01386-7
- Gubin MM, Zhang X, Schuster H, Caron E, Ward JP, Noguchi T, et al. Checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy targets tumour-specific mutant antigens. *Nature*. (2014) 515:577–81. doi: 10.1038/nature13988
- Kuai R, Ochyl LJ, Bahjat KS, Schwendeman A, Moon JJ. Designer vaccine nanodiscs for personalized cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Mater.* (2016) 1:4822. doi: 10.1038/nmat4822
- Luo M, Wang H, Wang Z, Cai H, Lu Z, Li Y, et al. A STING-activating nanovaccine for cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Nanotechnol.* (2017) 12:648–54. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2017.52
- Carreno BM, Magrini V, Becker-Hapak M, Kaabinejadian S, Hundal J, Petti AA, et al. A dendritic cell vaccine increases the breadth and diversity of melanoma neoantigen-specific T cells. *Science.* (2015) 348:803–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa3828
- Sahin U, Derhovanessian E, Miller M, Kloke BP, Simon P, Löwer M, et al. Personalized RNA mutanome vaccines mobilize poly-specific therapeutic immunity against cancer. *Nature*. (2017) 547:222–6. doi: 10.1038/nature23003
- Duperret EK, Perales-Puchalt A, Stoltz R, Mandloi N, Barlow J, Chaudhuri A, et al. A synthetic DNA, multi-neoantigen vaccine drives predominately MHC Class I CD8 <sup>+</sup> T-cell responses, impacting tumor challenge. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2019) 7:174–82. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-18-0283

- Ott PA, Hu Z, Keskin DB, Shukla SA, Sun J, Bozym DJ, et al. An immunogenic personal neoantigen vaccine for patients with melanoma. *Nature*. (2017) 547:217–21. doi: 10.1038/nature22991
- Keskin DB, Anandappa AJ, Sun J, Tirosh I, Mathewson ND, Li S, et al. Neoantigen vaccine generates intratumoral T cell responses in phase Ib glioblastoma trial. *Nature*. (2019) 565:234–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0792-9
- Kuai R, Sun X, Yuan W, Xu Y, Schwendeman A, Moon JJ. Subcutaneous nanodisc vaccination with neoantigens for combination cancer immunotherapy. *Bioconjug Chem.* (2018) 29:771–5. doi: 10.1021/acs.bioconjchem.7b00761
- 46. Hara E, Yamaguchi T, Nojima H, Ide T, Campisi J, Okayama H, et al. Id-related genes encoding helix-loop-helix proteins are required for G1 progression and are repressed in senescent human fibroblasts. J Biol Chem. (1994) 269:2139–45.
- Hellmann MD, Snyder A. Making it personal: neoantigen vaccines in metastatic melanoma. *Immunity*. (2017) 47:221–3. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.08.001
- Gerlinger M, Rowan AJ, Horswell S, Larkin J, Endesfelder D, Gronroos E, et al. Intratumor heterogeneity and branched evolution revealed by multiregion sequencing. N Engl J Med. (2012) 366:883–92. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1113205
- 49. de Bruin EC, McGranahan N, Mitter R, Salm M, Wedge DC, Yates L, et al. Spatial and temporal diversity in genomic instability processes defines lung cancer evolution. *Science*. (2014) 346:251–6. doi: 10.1126/science. 1253462
- McGranahan N, Furness AJS, Rosenthal R, Ramskov S, Lyngaa R, Saini SK, et al. Clonal neoantigens elicit T cell immunoreactivity and sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade. *Science*. (2016) 351:1463–9. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf1490
- Milo I, Bedora-Faure M, Garcia Z, Thibaut R, Périé L, Shakhar G, et al. The immune system profoundly restricts intratumor genetic heterogeneity. *Sci Immunol.* (2018) 3:eaat1435. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aat1435
- Gejman RS, Chang AY, Jones HF, DiKun K, Hakimi AA, Schietinger A, et al. Rejection of immunogenic tumor clones is limited by clonal fraction. *Elife*. (2018) 7:e41090. doi: 10.7554/eLife.41090
- Prehn RT. Analysis of antigenic heterogeneity within individual 3methylcholanthrene-induced mouse sarcomas. JNCI J Natl Cancer Inst. (1970) 45:1039–45. doi: 10.1093/jnci/45.5.1039
- Miller FR, Heppner G. Immunologic heterogeneity of tumor cell subpopulations from a single mouse mammary tumor. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 63:1457–63. (1980) doi: 10.1093/jnci/63. 6.1457
- 55. Shu Y, Wu X, Tong X, Wang X, Chang Z, Mao Y, et al. Circulating tumor DNA mutation profiling by targeted next generation sequencing provides guidance for personalized treatments in multiple cancer types. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:583. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-00520-1

- San Lucas FA, Allenson K, Bernard V, Castillo J, Kim DU, Ellis K, et al. Minimally invasive genomic and transcriptomic profiling of visceral cancers by next-generation sequencing of circulating exosomes. *Ann Oncol.* (2016) 27:635–41. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdv604
- 57. Zhang Y, Chang L, Yang Y, Fang W, Guan Y, Wu A, et al. Intratumor heterogeneity comparison among different subtypes of non-small-cell lung cancer through multi-region tissue and matched ctDNA sequencing. *Mol Cancer.* (2019) 18:7. doi: 10.1186/s12943-019-0939-9
- Turajlic S, Xu H, Litchfield K, Rowan A, Horswell S, Chambers T, et al. Deterministic evolutionary trajectories influence primary tumor growth: TRACERx renal. *Cell.* (2018) 173:595–610.e11. doi: 10.1016/J.CELL.2018.03.043
- Chowell D, Napier J, Gupta R, Anderson KS, Maley CC, Sayres MAW. Modeling the subclonal evolution of cancer cell populations. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:830–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1229
- Van Loo P, Nordgard SH, Lingjærde OC, Russnes HG, Rye IH, Sun W, et al. Allele-specific copy number analysis of tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:16910–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1009843107
- Carter SL, Cibulskis K, Helman E, McKenna A, Shen H, Zack T, et al. Absolute quantification of somatic DNA alterations in human cancer. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2012) 30:413–21. doi: 10.1038/nbt.2203
- Stachler MD, Taylor-Weiner A, Peng S, McKenna A, Agoston AT, Odze RD, et al. Paired exome analysis of Barrett's esophagus and adenocarcinoma. *Nat Genet.* (2015) 47:1047–55. doi: 10.1038/ng.3343
- Joglekar AV, Leonard MT, Jeppson JD, Swift M, Li G, Wong S, et al. T cell antigen discovery via signaling and antigen-presenting bifunctional receptors. *Nat Methods*. (2019) 16:191–8. doi: 10.1038/s41592-018-0304-8
- 64. Lee C-H, Yelensky R, Jooss K, Chan TA. Update on tumor neoantigens and their utility: why it is good to be different. *Trends Immunol.* (2018) 39:536–48. doi: 10.1016/J.IT.2018.04.005
- Guo Y, Lei K, Tang L. Neoantigen vaccine delivery for personalized anticancer immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1499. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01499

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Fennemann, de Vries, Figdor and Verdoes. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Increased Akt-Driven Glycolysis Is the Basis for the Higher Potency of CD137L-DCs

#### Qun Zeng<sup>1,2</sup>, Karthik Mallilankaraman<sup>1</sup> and Herbert Schwarz<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Physiology, Yong Loo Lin School of Medicine, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore, <sup>2</sup> Immunology Programme, Life Sciences Institute, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore

CD137 ligand-induced dendritic cells (CD137L-DCs) are a new type of dendritic cells (DCs) that induce strong cytotoxic T cell responses. Investigating the metabolic activity as a potential contributing factor for their potency, we find a significantly higher rate of glycolysis in CD137L-DCs than in granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and interleukin 4 induced monocyte-derived DCs (moDCs). Using unbiased screening, Akt-mTORC1 activity was found to be significantly higher throughout the differentiation and maturation of CD137L-DCs than that of moDCs. Furthermore, this higher activity of the Akt-mTORC1 pathway is responsible for the significantly higher glycolysis rate in CD137L-DCs than in moDCs. Inhibition of Akt during maturation or inhibition of glycolysis during and after maturation resulted in suppression of inflammatory DCs, with mature CD137L-DCs being the most affected ones. mTORC1, instead, was indispensable for the differentiation of both CD137L-DCs and moDCs. In contrast to its role in supporting lipid synthesis in murine bone marrow-derived DCs (BMDCs), the higher glycolysis rate in CD137L-DCs does not lead to a higher lipid content but rather to an accumulation of succinate and serine. These data demonstrate that the increased Akt-driven glycolysis underlies the higher activity of CD137L-DCs.

#### Keywords: CD137L-DC, metabolism, glycolysis, Akt, mTOR, lipid synthesis, succinate

# INTRODUCTION

With the recent success of immune checkpoint inhibitors and chimeric antigen receptor T cells (CAR-T), tumor immunotherapy finally had its long-awaited breakthroughs. However, there are many cancer types where these two approaches have low to no efficacy (1-3). Examples would be solid cancers that lack a cell surface tumor associated antigen (TAA) that can be targeted by CAR-T, and cancers that failed to induce an immune response (2, 3).

Dendritic Cells (DCs) as the pivotal link between the innate immune and the adaptive immune system have been the focus of immunological researches for the last several decades. DC-based immunotherapy for cancer has been proven safe and to prolong survival but the clinical response and efficacy are disappointing (4). To date most of the DCs for cancer immunotherapy are generated by treating patients' monocytes with granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and interleukin 4 (IL-4) (4, 5), which are generally referred to as monocyte-derived DCs (moDCs). We have discovered a new type of DCs, CD137L-DCs, which are derived from monocytes by CD137 ligand (CD137L) reverse signaling (6). CD137L-DCs are only found in human but not in mouse because of the difference in human and mouse CD137L (7).

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Giovanna Schiavoni, Istituto Superiore di Sanità (ISS), Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Luigi Racioppi, University of Naples Federico II, Italy Bénédicte Manoury, Institut National de la Santé et de la Recherche Médicale (INSERM), France

#### \*Correspondence:

Herbert Schwarz phssh@nus.edu.sg

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Antigen Presenting Cell Biology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 06 November 2018 Accepted: 04 April 2019 Published: 24 April 2019

#### Citation:

Zeng Q, Mallilankaraman K and Schwarz H (2019) Increased Akt-Driven Glycolysis Is the Basis for the Higher Potency of CD137L-DCs. Front. Immunol. 10:868. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00868

24

Nevertheless, CD137L-DCs are more potent than moDCs in stimulating cytotoxic T cells in an antigen-specific manner and driving a T helper 1 type response (8). T cells activated by CD137L-DCs are less exhausted and metabolically more active (9). CD137L-DCs are promising candidates for the still unmet need of an effective immunotherapy for many types of cancer. A clinical trial testing the safety and optimal dose of CD137L-DCs for the treatment of nasopharyngeal carcinoma is currently ongoing (NCT03282617).

There is accumulating evidence that metabolic reprograming underpins the transition of immune cells between the quiescent and the activated state. The same cells activated by different stimuli usually induce distinctive metabolic programs and the metabolism in turn influences the fate of the cell development. This mutual regulation is particularly evident during T cell differentiation (10) and macrophage polarization (11). DCs are a heterogeneous population consisting of different subsets (12). However, because of the rarity of DCs in peripheral blood, the knowledge of DC metabolism is mainly gained from murine bone marrow-derived DCs (BMDCs). During the activation of BMDCs by toll like receptor (TLR) ligands, especially the TLR4 ligand LPS, BMDCs switch from oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) to glycolysis. This shift is executed in two different stages: The early increase of glycolysis is inducible nitric oxide synthase (iNOS)-independent and mediated by TBK1-IKKE-Akt, while the latter long-term commitment to glycolysis is PI3K-AktmTOR-mediated and dependent on iNOS, which generates NO to suppress OXPHOS (13). Glycogenolysis also contributes to the early glycolytic burst in both LPS-activated human moDCs and in murine BMDCs (14). Unlike tumor cells and T cells that rely on glycolysis to provide intermediates as building blocks for proliferation, non-proliferative BMDCs utilize glycolysis mainly to provide acetyl-CoA and nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) for the synthesis of lipids, leading to an expansion of endoplasmic reticulum (ER) and the Golgi apparatus and increased synthesis and transport of proteins for DC activation (15).

Nevertheless, one should be cautious in applying findings obtained in murine BMDCs to the other types of DCs, as notable differences in metabolism have been found between different subsets of DCs (16). For example, iNOS is induced in LPS-activated murine BMDCs but not the murine classical DCs isolated from the spleen (17). Furthermore, most clinical trials on moDCs to date use a cocktail of cytokines instead of LPS to mature moDCs (4). Whether CD137L-DCs and moDCs matured by cytokine cocktails share similar metabolism as murine BMDCs is unknown. In this study, we have compared the metabolism of CD137L-DCs with that of moDCs, characterized the metabolism-regulating signaling pathways, and explained the high potency of CD137L-DCs from a metabolic perspective. We find that CD137L-DCs are characterized by high Akt-driven glycolysis that is important for both the activation of CD137L-DCs and the persistence of their activated state.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Antibodies and Inhibitors**

Antibodies to the following proteins were purchased from the indicated vendors: mouse IgG1 Kappa (clone MOPC21) Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). CD137L (clone 5F4) Biolegend (San Diego, CA, USA). CD3 (clone OKT3), CD40 (clone 5C3) and PD-L1 (clone M1H1) Affymetrix eBioscience (San Diego, CA, USA). CD80 (clone 2D10), CD86 (clone IT2.2) and CD70 (clone 113-16) Biolegend. Phospho-Akt (Ser473) (clone D9E), Pan-Akt (clone 40D4), Phospho-S6 Ribosomal Protein (Ser235/236), S6 Ribosomal Protein (clone 54D2), Phosphop44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2, Thr202/Tyr204), p44/42 MAPK (Erk1/2, clone L34F12), phospho-AMPKα (Thr172, clone 40H9), AMPKα (clone F6), phospho-GSK-3β (Ser9, clone D85E12), GSK-3β (clone 3D10), rabbit IgG-HRP, mouse IgG-HRP, beta-actin (clone 13E5), and PathScan<sup>®</sup> Intracellular Signaling Array Kit from Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA, USA). GAPDH (clone 6C5) Abcam (Cambridge, UK). LY294002 and Rapamycin from Cell Signaling Technology. DMSO, 2-DG, C75, and TOFA from Sigma-Aldrich.

#### **Differentiation of DCs**

Human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from human blood by Ficoll-Paque (GE Healthcare, Chi, IL, US) density gradient centrifugation. Monocytes were isolated from PBMCs by using the EasySep Human Monocyte Isolation Kit (#19359, StemCell technologies, Vancouver, Canada). Isolated monocytes were cultured in RPMI-1640 supplemented by 10% FBS, 50 µg/ml streptomycin and 50 IU/ml penicillin (R10 PS medium). CD137L-DCs were differentiated by seeding monocytes on anti-CD137L antibody pre-coated plate (5 µg/ml, 4°C overnight) at 1 million/ml for 7 d. moDCs were differentiated by treating monocytes with 100 ng/ml IL-4 and 80 ng/ml GM-CSF (ImmunoTools, Friesoythe, Germany) for 7 d. CD137L-DCs were matured by 1 µg/ml Resignimod (R848, InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, USA) and 50 ng/ml IFN-y (#285-IF-100, R&D, Minneapolis, MN, USA) and moDCs were matured by 10 ng/ml IL-6, IL-1β, TNFα (ImmunoTools) and PGE2 (#P0409, Sigma-Aldrich) in the last 18 h of differentiation.

For experiments involving inhibitors, cells were incubated with inhibitors 1 h prior to inducing differentiation or maturation. During differentiation,  $2 \mu M$  LY294002 and 10 nM Rapamycin were used. After 1 day of DC differentiation, inhibitors were washed out and developing DCs were supplemented again with differentiation cytokines. During maturation,  $50 \mu M$  2-DG,  $10 \mu M$  LY294002, 50 nM Rapamycin,  $20 \mu M$  C75 and  $20 \mu M$  TOFA were used.

#### Mixed Lymphocyte Reaction

T cells were isolated from PBMCs using the EasySep Human T cell Isolation Kit (#17951, StemCell technologies), and labeled by CellTrace<sup>TM</sup> Violet dye (#C34557, ThermoFisher Scientific).

Abbreviations: ACC, acetyl-CoA carboxylase; BMDCs, bone marrow-derived DCs; CD137L-DC, CD137 ligand-induced DC; DC, Dendritic cell; FASN, fatty acid synthase; moDC, monocyte-derived DC; OXPHOS, oxidative phosphorylation.

Allogenic mixed lymphocyte reaction (MLR) was done by coculturing 2 × 10<sup>4</sup> DCs generated from one donor with 2 × 10<sup>5</sup> T cells isolated from another donor in AIM V<sup>TM</sup> medium (#12055091, ThermoFisher Scientific) supplemented with 2% human AB serum (#H3667, Sigma-Aldrich) for 5 d in 96-well plates. The supernatants were collected for cytokine measurements. The proliferation of T cells was quantified by the dilution of CellTrace<sup>TM</sup> Violet dye which was measured by flow cytometry after gating for CD3<sup>+</sup> cells.

#### **Seahorse Metabolic Assays**

Seahorse XFe24 FluxPaks, XF Base Medium Minimal DMEM (0 mM Glucose), Seahorse XF Glycolysis Stress Test Kit, XF Mito Fuel Flex Test kit and XF Cell Mito Stress Test Kit were purchased from Agilent (Santa Clara, California, USA). The characterization of DC metabolism was done as described previously (18). Briefly, harvested DCs were washed with PBS once, resuspended in assay medium to make 2 million/ml (1~4 million/ml), and 0.1 ml DCs were seeded per well in poly-D-lysine (#P6407, Sigma-Aldrich) coated plate. DCs were equilibrated in CO2-free incubator at 37°C for 30 min. After the medium was topped up to 0.5 ml, the plate was equilibrated in CO<sub>2</sub>-free incubator at 37°C for another 30 min before being loaded into the machine. The final concentrations of drugs were: 10 mM Glucose, 1 µM Oligomycin, 50 mM 2-DG, 3 µM FCCP, 1 µM Rotenone+ 1 µM Antimycin A, 3 µM BPTES, 4 µM Etomoxir, and 2 µM UK5099.

#### Western Blot

For PathScan<sup>®</sup> Intracellular Signaling Array experiments, cell lysates were prepared and incubated according to the protocol. The signal were measured by a ChemiDoc (Biorad, CA, USA) machine. For LY294002 or Rapamycin treatment, cells were pretreated with the inhibitors for 1h before maturation or differentiation. 1 or 2h afterwards, cells were washed with ice-cold PBS twice and lysed by RIPA buffer (#9806, CST) supplemented with protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktail (#78440, ThermoFisher Scientific) on ice for 10 min. Cell lysates were collected, sonicated by a water bath sonicator, and pelleted at maximum speed at 4°C for 15 min on a bench top centrifuge. The concentrations of cell supernatants were quantified by Bradford assay. Equal amount of proteins was run on a SDS-PAGE gel, transferred to a PVDF membrane and blocked by 5% non-fat milk at room temperature for 1 h. The PVDF membrane was probed with primary antibodies at 4°C overnight, washed with 1% TBST three times, and probed with secondary antibodies at rt. for 1 h. The PVDF membrane was washed again with 1% TBST three times before development. The developed X-ray films were scanned and the bands were semi-quantified by ImageJ.

## qPCR

Total DNA were extracted by organic solvents (19). The mitochondrial DNA copy number per cell was quantified by the ratio of the copy number of mitochondrial tRNA to the copy number of  $\beta$ -2-microglobulin ( $\beta$ 2M) (quantified by qPCR) as previously described (20).

## **TMRE Staining**

CD137L-DCs were grown on cell-culture treated coverslips (#174985, ThermoFisher Scientific). DCs were generated and loaded with TMRE ( $\Delta \psi_m$  indicator; 100 nM) in the dark for 20 min at 37°C. Cells were then washed and resuspended in Hank's buffered salt solution (HBSS), pH 7.2. Images were acquired using an Olympus IX73 fluorescent imaging system with excitation at 561 nm. Twenty images were collected randomly for each sample, and the fluorescence was quantified using Image J software.

#### **ELISA**

IL-8, IL-10, TNF $\alpha$ , and IL-1 $\beta$  in the supernatant were measured by respective Ready-SET-Go!<sup>®</sup> Set (eBioscience) ELISA kits according to the protocol. IL-12 and IFN- $\gamma$  in the supernatant were measured by respective DuoSet ELISA kit according to the protocol (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, USA). All cytokines are in pg/ml.

## **Flow Cytometry**

CD137L-DCs were washed with cold PBS, incubated in L7<sup>TM</sup> hPSC Passaging Solution (#FP-5013, Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) at 37°C for 15 min followed by R10 PS medium addition, and harvested by scraping. moDCs were harvested by flushing. For the proper comparison of cell surface markers, moDCs were also incubated with L7TM hPSC Passaging Solution at 37°C for 15 min. Cells were pelleted and washed with cold PBS for once, followed by cell surface Fc receptor blockage by FcR blocking reagent (#130-059-901, Miltenvi Biotec, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany). Cell surface markers were stained at 4°C for 30 min. Cells were spun down and washed with cold FACS buffer twice before the analysis on LSR Fottessa or X20 (BD, NJ, USA) or Attune NxT Flow Cytometer (ThermoFisher Scientific, Carlsbad, CA, USA). For live / dead cell staining, 1 µg/ml 7-AAD (Biolegend) was added 5 min before the measurement by flow cytometry. Data were analyzed with FlowJo 10.

## Lipid Staining

HCS LipidTOX<sup>TM</sup> Phospholipidosis and Steatosis Detection Kit (#H34158, ThermoFisher Scientific) or BODIPY (#790389, Sigma-Aldrich) was used to stain the lipid. LipidTOX Red phospholipid stain was added to the cell culture 18 h before harvesting. Harvested DCs were washed with PBS and stained with LipidTOX Green neutral lipid stain at room temperature for 30 min. DCs were spun down and washed with PBS once before acquisition on flow cytometer. If BODIPY was used, harvested DCs were stained in the same way as LipidTOX Green neutral lipid stain.

## **Metabolomics**

The metabolic profiling of organic acids, amino acids, and glycolysis intermediates was done in collaboration with the Duke-NUS metabolomics facility. DCs were washed with ice-cold PBS thrice and resuspended in 50% acetonitrile, 0.3% formic acid. The extraction and measurement of metabolites by LC-MS was done as described previously (21, 22). The concentration of metabolites was normalized by the protein contents of DCs.

# Gene Set Enrichment Analysis (GSEA)

The dataset is obtained from Gene Expression Omnibus, accession number GSE60199 that was deposited by Harfuddin et al. (23). The GSEA analysis was performed by using the javaGSEA Desktop Application (24, 25). For all gene sets, 1,000 permutations with "phenotype" algorithm were used.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical significance was determined by two-tailed unpaired Student's *t*-test unless specified otherwise. If the sample was normalized by the control, statistical significance was determined by one-sample *t*-test against one. The scatter dot plots and bar charts were plotted by GraphPad Prism 6.

# RESULTS

# CD137L-DCs Have Higher Glycolysis Rates and Akt-mTOR1 Activity

As the activation of DCs is accompanied by metabolic reprograming to a higher rate of glycolysis (15, 26), we compared the glycolysis rates of CD137L-DCs and moDCs at baseline and under metabolic stress induced by Oligomycin. As expected, all DCs had higher extracellular acidification rate (ECAR) due to higher basal glycolysis rates and glycolytic capacities than the undifferentiated monocytes (Figure 1A). Maturation of both CD137L-DCs and moDCs further elevated basal glycolysis rates. Notably, immature CD137L-DCs have significantly higher basal glycolysis than both immature and mature moDCs, while mature CD137L-DCs have the highest basal glycolysis and glycolytic capacity (Figure 1A). In agreement with the higher glycolysis in CD137L-DCs, GSEA also showed an enrichment in enzymes involved in glycolysis in immature CD137L-DCs (Figure 1B), such as hexokinase 2 (HK2), which is a key enzyme in promoting aerobic glycolysis (27).

As the main source of ATP, mitochondrial respiration has also been studied by measuring the oxygen consumption rate (OCR). After their differentiation from monocytes, all DCs had a higher basal respiration rate and a higher maximal respiration than the starting monocytes, though not all comparisons were statistically significant (Figure 1C), indicating a biogenesis of mitochondria during DC differentiation (28). In line with previous observations (15, 26), moDCs had a lower maximal respiration after maturation. Though the basal respiration in moDCs was higher than in CD137L-DCs, there was no significant difference in maximal respiration between the two types of DCs (Figure 1C), suggesting that the mitochondria in CD137L-DCs are still healthy and that their function is not significantly compromised. In line with their higher basal respiration rate, immature moDCs have a higher enrichment in enzymes involved in the TCA cycle than immature CD137L-DCs and mature moDCs (Figure 1D). The lower basal respiration in CD137L-DCs could be a result of fewer mitochondria than in moDCs (Figure 1E). The average mitochondrial membrane potential, which is controlled by respiration, did not differ significantly among the four types of DCs (Supplementary Figures 1A,B). In fact, the responsiveness of moDCs but not CD137L-DCs to the mitochondrial pyruvate carrier blocker, UK5099, implied that moDCs had a mixed glycolytic and aerobic energy phenotype for glucose utilization while CD137L-DCs were mostly glycolytic (**Supplementary Figure 1C**).

Signaling pathways mediate and regulate the diverse activities of cells. We utilized the CST PathScan<sup>®</sup> Intracellular Signaling Array Kit to unbiasedly screen the main signaling pathways for an involvement in CD137L-DC differentiation and maturation. Among the 18 targets screened, the Akt-mTORC1 pathway but not the MAPK or Stat pathways consistently showed a stronger activation in CD137L-DCs than moDCs differentiated from monocytes from two healthy donors (data not shown). This result was further confirmed by Western blot analysis. 24 h after the differentiation was initiated, the nascent CD137L-DCs showed a robust Akt activation that could not be detected in nascent moDCs. Although Akt activation was present in moDCs at later time points, this stronger activation of Akt in CD137L-DCs persisted during the entire period of differentiation and maturation (Figure 1F). Ribosomal protein S6, which is a downstream target of mTORC1, was comparably activated in immature CD137L-DCs and immature moDCs but showed higher activation in mature CD137L-DCs than in mature moDCs (Figure 1F). The result is reproducible with the pooled semiquantified results shown in Figure 1G. Some comparisons are not statistically significant due to the large donor variation and relatively small sample size of three donors. Other molecules related to mTORC1, such as PRAS40, p70S6, and mTOR itself, also displayed stronger activation in mature CD137L-DCs than in mature moDCs (Supplementary Figure 2).

# Glycolysis Is Essential for Sustaining the Activated State of Mature CD137L-DCs

It has been previously reported that glycolysis is indispensable for the activation of murine BMDCs and human moDCs (15, 26). Our data are in line with these observations. When glycolysis was inhibited by 2-Deoxy-D-glucose (2-DG) during moDCs maturation, expression of CD70 and CD86 was significantly decreased (**Supplementary Figure 3A**). The maturation of CD137L-DCs was more affected by 2-DG than the maturation of moDCs. For example, CD40, CD70, and IL-12 were downregulated by 2-DG to a much higher extent in mature CD137L-DCs than in mature moDCs (**Supplementary Figures 3A,B**). This could be explained by the higher rate of glycolysis in mature CD137L-DCs than in mature moDCs.

Since DCs used for tumor immunotherapy are always generated in nutrient-rich medium, we investigated how important glycolysis is for the function of different types of *in vitro* generated DCs. Surprisingly, glycolysis remained necessary for the expression of most co-stimulatory molecules examined and for the secretion of inflammatory cytokines even after DC differentiation and maturation had been completed. Representative sets of histogram are shown in **Supplementary Figure 4A**. Mature CD137L-DCs, which had the highest glycolysis rate, were the DC type most inhibited by 2-DG. For example, the MFI of CD80 decreased in mature CD137L-DC after 2-DG treatment but increased in the other three types



FIGURE 1 | CD137L-DCs have a higher glycolysis rate and higher Akt and mTORC activity than moDCs. (A) Glycolysis stress assay and (C) Mitostress assay were done by Seahorse XFe24 Analyzer. ECAR (pmol/min/Norm. Unit) and OCR (mpH/min/Norm. Unit) were normalized by the cell protein content. The basal glycolysis, glycolytic capacity, basal respiration, and maximal respiration were calculated according to the instructions provided by the kit's manufacturer. The heatmaps of the glycolysis gene signature (B) and the TCA gene signature (D) were drawn by comparing the levels of RNAs between immature CD137L-DCs and the other DC types (immature moDCs and mature moDCs) by GSEA. Shown are results from five different donors. Red: relatively enriched. Blue: relatively decreased. The enrichment score (ES) of the gene set in immature CD137L-DC relative to immature moDC and mature moDC as a whole is stated above the heatmap. (E) Relative mitochondrial (Continued)

**FIGURE 1** | counts in different DC types were measured by the mitochondrial DNA copy number. Shown are means  $\pm$  standard deviations of triplicate measurements. (**F**) Monocytes were differentiated by GM-CSF + IL-4 or anti-CD137L antibody (clone 5F4) or the isotype antibody (clone MOPC-21) for 7 d. Cells were lysed at indicated time points. CD137L-DCs were matured by 1 µg/ml R848 + 50 ng/ml IFN- $\gamma$  and moDCs were matured by 10 ng/ml IL-6, IL-1 $\beta$ , TNF $\alpha$ , and PGE2 during the last 18 h of differentiation, which is indicated by #. The activation of Akt and ribosome protein S6 were measured by Western blot analysis. These data are representative of three independent experiments. (**G**) The activation of Akt (p-Akt/ t-Akt) and mTORC1 (p-S6/ loading controls) was semi-quantified by ImageJ and normalized by the protein level in immature CD137L-DCs. Data from three different donors were statistically analyzed. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*\*p < 0.001 (two-tailed, two sample student *t* test).

of DCs. CD70, CD86, and CD137L also significantly decreased when glycolysis was suppressed by 2-DG (**Figures 2A,B**). However, this inhibition by 2-DG was not permanent. After 2-DG was washed out and the DCs were cultured in normal medium, all the co-stimulatory molecules increased to the level of control cells (**Supplementary Figure 5**), indicating that DCs are plastic and responsive to the changes in the environment.

Interestingly, CD137L-DCs treated with 2-DG were more resistant to cell death than moDCs. The inhibition of glycolysis altered the forward scatter and side scatter of mature moDCs but not of mature CD137L-DCs, indicating an increased percentage of cell death in mature moDCs (Supplementary Figure 4B). This vulnerability of mature moDCs to 2-DG induced cell death was further supported by in-plate trypan blue staining (Supplementary Figure 4C), which did not require cell scraping and thereby avoided potential damage to cells. These data tally with the data from the PathScan Intracellular Signaling Array showing that there is more extensive phosphorylation of the Bcl-2-associated death promoter (Bad) and less cleavage of caspase 3 in CD137L-DCs than in moDCs (Supplementary Figure 4D), indicating a lower degree of apoptosis. This dependence of moDCs on glycolysis for cell survival confirms previous findings in murine BMDC (17). In contrast, CD137L-DCs were more viable and not as dependent on glycolysis for cell survival.

# Akt Drives the Increased Glycolysis and Activation of CD137L-DCs

As demonstrated above, the activation of CD137L-DCs was accompanied by an elevated glycolysis rate and an increased Akt-mTORC1 activity. An increased Akt-mTORC1 activity is the cause of an elevated glycolysis rate in LPS-activated murine BMDCs (26). In order to test whether such a causal relationship is also the case for human DCs, LY294002, an inhibitor of PI3K-Akt, and Rapamycin, an inhibitor of mTORC1, were used. The efficacy and specificity of the inhibitors were first confirmed (Supplementary Figures 6A,B). Inhibition of the Akt-mTORC1 pathway by LY294002 or Rapamycin slightly reduced the increase in glycolysis in mature moDCs (Figure 3A) but completely blocked it in mature CD137L-DCs (Figure 3B). Similarly as the inhibition of glycolysis by 2-DG, inhibition of glycolysis by LY294002 significantly impaired the expression of most costimulatory molecules and the secretion of pro-inflammatory cytokines by mature CD137L-DCs, while mature moDCs were not much affected (Figures 3C,D). In contrast, Rapamycin generally increased the expression of co-stimulatory molecules and IL-12 secretion, of which the reason is currently not known.

However, once the DCs were matured, the inhibition of Akt or mTORC1 had little effect on the expression of

costimulatory molecules and cytokines by mature CD137L-DCs or mature moDCs (**Supplementary Figure 7**). The reason for this non-responsiveness may be that the signaling pathways are usually upstream of an activation decision point, and are only active for a short period after encountering a stimulus, such as the TLR ligands or maturation cocktails, while the metabolism is fundamental and active for an extended period.

# mTORC1 Is Indispensable for the Differentiation of CD137L-DCs

Since the PI3K - Akt - mTORC1 pathway was activated early on upon the induction of DC differentiation (Figure 1F), we were wondering whether the PI3K - Akt - mTORC1 pathway could affect the differentiation of monocytes to DCs in addition to its effect on maturation. For that the concentration of inhibitors was first optimized (Supplementary Figures 8A,B). The most striking effect was that inhibition of mTORC1 from 1h before to 24h after induction of immature moDCs or CD137L-DCs differentiation always blocked the differentiation of DCs, as evidenced by the absence of the typical morphology of immature moDCs or CD137L-DCs (Figure 4A). After 7 d, fewer live DCs were present. The increased cell death after Rapamycin treatment is mainly a result of differentiation blockade but not of acute cytotoxicity of Rapamycin, since the viabilities of monocytes and nascent moDCs on day 1 were comparable between Rapamycin treatment and the control sample (Supplementary Figure 8C). Analysis of costimulatory molecule expression confirmed that mTORC1 inhibition during differentiation impaired the differentiation of DCs, with immature CD137L-DCs being more affected than immature moDCs (Figure 4B). The effect of Akt inhibition during differentiation was more variable among different donors. Expression of costimulatory molecules and cytokines by immature CD137L-DCs was reduced although the difference was not always statistically significant due to large donor to donor variation (Figure 4C).

The inhibition of Akt or mTORC1 during the first day of differentiation had a long-term influence on DC maturation. IL-12 is usually secreted by activated DCs, especially by mature CD137L-DCs. Even though the inhibitors were washed out by the end of the first day, LY294002-treated mature CD137L-DCs still secreted much less IL-12 while Rapamycin-treated mature CD137L-DCs secreted more IL-12 than the control cells, which is reminiscent of the IL-12 secreted by mature CD137L-DCs treated by LY29002 or Rapamycin during maturation (**Figure 3D**).



mean fluorescence intensity. n.d., not detected.

# The Increased Glycolysis During DC Maturation Does Not Fuel Lipid Synthesis

Glycolysis can favor the function of DCs in many different ways, such as providing carbons and reducing power for lipid synthesis (15). However, there are conflicting data concerning the effect of fatty acid synthesis blockade on DC function (15, 29). Our previous data showed an enrichment in gene expression related to the lipid metabolism in immature CD137L-DCs compared to moDCs (23). But neither had mature CD137L-DCs more phospholipids or neutral lipids than mature moDCs, nor did the lipid content in CD137L-DCs increase upon maturation (**Figure 5A**), indicating that the synthesis of fatty acids is not the main output of the increased glycolysis in CD137L-DCs.

Since acetyl-CoA carboxylase (ACC) and fatty acid synthase (FASN) are key enzymes for lipid metabolism, we inhibited

them with TOFA and C75, respectively. Both inhibitors did not lead to a decrease of the lipid content in treated DCs (data not shown). Nevertheless, C75 significantly suppressed the maturation of CD137L-DCs and moDCs as evidenced by the lower expression of most co-stimulatory molecules (**Figure 5B**) and the almost complete block of IL-12 secretion (**Figure 5C**). In the allogenic mixed leukocyte reaction (MLR), T cells activated by C75-treated DCs secreted less IFN- $\gamma$  and proliferated less than T cells activated by the control DCs (**Figure 5D**). However, the expression of co-stimulatory molecules and IL-12 were not suppressed by TOFA (**Supplementary Figures 9A,B**). TOFA-treated DCs did not have a defect in stimulating the T cells (**Supplementary Figure 9C**). A representative set of histogram of T cell proliferation is shown in **Supplementary Figure 9D**.



pre-treated with DMSO or 10  $\mu$ M LY294002 or 50 nM Rapamycin for 1 h before maturation. Glycolysis stress assays of (A) mature moDCs and (B) mature CD137L-DCs were done with a Seahorse XFe24 Analyzer. (C) Cell surface expression of co-stimulatory and inhibitory molecules was measured by flow cytometry. (D) The secretion of cytokines by DCs was measured by ELISA. Depicted are means  $\pm$  standard deviations of changes upon addition of 10  $\mu$ M LY294002 or 50 nM Rapamycin relative to respective DMSO controls (values set at 1) from up to 5 independent experiments with DCs from different donors. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01 (two-tailed, one sample student *t* test). n.d., not detected.

# Succinate and Serine Are Enriched in CD137L-DCs

To determine the consequence of the higher glycolysis rate in CD137L-DCs, an unbiased metabolomics experiment, covering amino acids and intermediates from glycolysis and the TCA cycle, was performed. Unexpectedly, citrate, a TCA intermediate that has been reported to accumulate in activated BMDCs (15), was not elevated in mature moDCs, and was lower in CD137L-DCs than moDCs (**Figure 6A**). However, succinate, another intermediate in TCA cycle, was found to be highly enriched in

CD137L-DCs (**Figure 6B**). A further highly enriched metabolite in CD137L-DCs was serine (**Figure 6C**), which can be derived from glycolysis. Both succinate and serine play a role in DNA and histone methylation (30, 31).

# DISCUSSION

It is increasingly appreciated that metabolic reprograming accompanies the activation of leukocytes. We found that CD137L-DCs have a higher basal glycolysis rate than moDCs



**FIGURE 4** The activation of mTORC1 is indispensable for the differentiation and function of CD137L-DCs and moDCs. Primary monocytes were pre-treated with DMSO or 2  $\mu$ M LY294002 or 10 nM Rapamycin for 1 h before the differentiation to moDC or CD137L-DCs was induced. 24 h after the initiation of differentiation, inhibitors were washed out and the moDCs were re-supplemented with GM-CSF + IL-4. Where indicated, DCs were matured during the last 18 h of the 7-day culture. (A) mTORC1 inhibition by Rapamycin blocks differentiation. Shown are representative photos of DCs, taken before the drug wash-out. Cell surface expression of co-stimulatory and inhibitory molecules and the secretion of cytokines after (B) Rapamycin and (C) LY294002 treatment were measured. Depicted are means  $\pm$  standard deviations of changes upon addition of 2  $\mu$ M LY294002 or 10 nM Rapamycin relative to respective DMSO controls (values set at 1) from up to 7 independent experiments with DCs from different donors. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01, \*\*\*p < 0.001, \*\*\*p < 0.001, p = 0.0584 (two-tailed, one sample student *t* test). n.d., not detected.



n.d., not detected.

because of a higher activity of Akt. After maturation by IFN- $\gamma$  and the TLR7/8 ligand R848, mature CD137L-DCs have an even higher activity of the Akt-mTORC1 pathway, leading to a further increase in the basal glycolysis rate and the glycolytic capacity. We demonstrated that glycolysis is not only important for the increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules and the increased secretion of inflammatory cytokines during the maturation of CD137L-DCs, but is also important for the

preservation of their activated state after maturation. The inhibition of Akt nicely recapitulates the suppressive effects of inhibition of glycolysis on CD137L-DC activity. It is therefore the high Akt-driven glycolysis rate that is the basis for the higher potency of CD137L-DCs compared to moDCs. The essence of our findings is graphically depicted in **Figure 7**.

Fast growing tumor cells often deplete glucose in the microenvironment (32, 33), leading to a dampened immune



response (34). Similarly as tumor cells, T cells upon activation also switch to aerobic glycolysis to support their proliferation (10). In the lymph node, where T cells become primed and activated, glucose level may be low. It is possible that T cells, after being activated by tumor associated antigen (TAA)-loaded DCs, proliferate for some time before the low glucose level in the lymph node suppresses DCs and limits T cell activation. Therefore, multiple injections of in vitro-generated DCs are needed to achieve sufficient T cell activation against tumors (35). One advantage of CD137L-DCs is that they are more resistant to spontaneous apoptosis and 2-DG-induced cell death. It is possible that CD137L-DCs survive longer in the lymph node, and therefore deliver stronger and longer-lasting activation to T cells. The plasticity of CD137L-DCs allows them to adapt to the changing environment, and may make it possible to fine-tune the tumor microenvironment and lymph node microenvironment with drugs in order to augment DC-based immunotherapy (36).

We have proven that both Akt and its downstream target mTORC1 mediate the increase of glycolysis in mature CD137L-DCs. However, only the inhibition of Akt during maturation suppresses inflammatory mature CD137L-DCs. The inhibition of mTORC1 by Rapamycin generally enhances the inflammatory features of mature moDCs and mature CD137L-DCs. This discrepancy suggests there are other regulating factors downstream of Akt and mTORC1 besides glycolysis that are

involved in the activation of DCs. On top of that, the inhibition of mTORC1 by Rapamycin can be both pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory. Sukhbaatar et al. proposed a model where the effect of mTORC1 inhibition on DC function is spatiotemporal: mTORC1 inhibition during early DC activation in the periphery suppresses inflammatory DCs while mTORC1 inhibition during late DC activation in the lymph node enhances the T cell activating ability (37). Our results support this model. For example, the early cytokine IL-1 $\beta$  secreted by mature CD137L-DCs is inhibited, whereas the late cytokine IL-12 is enhanced by Rapamycin.

During the differentiation of DCs, mTORC1 rather than Akt plays the more important role. mTORC1 inhibition blocks the DC differentiation and leads to massive cell death. This blockade of Akt or mTORC1 during differentiation has long-lasting consequences on the generated cells. Even when the monocytes were treated with the PI3K inhibitor LY294002 only during the first 24 h of differentiation, IL-12 secretion was still suppressed in the resulting matured DC on day 7. But the opposite, i.e., and enhancement of IL-12 secretion in resulting DC, was obtained when monocytes had been treated with the mTOR inhibitor Rapamycin. This long-term effect resembles the reported innate memory where monocytes are more inflammatory to a second stimulus (38). The molecular basis for this long-term effect may be the Akt-mTORC1-mediated glycolysis which has been reported to be involved in the epigenetic regulation of monocyte memory (39).

Everts and colleagues suggested that the increased glycolysis during activation results in an accumulation of citrate for the synthesis of lipids, which expands the ER and Golgi apparatus (15). However, we could not find an accumulation of citrate. Neither did we observe a higher lipid content in moDCs or CD137L-DCs after maturation, nor could we measure more lipids in CD137L-DCs than in moDCs. It has been shown that in monocytes different TLR ligands induce very different metabolic changes and transcriptomes (40). It is possible that the increased lipid synthesis is specific to LPS-activated moDCs but not to CD137L-DCs or cytokine-activated moDCs. The two fatty acid synthesis inhibitors, C75 and TOFA, did not decrease the lipid contents in any of the four types of DCs. However, the inhibition of FASN by C75 inhibited the maturation of both, CD137L-DCs and moDCs. It is possible that C75 reduces the level of Acetyl-CoA for acetylation, which plays an important role in the regulation of inflammation-related gene expression (41). Another possibility is that C75 alters the ratio of proinflammatory lipids to anti-inflammatory lipids (42).

and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate Succinate have been reported to be involved in the polarization of M1 and M2 Succinate macrophages (43). accumulates in M1 macrophages and promotes inflammation (44). A higher succinate to  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate ratio preferentially induces pro-inflammatory macrophage differentiation while а lower succinate / α-ketoglutarate ratio promotes antiinflammatory macrophage differentiation (31). It is very likely that the higher succinate/α-ketoglutarate contributes the pro-inflammatory ratio to features of CD137L-DC.



stage, in contrast, infinative CD137L-DCs have a high activation of the Akt-m10Ac1 pathway at the resting stage, leading to an increased givcolysis. After maturation, both mature moDCs and mature CD137L-DCs display an elevated activity of Akt-mTORC1, leading to higher glycolysis and the increased expression of co-stimulatory molecules and pro-inflammatory cytokines. Compared with mature moDCs, mature CD137L-DCs have a significantly higher Akt-driven glycolysis, and secrete more pro-inflammatory cytokines. This higher glycolysis leads to a relative accumulation of succinate and serine rather than citrate or lipids. Red: relative accumulation. Green: relative depletion.

Succinate and  $\alpha$ -ketoglutarate are also involved in the epigenetic regulation of cancer cells and macrophages (31, 45). Serine as an indispensable substrate for the synthesis of S-adenosylmethionine (SAM), a methyl group donor, plays a role in the epigenetic regulation of gene expression (30). The accumulation of succinate and serine in CD137L-DC might not be a coincidence, but may have a synergistic effect on epigenetic upregulation of pro-inflammatory gene expression.

Inflammatory DCs, M1 macrophages and effector T cells all reprogram their metabolism and increase glycolysis rates upon activation (46), and the function of these cells can be dampened if glycolysis is inhibited. However, it is unknown at present if the functions of these cells can be enhanced by simply increasing their (1) glycolysis, (2) activation of the Akt-mTORC1 pathway, or (3) their ability to compete for glucose in the tumor microenvironment. We have tried to achieve this by using the Akt agonist SC-79 (47) and the mTORC agonist MHY1485 (48), but to no avail. It is also not clear by what mechanisms glycolysis supports the functions of these immune cells. Our data argue for further in-depth investigation of the already increasingly appreciated interplay between metabolism and epigenetics.

It would have been informative to demonstrate the enhanced Akt-driven glycolysis as the basis of the higher potency *in vivo*, e.g., in a murine tumor model, by genetic manipulation of key glycolytic enzymes (e.g., HK2) specifically in CD137L-DCs. Unfortunately, CD137L-DCs do not exist in mouse (7), and the reason may be the large difference in CD137L between human and mouse. While for most members of the TNF and TNF receptor families the human—mouse homology is 60–80%, it is only 36% for human and murine CD137L (49).

In summary, we have demonstrated (1) that the Akt-driven glycolysis is crucial for the sustained activation of CD137L-DCs, (2) that the higher Akt-driven glycolysis is part of the reason why CD137L-DCs are more potent than the conventional moDCs, and (3) that Akt-driven glycolysis leads to an accumulation

of succinate and serine instead of lipids in CD137L-DCs. Our finding suggests that the Akt-driven glycolysis could be a therapeutic target to manipulate the function of CD137L-DCs for better clinical efficacy.

# ETHICS STATEMENT

Blood was obtained from healthy volunteers who provided written and informed consent. The protocol was approved by the National University of Singapore (NUS) IRB number B15-320E.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

QZ and HS: conceptualization and writing—original draft; QZ and KM: methodology; QZ: investigation and data curation; HS, QZ, and KM: writing—review and editing; HS: supervision and funding acquisition.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This research was supported by the National Medical Research Council, Singapore through grants to HS (NMRC/BnB/018b/2015) and KM (NMRC/BNIG/2042/2015 and NMRC/OFYIRG/0004/2016). We thank the LSI core facility under the leadership of Dr. Paul Hutchinson for excellent help with flow cytometry, Dr. Yap Lai Lai for the guide and help with the Seahorse XFe24 Extracellular Flux Analyzer, and the Duke-NUS Metabolomics facilities.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.00868/full#supplementary-material
## REFERENCES

- Francis DM, Thomas SN. Progress and opportunities for enhancing the delivery and efficacy of checkpoint inhibitors for cancer immunotherapy. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* (2017) 114:33–42. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2017.04.011
- June CH, O'Connor RS, Kawalekar OU, Ghassemi S. CAR T cell immunotherapy for human cancer. *Science*. (2018) 359:1361–5. doi: 10.1126/science.aar6711
- Li J, Li W, Huang K, Zhang Y, Kupfer G, Zhao Q. Chimeric antigen receptor T cell (CAR-T) immunotherapy for solid tumors: lessons learned and strategies for moving forward. *J Hematol Oncol.* (2018) 11:22. doi: 10.1186/s13045-018-0568-6
- Anguille S, Smits EL, Lion E, van Tendeloo VF, Berneman ZN. Clinical use of dendritic cells for cancer therapy. *Lancet Oncol.* (2014) 15:e257–67. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70585-0
- Anguille S, Smits EL, Bryant C, Van Acker HH, Goossens H, Lion E, et al. Dendritic cells as pharmacological tools for cancer immunotherapy. *Pharmacol Rev.* (2015) 67:731–53. doi: 10.1124/pr.114.009456
- Kwajah MMS, Schwarz H. CD137 ligand signaling induces human monocyte to dendritic cell differentiation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2010) 40:1938–49. doi: 10.1002/eji.200940105
- Tang Q, Jiang D, Shao Z, Martinez Gomez JM, Schwarz H. Species difference of CD137 ligand signaling in human and murine monocytes. *PLoS ONE*. (2011) 6:e16129. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016129
- Harfuddin Z, Kwajah S, Chong Nyi Sim A, Macary PA, Schwarz H. CD137Lstimulated dendritic cells are more potent than conventional dendritic cells at eliciting cytotoxic T-cell responses. *Oncoimmunology*. (2013) 2:e26859. doi: 10.4161/onci.26859
- Dharmadhikari B, Nickles E, Harfuddin Z, Ishak NDB, Zeng Q, Bertoletti A, et al. CD137L dendritic cells induce potent response against cancer-associated viruses and polarize human CD8(+) T cells to Tc1 phenotype. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2018) 67:893–905. doi: 10.1007/s00262-018-2144-x
- MacIver NJ, Michalek RD, Rathmell JC. Metabolic regulation of T lymphocytes. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2013) 31:259–83. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-095956
- 11. Saha S, Shalova IN, Biswas SK. Metabolic regulation of macrophage phenotype and function. *Immunol Rev.* (2017) 280:102–11. doi: 10.1111/imr.12603
- 12. Merad M, Sathe P, Helft J, Miller J, Mortha A. The dendritic cell lineage: ontogeny and function of dendritic cells and their subsets in the steady state and the inflamed setting. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2013) 31:563–604. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-074950
- Pearce EJ, Everts B. Dendritic cell metabolism. Nat Rev Immunol. (2015) 15:18–29. doi: 10.1038/nri3771
- Thwe PM, Pelgrom L, Cooper R, Beauchamp S, Reisz JA, D'Alessandro A, et al. Cell-intrinsic glycogen metabolism supports early glycolytic reprogramming required for dendritic cell immune responses. *Cell Metab.* (2017) 26:558–67 e555. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2017.08.012
- Everts B, Amiel E, Huang SC, Smith AM, Chang CH, Lam WY, et al. TLRdriven early glycolytic reprogramming via the kinases TBK1-IKKvarepsilon supports the anabolic demands of dendritic cell activation. *Nat Immunol.* (2014) 15:323–32. doi: 10.1038/ni.2833
- Thwe PM, Amiel E. The role of nitric oxide in metabolic regulation of Dendritic cell immune function. *Cancer Lett.* (2018) 412:236–42. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2017.10.032
- Everts B, Amiel E, van der Windt GJ, Freitas TC, Chott R, Yarasheski KE, et al. Commitment to glycolysis sustains survival of NOproducing inflammatory dendritic cells. *Blood.* (2012) 120:1422–31. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-03-419747
- Pelgrom LR, van der Ham AJ, Everts B. Analysis of TLR-induced metabolic changes in dendritic cells using the seahorse XF(e)96 extracellular flux analyzer. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2016) 1390:273–85. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-3335-8\_17
- Guo W, Jiang L, Bhasin S, Khan SM, Swerdlow RH. DNA extraction procedures meaningfully influence qPCR-based mtDNA copy number determination. *Mitochondrion*. (2009) 9:261–5. doi: 10.1016/j.mito.2009.03.003
- Venegas V, Halberg MC. Measurement of mitochondrial DNA copy number. Methods Mol Biol. (2012) 837:327–35. doi: 10.1007/978-1-61779-504-6\_22

- Newgard CB, An J, Bain JR, Muehlbauer MJ, Stevens RD, Lien LF, et al. A branched-chain amino acid-related metabolic signature that differentiates obese and lean humans and contributes to insulin resistance. *Cell Metab.* (2009) 9:311–26. doi: 10.1016/j.cmet.2009.02.002
- 22. Sinha RA, Farah BL, Singh BK, Siddique MM, Li Y, Wu Y, et al. Caffeine stimulates hepatic lipid metabolism by the autophagy-lysosomal pathway in mice. *Hepatology*. (2014) 59:1366–80. doi: 10.1002/hep.26667
- 23. Harfuddin Z, Dharmadhikari B, Wong SC, Duan K, Poidinger M, Kwajah S, et al. Transcriptional and functional characterization of CD137L-dendritic cells identifies a novel dendritic cell phenotype. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:29712. doi: 10.1038/srep29712
- Mootha VK, Lindgren CM, Eriksson KF, Subramanian A, Sihag S, Lehar J, et al. PGC-1alpha-responsive genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation are coordinately downregulated in human diabetes. *Nat Genet.* (2003) 34:267–73. doi: 10.1038/ng1180
- 25. Subramanian A, Tamayo P, Mootha VK, Mukherjee S, Ebert BL, Gillette MA, et al. Gene set enrichment analysis: a knowledge-based approach for interpreting genome-wide expression profiles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:15545–50. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0506580102
- Krawczyk CM, Holowka T, Sun J, Blagih J, Amiel E, DeBerardinis RJ, et al. Toll-like receptor-induced changes in glycolytic metabolism regulate dendritic cell activation. *Blood.* (2010) 115:4742–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-10-249540
- Wolf A, Agnihotri S, Micallef J, Mukherjee J, Sabha N, Cairns R, et al. Hexokinase 2 is a key mediator of aerobic glycolysis and promotes tumor growth in human glioblastoma multiforme. *J Exp Med.* (2011) 208:313–26. doi: 10.1084/jem.20101470
- Zaccagnino P, Saltarella M, Maiorano S, Gaballo A, Santoro G, Nico B, et al. An active mitochondrial biogenesis occurs during dendritic cell differentiation. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol.* (2012) 44:1962–9. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2012.07.024
- Rehman A, Hemmert KC, Ochi A, Jamal M, Henning JR, Barilla R, et al. Role of fatty-acid synthesis in dendritic cell generation and function. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:4640–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1202312
- Li S, Swanson SK, Gogol M, Florens L, Washburn MP, Workman JL, et al. Serine and SAM responsive complex SESAME regulates histone modification crosstalk by sensing cellular metabolism. *Mol Cell.* (2015) 60:408–21. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2015.09.024
- Liu PS, Wang H, Li X, Chao T, Teav T, Christen S, et al. alpha-ketoglutarate orchestrates macrophage activation through metabolic and epigenetic reprogramming. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:985–94. doi: 10.1038/ni.3796
- 32. Hirayama A, Kami K, Sugimoto M, Sugawara M, Toki N, Onozuka H, et al. Quantitative metabolome profiling of colon and stomach cancer microenvironment by capillary electrophoresis time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:4918–25. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4806
- Urasaki Y, Heath L, Xu CW. Coupling of glucose deprivation with impaired histone H2B monoubiquitination in tumors. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e36775. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0036775
- Chang CH, Qiu J, O'Sullivan D, Buck MD, Noguchi T, Curtis JD, et al. Metabolic competition in the tumor microenvironment is a driver of cancer progression. *Cell.* (2015) 162:1229–41. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.08.016
- Turnis ME, Rooney CM. Enhancement of dendritic cells as vaccines for cancer. *Immunotherapy*. (2010) 2:847–62. doi: 10.2217/imt.10.56
- 36. Casey SC, Amedei A, Aquilano K, Azmi AS, Benencia F, Bhakta D, et al. Cancer prevention and therapy through the modulation of the tumor microenvironment. *Semin Cancer Biol.* (2015) 35(Suppl.):S199–223. doi: 10.1016/j.semcancer.2015.02.007
- Sukhbaatar N, Hengstschlager M, Weichhart T. mTOR-mediated regulation of dendritic cell differentiation and function. *Trends Immunol.* (2016) 37:778– 89. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.08.009
- Netea MG, Joosten LA, Latz E, Mills KH, Natoli G, Stunnenberg HG, et al. Trained immunity: a program of innate immune memory in health and disease. Science. (2016) 352:aaf1098. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf1098
- Cheng SC, Quintin J, Cramer RA, Shepardson KM, Saeed S, Kumar V, et al. mTOR- and HIF-1alpha-mediated aerobic glycolysis as metabolic basis for trained immunit. *Science*. (2014) 345:1250684. doi: 10.1126/science.1250684
- Lachmandas E, Boutens L, Ratter JM, Hijmans A, Hooiveld GJ, Joosten LA, et al. Microbial stimulation of different Toll-like receptor signalling pathways

induces diverse metabolic programmes in human monocytes. *Nat Microbiol.* (2016) 2:16246. doi: 10.1038/nmicrobiol.2016.246

- Williams NC, O'Neill LAJ. A Role for the Krebs cycle intermediate citrate in metabolic reprogramming in innate immunity and inflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:141. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00141
- de Paula Rogerio A, Sorgi CA, Sadikot R, Carlo T. The role of lipids mediators in inflammation and resolution. *Biomed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:605959. doi: 10.1155/2015/6 05959
- Kelly B, O'Neill LA. Metabolic reprogramming in macrophages and dendritic cells in innate immunity. *Cell Res.* (2015) 25:771–84. doi: 10.1038/cr. 2015.68
- 44. Tannahill GM, Curtis AM, Adamik J, Palsson-McDermott EM, McGettrick AF, Goel G, et al. Succinate is an inflammatory signal that induces ILlbeta through HIF-1alpha. *Nature*. (2013) 496:238–42. doi: 10.1038/nature 11986
- Tran TQ, Lowman XH, Kong M. Molecular pathways: metabolic control of histone methylation and gene expression in cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:4004–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2506
- Pearce EL, Pearce EJ. Metabolic pathways in immune cell activation and quiescence. *Immunity*. (2013) 38:633–43. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.005

- Jo H, Mondal S, Tan D, Nagata E, Takizawa S, Sharma AK, et al. Small molecule-induced cytosolic activation of protein kinase Akt rescues ischemiaelicited neuronal death. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2012) 109:10581–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1202810109
- Choi YJ, Park YJ, Park JY, Jeong HO, Kim DH, Ha YM, et al. Inhibitory effect of mTOR activator MHY1485 on autophagy: suppression of lysosomal fusion. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e43418. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0043418
- Alderson MR, Smith CA, Tough TW, Davis-Smith T, Armitage RJ, Falk B, et al. Molecular and biological characterization of human 4-1BB and its ligand. *Eur J Immunol.* (1994) 24:2219–27. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830240943

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Zeng, Mallilankaraman and Schwarz. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Combining the Specific Anti-MUC1 Antibody TAB004 and Lip-MSA-IL-2 **Limits Pancreatic Cancer** Progression in Immune Competent **Murine Models of Pancreatic Ductal** Adenocarcinoma

## Didier Dréau<sup>1\*</sup>, Laura Jeffords Moore<sup>1</sup>, Mike Wu<sup>2</sup>, Lopa Das Roy<sup>2</sup>, Lloye Dillion<sup>2</sup>,

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Roberto S. Accolla. University of Insubria, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Soldano Ferrone. Massachusetts General Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States Ying Ma, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States

> \*Correspondence: Didier Dréau ddreau@uncc.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Oncology

> Received: 07 December 2018 Accepted: 11 April 2019 Published: 30 April 2019

#### Citation:

Dréau D, Moore LJ, Wu M, Roy LD, Dillion L, Porter T, Puri R, Momin N, Wittrup KD and Mukherjee P (2019) Combining the Specific Anti-MUC1 Antibody TAB004 and Lip-MSA-IL-2 Limits Pancreatic Cancer Progression in Immune Competent Murine Models of Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma. Front Oncol 9:330 doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00330

Travis Porter<sup>1</sup>, Rahul Puri<sup>2</sup>, Noor Momin<sup>3</sup>, K. Dane Wittrup<sup>3</sup> and Pinku Mukherjee<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Biological Sciences, UNC Charlotte, Charlotte, NC, United States, <sup>2</sup> OncoTab Inc., Charlotte, NC, United States, <sup>3</sup> Koch Institute for Integrative Cancer Research, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA, United States

Immunotherapy regimens have shown success in subsets of cancer patients; however, their efficacy against pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDA) remain unclear. Previously, we demonstrated the potential of TAB004, a monoclonal antibody targeting the unique tumor-associated form of MUC1 (tMUC1) in the early detection of PDA. In this study, we evaluated the therapeutic benefit of combining the TAB004 antibody with Liposomal-MSA-IL-2 in immune competent and human MUC1 transgenic (MUC1.Tg) mouse models of PDA and investigated the associated immune responses. Treatment with TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 resulted in significantly improved survival and slower tumor growth compared to controls in MUC1.Tg mice bearing an orthotopic PDA.MUC1 tumor. Similarly, in the spontaneous model of PDA that expresses human MUC1, the combination treatment stalled the progression of pancreatic intraepithelial pre-neoplastic (PanIN) lesion to adenocarcinoma. Treatment with the combination elicited a robust systemic and tumor-specific immune response with (a) increased percentages of systemic and tumor infiltrated CD45+CD11b+ cells, (b) increased levels of myeloperoxidase (MPO), (c) increased antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity/phagocytosis (ADCC/ADCP), (d) decreased percentage of immune regulatory cells (CD8+CD69+ cells), and (e) reduced circulating levels of immunosuppressive tMUC1. We report that treatment with a novel antibody against tMUC1 in combination with a unique formulation of IL-2 can improve survival and lead to stable disease in appropriate models of PDA by reducing tumor-induced immune regulation and promoting recruitment of CD45+CD11b+ cells, thereby enhancing ADCC/ADCP.

Keywords: ADCC, Antibody, IL-2, Immunocompetent, Immunotherapy, MUC1, PDA, TAB004

## INTRODUCTION

Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDA) has the poorest prognosis of all malignancies with more than 260,000 deaths annually worldwide, a 5% 5-year survival rate, a mean life expectancy of <6 months, and a high degree of resistance to standard therapy (1-4). Radiotherapy and chemotherapy remain largely ineffective. While surgery is an option, only 20% of PDA patients have resectable tumors at the time of diagnosis and the recurrence rate remains high in these patients. In addition to surgery, PDA is treated with adjuvant therapies including gemcitabine to reduce the incidence of local recurrences and distant metastases (3, 5). Combination treatments such as rosiglitazone and gemcitabine, FOLFIRINOX (5-FU, leucovorin, irinotecan, and oxaliplatin), monoclonal antibody (mAb), and 5fluorouracil, or gemcitabine and nab-paclitaxel have been shown to significantly reduce tumor progression and metastases and significantly extend overall patient survival (1, 6-8). While those treatments led to some improvements and extended overall survival in small subsets of patients (from 6–7 months to  ${\sim}25$ months) (8, 9), improved approaches to treat patients with pancreatic cancer remain urgent (3, 10).

Cancer immunotherapies that target tumor associated antigens present attractive alternatives as these approaches are expected to cause fewer side effects while preventing metastasis and recurrence better than standard therapies. Antibody-based immunotherapy for cancer was established within the past 15 years, and is now one of the most successful strategies for treating patients with hematological and solid tumors (11). The fundamental basis of antibody-based therapy of tumors relies on the presence of cell surface antigens that are overexpressed, mutated or selectively expressed compared with normal tissues (11). A key challenge has been to identify antigens that are suitable for antibody-based therapeutics. There are approximately 460 active clinical trials with 38 antibody-based drugs and several new products under development. Some examples of FDA approved antibodies for solid tumors include Herceptin<sup>®</sup>, Avastin<sup>®</sup>, Erbitux<sup>®</sup>, Vectibix<sup>®</sup>, and Ipilimumab<sup>®</sup>. However, none is approved for pancreatic cancer.

There is clinical evidence for mAb driven T cell immunity. For instance, the therapeutic effect of rituximab was augmented by eliciting a T cell response (12). Further, administration of cetuximab triggered expansion of EGFR-specific T cells (13); and trastuzumab elicited a Her-2/neu-specific cellular response (14). Since interleukin-2 (IL-2) through enhancement of NK ADCC greatly improved the therapeutic efficacy of mAbs (15, 16), trials with trastuzumab and rituximab in combination with IL-2 were conducted. The results were disappointing, with little to no objective clinical response observed with the combination (17, 18). This is most likely because IL-2 in its native form is short lived *in vivo* and increasing the dose is toxic. Indeed, combining antibodies with a form of IL-2 with extended circulation provided surprisingly robust control of B16 melanoma tumor growth, in the absence of any marked toxicity (19). Administration of IL-2, which supports the survival and function of tumor-reactive T cells (20), has been shown to benefit some patients with melanoma (21). However, the vascular leak syndrome associated with the high-dose IL-2 treatment regimen has limited its use in tumor immunotherapy (21). More recently, Lip-MSA-IL-2, a formulation stabilizing IL-2, was associated with the generation of an immune response that prevented melanoma progression in a murine model (22).

Mucin-1 (i.e., MUC1, CD227) is a membrane-tethered mucin overexpressed and aberrantly glycosylated in many epithelial malignancies, including >90% of human PDA (23–29). The hypo-glycosylated MUC1 expressed on malignant cells renders normally cryptic MUC1 epitopes open to detection and is hereto forth referred to as tMUC1. MUC1 has long been an interesting target molecule for immunotherapy development, given its highly increased cell surface expression and altered glycosylation in tumors [reviewed in (30)]. Many antibodies have been developed that recognize epitopes of those tumor-associated hypo-glycosylated MUC1 regions, including PankoMab, Pemtumomab (also known as HMFG1) and TAB004 (26, 27, 31-33). TAB004 (patent #8,518,405, and 9845362 B2) was initially developed using pancreatic tumors expressing the altered form of MUC1 (34). TAB004 targets the epitope area (AA950-958) which is only accessible for antigenic detection in cells expressing the hypo-glycosylated form of MUC1 (35-38). In contrast to most other MUC1 antibodies, TAB004 distinguishes between normal and tumor-associated forms of MUC1 by relying solely on the expression of hypo-glycosylated MUC1. Further, TAB004 was effective in identifying primary PDA and pancreatic cancer stem cells in PDA patients, while sparing recognition of normal tissue (27, 39).

Previously, we have demonstrated the effectiveness of MUC1directed tumor vaccines in colorectal, pancreatic, and breast cancer models (38, 40, 41); however, immunosuppression within the tumor microenvironment hindered the effectiveness of the vaccine (41). We have recently shown that an anti-MUC1 antibody can be used as a therapeutic antibody when conjugated to the immune modulating agent CpG ODN via enhanced NK cell anti-tumor activity against PDA tumors (42).

Here we sought for the first time to determine whether the combination of TAB004 and stabilized Lip-MSA-IL-2 elicits an immune response and confers a survival benefit in orthotopic and spontaneous immunocompetent murine models of PDA. Our results indicate that, with minimal toxicity, the combination of TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 was associated with improved survival in the orthotopic murine model of PDA, as well as a lower cancer burden in the PDA.MUC1 mouse spontaneous model of PDA.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

### TAB004 Antibody and Lip-MSA-IL-2

The antibody TAB004 has been described earlier (27, 43) (OncoTab Inc., Charlotte NC). The stabilized Lip-MSA-IL-2

Abbreviations: ADCC, Antibody Dependent Cell Cytotoxicity; ADCP, Antibody Dependent Cell Phagocytosis; APC, Allophycocyanin; CBC, Cell Blood Counts; EGFR, Epidermal Growth Factor Receptor; FITC, Fluorescein Isothiocyanate; IFN, Interferon; IL, Interleukin; MPO, Myeloperoxidase; PDA, Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma; PE, Phycoerythrin; RBC, Red Blood Cells; TAB004, Anti-tMuc1 antibody; TIL, Tumor Infiltrating Lymphocytes; TNF, Tumor Necrosis Factor; WBC, White Blood Cells.

has been described (22) and was provided by Dr. Wittrup (Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge, MA). The optimal dose of TAB004 (500  $\mu$ g/mouse/injection i.e., 25 mg/kg/dose) was determined in preliminary experiments using doses ranging from 62.5 to 1,000  $\mu$ g/mouse/injection. The dose of Lip-MSA-IL-2 used (25  $\mu$ g/mouse/injection, i.e., 1.25 mg/kg/dose) was derived from previous experiments (22).

## KCM and KCM-LUC+ PDA Cells

KCM cells were generated from spontaneous PDA tumors from PDA.MUC1 triple transgenic mice (LSL-Kras<sup>G12D</sup> X <sup>P48</sup>Cre X human MUC1.Tg mice) (44) and, therefore, express human MUC1 (43, 45). The KCM-Luc cell line was generated by retroviral transduction of KCM cells with the MSCV Luciferase PGK-Hygro plasmid (Addgene plasmid # 18782, a generous gift from Scott Lowe, Memorial Sloan Kettering Cancer Center, New York, NY) (46). Both KCM and KCM-Luc+ cells were cultured and expanded in DMEM (Gibco, Waltham, MA) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Gibco), glutamine, penicillin, and streptomycin (Cellgro, Corning, Manassas, VA).

## **Spontaneous Mouse Model of PDA**

Triple transgenic mice (i.e., PDA.MUC1 also designated KCM mice) express human MUC1 as a self-molecule and is the first model of invasive pancreatic cancer that expresses human MUC1 (44). Indeed, KCM mice develop ductal lesions with complete penetrance (100%), very similar to all three stages of human pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia (PanIN) lesions (PanIN-1A, PanIN-1B, PanIN-2, and PanIN-3) and progress to adenocarcinoma and lung metastasis. As early as 6-16 weeks of age, mice develop PanINs of different stages including PanIN-IA, PanIN-IB, and PanIN-2. By 20-26 weeks of age, early PanIN lesions progress to PanIN-3 and carcinoma in-situ and by 30-36 weeks, invasive adenocarcinoma and metastasis are observed. As in human PDA, tumor cells express high levels of tMUC1 (44) that were detectable using the TAB004 antibody (27). KCM mice are characterized by (1) tumors arising spontaneously in the pancreatic ductal epithelial cells due to the KRAS<sup>G12D</sup> mutation; (2) the normal human MUC1 transformed to tMUC1 with disease progression just as observed in the human disease; (3) tumors arising in fully immune competent host; and (4) tolerance to MUC1 immunization as MUC1 is expressed as a self-molecule driven by its own regulatory sequence (47).

Following an Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) approved protocol, KCM triple transgenic mice were primed to activate the KRAS mutation through a CRE tamoxifen sensitive cassette (41, 44) during week 12–13 of age. All KCM mice treated with tamoxifen (20 mg/ml/mouse 5 day/week for 2 weeks) develop PanIN lesions by 20–23 week of age. At that age, animals (n = 18) were randomized and treated with either PBS (vehicle, n = 4), TAB004 alone (n = 4), Lip-MSA-IL-2 (n = 4) alone or the combination of TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 (n = 6; for treatment schedule and dose, see **Figure 1A**). Two animals died or were removed from the study per IACUC guidelines: one in the PBS group and one in the TAB004 alone group, respectively. Animals were treated for 5 weeks and monitored daily for health concerns. Body weight was recorded weekly and all mice

were euthanized at 36–40 week of age. At euthanasia, pancreata were collected free of fat and surrounding tissue, fixed in 10% buffered formalin and embedded in paraffin. Pancreas sections  $(4-6\,\mu\text{m})$  were stained with hematoxylin and eosin (H&E), and the presence of PanIN lesions and/or adenocarcinoma was determined following a microscopic assessment of 5 sections per pancreas. For each animal, pancreatic lesions were counted and scored in 10 microscope fields (100x) and for each pancreas, the most advanced stage was reported (41, 44).

## **Orthotopic Mouse Model of PDA**

Surgeries were performed in a sterile environment under the supervision of the UNCC attending veterinarian and IACUC approved protocols. The resident veterinarian (Dr. Williams, DVM) orthotopically injected 20,000 KCM-Luc+ cells ( $\sim$ 50 µl) in the pancreas of both male and female human MUC1.Tg mice (originally received from Dr. Gendler, Mayo Clinic, Arizona and bred in-house at UNC Charlotte) (47). When implanted orthotopically in those mice, KCM cells generate tumors (45). The optimal number of cells to be injected was determined in a preliminary experiment using 10,000-200,000 KCM-Luc+ cells. Following surgical healing (i.e., on day 7 post-surgery), the presence of KCM-Luc+ tumors in mice was assessed using an IVIS system (Perkin Elmer). Treatment started on day 8 post-surgery and included four groups: vehicle (PBS), TAB004, Lip-MSA-IL-2, or the combination TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2. Treatments were administered IP once weekly and tumor progression was monitored by chemiluminescence through weekly IVIS imaging. Detailed schedules and dose are provided in Figures 2A, 3A for survival and mechanistic studies, respectively.

Mice were weighed weekly and monitored for activity level and adverse health events daily. Loss of more than 20 percent of body weight led to the euthanasia of the animal at which time tumor and serum were collected. For the survival studies, animals (n = 6-7 per treatment group) were treated for up to 5 weeks. For the mechanistic study, animals (n = 3 per)treatment group) were euthanized at day 18 based on preliminary studies in which control animals (vehicle-injected group) had to be removed from the study by day 19-22 due to high tumor burden and morbidity. No TILs were available for one animal from the TAB004 group. For all animals, tumors and surrounding pancreas, spleen, and blood were collected. For the mechanistic studies, cells from spleen, tumor, and blood were used for ADCC/ADCP assays, flow-cytometry analyses of tumor infiltrating lymphocytes, and of systemic immune cells. In addition, sera were assayed for cytokines, myeloperoxidase (MPO) and the presence of tMUC1. Collected whole blood was used to determine cell blood counts (CBC; IDEXX, Columbia, MO).

# Flow Cytometry Analyses of Blood and Intra-Tumoral Immune Cells

Blood, spleen and tumors, obtained on day 18 post-tumor implantation from animals orthotopically implanted with KCM-Luc+ cells and treated as detailed above, were assessed by flow cytometry for specific subsets of lymphocytes. Tumor cell suspensions were obtained following mechanical disruption



processed for histology. Pancreas slides (5–6  $\mu$ m thick) from each mouse were stained using hematoxylin and eosin and the presence of Pan lesions and/or carcinoma blindly assessed and recorded. **(B)** Representative micro-photographs of H&E stained pancreas sections from normal and tamoxifen-induced KCM mice treated with PBS, Lip-MSA-IL-2, TAB004, and TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2. Note the presence of carcinoma in all pancreases except those of normal and TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 treated mice. **(C)** Each pancreas was evaluated using the pancreatic cancer histological stages, i.e., PanIN1, PanIN2, PanIN3, and carcinoma. \*p < 0.05. TAB, TAB004; IL2, Lip-MSA-IL-2; IP, intraperitoneal.

of the tumor mass and filtration through 70 µm strainers (BD Biosciences San Jose, CA). Non-necrotic areas were used to generate cell suspensions, and cell suspensions were further treated 15 min with DNAse1 (10 µg/ml). Tumor cell suspensions were washed, counted and resuspended in PBS (1  $\times$  10<sup>7</sup> cells/ml). For each sample, 10<sup>6</sup> cells were stained for CD45 (anti-CD45-APC), CD4 (anti-CD4-FITC), CD8 (anti-CD8-PE), CD69 (anti-CD69-PE-cy7), NK (anti-NK-1.1-PE), CD107 (anti-CD107-FITC), anti-ly6G-PE, and/or CD11b-FITC. Ly6G and CD11b have been used to identify and deplete neutrophils (48) and macrophages (49) predominantly, respectively. Of note, CD11b in particular is also expressed on the surface of other immune cells (50). Corresponding isotype controls for APC, PE, FITC, PE-Cy7 were run concurrently. All antibodies were purchased from BD-Biosciences. Additionally, cells were stained to exclude dead cells using Fixable Viability Dye (FVD, eBioscience, CA) (51). Samples were run on a Fortessa flow-cytometer (BD Biosciences) and the data analyzed using FlowJo software (BD Biosciences).

## **Systemic Cytokines**

Sera obtained on day 18 post-tumor implantation from animals orthotopically implanted with KCM-Luc+ cells and treated as detailed above, were assessed for the following 20 cytokines: GMCSF, IL-1 $\alpha$ , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, IL-13, CXCL1, M-CSF, TNF- $\alpha$ , IL-1 $\beta$ , IL-3, IL-5, IL-9, IL-12, IL-17, MCP1, RANTES, and VEGF (Quantibody<sup>®</sup> Mouse Cytokine Array 1; Raybiotech) according to the manufacturer's recommendations. Following incubations, washing, and detection steps, fluorescent signal was detected using a Tecan LS300 Series Scanner (Tecan, San Jose, CA).

## Systemic Myeloperoxidase

The concentrations of MPO, a phagocyte hemoprotein (that primarily mediates host defense reactions) abundantly expressed in neutrophils and moderately expressed in macrophages and secreted during their activation (52, 53), was determined by ELISA (Boster Biological Tech, CA). MPO levels were determined in sera obtained on day 18 post-tumor implantation. MPO concentrations expressed in pg/ml of sera were



derived from a standard curve that was run along with the samples tested.

## **Blood Cell Counts**

White blood cells counts, RBC counts and features were determined by IDEXX Bioresearch (Columbia, MO) on whole blood, obtained on day 18 post-tumor implantation from animals orthotopically implanted with KCM-Luc+ cells and treated as detailed above.

## Antibody-Dependent Cell Cytotoxicity (ADCC)/Antibody-Dependent Cell Phagocytosis (ADCP)

ADCC/ADCP was evaluated by flow cytometry as detailed previously (54). Briefly, target cells (KCM) were labeled with carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE, BioLegend 488 nm) dye for ~5 min, seeded in 24 well tissue culture plates and incubated overnight (37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, humidity >80%) (55, 56). Splenocytes were added to target cells at a 1:5 tumor:splenocyte ratio in the presence of TAB004 (0.1–1.0  $\mu$ g/ml). Maximum lysis was obtained following incubation with saponin 0.1%. After a 24 h incubation, cells were harvested and stained with the viability dye Vital fluorophore (Fixable

Viability Dye  $\sim$ 360–405 nm, BioLegend) (51). Cells were then run on a Fortessa flow cytometer (BD Biosciences), and gating on CFSE+ cells, percent of dead KCM cells were determined.

## tMUC1 Concentrations

Concentrations of tMUC1 in the serum obtained on day 18 posttumor implantation from animals orthotopically implanted with KCM-Luc+ cells and treated as detailed above, were determined by ELISA as previously described (27, 43, 57).

## **Statistical Analyses**

Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Survival differences between treatments were represented using Kaplan-Meier and tested using Log-rank tests. Other parameters measured (e.g., % stained cells, tumor weight, % of lysis, number and type of pancreatic lesions, MPO, and MUC1 concentrations) were assessed for normality using the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. For parameters with normal distribution, differences between treatment groups were tested using ANOVA and *post-hoc* tests. Correlations between tumor weight and parameters measured was assessed by Pearson r correlations. All analyses were completed using Prism 7 (GraphPad software Inc.). *A priori* p < 0.05 was defined as significant.



MUC1.Tg mice were implanted orthotopically with KCM-Luc+ pancreatic cancer cells (20,000 cells) and treated with either PBS, Lip-MSA-IL-2, TAB004, or the combination TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 [see schedule (**A**); details in Materials and Methods section] for 18 days. On day 18, tumor cell suspensions were obtained and the presence (%) of CD45+ immune cells (**C**) CD45+CD11b+ cells (**B**), and of activated effector T cells (CD45+CD8+CD69+) (**D**) was determined. Additionally, tumor burden (**E**) was recorded [n = 3 per treatment group except for TLs evaluations (**B–D**) in TAB group, n = 2]. For (**B–E**), data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. (\*)p < 0.08, \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01. TAB, TAB004; IL2, Lip-MSA-IL-2; W, week.

## RESULTS

## Treatment With TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 Limited Pancreatic Cancer Progression in the KCM Triple Transgenic Mice That Develop Spontaneous PDA

The effects of TAB004 with or without Lip-MSA-IL-2 were assessed in the KCM mice, a model of human MUC1-expressing spontaneous PDA. KCM mice carry the human MUC1 transgene (driven by its own promoter) and the KRAS<sup>G12D</sup> transgene (driven by tamoxifen-inducible P48 promoter) (41, 44). When KCM mice are injected with tamoxifen for 2 weeks starting at 11 weeks of age, all (100%) mice develop early stage PanIN lesions by 20–24 weeks of age (~12 weeks post tamoxifen) (41, 44).

KCM mice were treated with vehicle (PBS: n = 3), TAB004 (500 µgs/mouse. n = 3), Lip-MSA-IL-2 (25 µgs/mouse. n = 4), or TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 (n = 6) for 5 weeks starting 15 weeks post-tamoxifen treatment (or 26 weeks of age) (**Figure 1A**). At 40 weeks of age, pancreata were harvested and processed for histology. Tumor grade was determined following hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) staining. Representative microphotographs of H&E stained pancreas sections from each treatment group

compared to normal pancreas highlight the presence of tumor lesions (**Figure 1B**). Results show that in 5 out of 6 mice treated with the combination TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2, the PanIN lesions did not progress beyond the PanIN2 grade. One mouse in the combination TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 group progressed to adenocarcinoma. In sharp contrast, all 4 mice treated with Lip-MSA-IL-2 alone progressed from PanIN lesions to adenocarcinoma. Similarly, 2 out of 3 mice in the PBS group and in the TAB004 group progressed to adenocarcinoma while one mouse from each group progressed to high-grade PanIN3/CIS grade (**Figure 1C**). Of note, we did not observe any adverse effect of the treatment on the health of the KCM mice.

## Treatment With TAB004 and Lip-MSA-IL-2 Also Significantly Improved Survival of MUC1.Tg Mice Bearing Orthotopic KCM Tumors

MUC1.Tg mice bearing orthotopic KCM.Luc+ pancreatic tumors were treated with either vehicle (PBS), TAB004, or Lip-MSA-IL-2 alone or the combination of TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 weekly for up to 5 weeks (**Figure 2A**,  $n \ge 6$  mice per treatment

group). The *in vivo* growth of KCM cells expressing luciferase was monitored post-luciferin injection as shown in representative IVIS images of orthotopic tumor (one mouse per treatment over time from day 7 to day 21, **Figure 2B**). By day 21, while tumors grew in all mice, reduced bioluminescence indicative of smaller tumors was detected in treated mice groups, suggesting that those tumors grew more slowly compared to tumors in mice treated with PBS (**Figure 2B**). More importantly, TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 treatment was associated with a significantly improved survival (p = 0.02, Log rank test, **Figure 2C**) compared to mice that received any other treatments. Notably, TAB004 alone or Lip-MSA-IL-2 alone did not improve mouse survival.

No significant toxicity was associated with the treatments except for mild to severe skin dermatitis observed in a third of the mice treated with Lip-MSA-IL-2 alone and half of the mice treated with the TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 combination. Complete blood cell count (WBC and RBC) analyses were conducted on whole blood. No difference was observed in RBC measured parameters (**Supplemental Figure 1S**) and WBC populations (**Supplemental Figure 2S**) when comparing tumor bearing and treated mice with control non-tumor bearing MUC1.Tg mice.

## Treatment With TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 Was Associated With Increases in CD45+CD11b+ Cells and Decreases in Both CD45+ Lymphocytes and CD8+CD69+ T Cells Within the Orthotopic KCM Tumors

In another set of experiments, tumors were collected 18 days post tumor challenge and 2 weeks post treatment (Figure 3A) to assess the treatment induced immune responses (n = 3 mice per treatment group). Changes in specific immune cell populations including macrophages, neutrophils, NK cells, lymphocytes, and lymphocyte subsets are associated with effective immunotherapy (58, 59). In particular, IL-2 treatment is associated with increases in neutrophils and activated NK (NK1.1+CD107+) cells (19). Moreover, tumor infiltration by specific subsets of macrophages is also associated with improved pre-clinical responses (60, 61). Therefore, we assessed immune cell subpopulations in spleen, blood and tumors from MUC1.Tg mice orthotopically implanted with KCM tumor cells, treated as detailed in Figure 3A. In the spleen, there was no significant difference in the populations of CD45+, CD8+, CD4+, CD4+CD69+, CD8+CD69+, NK1.1+, NK1.1+CD107+, CD11b+, or Ly6G+ as determined by flow cytometry (data not shown).

In the tumors, a significant increase in the percent of tumorassociated CD45+CD11b+ cells was observed in the tumors of mice treated with the combination of TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 compared to tumors from mice in all other treatments (p < 0.01; **Figure 3B**). Interestingly, in mice treated with the combination TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 or TAB004 alone, we observed a significant decrease in the percent of tumor-associated CD45+ lymphocytes and of CD8+CD69+ T lymphocytes compared to tumors from mice treated with PBS or Lip-MSA-IL-2 alone (P < 0.01; **Figures 3C,D**). A subset of CD8+CD69+ cells has been identified as activated CD8+ regulatory cells previously (62). Although tumor infiltrating CD45+ cells were lower in the mice treated with the TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 combination, the CD45+CD11b+ cell population remained high. There was no significant change in any other subpopulation including Tregs, CD4+CD69+, CD8+, NK1.1+, or activated NK cell populations (data not shown). The tumor weight was also assessed at day 18 and was highly variable. Nevertheless, the orthotopic tumor burden in the mice treated with the combination TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 tended to be smaller compared to the tumor burden observed the other treatment groups (ns, **Figure 3E**).

Of note, the number of monocytes per  $\mu$ l of blood was significantly decreased in mice treated with the combination of TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 compared to mice treated with Lip-MSA-IL-2 alone (**Supplemental Figure 3AS**). Additionally, the number of CD45+CD11b+ cells per gram of tumor was higher in tumors isolated from animals treated with Lip-MSA-IL-2 alone compared tumors collected from mice treated with PBS or TAB004 (**Supplemental Figure 3BS**).

Together, the survival and mechanistic experiments conducted in the orthotopic KCM tumor model highlight that the tumor progression is slower and the tumor burden is lower in the mice treated with the combination TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 compared to mice treated with PBS, TAB004 or Lip-MSA-IL-2 alone. Furthermore, a significant survival benefit was observed in the mice treated with the combination TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 (see **Figure 2C** above).

## The Combination TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 Treatment Markedly Increased the Myeloperoxidase Present in the Serum of MUC1.Tg Mice Bearing Orthotopic KCM Tumors

Multiple immune cells, especially neutrophils and macrophages, have a MPO activity (52, 53). MPO is produced during degranulation of neutrophils and macrophages and produces hypochlorous acid that is generally associated with cellular cytotoxicity. MPO concentrations were determined using ELISA in sera. Significantly higher MPO concentrations were detected in the sera of KCM tumor bearing mice treated with the combination of TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 than in the sera of the mice that were administered the other treatments (P < 0.001; Figure 4).

## The Combination TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 Treatment Led to Significant Increases in Circulating Levels of CXCL1 and IL-5 as Well as Decreased IL-6 in the Sera of KCM Tumor Bearing MUC1.Tg Mice

Along with changes in immune cell infiltration, successful immunotherapies are associated with changes in multiple cytokines (63, 64). We assessed the concentrations of 20 Th1, Th2, Th17, and/or macrophage-related cytokines in sera collected 18 days post tumor challenge and 2 weeks post treatment (**Figure 3A**). Mice treated with the combination



TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 showed a significant increase in levels of IL5 (**Figure 5B**) and CXCL1 (**Figure 5D**) compared to all other treatment groups. Following Lip MSA IL2 treatment, serum concentrations of RANTES were highly variable (**Figure 5A**, p < 0.05; Shapiro–Wilk normality test). Also noteworthy is the decrease in the serum levels of IL-6 in mice treated with Lip-MSA-IL-2 and the combination TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 compared to PBS and TAB004 treated mice (p < 0.05; **Figure 5C**).

## Treatment With TAB004 Antibody Markedly Decreased tMUC1 Serum Concentrations in the MUC1.Tg Mice Bearing Orthotopic KCM Tumors

Because tMUC1 is associated with immune suppression (31) and increased aggressiveness of pancreatic tumors (44), we determined the concentrations of serum tMUC1 in the treated mice using a specific ELISA. As was expected, serum tMUC1 concentrations were significantly lower in TAB004 and TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 treated mice when compared to serum from mice treated with Lip-MSA-IL-2 alone or with PBS (p < 0.05; **Figure 6A**). Further, similar observations were made when the serum concentrations were normalized to tumor mass (p < 0.05; **Figure 6B**).

## Treatment With TAB004 Alone and the Combination of TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 Led to an Increased Antibody-Dependent Cell Cytotoxicity/Phagocytosis

To further assess the cytotoxic mechanisms induced by the combination of TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2, splenocytes isolated from treated KCM-tumor bearing mice (**Figure 3**) were assayed *in vitro* with TAB004 antibody for antibody-dependent cell cytotoxicity (ADCC)/antibody-dependent cell phagocytosis (ADCP) against KCM tumor cells as detailed previously (54). Splenocytes isolated from KCM tumor bearing mice treated with either TAB004 alone or the combination TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 had a significantly higher ADCC/ADCP response against KCM tumor cells compared to splenocytes isolated from mice treated with PBS or Lip-MSA-IL-2 alone (p < 0.05, **Figure 7**).

## Specific Immune Parameters Measured Correlated With Tumor Size and the Treatment With TAB004 Led to Lower Neutrophil/Lymphocyte Ratios

To shed light on the robustness of the association between immune variables and tumor progression in the treated mice, the immune parameters measured were correlated with tumor size regardless of treatment (**Table 1**). Interestingly, the immune parameters measured in the mechanistic study had significant correlations with tumor size. Specifically, a smaller tumor size was correlated with increases in CD45+CD11b+ cells present in the tumors (r = -0.956; p = 0.04), in serum MPO (r = -0.969; p = 0.03), in serum IL-5 (r = -0.948; p = 0.051), and in serum CXCL1 (r = -0.938; p = 0.06) concentrations. Additionally, a smaller tumor size was correlated with a decrease in blood neutrophil numbers (r = 0.969; p = 0.03).

As the blood neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio has been demonstrated to have prognostic value in monitoring tumor progression (with a lower ratio associated with improved outcomes (65, 66)), we compared the blood neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio between mouse treatment groups (Figure 8A). Treatments with either TAB004 or the combination of TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 led to significant decreases in the blood neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio compared to the blood of mice treated with PBS or Lip-MSA-IL-2 alone (p < 0.05,**Figure 8A**). Furthermore, the ratio of neutrophils (i.e., CD45+Ly6G+ cells per gram of tumor) to T lymphocytes (defined as the sum of CD45+CD4+ and CD45+CD8+ per gram of tumor) tended to be lower in the tumors of mice treated with the combination of TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 compared to tumors from mice treated with the vehicle (PBS), and was lower than the neutrophil/T lymphocyte ratio in tumors from mice treated with Lip-MSA-IL-2 (p < 0.05; Figure 8B).

## DISCUSSION

The most effective pre-clinical studies are conducted in immune competent spontaneous tumor models (67). Here, using both orthotopic (KCM implanted tumor cells in the pancreas) and spontaneous PDA models, we demonstrate for the first time a significant slowdown of tumor growth and improved survival following combination treatment with TAB004 and Lip-MSA-IL-2. The beneficial therapeutic effect was associated with specific immune changes, including increases in CD45+CD11b+ cells and decreases in immune regulatory lymphocytes within the tumor mass. Treatments also led to increases in the serum concentrations of MPO and of specific cytokines as well as ADCC/ADCP activities of splenocytes. The immunocompetent orthotopic pancreatic model was informative on the effects of treatments on immune responses. Indeed, notwithstanding the number of animals per group [n = 3 except TAB004 group



**FIGURE 5** | Blood cytokine concentrations following PBS, TAB004, Lip-MSA-IL-2, and TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 treatments. The presence of multiple cytokines in sera (**A–D**, pg/ml) collected from mice implanted with 20,000 KCM-luc cells and treated with PBS (black), TAB004 (dark gray), Lip-MSA-IL-2 (darker gray), and TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 (light gray) were determined using multiplex quantitative cytokine arrays (n = 3 per treatment group). (\*)p < 0.08; \*p < 0.05; \*\*\*p < 0.001. [Values and variation (Average ± SEM) are provided in the **Supplemental Table 1S**].



**FIGURE 6** | tMUC1 serum concentrations were significantly lower in TAB004 and TAB + Lip-MSA-IL-2 treated mice. tMUC1 was measured by ELISA in the serum of KCM tumor-bearing mice (**A**,  $n \ge 5$ ) treated with PBS, Lip-MSA-IL-2, TAB004, or the TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 combination and normalized to tumor size (**B**, n = 3). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. \*p < 0.05; p < 0.01; \*\*\*p < 0.001. TAB, TAB004; IL2, Lip-MSA-IL-2.

(n = 2)] that requires a cautious interpretation of the data, significant changes in immune parameters were observed, and most were correlated to tumor size. Of note, there was minimal toxicity associated with this treatment.

Both mouse models used here mimic the development of the human tumor, including similarities in MUC1 expression, the native immune responses against MUC1 as tumors progress, and the immune suppressive microenvironment within the developing tumor (28). In these clinically-relevant models, tumors arise in an appropriate tissue background and in a host conditioned by the physiological events of neoplastic progression and tumorigenesis and in the context of a viable immune system (67). Regardless of treatment, multiple factors likely modulate the immune responses observed here including the desmoplasia and immune evasion. For example, desmoplasia is routinely observed in pancreatic tumors and hinders chemotherapy (68, 69). Indeed, in our model, collagen accumulation was observed in all treatments (**Supplemental Figure 4S**) and may have affected the immunotherapy tested. Numerous mechanisms of immune evasion have been identified and reviewed elsewhere (70–72). As our tumor model is not highly immunogenic, evasion mechanisms were not investigated here and will be assessed in future studies. Moreover, both mouse models express human MUC1 as a self-molecule and thus are tolerant to MUC1. Additionally, KCM mice develop spontaneous tumors of the pancreas, with tumor cells expressing large amounts of



previously (54). KCM tumor cells were seeded and stained with the dye (CSFE) and incubated for 24 h with isolated splenocytes at a 1:5 tumor:splenocyte ratio in the presence of TAB004 with gating on non-CD45+ cells. The KCM cells CSFE+ dead cells (%) stained with vital fluorophore were evaluated by flow-cytometry (n = 3 per treatment group). Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. (\*)p < 0.08; \*p < 0.05; \*\*p < 0.01; \*\*\*p < 0.001. TAB, TAB004; IL2, Lip-MSA-IL-2.

hypo-glycosylated MUC1 as observed in human PDAs (29). Therefore, the tumor growth reduction along with a significantly higher survival observed here support the potential of these therapeutic approaches in humans.

Clinically, combination treatments such as rosiglitazone and gemcitabine, FOLFIRINOX (5-FU, leucovorin, irinotecan, and oxaliplatin), monoclonal antibody and 5-fluorouracil, adriamycin, and mitomycin chemotherapy, or gemcitabine and nab-paclitaxel have been shown to significantly reduce tumor progression and metastases and significantly extend overall patient survival (1, 6–8). While those treatments led to some improvements and extended overall survival in small subsets of patients (8, 9), improved approaches to treat patients with pancreatic cancer are required (3, 10).

Clinical trials with combinations of antibodies to specific tumor antigens along with IL-2 treatment have not shown significant efficacy (22, 73). Modified IL-2 formulations alone led to longer IL-2 half-life, but without significant clinical benefit when used as a monotherapy (74). We have previously demonstrated that treatment with an anti-tumor antigen antibody and a fusion protein bestowing prolonged IL-2 signaling (i.e., Lip-MSA-IL-2 used here) led to significantly improved survival in a melanoma mouse model (22). Furthermore, in a murine model, the sustained persistence of

TABLE 1   Pearson r correlation coefficien	ts between and tumor size and immune
parameters.	

Tumor size (mg) vs.	Pearson r coefficient	Significance	
Immune cells within tumors			
CD45+, %	0.355	n.s.	
CD8+CD69+, %	0.360	n.s.	
CD11b+, %	-0.956	0.04	
Immune cells within blood			
WBC (Number/ul)	0.632	n.s.	
Lymphocytes (Number/ul)	0.244	n.s.	
Monocytes (Number/ul)	0.734	n.s.	
Neutrophils (Number/ul)	0.970	0.03	
Cytokines within serum			
IL-2 (pg/ml)	-0.736	n.s.	
IL-4 (pg/ml)	-0.911	n.s	
IL-5 (pg/ml)	-0.948	0.05	
IL-9 (pg/ml)	-0.335	n.s.	
CXCL1 (pg/ml)	-0.939	0.06	
RANTES (pg/ml)	0.417	n.s.	
Serum Muc1 (pg/ml)	0.562	n.s.	
Serum MPO (pg/ml)	-0.969	0.03	

IL-2 signaling enhanced the antitumor effects of peptide vaccines (75), highlighting the key role of sustained IL-2 signaling activation in successful immunotherapy. Although PDA is classically resistant to immunotherapy and lacks baseline T cell infiltration (76), higher clinical benefits were observed when immunotherapy/chemotherapy/chemoprevention combinations were used (41, 77). Indeed, our data support the benefits of sustained IL-2 signaling when combined with the specific tumor targeting antibody TAB004, as Lip-MSA-IL-2, or TAB004 treatments alone had no effects on survival, whereas the combination was associated with clearly improved survival.

Immunological responses observed in the PDA models following treatment in part mimic those observed and summarized earlier (22) in a murine melanoma model, including critical interactions between various effectors during administration of cancer immunotherapy. In particular, the administration of anti-MUC1 antibodies leads to effective tumor cell killing by antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity/phagocytosis (ADCC/ADCP) in part through NK cell and/or macrophage-mediated killing activities (24, 32, 42). Remarkably, populations of CD45+CD11b+ cells (including macrophages), but not NK cells, were increased in tumors treated with Lip-MSA-IL-2 and TAB004, suggesting a key role for CD45+CD11b+ cells (including macrophages) in the limitation of tumor progression in vivo. Our observation is supported by the required role of macrophages in the anti-MUC1 tumor response in vivo (42). Notably, overall survival of PDA patients who had alterations in the genes for CD45 (PTPRC) and CD11b (ITGAM) was significantly lower than the survival of all patients with PDA (CBioportal.org query, Supplemental Figure 5S) (78, 79). Future depletion studies will be required to confirm that the CD45+CD11b+ cells involved here are macrophages.



SEM. (\*)p < 0.08;\*p < 0.05; TAB, TAB004; IL2, Lip-MSA-IL-2.

This immune response was complemented with a significant decrease in immune regulatory cells (CD8+CD69+ cells). Interestingly, enhanced anti-tumor immunity against MHC class I tumors (RMA-S ad RM-1) was reported in CD69 knockout mice and mice treated with an anti-CD69 antibody (80). Indeed, CD8+CD69+ T cells are immunoregulatory cells that are known to promote tumor progression by inducing the production of indoleamine 2,3, dioxygenase (IDO) (62). Our previous studies indicated that IDO, one of the major players in immune tolerance but also in tumor progression, metastasis, and angiogenesis, is overexpressed in MUC1-expressing PDA (44). Thus, tMUC1 expression may contribute toward a highly tolerogenic tumor microenvironment by influencing the IDO/tryptophan pathways.

Our data suggest that the increased percent of tumor CD45+CD11b+ cells and infiltrating serum MPO concentrations are associated with the increased survival observed in the mice treated with the combination. MPO is produced especially during degranulation of neutrophils and macrophages, leading to the generation of hypochlorous acid that is commonly indicative of cellular cytotoxicity. In contrast with previous increases in neutrophils associated with Lip-MSA-IL-2 treatment in the melanoma model (22), no significant changes in neutrophil populations were observed in this study. Nevertheless, we do report that tumor progression is correlated with an increase in the number of blood neutrophils. Interestingly, the blood neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio, an independent prognostic marker of tumor progression (i.e., the lower the blood neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio, the better the outcome (65, 66), was determined to be lower in mice treated with TAB004 alone or with the combination of TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2. Furthermore, the ratio of neutrophils/T lymphocytes per gram of tumor (approximated using the sum of CD45+CD4+ cells and CD45+CD8+ cells) was also lower in the tumors from mice treated with the combination of TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2.

We also detected increases in serum IL-5 and CXCL1 concentrations and decreases in serum IL-6 concentrations in mice treated with the combination vs. control mice. In particular, the significant increase in circulating CXCL1, along with the correlation of the number of blood neutrophils with the tumor size, may be related to the recruitment of tumor entrained neutrophils (TENs) from the bone marrow into possibly other organs. TENs are associated with inhibiting seeding in the metastatic niche (81) by generating H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> and tumor secreted MCP1 (also noted in our treatment group) which are both critical mediators of anti-metastatic entrainment of stimulated neutrophils. IL-6 is a critical pleiotropic cytokine associated with innate immunity and cancer; it is known to inhibit expression of CXCL1, and is a prominent target for clinical intervention (82). Together, these data hint that the combination treatment may be associated with wound healing and macrophage/monocyte recruitment.

The presence of plasma IgG antibodies specific to tMUC1 has been associated with survival benefits in patients with breast, lung, pancreatic, ovarian and gastric carcinomas (24). Interestingly, circulating shed tMUC1 accurately detected tumor stage progression in PDA patients (27). Possible mechanisms by which anti-tMUC1 antibodies prevent tumor progression include enhanced NK cell anti-tumor activity (42), restoration of cell-cell interactions altered by tumor-associated MUC1 (24), and prevention of tMUC1-associated reduction of T cell proliferation and anergy of cytotoxic T cells (23, 31). Interestingly, the inhibition of human T cell responses by cancer-associated MUC1 was abrogated by IL-2 (31). Moreover, when conjugated to tMUC1 antibody, IL-2 stimulated the proliferation of activated human lymphocytes *in vitro* and triggered resting NK cells to lyse tumor cells (23). Furthermore, the IL-2-antibody complex

promoted antitumor immunity in mice by activating tumorreactive CD8+ T cells (20). Previous imaging analyses clearly indicated strong co-localization of TAB004 and tumor cells (43, 57), and our data highlight clear tumor responses to combined TAB004 + Lip-MSA-IL-2 immunotherapy. The neutralization of tMUC1 in circulation is likely due to TAB004 complexing with circulating tMUC1, which in turn dampens the tMUC1induced immune suppression. This enables immune effector cells (in this case, the macrophages) to elicit an anti-tumor immune response and enhance survival. Although TAB004 alone did not improve survival, since Lip-MSA-IL-2 has been shown to activate macrophage cytotoxicity against cancer cells (83), it is possible that Lip-MSA-IL-2 likely enhances the recruitment and activation of macrophages once TAB004 is bound to tMUC1expressing tumor cells.

Taken together, our data, for the first time, indicate that treatment with Lip-MSA-IL-2 + TAB004 significantly improved survival in an orthotopic model, and resulted in retardation of tumor progression in a spontaneous model of PDA. Remarkably, these results are the first to demonstrate improved PDA outcomes in immunocompetent mouse models. In contrast, the use of Lip-MSA-IL-2 alone or TAB004 alone were not associated with any significant improvement in tumor burden or survival in the in vivo PDA models tested. Beside the benefits of TAB004 as an early monitoring approach to detect cancers earlier and monitor their progression, these data indicate that TAB004 may also have clear therapeutic benefits when combined with IL-2 to stimulate a targeted immune response. Success in developing FDA-approved TAB004-based treatments of patients with non-resectable PDA would have enormous long-term clinical impact. Furthermore, TAB004 antibody therapy may usher a new area of immunotherapy for other malignancies.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

All animal experiments were conducted following protocols approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC) of the University of North Carolina at Charlotte. All experiments were conducted following the Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals guidelines under the

## REFERENCES

- Bunt SK, Mohr AM, Bailey JM, Grandgenett PM, Hollingsworth MA. Rosiglitazone and Gemcitabine in combination reduces immune suppression and modulates T cell populations in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2013) 62:225–36. doi: 10.1007/s00262-012-1324-3
- Tanemura M, Miyoshi E, Nagano H, Eguchi H, Matsunami K, Taniyama K, et al. Cancer immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer utilizing alpha-gal epitope/natural anti-Gal antibody reaction. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2015) 21:11396–410. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i40.11396
- Amedei A, Niccolai E, Prisco D. Pancreatic cancer: role of the immune system in cancer progression and vaccine-based immunotherapy. *Hum Vaccines Immunother*. (2014) 10:3354–68. doi: 10.4161/hv.34392
- Baines AT, Martin PM, Rorie CJ. Current and emerging targeting strategies for treatment of pancreatic cancer. *Prog Mol Biol Transl Sci.* (2016) 144:277– 320. doi: 10.1016/bs.pmbts.2016.09.006

supervision of Dr. Chandra Williams DVM, in an AAALAC accredited facility.

## DISCLOSURE

PM, RP, and MW are Oncotab Inc. employees. Oncotab Inc. had no involvement in data analyses, data presentation and manuscript writing.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

DD conceived, performed, and analyzed the experiments and wrote and reviewed the manuscript. LM, MW, LDR, LD, and TP performed and analyzed the experiments and reviewed the manuscript. RP, NM, and KW participated in the analysis the data, and reviewed the manuscript. PM participated in conception of the experiments and the analysis the data and reviewed the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the NIH NCI (#1 R41 CA195947-01A1) and OncoTab Inc.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the outstanding animal surgeries and care provided by the Vivarium staff and Dr. C. Williams DVM. Additionally, we also thank the histological services at Carolinas Medical Center (Charlotte NC) for histological processing of tumor samples. Moreover, the generous gifts of Lip-MSA-IL-2 (DW, MIT, Cambridge, MA) and TAB004 (Oncotab Inc., Charlotte NC) are acknowledged. Finally, we are grateful for Dr. Timothy Erick, Ph.D. critical review of the manuscript.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fonc. 2019.00330/full#supplementary-material

- Silvestris N, Brunetti O, Vasile E, Cellini F, Cataldo I, Pusceddu V, et al. Multimodal treatment of resectable pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol.* (2017) 111:152–65. doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.20 17.01.015
- Zhang Y, Choi M. Immune therapy in pancreatic cancer: now and the future? *Rev Recent Clin Trials.* (2015) 10:317– 25. doi: 10.2174/1574887110666150916142537
- Paul AR, Engstrom PF, Weiner LM, Steplewski Z, Koprowski H. Treatment of advanced measurable or evaluable pancreatic carcinoma with 17-1A murine monoclonal antibody alone or in combination with 5-fluorouracil, adriamycin and mitomycin (FAM). *Hybridoma*. (1986) (5 Suppl 1):S171–4.
- Kasuga A, Hamamoto Y, Takeuchi A, Kawasaki K, Suzuki T, Hirata K, et al. Positive relationship between subsequent chemotherapy and overall survival in pancreatic cancer: meta-analysis of postprogression survival for first-line chemotherapy. *Cancer Chemother Pharmacol.* (2017) 79:595– 602. doi: 10.1007/s00280-017-3263-3

- Mirkin KA, Hollenbeak CS, Wong J. Survival impact of neoadjuvant therapy in resected pancreatic cancer: a prospective cohort study involving 18,332 patients from the national cancer data base. *Int J Surg.* (2016) 34:96– 102. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2016.08.523
- Garrido-Laguna I, Hidalgo M. Pancreatic cancer: from state-of-the-art treatments to promising novel therapies. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol.* (2015) 12:319– 34. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2015.53
- Scott AM, Wolchok JD, Old LJ. Antibody therapy of cancer. Nat Rev Cancer. (2012) 12:278–87. doi: 10.1038/nrc3236
- Wahlin BE, Sundstrom C, Holte H, Hagberg H, Erlanson M, Nilsson-Ehle H, et al. T cells in tumors and blood predict outcome in follicular lymphoma treated with rituximab. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2011) 17:4136– 44. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0264
- Srivastava RM, Lee SC, Andrade Filho PA, Lord CA, Jie HB, Davidson HC, et al. Cetuximab-activated natural killer and dendritic cells collaborate to trigger tumor antigen-specific T-cell immunity in head and neck cancer patients. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2013) 19:1858–72. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-2426
- Taylor C, Hershman D, Shah N, Suciu-Foca N, Petrylak DP, Taub R, et al. Augmented HER-2 specific immunity during treatment with trastuzumab and chemotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2007) 13:5133–43. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-0507
- Eisenbeis CF, Grainger A, Fischer B, Baiocchi RA, Carrodeguas L, Roychowdhury S, et al. Combination immunotherapy of B-cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma with rituximab and interleukin-2: a preclinical and phase I study. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2004) 10:6101–10. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0525
- Carson WE, Parihar R, Lindemann MJ, Personeni N, Dierksheide J, Meropol NJ, et al. Interleukin-2 enhances the natural killer cell response to Herceptin-coated Her2/neu-positive breast cancer cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2001) 31:3016–25. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(2001010)31:10<3016::AID-IMMU3016>3.0.CO;2-J
- Khan KD, Emmanouilides C, Benson DMJr, Hurst D, Garcia P, Michelson G, et al. A phase 2 study of rituximab in combination with recombinant interleukin-2 for rituximab-refractory indolent non-Hodgkin's lymphoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2006) 12:7046–53. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-1571
- Mani A, Roda J, Young D, Caligiuri MA, Fleming GF, Kaufman P, et al. A phase II trial of trastuzumab in combination with low-dose interleukin-2 (IL-2) in patients (PTS) with metastatic breast cancer (MBC) who have previously failed trastuzumab. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2009) 117:83– 9. doi: 10.1007/s10549-008-0251-7
- Kwong B, Gai SA, Elkhader J, Wittrup KD, Irvine DJ. Localized immunotherapy via liposome-anchored Anti-CD137 + IL-2 prevents lethal toxicity and elicits local and systemic antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:1547–58. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-3343
- Klevorn LE, Berrien-Elliott MM, Yuan J, Kuehm LM, Felock GD, Crowe SA, et al. Rescue of tolerant CD8+ T cells during cancer immunotherapy with IL2: antibody complexes. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2016) 4:1016– 26. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0159
- Ye L, Fan J, Shi X, Tao Q, Ye D, Xian Z, et al. Tumor necrosis therapy antibody interleukin-2 fusion protein elicits prolonged and targeted antitumor effects *in vivo*. *Appl Microbiol Biotechnol*. (2014) 98:4053– 61. doi: 10.1007/s00253-013-5349-0
- 22. Zhu EF, Gai SA, Opel CF, Kwan BH, Surana R, Mihm MC, et al. Synergistic innate and adaptive immune response to combination immunotherapy with anti-tumor antigen antibodies and extended serum half-life IL-2. *Cancer Cell.* (2015) 27:489–501. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.20 15.03.004
- Heuser C, Ganser M, Hombach A, Brand H, Denton G, Hanisch FG, et al. An anti-MUC1-antibody-interleukin-2 fusion protein that activates resting NK cells to lysis of MUC1-positive tumour cells. *Br J Cancer*. (2003) 89:1130– 9. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6601267
- Von Mensdorff-Pouilly S, Moreno M, Verheijen RH. Natural and induced humoral responses to MUC1. *Cancers.* (2011) 3:3073–103. doi: 10.3390/cancers3033073
- 25. Madsen CB, Wandall HH, Pedersen AE. Potential for novel MUC1 glycopeptide-specific antibody in passive cancer

immunotherapy. *Immunopharmacol Immunotoxicol.* (2013) 35:649–52. doi: 10.3109/08923973.2013.837060

- 26. Scholl SM, Balloul JM, Le Goc G, Bizouarne N, Schatz C, Kieny MP, et al. Recombinant vaccinia virus encoding human MUC1 and IL2 as immunotherapy in patients with breast cancer. J Immunother. (2000) 23:570–80. doi: 10.1097/00002371-200009000-00007
- Curry JM, Thompson KJ, Rao SG, Besmer DM, Murphy AM, Grdzelishvili VZ, et al. The use of a novel MUC1 antibody to identify cancer stem cells and circulating MUC1 in mice and patients with pancreatic cancer. J Surg Oncol. (2013) 107:713–22. doi: 10.1002/jso.23316
- Mukherjee P, Tinder TL, Basu GD, Pathangey LB, Chen L, Gendler SJ. Therapeutic efficacy of MUC1-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes and CD137 co-stimulation in a spontaneous breast cancer model. *Breast Dis.* (2004) 20:53–63. doi: 10.3233/BD-2004-20107
- Mukherjee P, Ginardi AR, Madsen CS, Sterner CJ, Adriance MC, Tevethia MJ, et al. Mice with spontaneous pancreatic cancer naturally develop MUC-1-specific CTLs that eradicate tumors when adoptively transferred. J Immunol. (2000) 165:3451–60. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.16 5.6.3451
- 30. Acres B, Limacher JM. MUC1 as a target antigen for cancer immunotherapy. *Expert Rev Vaccines*. (2005) 4:493–502. doi: 10.1586/14760584.4.4.493
- Agrawal B, Krantz MJ, Reddish MA, Longenecker BM. Cancer-associated MUC1 mucin inhibits human T-cell proliferation, which is reversible by IL-2. *Nat Med.* (1998) 4:43–9. doi: 10.1038/nm0198-043
- Danielczyk A, Stahn R, Faulstich D, Loffler A, Marten A, Karsten U, et al. PankoMab: a potent new generation anti-tumour MUC1 antibody. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2006) 55:1337–47. doi: 10.1007/s00262-006-0135-9
- Baldus SE, Goergen D, Hanisch FG, Dienes HP. Epitope-dependent differential immunoreactivities of anti-MUC1 monoclonal antibodies in human carcinomas. *Int J Oncol.* (2001) 18:507–12. doi: 10.3892/ijo.18.3.507
- Parham DM, Slidders W, Robertson AJ. Quantitation of human milk fat globule (HMFG1) expression in breast carcinoma and its association with survival. J Clin Pathol. (1988) 41:875–9. doi: 10.1136/jcp.41.8.875
- Gendler SJ. MUC1, the renaissance molecule. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia. (2001) 6:339–53. doi: 10.1023/A:1011379725811
- Kufe DW. Mucins in cancer: function, prognosis and therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. (2009) 9:874–85. doi: 10.1038/nrc2761
- Hollingsworth MA, Swanson BJ. Mucins in cancer: protection and control of the cell surface. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2004) 4:45–60. doi: 10.1038/nrc1251
- Mukherjee P, Madsen CS, Ginardi AR, Tinder TL, Jacobs F, Parker J, et al. Mucin 1-specific immunotherapy in a mouse model of spontaneous breast cancer. J Immunother. (2003) 26:47–62. doi: 10.1097/00002371-200301000-00006
- 39. Zhou R, Curry JM, Roy LD, Grover P, Haider J, Moore LJ, et al. A novel association of neuropilin-1 and MUC1 in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: role in induction of VEGF signaling and angiogenesis. *Oncogene*. (2016) 35:5608–18. doi: 10.1038/onc. 2015.516
- Mukherjee P, Pathangey LB, Bradley JB, Tinder TL, Basu GD, Akporiaye ET, et al. MUC1-specific immune therapy generates a strong anti-tumor response in a MUC1-tolerant colon cancer model. *Vaccine*. (2007) 25:1607– 18. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006.11.007
- Mukherjee P, Basu GD, Tinder TL, Subramani DB, Bradley JM, Arefayene M, et al. Progression of pancreatic adenocarcinoma is significantly impeded with a combination of vaccine and COX-2 inhibition. *J Immunol.* (2009) 182:216–24. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.18 2.1.216
- Schettini J, Kidiyoor A, Besmer DM, Tinder TL, Roy LD, Lustgarten J, et al. Intratumoral delivery of CpG-conjugated anti-MUC1 antibody enhances NK cell anti-tumor activity. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2012) 61:2055– 65. doi: 10.1007/s00262-012-1264-y
- Moore LJ, Roy LD, Zhou R, Grover P, Wu ST, Curry JM, et al. Antibody-guided in vivo imaging for early detection of mammary gland tumors. *Transl Oncol.* (2016) 9:295–305. doi: 10.1016/j.tranon.2016.05.001
- 44. Tinder TL, Subramani DB, Basu GD, Bradley JM, Schettini J, Million A, et al. MUC1 enhances tumor progression and contributes toward immunosuppression in a mouse model of

spontaneous pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Immunol. (2008) 181:3116-25. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.5.3116

- Besmer DM, Curry JM, Roy LD, Tinder TL, Sahraei M, Schettini J, et al. Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma mice lacking mucin 1 have a profound defect in tumor growth and metastasis. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:4432– 42. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4439
- Wu ST, Williams CD, Grover PA, Moore LJ, Mukherjee P. Early detection of pancreatic cancer in mouse models using a novel antibody, TAB004. *PLoS ONE*. (2018) 13:e0193260. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0193260
- Rowse GJ, Tempero RM, VanLith ML, Hollingsworth MA, Gendler SJ. Tolerance and immunity to MUC1 in a human MUC1 transgenic murine model. *Cancer Res.* (1998) 58:315–21.
- Daley JM, Thomay AA, Connolly MD, Reichner JS, Albina JE. Use of Ly6Gspecific monoclonal antibody to deplete neutrophils in mice. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2008) 83:64–70. doi: 10.1189/jlb.0407247
- Duffield JS, Forbes SJ, Constandinou CM, Clay S, Partolina M, Vuthoori S, et al. Selective depletion of macrophages reveals distinct, opposing roles during liver injury and repair. J Clin Invest. (2005) 115:56– 65. doi: 10.1172/JCI200522675
- Rehg JE, Bush D, Ward JM. The utility of immunohistochemistry for the identification of hematopoietic and lymphoid cells in normal tissues and interpretation of proliferative and inflammatory lesions of mice and rats. *Toxicol Pathol.* (2012) 40:345–74. doi: 10.1177/0192623311 430695
- Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Young A, Mittal D, Martinet L, Bruedigam C, Takeda K, et al. NK cells require IL-28R for optimal *in vivo* activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:E2376–84. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1424241112
- Malle E, Furtmuller PG, Sattler W, Obinger C. Myeloperoxidase: a target for new drug development? Br J Pharmacol. (2007) 152:838– 54. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0707358
- Lazarevic-Pasti T, Leskovac A, Vasic V. Myeloperoxidase inhibitors as potential drugs. *Curr Drug Metab.* (2015) 16:168– 90. doi: 10.2174/138920021603150812120640
- 54. Yamashita M, Kitano S, Aikawa H, Kuchiba A, Hayashi M, Yamamoto N, et al. A novel method for evaluating antibody-dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity by flowcytometry using cryopreserved human peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:19772. doi: 10.1038/srep19772
- 55. Tai LH, Zhang J, Scott KJ, de Souza CT, Alkayyal AA, Ananth AA, et al. Perioperative influenza vaccination reduces postoperative metastatic disease by reversing surgery-induced dysfunction in natural killer cells. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2013) 19:5104–15. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0246
- Svajger U, Obermajer N, Jeras M. IFN-gamma-rich environment programs dendritic cells toward silencing of cytotoxic immune responses. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2014) 95:33–46. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1112589
- Roy LD, Dillon LM, Zhou R, Moore LJ, Livasy C, El-Khoury JM, et al. A tumor specific antibody to aid breast cancer screening in women with dense breast tissue. *Genes Cancer*. (2017) 8:536–49. doi: 10.18632/genesandcancer.134
- 58. Musiani P, Allione A, Modica A, Lollini PL, Giovarelli M, Cavallo F, et al. Role of neutrophils and lymphocytes in inhibition of a mouse mammary adenocarcinoma engineered to release IL-2, IL-4, IL-7, IL-10, IFN- $\alpha$ , IFN- $\gamma$ , and TNF- $\alpha$ . *Lab Invest*. (1996) 74:146–57.
- Patnaik A, Swanson KD, Csizmadia E, Solanki A, Landon-Brace N, Gehring MP, et al. Cabozantinib eradicates advanced murine prostate cancer by activating antitumor innate immunity. *Cancer Discov.* (2017) 7:750– 65. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-16-0778
- Alvey CM, Spinler KR, Irianto J, Pfeifer CR, Hayes B, Xia Y, et al. SIRPA-inhibited, marrow-derived macrophages engorge, accumulate, and differentiate in antibody-targeted regression of solid tumors. *Curr Biol.* (2017) 27:2065–77 e6. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2017.06.005
- Zhu Y, Knolhoff BL, Meyer MA, Nywening TM, West BL, Luo J, et al. CSF1/CSF1R blockade reprograms tumor-infiltrating macrophages and improves response to T-cell checkpoint immunotherapy in pancreatic cancer models. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:5057–69. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-3723
- Zhao Q, Kuang DM, Wu Y, Xiao X, Li XF, Li TJ, et al. Activated CD69+ T cells foster immune privilege by regulating IDO

expression in tumor-associated macrophages. J Immunol. (2012) 188:1117-24. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1100164

- Loskog A, Ninalga C, Paul-Wetterberg G, de la Torre M, Malmstrom PU, Totterman TH. Human bladder carcinoma is dominated by Tregulatory cells and Th1 inhibitory cytokines. J Urol. (2007) 177:353– 8. doi: 10.1016/j.juro.2006.08.078
- 64. Terabe M, Robertson FC, Clark K, De Ravin E, Bloom A, Venzon DJ, et al. Blockade of only TGF-beta 1 and 2 is sufficient to enhance the efficacy of vaccine and PD-1 checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. *Oncoimmunology.* (2017) 6:e1308616. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.13 08616
- Cassidy MR, Wolchok RE, Zheng J, Panageas KS, Wolchok JD, Coit D, et al. Neutrophil to lymphocyte ratio is associated with outcome during ipilimumab treatment. *EBioMedicine*. (2017) 18:56–61. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2017.03.029
- Piciucchi M, Stigliano S, Archibugi L, Zerboni G, Signoretti M, Barucca V, et al. The neutrophil/lymphocyte ratio at diagnosis is significantly associated with survival in metastatic pancreatic cancer patients. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2017) 18:730. doi: 10.3390/ijms18040730
- Gendler SJ, Mukherjee P. Spontaneous adenocarcinoma mouse models for immunotherapy. *Trends Mol Med.* (2001) 7:471– 5. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4914(01)02124-4
- Cannon A, Thompson C, Hall BR, Jain M, Kumar S, Batra SK. Desmoplasia in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: insight into pathological function and therapeutic potential. *Genes Cancer*. (2018) 9:78–86. doi: 10.18632/genesandcancer.171
- Lankadasari MB, Aparna JS, Mohammed S, James S, Aoki K, Binu VS, et al. Targeting S1PR1/STAT3 loop abrogates desmoplasia and chemosensitizes pancreatic cancer to gemcitabine. *Theranostics*. (2018) 8:3824–40. doi: 10.7150/thno.25308
- Sahin IH, Askan G, Hu ZI, O'Reilly EM. Immunotherapy in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: an emerging entity? *Ann Oncol.* (2017) 28:2950– 61. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx503
- Halbrook CJ, Pasca di Magliano M, Lyssiotis CA. Tumor crosstalk networks promote growth and support immune evasion in pancreatic cancer. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol. (2018) 315:G27–35. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00416.2017
- Martinez-Bosch N, Vinaixa J, Navarro P, Fu Y, Liu S, Zeng S, et al. Immune evasion in pancreatic cancer: from mechanisms to therapy. *Cancers*. (2018) 10:6–22. doi: 10.3390/cancers10010006
- 73. Poire X, Kline J, Grinblatt D, Zimmerman T, Conner K, Muhs C, et al. Phase II study of immunomodulation with granulocyte-macrophage colonystimulating factor, interleukin-2, and rituximab following autologous stem cell transplant in patients with relapsed or refractory lymphomas. *Leuk Lymphoma*. (2010) 51:1241–50. doi: 10.3109/10428194.2010.486876
- 74. Yang JC, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, Parkinson DR, Marincola FM, Weber JS, et al. The use of polyethylene glycol-modified interleukin-2 (PEG-IL-2) in the treatment of patients with metastatic renal cell carcinoma and melanoma. A phase I study and a randomized prospective study comparing IL-2 alone versus IL-2 combined with PEG-IL-2. *Cancer.* (1995) 76:687–94. doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19950815)76:4<687::AID-CNCR2820760424>3.0. CO;2-M
- Sultan H, Kumai T, Fesenkova VI, Fan AE, Wu J, Cho HI, et al. Sustained persistence of IL2 signaling enhances the antitumor effect of peptide vaccines through T-cell expansion and preventing PD-1 inhibition. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:617–27. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0549
- 76. Byrne KT, Leisenring NH, Bajor DL, Vonderheide RH. CSF-1Rdependent lethal hepatotoxicity when agonistic CD40 antibody is given before but not after chemotherapy. J Immunol. (2016) 197:179–87. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600146
- Zhang B, Dong Y, Liu J, Lian Z, Liang L, Chen W, et al. Immunotherapy for patients with advanced pancreatic carcinoma: a promising treatment. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:5703–16. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.13968
- Gao J, Aksoy BA, Dogrusoz U, Dresdner G, Gross B, Sumer SO, et al. Integrative analysis of complex cancer genomics and clinical profiles using the cBioPortal. *Sci Signal.* (2013) 6:pl1. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.2004088
- 79. Cerami E, Gao J, Dogrusoz U, Gross BE, Sumer SO, Aksoy BA, et al. The cBio cancer genomics portal: an open platform for exploring

multidimensional cancer genomics data. Cancer Discov. (2012) 2:401-4. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-12-0095

- Esplugues E, Sancho D, Vega-Ramos J, Martinez C, Syrbe U, Hamann A, et al. Enhanced antitumor immunity in mice deficient in CD69. J Exp Med. (2003) 197:1093–106. doi: 10.1084/jem.20021337
- Granot Z, Henke E, Comen EA, King TA, Norton L, Benezra R. Tumor entrained neutrophils inhibit seeding in the premetastatic lung. *Cancer Cell.* (2011) 20:300–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2011. 08.012
- Hunter CA, Jones SA. IL-6 as a keystone cytokine in health and disease. Nat Immunol. (2015) 16:448–57. doi: 10.1038/ni.3153
- Han X, Wilbanks GD, Devaja O, Ruperelia V, Raju KS. IL-2 enhances standard IFNgamma/LPS activation of macrophage cytotoxicity to human ovarian carcinoma *in vitro*: a potential for adoptive cellular

immunotherapy. *Gynecol Oncol.* (1999) 75:198–210. doi: 10.1006/gyno.19 99.5557

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Dréau, Moore, Wu, Roy, Dillion, Porter, Puri, Momin, Wittrup and Mukherjee. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Biomaterial-Based Activation and Expansion of Tumor-Specific T Cells

Marjolein Schluck<sup>1,2</sup>, Roel Hammink<sup>1,2</sup>, Carl G. Figdor<sup>1,2,3</sup>, Martijn Verdoes<sup>1,3\*†</sup> and Jorieke Weiden<sup>1,2,3\*†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Tumor Immunology, Radboud Institute for Molecular Life Sciences, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands, <sup>2</sup> Division of Immunotherapy, Oncode Institute, Radboud University Medical Center, Nijmegen, Netherlands, <sup>3</sup> Institute for Chemical Immunology, Nijmegen, Netherlands

Traditional tumor vaccination approaches mostly focus on activating dendritic cells (DCs) by providing them with a source of tumor antigens and/or adjuvants, which in turn activate tumor-reactive T cells. Novel biomaterial-based cancer immunotherapeutic strategies focus on directly activating and stimulating T cells through molecular cues presented on synthetic constructs with the aim of improving T cell survival, more precisely steer T cell activation and direct T cell differentiation. Synthetic artificial antigen presenting cells (aAPCs) decorated with T cell-activating ligands are being developed to induce robust tumor-specific T cell responses, essentially bypassing DCs. In this perspective, we approach these promising new technologies from an immunological angle, first by identifying the CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell subtypes that are imperative for robust anti-cancer immunity and subsequently discussing the molecular cues needed to induce these cells types. We will elaborate on how biomaterials can be applied to stimulate T cells in vitro and in vivo to improve their survival, activation and function, Scaffold-based methods can also be used as delivery vehicles for adoptive transfer of T cells, including tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs) and chimeric antigen receptor expressing (CAR) T cells, while simultaneously stimulating these cells. Finally, we provide suggestions on how these insights could advance the field of biomaterial-based activation and expansion of tumor-specific T cells in the future.

Keywords: cancer immunotherapy, biomaterials, T cells, artificial antigen-presenting cells, scaffold, anti-tumor immune response, synthetic immune niche, molecular cues

## INTRODUCTION

Immunotherapy provides a revolutionary treatment modality for cancer. A variety of strategies have been developed to improve the clinical outcome of patients by generating long-term anti-tumor immune responses. The development of therapeutic monoclonal antibodies that block co-inhibitory receptors on T cells, such as cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4) and programmed death 1 (PD-1), has shown exceptional clinical benefit in cancer patients and is seen as a crucial breakthrough in the cancer immunotherapy field (1).

Apart from relieving suppression in pre-existing T cells, other immunotherapeutic strategies focus on increasing the number of tumor-reactive T lymphocytes that recognize either tumor-specific antigens, tumor-associated antigens, cancer-testis antigens or neo-antigens. Dendritic cell (DC) vaccination targets antigen-presenting DCs, which are capable of priming T cells by capturing, processing and presenting antigens to naïve T cells together with

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Roberto S. Accolla, University of Insubria, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Paolo Dellabona, San Raffaele Scientific Institute (IRCCS), Italy Lenka V. Hurton, University of Texas MD Anderson Cancer Center, United States Markus W. Löffler, University of Tübingen, Germany

#### \*Correspondence:

Martijn Verdoes martijn.verdoes@radboudumc.nl Jorieke Weiden jorieke.weiden@radboudumc.nl

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 14 February 2019 Accepted: 11 April 2019 Published: 03 May 2019

#### Citation:

Schluck M, Hammink R, Figdor CG, Verdoes M and Weiden J (2019) Biomaterial-Based Activation and Expansion of Turnor-Specific T Cells. Front. Immunol. 10:931. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00931

53

co-stimulatory cues (2). To generate DC vaccines, patientderived DCs are cultured ex vivo, maturated and loaded with antigens, after which they are infused back into the patient where they activate tumor-reactive T cells (3). Increased overall survival, functional tumor-specific immune responses and low toxicities have been observed with this strategy (4, 5). Other cell-based therapies attempt to increase the number of circulating tumor-specific T cells by reinfusing autologous ex vivo-expanded T cells derived from tumors (tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes, TIL) or genetically engineering them to confer tumor reactivity using high affinity T-cell receptors (TCR) or chimeric antigen receptors (CAR) (6). Promising preclinical data have been obtained with these adoptive T-cell therapies (1, 7, 8). The prominent immunotherapeutic strategies described above all focus on generating robust tumor-directed T cell responses, which is crucial to inducing effective and longlasting anti-tumor immunity, as there is a strong correlation between tumor-infiltrating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells and patient survival in virtually all cancer types (9). In addition, antigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T helper cells are believed to be critically involved in the induction of optimal anti-tumor responses (10, 11). It is therefore evident that T cells play a central role in cancer immunotherapy.

Although current cancer immune therapies have shown promising preclinical and clinical results, challenges remain that may limit therapeutic benefit. To improve on this and to design new therapeutic strategies, interest in the field of biomaterial engineering has grown. Biomaterials have proven valuable in reducing systemic toxicities, enhancing accumulation in tumors, improving pharmacokinetics and ensuring sustained release by controlled (targeted) drug delivery (12, 13). Biomaterialbased immunotherapeutic strategies led to the development of nanoparticles for the targeted delivery of cargo to immune cells in vivo, such as cytokines, DC-activating agents or small inhibitors (13-15). Careful design can be applied to tune the delivery of DC-targeted vaccines using materials responsive to temperature (16) or pH (17, 18). Other biomaterial-based approaches focus on improving ex vivo immune cell expansion or on supporting immune cells after adoptive transfer (13, 14). Furthermore, there has been a rise in the development of synthetic, acellular artificial antigen presenting cells (aAPCs) that can target and activate T cells directly (19, 20), thereby bypassing the need for DC activation. By presenting molecular cues on synthetic constructs based on biomaterials, specific signals are transmitted to T cells in a well-defined context and controlled manner to support T cell viability, activation and differentiation.

In this perspective, we will detail what T cell subtypes are imperative for robust anti-cancer immunity and which molecular cues are needed to induce these T cells. Next, we will elaborate on how these molecular cues can be presented by biomaterials for direct activation and expansion of T cells. The use of biomaterials to aid the adoptive transfer of T cells will also be discussed. Finally, we will illustrate in which direction the field of biomaterial engineering for cancer immunotherapy should go for the next generation of biomaterialbased cancer immunotherapies.

## T CELL SUBSETS IN CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY

To generate durable anti-tumor immune responses that have a beneficial impact on the clinical outcome of cancer patients, potent  $CD8^+$  and  $CD4^+$  T cell responses are crucial (9–11). Here, we will discuss the roles of different T cell subtypes in cancer-specific immune responses and we will highlight the cellular and molecular characteristics of these T cells (**Figure 1**).

Upon interaction with their cognate antigen in the context of major histocompatibility complex class I (MHC I) and co-stimulatory cues, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells will undergo extensive proliferative expansion to create a large population of short-lived effector cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) that have tumor-killing capacities. The CTL population comprises functionally distinct subsets (21). For instance, expression of CX3CR1 on CTLs is associated with their ability to generate memory subsets and serves as a predictor for CX3CR1 expression on the generated memory cells, which is associated with robust cytotoxic effector functions (22, 23). CXCR5-expressing CTLs are involved in chronic viral infections and show reduced susceptibility to exhaustion (24). Additional heterogeneity may exist regarding cytokine production and the (co-)expression of perforin and various granzymes (25). In addition to these short-lived CTLs, the formation of CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells is required to support long-term anti-tumor immunity. Following a progressive differentiation model, primed naive CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (Tn) will progress into different memory T cell populations [T stem cell memory (Tscm), T central memory (Tcm), T effector memory (Tem)] (21, 22, 25-27). The Tscm subset displays increased anti-tumor activity, enhanced proliferation, increased survival capacities and multipotency (27, 28). The Tcm generally have higher proliferative abilities while Tem are more cytotoxic (22). In contrast to circulating memory T cells, there is also a population of non-circulating memory T cells, tissue resident memory T cells (Trm). These Trm cells were shown to be superior in providing rapid long-term protection against recurrent infections (29). Inducing a broad repertoire of potent CTLs together with CD8<sup>+</sup> memory T cells will be highly beneficial for robust anti-tumor immunity (Figure 1A).

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell help is imperative for potent CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation by supplying cytokines and co-stimulation, by enhancing persistence and migration, and by reactivating memory  $CD8^+$  T cells (30–32). Recently, it has been reported that CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are also dependent on CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, underlining the mutual dependence of CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses (10). Furthermore, a RNA vaccination study clearly showed the importance of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell neo-epitopes in controlling murine tumors (11). The  $CD4^+$  T cell population can be subdivided into specific subsets, each having their own signature cytokine repertoire (33, 34). The T helper 1 (Th1) subset is strongly associated with better prognosis, improved survival, low incidence of tumor recurrence and prolonged disease-free survival in cancer immunology (35). This is in part due to their supportive role in cellular immunity, the cytokines they produce [including interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ )] (35), and their role in inducing immunological memory (36). In addition, notable



memory subsets [memory stem cells (Tscm), central memory (Tcm), effector memory (Tem) and tissue-resident memory (Trm)] that all have specific functionalities. To stimulate antigen-specific CTLs, biomaterials should present peptide MHC (pMHC) class I, agonistic antibodies that trigger co-stimulatory receptors for signal 2 and cytokines as signal 3 as depicted. (B) To trigger differentiation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells into T helper 1 (Th1) and Th17 cells, biomaterials need to present pMHC class II together with co-stimulatory signals and different combinations of cytokines. As an alternative to agonistic antibodies to trigger co-stimulatory signaling pathways, natural ligands of co-stimulatory receptors can be used.

results of a mouse melanoma study showed that the T helper 17 (Th17) subset producing IL-17 was involved in B16 tumor rejection (37). Other studies have also indicated a positive role for Th17 cells in the development of long-term anti-tumor immunity and their help in CTL activation and recruitment to the tumor (38, 39). Besides providing support to CTLs, CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells can also contribute to the anti-tumor immune response independent of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (30, 40, 41) by acquiring cytotoxic activity and executing a direct anti-tumor effect (36, 40). Finally, CD4<sup>+</sup> T regulatory cells (Tregs) mainly encompass the immune inhibitory subset, which is important in physiological settings to prevent autoimmunity (35). Due to their immune inhibitory profile, Tregs can prevent tumor clearance by inhibiting CTL functions (42).

The generation of the various  $CD4^+$  T cell subsets *in vitro* is mainly determined by the cytokine profile present during T cell receptor-mediated activation (34). The presence of interleukin-12 (IL-12) and IFN- $\gamma$  will skew CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells toward a Th1 profile, while the presence of TGF- $\beta$ , IL-6 and IL-21 will drive the differentiation toward a Th17 profile (34) (**Figure 1B**). Besides inducing Th1 differentiation, IL-12 also enhances the proliferation of activated T cells and induces cell-mediated immunity (43). In addition, IL-1 is able to directly act on CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, especially IL-17 producing cells, increasing antigen-specific T cell expansion and enhancing survival (**Figure 1B**) (44).

Taken together, these studies emphasize the importance of inducing potent CTL and stimulatory CD4<sup>+</sup> T helper cell subsets (in particular Th1 and Th17 cells) to induce potent anti-tumor responses, but they also highlight the need for differentiation of the effector subsets into memory cells to help prevent relapse. Insight into the molecular cues that can optimize the design of biomaterial strategies to gain control over the repertoire of T cells that is induced is therefore pivotal.

# MOLECULAR CUES TO ACTIVATE AND EXPAND T CELLS

To provide T cells with the signals that are required for activation and differentiation, inspiration could be sought in the

mechanism of action of natural antigen-presenting cells (APCs) for T cell priming, thereby creating aAPCs. Three fundamental signals for T cell activation are (i) triggering TCR signaling; (ii) adequate co-stimulation, e.g., through the CD28 signaling axis; and (iii) the availability of cytokines to direct T cell differentiation (45, 46). TCR engagement can be mimicked by agonistic  $\alpha$ CD3 antibodies for polyclonal T cell expansion or recombinant MHC peptide complexes (pMHC) for antigen-specific T cell expansion. Artificial co-stimulation can be provided using agonistic  $\alpha$ CD28 antibodies or recombinant natural ligands CD80 (B7.1) and CD86 (B7.2). Recombinant cytokines that provide signal 3 are widely available and are typically presented in soluble form.

Various biomaterial designs have been synthesized to mimic DCs which vary in their shape, the signals they present and the method of administration (19, 47) (Figure 2A). Traditionally, soluble polymers or polymeric beads presenting agonistic aCD3/aCD28 antibodies to T cells are used to induce vigorous polyclonal expansion. Besides CD28, costimulatory signals belonging to the tumor necrosis factor receptor superfamily (TNFRSF), such as OX-40, 4-1BB, CD27, and LIGHT, are also potentially interesting to steer T cell activation (56, 57). Though OX-40, 4-1BB and CD27 can perform co-stimulation for both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells, OX-40 was shown to predominantly act as a co-stimulatory molecule for CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (58-61). Engagement of 4-1BB and CD27 were more prone to induce potent CD8<sup>+</sup> activation. An aAPC design presenting aCD3 antibodies with α4-1BB antibodies as the co-stimulatory cue was reported to preferentially expand memory cells and induce enhanced cytolytic activity compared to aAPCs presenting  $\alpha$ CD3 and αCD28 (62). CD27 co-stimulation enhances activation and survival of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells (60, 61), prevents activation-induced cell death (60) and supports the presence of tumor-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells residing within established melanoma (63). Expression of LIGHT in the tumor microenvironment of patients increases T cell expansion, activation and infiltration and correlates with improved clinical outcome (64, 65). Furthermore, LIGHT signaling enhanced T cell proliferation, IFN-y production, tumor infiltration and regression of established tumors in a P815 mastocytoma tumor model and a CT26 colon cancer model (57, 64). These studies imply that careful tuning of costimulatory cues presented by biomaterials can steer T cell priming and functionality.

The third signal consisting of cytokines is especially important for naïve  $CD8^+$  T cells to differentiate, develop their effector functions, and form potent memory populations (66). Absence of this third signal can result in deletion or anergy of the activated cells (67, 68). In a normal immunological setting,  $CD4^+$  T helper cells promote IL-12 or type I IFN production by DCs in a CD40-dependent manner to ensure potent CTL development (67, 68). Apart from supplying T cells with recombinant cytokines presented by biomaterials, the adaptor molecule Stimulator of IFN Gene (STING) could be used to induce type I IFN production (69, 70). Besides IL-12 and type I IFN, there are various other cytokines involved in T cell activation and differentiation such as IL-2, IL-7, IL-15 and IL-21 (**Figure 1A**) (66). IL-7, IL-15 and IL-21 are important for  $CD8^+$  T cell memory formation and maintenance (71), while IL-2 promotes the expansion of both  $CD4^+$  and  $CD8^+$  T cells, thus augmenting the effector T-cell response (72). Moreover, cytokines steer  $CD4^+$ T cell development into the different subsets (34), which emphasizes the necessity to include these signals into a biomaterial design.

## MOLECULAR CUES TO GENERATE T CELLS OF HIGH QUALITY

Not only the quantity of the generated T cells is important, as the quality needs also to be considered. When T cells reach a more differentiated state, the cell effector functions increase while the memory functions and proliferation capacity decrease (26). Experimental studies in mice and patients have shown a superior role for less differentiated cells (Tscm and Tcm) in adoptive cell transfer, as was demonstrated by enhanced engraftment, expansion, persistence and anti-tumor responses of these minimally differentiated T cells *in vivo* (28, 73–77).

The low numbers of circulating Tscm (28) cells have resulted in the development of *in vitro* culture practices where the differentiation of naïve T cells is controlled by supplementing culture media with IL-7 plus IL-15 or IL-21 and/or small molecules to activate the Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin pathway (71, 78). The cells generated with these culture protocols showed increased engraftment, expansion and higher tumor reactivity (71, 78). In addition, longer expansion time of T cells *ex vivo* can also drive T cell differentiation and negatively affect cytolytic activity, proliferation, tumor control and T cell persistence *in vivo* (79).

T cell differentiation may also be influenced by T cell metabolism. TILs cultured with a small inhibitory drug for protein kinase B (AKT) (80), naïve T cells cultured with an inhibitor for mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) (81) and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells exposed to 2-hydroxyglutarate (82) induces T cells with transcriptional and metabolic properties characteristic of memory T cells that show increased persistence and anti-tumor response *in vivo* after adoptive transfer. These studies indicate the importance of T cell quality and how this may affect persistence, proliferation, survival and effector functions *in vivo*, and demonstrate possibilities for improving *ex vivo* T cell cultures that could also be highly relevant in designing biomaterial-based systems for T cell expansion.

The multifunctionality of the effector T cells also influences the quality of the generated T cells (72). T cells are considered to be multifunctional when having two or more functions including, but not limited to, the production of cytokines, chemokines and/or degranulation (72). Multifunctional CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells are able to secrete more IFN $\gamma$ , and T cells producing both IFN $\gamma$  and TNF can mediate more efficient killing compared to single cytokine-producing cells (72). Even though these are illustrations from the field of infectious diseases, multifunctional effector T cell responses could also benefit antitumor immunity.



**FIGURE 2** | Overview of biomaterial design strategies for T cell activation and expansion. (A) An overview of design strategies of artificial antigen-presenting cells (aAPCs) based on liposomes (48), nanoparticles (19) or filamentous polymers (49). aAPC designs present various molecular cues to induce T cell activation, including pMHC or  $\alpha$ CD3 antibodies as signal 1,  $\alpha$ CD28 antibodies to mimic signal 2 and cytokines as signal 3. (B) Different T cell backpacking strategies for the *ex vivo* or *in vivo* targeting of cytokine-loaded particles to T cells using antibody as targets [liposome (50) and nanogel (51)] or through chemical [binding (52) (nanoparticle)]. These strategies ensure targeted delivery of cytokines to support persistence of adoptively transferred cells *in vivo*. (C) 3D scaffold-based strategies to expand T cells and to support adoptively transferred (CAR) T cells. Designs include alginate scaffolds with stimulatory microparticles for CAR T cell expansion (53), mesoporous silica rods for T cell activation (54) and a synthetic polyisocyanopeptide-based scaffold that disperses T cells (55).

## DESIGNING BIOMATERIALS FOR OPTIMAL TUMOR-SPECIFIC T CELL PRIMING

Biomaterials can be used to present the three imperative signals to T cells to support activation, expansion and differentiation in a spatiotemporally well-defined and sustained manner (83). The defined structural nature of biomaterials enables chemical modification to introduce desired functionalities through standard conjugation or bio-orthogonal chemistries such as "click chemistry" (84, 85). The characteristics of the biomaterial, such as biodegradability, biocompatibility, half-life and the implementation of biological targeting moieties, but also physical properties such as shape, surface topology and mechanical properties, can shape the interaction with T cells and thus alter the immune response that is provoked (86).

The context in which molecular cues are provided can also influence T cell responses. Immobilizing signal 1 on a surface was reported to promote robust T cell activation (87), because physical forces play an important role in TCR signal transduction (88). The relevance of force upon the TCR was interrogated in more detail by making use of materials with different stiffness (89, 90). MHC class I molecules presented on a softer poly(dimethylsioxane) surface led to enhanced T cell proliferation, improved IL-2 production and increased Th1 differentiation compared to TCR engagement using rigid polystyrene beads (89, 90). In addition to the effect of material stiffness, polymeric aAPC presenting T cell-stimulating cues in a multivalent context demonstrated the importance of multivalency for long-lasting T cell activation (91, 92). Furthermore, superior CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell activation was observed for biomaterials displaying signals 1 and 2 in a pre-clustered manner (19, 47, 93, 94), for instance on liposomes (48). Signal density also affects T cell responses, as CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells were reported to remain unresponsive when signal 1 is presented in a density that is too low (95-97). In addition to signal density, the quantity of signals 1 and 2 can also influence the effector Th1 CD4<sup>+</sup> and effector CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell responses (72). Limited amounts of signal 1 or 2 were shown to induce Th1 cells and CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells that only secrete IFNy, while in the presence of increased concentrations of signal 1 or 2 cells both IFNy and IL-2 were secreted (98, 99).

Most biomaterial designs implement cytokines (signal 3) either in release vesicles or via adsorption (47, 54, 100), creating a local high concentration of soluble cytokines. Robust T cell activation can also be obtained with immobilized cytokines and might preferentially deliver these to T cells through copresentation of T cell-specific antibodies (49), providing a new range of possibilities for the addition of cytokines in biomaterial-based immune therapies.

When using biomaterials, care must be taken to prevent the induction of exhausted T cells due to persisting T cell stimulation, leading to diminished cytokine production, reduced proliferative capacity, decreased killing abilities, and high expression of co-inhibitory molecules, such as PD-1 and CLTA-4 (101). Therefore, one should not only focus on trying to induce a strong activation signal, but special care should be taken to achieve appropriate stimulation levels to ensure desired T cell activation and prevent T cell exhaustion. To prevent or counteract the exhausted state of T cells, the biomaterial might need to be equipped with PD-1 and CTLA-4 blocking antibodies. Several biomaterial designs have been tested to improve the delivery and sustained release of these antibodies, displaying improved anti-tumor efficacy (14, 102). An alternative strategy to prevent T cell exhaustion could be to provide co-stimulation with an  $\alpha$ CD2 antibody (103).

## BIOMATERIALS FOR ADOPTIVE T CELL TRANSFER

Apart from applying biomaterials to prime and expand T cells with stimulatory cues, biomaterials are also excellent

tools to support the adoptive transfer of T cells for cancer immunotherapeutic purposes (Figures 2B,C). Adoptive T cell therapy (ACT) has shown promising results in inducing durable anti-tumor immune responses (1, 7, 8). However, efficacy generally depends on the co-administration of lymphodepleting chemotherapy and/or high doses of IL-2 to support the persistence of these cells in vivo (1, 104, 105). Biomaterials have been designed to reduce toxicities seen with the systemic administration of these adjuvants and to enhance the response of adoptively transferred cells (51, 52) (Figure 2B). In an elegant design of liposome-like synthetic nanoparticles that encapsulate IL-15 superagonist and IL-21, reduced thiol groups on the T cell surface were used to covalently bind nanoparticles onto the cells before ACT (52). These "backpacks" resulted in considerably more proliferation and persistence of the transferred cells in vivo and led to complete tumor clearance in mice bearing metastasized B16F10 melanoma. Further development led to stimuli-responsive particles that release IL-15 superagonist upon increased redox activity at the T cell surface upon TCR signaling (51). To enable repeated in vivo stimulation of adoptively transferred T cells, particles were designed that target T cells through an aThy1.1 antibody or IL-2 (50). To circumvent the need to culture cells ex vivo, aCD3 antibody fragments can be used to target biodegradable poly(β-amino ester)-based nanoparticles to T cells in vivo. These nanoparticles contained a DNA plasmid encoding a leukemia-specific CAR gene combined with 4-1BB and CD35 cytoplasmic signaling domains. This strategy resulted in the in vivo generation of CAR-T cells that perform comparable to CAR-T cells generated using the conventional ex vivo culture method (106).

Most biomaterials for T cell activation are designed to function in soluble form or in suspension as two-dimensional systems. Limited work has been performed using threedimensional (3D) scaffold-based designs for T cell activation, whereas within the field of DC activation there are multiple examples of 3D scaffolds to create local DC-recruiting and activating niches. 3D scaffolds have proven advantageous as they present DCs with activating cues in a sustained manner at a localized site (107-109). We believe that designing such scaffolds and thereby creating synthetic immune niches for localized in vivo T cell activation could contribute significantly to the current T cell mediated anticancer therapies. A synthetic immune niche as a site of T cell priming and dispersion could replace or augment the function of tumor-draining lymph nodes, which were shown to be key regulators in the anti-tumor immune response (110).

One area in which 3D scaffolds have been explored for T cell activation is in the field of ACT (**Figure 2C**). An alginate implant equipped with T cell-stimulating signals ( $\alpha$ CD3,  $\alpha$ CD28,  $\alpha$ 4-1BB, and IL-15 superagonist) and migration-promoting peptides induced a substantial increase in the proliferation of adoptively transferred T cells at the tumor resection site in a 4T1 mouse breast tumor model (100). Moreover, these cells did not acquire an exhausted phenotype, but migrated toward the tumor-draining lymph nodes where they differentiated into

central memory T cells. In another alginate-based scaffold approach, a combination of adoptive transfer of CAR-T cells and the incorporation of a STING agonist was used to trigger anti-tumor host immunity (53). A chitosan thermogel has also been tested for ACT and resulted in a supportive environment where antigen-specific T cells could proliferate and subsequently migrate toward target cells, which were effectively killed in vitro (111). Mesoporous silica microrods with supported lipid bilayers were used to provide T cells with either polyclonal cues (aCD3) or antigen-specific cues (pMHC) in combination with aCD28 for co-stimulation and adsorbed IL-2 to provide paracrine delivery of cytokines (54). Alternatively, a fully-synthetic hydrogel composed of triethylene glycol-substituted polyisocyanopeptides functionalized with integrin-binding motifs supported the ex vivo expansion and survival of T cells (55). The ex vivo-stimulated T cells could successfully egress from the hydrogel over time when administered in vivo, identifying these hydrogels as effective cellular delivery vehicles. Together, these studies demonstrate proof of the concept that 3D scaffolds can be used as a multifunctional platform to enhance polyclonal and antigen-specific T cell expansion and cell persistence in vivo.

The use of biomaterials for the adoptive transfer of T cells might make ACT more efficient, as *ex vivo* culture time could be reduced and be potentially superfluous. This would make ACT more feasible and at the same time benefit T cell functionality (105). Moreover, implementing molecular cues like IL-7, IL-15, or IL-21 in 3D biomaterial-based scaffolds could provide an *in vivo* immune niche for the generation and support of adoptively transferred Tscm, which in turn could improve *in vivo* T cell persistence, proliferation and anti-tumor response (71, 78), underlining the promise of biomaterial-based 3D scaffolds for T cell activation *in vivo*. Careful investigation of the behavior of T cells in response to different combinations of molecular cues is required to create the most desirable T cell-activating synthetic immune niche.

## CONCLUDING REMARKS

Biomaterials are highly promising tools to present molecular cues to T cells to evoke robust immune responses both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. In this perspective, we presented an overview of molecular cues that could be used to selectively expand T cell subsets that are beneficial for strong anti-tumor immune responses. Biomaterials can be exploited to control the presentation of specific combinations of these molecular cues to T cells and can thus be used to regulate the stimulation level and the induction of specific T cell phenotypes. Careful consideration of how to combine the insights on important T cell-activating molecular cues with material-intrinsic factors is highly important for the design of biomaterials for the expansion and activation of tumor-specific T cells. In this respect, biomaterials could be used as tools to delineate the molecular cues and scaffold design parameters that dictate T cells' responses. When designing biomaterials for controlled activation of the immune system, it is important to take into account the intrinsic immunogenicity of materials and the potential change in immunomodulatory properties after biodegradation (112, 113). In our opinion, one of the major factors that needs to be considered is implementing potent CD4<sup>+</sup> T helper cues alongside CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell signals on biomaterials. In particular, tuning the T helper response toward a more Th1 and/or Th17 response might have considerable effects on clinical outcomes. Moreover, an improved understanding of the cues essential for memory cell formation is needed in order to develop biomaterial designs that can elicit long-term memory and thus better protect against tumor recurrence. It will be imperative to pursue a balanced and controlled system in terms of number and the release kinetics of molecular cues and the biodegradability of the biomaterial of choice (114).

As is evident from the studies discussed above, biomaterialbased cancer vaccines constitute a very promising field, but a number of challenges remain, especially those related to clinical translation. The ultimate goal is clinical application of biomaterial-based systems to induce long-term and systemic anti-cancer immunity in cancer patients. To ensure smooth transition to clinical translation, it is important to recognize key design parameters from the beginning of the design process, such as biomaterial composition, reproducible and largescale production under good manufacturing practice (GMP), in vivo behavior, degradation, toxicities and safety. This can contribute to decreasing the time and cost of the regulatory pathway. Cell-free biomaterials for local administration, like 3D scaffolds, typically need less extensive testing to get approval, due to limited risks of systemic toxicities (115). However, local toxicity and inflammation may still arise and need to be carefully tested. The soluble biomaterial strategies, such as the particle-based aAPCs, might be considered as biologicals which would indicate a longer and more expensive regulatory pathway. Moreover, modifying already existing and approved therapeutic designs, including materials such as poly(lactic-co-glycolic acid) (PLGA) and hyaluronic acid, will allow for a clearer regulatory pathway (115). The field of regenerative medicine has already contributed a range of clinically-approved biomaterial products from which biomaterial-based cancer immunotherapies may benefit (115, 116). Besides meeting the safety criteria, the biomaterial-based cancer immunotherapies will need to demonstrate efficacy in appropriate preclinical animal tumor models when compared to current therapies (116).

The backpacking of adoptively transferred cells using particle-based biomaterials is considered to have great clinical promise (51, 52). In the beginning of this year, a phase 1 clinical trial with these biomaterial-based T cell backpacks started in patients with solid tumors and lymphomas (117). This example, together with the developments and future directions described in this perspective, illustrates that innovative designs of biomaterials for the direct activation of T cells will bring clinical implementation of biomaterialbased expansion and differentiation of tumor-reactive T cells closer.

## AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MS, RH, CF, MV, and JW contributed to researching the data for the article, discussing the content and to reviewing and editing the manuscript before submission. MS, MV, and JW were responsible for writing the article.

### REFERENCES

- Martin-Liberal J, Ochoa de Olza M, Hierro C, Gros A, Rodon J, Tabernero J. The expanding role of immunotherapy. *Cancer Treat Rev.* (2017) 54:74– 86. doi: 10.1016/j.ctrv.2017.01.008
- Banchereau J, Steinman RM. Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature. (1998) 392:245–52. doi: 10.1038/32588
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Cancer immunotherapy via dendritic cells. Nat Rev Cancer. (2012) 12:265–77. doi: 10.1038/nrc3258
- Guo C, Manjili MH, Subjeck JR, Sarkar D, Fisher PB, Wang X-Y. Therapeutic cancer vaccines: past, present, and future. *Adv Cancer Res.* (2013) 119:421– 75. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-407190-2.00007-1
- Bol KF, Aarntzen EH, Hout FE, Schreibelt G, Creemers JH, Lesterhuis WJ, et al. Favorable overall survival in stage III melanoma patients after adjuvant dendritic cell vaccination. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 5:e1057673. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1057673
- Restifo NP, Dudley ME, Rosenberg SA. Adoptive immunotherapy for cancer: harnessing the T cell response. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2012) 12:269– 81. doi: 10.1038/nri3191
- Rosenberg SA, Restifo NP. Adoptive cell transfer as personalized immunotherapy for human cancer. *Science*. (2015) 348:62– 8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa4967
- Jackson HJ, Rafiq S, Brentjens RJ. Driving CAR T-cells forward. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. (2016) 13:370–83. doi: 10.1038/nrclinonc.2016.36
- Fridman WH, Galon J, Pages F, Tartour E, Sautes-Fridman C, Kroemer G. Prognostic and predictive impact of intra- and peritumoral immune infiltrates. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:5601– 5. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1316
- Knocke S, Fleischmann-Mundt B, Saborowski M, Manns MP, Kühnel F, Wirth TC, et al. Tailored tumor immunogenicity reveals regulation of CD4 and CD8T cell responses against cancer. *Cell Rep.* (2016) 17:2234– 46. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.10.086
- Kreiter S, Vormehr M, van de Roemer N, Diken M, Löwer M, Diekmann J, et al. Mutant MHC class II epitopes drive therapeutic immune responses to cancer. *Nature*. (2015) 520:692–6. doi: 10.1038/nature14426
- Lu Z-R, Qiao P. Drug delivery in cancer therapy, Quo Vadis? Mol Pharm. (2018) 15:3603–16. doi: 10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.8b 00037
- Gammon JM, Dold NM, Jewell CM. Improving the clinical impact of biomaterials in cancer immunotherapy. *Oncotarget*. (2016) 7:15421– 43. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.7304
- Xie Y-Q, Wei L, Tang L. Immunoengineering with biomaterials for enhanced cancer immunotherapy. Wiley Interdiscip Rev Nanomed Nanobiotechnol. (2018) 10:e1506. doi: 10.1002/wnan.1506
- Graciotti M, Berti C, Klok H-A, Kandalaft L. The era of bioengineering: how will this affect the next generation of cancer immunotherapy? J Transl Med. (2017) 15:142. doi: 10.1186/s12967-017-1244-2
- Lynn GM, Laga R, Darrah PA, Ishizuka AS, Balaci AJ, Dulcey AE, et al. *In vivo* characterization of the physicochemical properties of polymer-linked TLR agonists that enhance vaccine immunogenicity. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2015) 33:1201–10. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3371
- Duan F, Feng X, Yang X, Sun W, Jin Y, Liu H, et al. A simple and powerful co-delivery system based on pH-responsive metal-organic frameworks for enhanced cancer immunotherapy. *Biomaterials*. (2017) 122:23–33. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2017.01.017
- Liu Q, Chen X, Jia J, Zhang W, Yang T, Wang L, et al. pH-Responsive poly(D,L-lactic-co-glycolic acid) nanoparticles with rapid

### FUNDING

This work was supported by the Oncode Institute and the Institute of Chemical Immunology (grant 024.002.009). CF received the NWO Spinoza award. MV is recipient of ERC Starting grant CHEMCHECK (679921) and a Gravity Program Institute for Chemical Immunology tenure track grant by NWO.

antigen release behavior promote immune response. ACS Nano. (2015) 9:4925-38. doi: 10.1021/nn5066793

- Hickey JW, Vicente FP, Howard GP, Mao H-Q, Schneck JP. Biologically inspired design of nanoparticle artificial antigenpresenting cells for immunomodulation. *Nano Lett.* (2017) 17:7045–54. doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.7b03734
- Eggermont LJ, Paulis LE, Tel J, Figdor CG. Towards efficient cancer immunotherapy: advances in developing artificial antigen-presenting cells. *Trends Biotechnol.* (2014) 32:456–65. doi: 10.1016/j.tibtech.2014.06.007
- Halle S, Halle O, Förster R. Mechanisms and dynamics of T cell-mediated cytotoxicity in vivo. Trends Immunol. (2017) 38:432–43. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2017.04.002
- 22. Gerlach C, Moseman EA, Loughhead SM, Alvarez D, Zwijnenburg AJ, Waanders L, et al. The chemokine receptor CX3CR1 defines three antigen-experienced CD8 T cell subsets with distinct roles in immune surveillance and homeostasis. *Immunity*. (2016) 45:1270–84. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.10.018
- Böttcher JP, Beyer M, Meissner F, Abdullah Z, Sander J, Höchst B, et al. Functional classification of memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells by CX3CR1 expression. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:8306. doi: 10.1038/ncomms9306
- He R, Hou S, Liu C, Zhang A, Bai Q, Han M, et al. Follicular CXCR5expressing CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells curtail chronic viral infection. *Nature*. (2016) 537:412–28. doi: 10.1038/nature19317
- Chang JT, Wherry EJ, Goldrath AW. Molecular regulation of effector and memory T cell differentiation. *Nat Immunol.* (2014) 15:1104– 15. doi: 10.1038/ni.3031
- Mahnke YD, Brodie TM, Sallusto F, Roederer M, Lugli E. The who's who of T-cell differentiation: human memory T-cell subsets. *Eur J Immunol.* (2013) 43:2797–809. doi: 10.1002/eji.201343751
- Gattinoni L, Speiser DE, Lichterfeld M, Bonini C. T memory stem cells in health and disease. *Nat Med.* (2017) 23:18–27. doi: 10.1038/nm.4241
- Gattinoni L, Lugli E, Ji Y, Pos Z, Paulos CM, Quigley MF, et al. A human memory T cell subset with stem cell-like properties. *Nat Med.* (2011) 17:1290–7. doi: 10.1038/nm.2446
- Palucka K, Banchereau J. Dendritic-cell-based therapeutic cancer vaccines. Immunity. (2013) 39:38–48. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.004
- Muranski P, Restifo NP. Adoptive immunotherapy of cancer using CD4+ T cells. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2009) 21:200–8. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2009.02.004
- Wong SBJ, Bos R, Sherman LA. Tumor-specific CD4+ T cells render the tumor environment permissive for infiltration by low-avidity CD8<sup>+</sup> T Cells. *J Immunol.* (2008) 180:3122–31. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.180.5.3122
- 32. Gao FG, Khammanivong V, Liu WJ, Leggatt GR, Frazer IH, Fernando GJP. Antigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell help is required to activate a memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell to a fully functional tumor killer cell. *Cancer Res.* (2002) 62:6438–41. Available online at: http://cancerres.aacrjournals.org/content/62/22/6438. long
- Nakayamada S, Takahashi H, Kanno Y, O'Shea JJ. Helper T cell diversity and plasticity. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2012) 24:297–302. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2012.01.014
- Zhu J, Yamane H, Paul WE. Differentiation of effector CD4 T cell populations. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2010) 28:445– 89. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-030409-101212
- Fridman WH, Pagès F, Sautès-Fridman C, Galon J. The immune contexture in human tumours: impact on clinical outcome. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2012) 12:298–306. doi: 10.1038/nrc3245
- 36. Nishimura T, Nakui M, Sato M, Iwakabe K, Kitamura H, Sekimoto M, et al. The critical role of Th1-dominant immunity in tumor immunology.

Cancer Chemother Pharmacol. (2000) 46:S52-61. doi: 10.1007/PL000 14051

- Muranski P, Boni A, Antony PA, Cassard L, Irvine KR, Kaiser A, et al. Tumorspecific Th17-polarized cells eradicate large established melanoma. *Blood*. (2008) 112:362–73. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-11-120998
- Martin-Orozco N, Muranski P, Chung Y, Yang XO, Yamazaki T, Lu S, et al. T helper 17 cells promote cytotoxic T cell activation in tumor immunity. *Immunity*. (2009) 31:787–98. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2009.09.014
- Muranski P, Borman ZA, Kerkar SP, Klebanoff CA, Ji Y, Sanchez-Perez L, et al. Th17 cells are long lived and retain a stem cell-like molecular signature. *Immunity*. (2011) 35:972–85. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.09.019
- Quezada SA, Simpson TR, Peggs KS, Merghoub T, Vider J, Fan X, et al. Tumor-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells develop cytotoxic activity and eradicate large established melanoma after transfer into lymphopenic hosts. *J Exp Med.* (2010) 207:637–50. doi: 10.1084/jem.20091918
- Xie Y, Akpinarli A, Maris C, Hipkiss EL, Lane M, Kwon EK, et al. Naive tumor-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells differentiated *in vivo* eradicate established melanoma. *J Exp Med.* (2010) 207:651–67. doi: 10.1084/jem.200 91921
- 42. Tanchot C, Terme M, Pere H, Tran T, Benhamouda N, Strioga M, et al. Tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells: phenotype, role, mechanism of expansion *in situ* and clinical significance. *Cancer Microenviron*. (2013) 6:147–57. doi: 10.1007/s12307-012-0122-y
- Del Vecchio M, Bajetta E, Canova S, Lotze MT, Wesa A, Parmiani G, et al. Interleukin-12: biological properties and clinical application. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2007) 13:4677–85. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07 -0776
- 44. Ben-Sasson SZ, Hu-Li J, Quiel J, Cauchetaux S, Ratner M, Shapira I, et al. IL-1 acts directly on CD4T cells to enhance their antigen-driven expansion and differentiation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2009) 106:7119– 24. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0902745106
- Frankenberger B, Schendel DJ. Third generation dendritic cell vaccines for tumor immunotherapy. *Eur J Cell Biol.* (2012) 91:53–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ejcb.2011.01.012
- Bakdash G, Sittig SP, van Dijk T, Figdor CG, de Vries IJM. The nature of activatory and tolerogenic dendritic cell-derived signal II. Front Immunol. (2013) 4:53. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00053
- Fadel TR, Sharp FA, Vudattu N, Ragheb R, Garyu J, Kim D, et al. A carbon nanotube-polymer composite for T-cell therapy. *Nat Nanotechnol.* (2014) 9:639–47. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2014.154
- Zappasodi R, Di Nicola M, Carlo-Stella C, Mortarini R, Molla A, Vegetti C, et al. The effect of artificial antigen-presenting cells with preclustered anti-CD28/-CD3/-LFA-1 monoclonal antibodies on the induction of *ex vivo* expansion of functional human antitumor T cells. *Haematologica*. (2008) 93:1523–34. doi: 10.3324/haematol.12521
- Eggermont LJ, Hammink R, Blank KG, Rowan AE, Tel J, Figdor CG. Cytokine-functionalized synthetic dendritic cells for T cell targeted immunotherapies. *Adv Ther.* (2018) 1:1800021. doi: 10.1002/adtp.2018 00021
- Zheng Y, Stephan MT, Gai SA, Abraham W, Shearer A, Irvine DJ. *In vivo* targeting of adoptively transferred T-cells with antibodyand cytokine-conjugated liposomes. *J Control Release*. (2013) 172:426– 35. doi: 10.1016/j.jconrel.2013.05.037
- Tang L, Zheng Y, Melo MB, Mabardi L, Castaño AP, Xie Y-Q, et al. Enhancing T cell therapy through TCR-signaling-responsive nanoparticle drug delivery. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2018) 36:707–16. doi: 10.1038/nbt.4181
- Stephan MT, Moon JJ, Um SH, Bershteyn A, Irvine DJ. Therapeutic cell engineering with surface-conjugated synthetic nanoparticles. *Nat Med.* (2010) 16:1035–41. doi: 10.1038/nm.2198
- Smith TT, Moffett HF, Stephan SB, Opel CF, Dumigan AG, Jiang X, et al. Biopolymers codelivering engineered T cells and STING agonists can eliminate heterogeneous tumors. *J Clin Invest.* (2017) 127:2176– 91. doi: 10.1172/JCI87624
- Cheung AS, Zhang DKY, Koshy ST, Mooney DJ. Scaffolds that mimic antigen-presenting cells enable *ex vivo* expansion of primary T cells. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2018) 36:160–9. doi: 10.1038/nbt.4047
- 55. Weiden J, Voerman D, Dölen Y, Das RK, van Duffelen A, Hammink R, et al. Injectable biomimetic hydrogels as tools for efficient T cell expansion

and delivery. Front Immunol. (2018) 9:2798. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018. 02798

- Buchan SL, Rogel A, Al-Shamkhani A. The immunobiology of CD27 and OX40 and their potential as targets for cancer immunotherapy. *Blood.* (2017) 131:39–48. blood-2017-07-741025. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-07-741025
- Tamada K, Shimozaki K, Chapoval AI, Zhu G, Sica G, Flies D, et al. Modulation of T-cell-mediated immunity in tumor and graft-versus-host disease models through the LIGHT co-stimulatory pathway. *Nat Med.* (2000) 6:283–9. doi: 10.1038/73136
- 58. Taraban VY, Rowley TF, O'Brien L, Chan HT, Haswell LE, Green MH, et al. Expression and costimulatory effects of the TNF receptor superfamily members CD134 (OX40) and CD137 (4-1BB), and their role in the generation of antitumor immune responses. *Eur J Immunol.* (2002) 32:3617– 27. doi: 10.1002/1521-4141(200212)32:12<3617::AID-IMMU3617>3.0.CO;2-M
- Kurche JS, Burchill MA, Sanchez PJ, Haluszczak C, Kedl RM. Comparison of OX40 ligand and CD70 in the promotion of CD4+ T cell responses. J Immunol. (2010) 185:2106–15. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1000172
- Hendriks J, Xiao Y, Borst J. CD27 promotes survival of activated T cells and complements CD28 in generation and establishment of the effector T cell pool. J Exp Med. (2003) 198:1369–80. doi: 10.1084/jem.200 30916
- Soares H, Waechter H, Glaichenhaus N, Mougneau E, Yagita H, Mizenina O, et al. A subset of dendritic cells induces CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells to produce IFN-γ by an IL-12–independent but CD70-dependent mechanism *in vivo. J Exp Med.* (2007) 204:1095–106. doi: 10.1084/jem.20070176
- Zhang H, Snyder KM, Suhoski MM, Maus MV, Kapoor V, June CH, et al. 4-1BB is superior to CD28 costimulation for generating CD8+ cytotoxic lymphocytes for adoptive immunotherapy. *J Immunol.* (2007) 179:4910– 8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.179.7.4910
- Roberts DJ, Franklin NA, Kingeter LM, Yagita H, Tutt AL, Glennie MJ, et al. Control of established melanoma by CD27 stimulation is associated with enhanced effector function and persistence, and reduced PD-1 expression of tumor infiltrating CD8+ T cells. *J Immunother*. (2010) 33:769–79. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e3181ee238f
- Qiao G, Qin J, Kunda N, Calata JF, Mahmud DL, Gann P, et al. LIGHT elevation enhances immune eradication of colon cancer metastases. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:1880–91. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1655
- 65. Maker AV, Ito H, Mo Q, Weisenberg E, Qin L-X, Turcotte S, et al. Genetic evidence that intratumoral T-cell proliferation and activation are associated with recurrence and survival in patients with resected colorectal liver metastases. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2015) 3:380–8. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0212
- Valbon SF, Condotta SA, Richer MJ. Regulation of effector and memory CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell function by inflammatory cytokines. *Cytokine*. (2016) 82:16– 23. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2015.11.013
- Mescher MF, Curtsinger JM, Agarwal P, Casey KA, Gerner M, Hammerbeck CD, et al. Signals required for programming effector and memory development by CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells. *Immunol Rev.* (2006) 211:81–92. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2006.00382.x
- Curtsinger JM, Mescher MF. Inflammatory cytokines as a third signal for T cell activation. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2010) 22:333-40. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2010.02.013
- Temizoz B, Kuroda E, Ohata K, Jounai N, Ozasa K, Kobiyama K, et al. TLR9 and STING agonists synergistically induce innate and adaptive type-II IFN. *Eur J Immunol.* (2015) 45:1159–69. doi: 10.1002/eji.201445132
- Moore E, Clavijo PE, Davis R, Cash H, Van Waes C, Kim Y, et al. Established T cell-inflamed tumors rejected after adaptive resistance was reversed by combination STING activation and PD-1 pathway blockade. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2016) 4:1061–71. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0104
- Sabatino M, Hu J, Sommariva M, Gautam S, Fellowes V, Hocker JD, et al. Generation of clinical-grade CD19-specific CAR-modified CD8+ memory stem cells for the treatment of human B-cell malignancies. *Blood.* (2016) 128:519–28. doi: 10.1182/blood-2015-11-683847
- Seder RA, Darrah PA, Roederer M. T-cell quality in memory and protection: implications for vaccine design. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2008) 8:247– 58. doi: 10.1038/nri2274

- Zhou J, Shen X, Huang J, Hodes RJ, Rosenberg SA, Robbins PF. Telomere length of transferred lymphocytes correlates with *in vivo* persistence and tumor regression in melanoma patients receiving cell transfer therapy. J Immunol. (2005) 175:7046–52. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.10.7046
- Klebanoff CA, Gattinoni L, Palmer DC, Muranski P, Ji Y, Hinrichs CS, et al. Determinants of successful CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell adoptive immunotherapy for large established tumors in mice. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2011) 17:5343– 52. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0503
- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Sherry RM, Kammula US, Hughes MS, Phan GQ, et al. Durable complete responses in heavily pretreated patients with metastatic melanoma using T-cell transfer immunotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2011) 17:4550–7. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0116
- Gattinoni L, Zhong X-S, Palmer DC, Ji Y, Hinrichs CS, Yu Z, et al. Wnt signaling arrests effector T cell differentiation and generates CD8+ memory stem cells. *Nat Med.* (2009) 15:808–13. doi: 10.1038/nm.1982
- 77. Sommermeyer D, Hudecek M, Kosasih PL, Gogishvili T, Maloney DG, Turtle CJ, et al. Chimeric antigen receptor-modified T cells derived from defined CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> subsets confer superior antitumor reactivity *in vivo. Leukemia.* (2016) 30:492–500. doi: 10.1038/leu.2015.247
- Cieri N, Camisa B, Cocchiarella F, Forcato M, Oliveira G, Provasi E, et al. IL-7 and IL-15 instruct the generation of human memory stem T cells from naive precursors. *Blood.* (2013) 121:573–84. doi: 10.1182/blood-2012-05-431718
- Ghassemi S, Nunez-Cruz S, O'Connor RS, Fraietta JA, Patel PR, Scholler J, et al. Reducing *ex vivo* culture improves the antileukemic activity of Chimeric Antigen Receptor (CAR) T cells. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:1100–9. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-17-0405
- Crompton JG, Sukumar M, Roychoudhuri R, Clever D, Gros A, Eil RL, et al. Akt inhibition enhances expansion of potent tumor-specific lymphocytes with memory cell characteristics. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:296– 305. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2277
- Scholz G, Jandus C, Zhang L, Grandclément C, Lopez-Mejia IC, Soneson C, et al. Modulation of mTOR signalling triggers the formation of stem cell-like memory T cells. *EBioMedicine*. (2016) 4:50–61. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2016.01.019
- Tyrakis PA, Palazon A, Macias D, Lee KL, Phan AT, Veliça P, et al. S-2-hydroxyglutarate regulates CD8<sup>+</sup> T-lymphocyte fate. *Nature*. (2016) 540:236–41. doi: 10.1038/nature20165
- Anderson DG. Materials science: smart biomaterials. Science. (2004) 305:1923-4. doi: 10.1126/science.1099987
- Anseth KS, Klok H-A. Click chemistry in biomaterials, nanomedicine, and drug delivery. *Biomacromolecules*. (2016) 17:1–3. doi: 10.1021/acs.biomac.5b01660
- Hvilsted S. Facile design of biomaterials by 'click' chemistry. *Polym Int.* (2012) 61:485–94. doi: 10.1002/pi.4135
- Mitragotri S, Lahann J. Physical approaches to biomaterial design. Nat Mater. (2009) 8:15–23. doi: 10.1038/nmat2344
- Geppert TD, Lipsky PE. Accessory cell independent proliferation of human T4 cells stimulated by immobilized monoclonal antibodies to CD3. J Immunol. (1987) 138:1660–6.
- Li YC, Chen BM, Wu PC, Cheng TL, Kao LS, Tao MH, et al. Cutting edge: mechanical forces acting on T cells immobilized via the TCR complex can trigger TCR signaling. *J Immunol.* (2010) 184:5959– 63. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900775
- O'Connor RS, Hao X, Shen K, Bashour K, Akimova T, Hancock WW, et al. Substrate rigidity regulates human T cell activation and proliferation. *J Immunol.* (2012) 189:1330–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.11 02757
- Lambert LH, Goebrecht GKE, De Leo SE, O'Connor RS, Nunez-Cruz S, Li T-D, et al. Improving T cell expansion with a soft touch. *Nano Lett.* (2017) 17:821–6. doi: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.6b04071
- Hammink R, Mandal S, Eggermont LJ, Nooteboom M, Willems PHGM, Tel J, et al. Controlling T-cell activation with synthetic dendritic cells using the multivalency effect. ACS Omega. (2017) 2:937–45. doi: 10.1021/acsomega.6b00436
- Mandal S, Eksteen-Akeroyd ZH, Jacobs MJ, Hammink R, Koepf M, Lambeck AJA, et al. Therapeutic nanoworms: towards novel synthetic dendritic cells for immunotherapy. *Chem Sci.* (2013) 4:4168. doi: 10.1039/c3sc5 1399h

- Alarcón B, Mestre D, Martínez-Martín N. The immunological synapse: a cause or consequence of T-cell receptor triggering? *Immunology*. (2011) 133:420–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2011. 03458.x
- 94. Mandal S, Hammink R, Tel J, Eksteen-Akeroyd ZH, Rowan AE, Blank K, et al. Polymer-based synthetic dendritic cells for tailoring robust and multifunctional T cell responses. ACS Chem Biol. (2015) 10:485–92. doi: 10.1021/cb500455g
- 95. Delcassian D, Depoil D, Rudnicka D, Liu M, Davis DM, Dustin ML, et al. Nanoscale ligand spacing influences receptor triggering in T cells and NK cells. *Nano Lett.* (2013) 13:5608–14. doi: 10.1021/nl40 3252x
- Matic J, Deeg J, Scheffold A, Goldstein I, Spatz JP. Fine tuning and efficient T cell activation with stimulatory aCD3 nanoarrays. *Nano Lett.* (2013) 13:5090–7. doi: 10.1021/nl4022623
- Deeg J, Axmann M, Matic J, Liapis A, Depoil D, Afrose J, et al. T cell activation is determined by the number of presented antigens. *Nano Lett.* (2013) 13:5619–26. doi: 10.1021/nl403266t
- Itoh Y, Germain RN. Single cell analysis reveals regulated hierarchical T cell antigen receptor signaling thresholds and intraclonal heterogeneity for individual cytokine responses of CD4 + T cells. J Exp Med. (1997) 186:757– 66. doi: 10.1084/jem.186.5.757
- 99. La Gruta NL, Turner SJ, Doherty PC. Hierarchies in cytokine expression profiles for acute and resolving influenza virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses: correlation of cytokine profile and TCR avidity. J Immunol. (2004) 172:5553–60. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172. 9.5553
- 100. Stephan SB, Taber AM, Jileaeva I, Pegues EP, Sentman CL, Stephan MT. Biopolymer implants enhance the efficacy of adoptive T-cell therapy. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2015) 33:97–101. doi: 10.1038/nbt. 3104
- 101. Wherry EJ. T cell exhaustion. *Nat Immunol.* (2011) 12:492– 9. doi: 10.1038/ni.2035
- 102. Francis DM, Thomas SN. Progress and opportunities for enhancing the delivery and efficacy of checkpoint inhibitors for cancer immunotherapy. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev.* (2017) 114:33–42. doi: 10.1016/j.addr.2017. 04.011
- McKinney EF, Lee JC, Jayne DRW, Lyons PA, Smith KGC. T-cell exhaustion, co-stimulation and clinical outcome in autoimmunity and infection. *Nature*. (2015) 523:612–6. doi: 10.1038/nature14468
- Rosenberg SA. IL-2: the first effective immunotherapy for human cancer. J Immunol. (2014) 192:5451–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.14 90019
- 105. Hinrichs CS, Rosenberg SA. Exploiting the curative potential of adoptive T-cell therapy for cancer. *Immunol Rev.* (2014) 257:56–71. doi: 10.1111/imr.12132
- 106. Smith TT, Stephan SB, Moffett HF, McKnight LE, Ji W, Reiman D, et al. *In situ* programming of leukaemia-specific T cells using synthetic DNA nanocarriers. *Nat Nanotechnol.* (2017) 12:813–20. doi: 10.1038/nnano.2017.57
- 107. Kim J, Li WA, Choi Y, Lewin SA, Verbeke CS, Dranoff G, et al. Injectable, spontaneously assembling, inorganic scaffolds modulate immune cells *in vivo* and increase vaccine efficacy. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2015) 33:64– 72. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3071
- Bencherif SA, Warren Sands R, Ali OA, Li WA, Lewin SA, Braschler TM, et al. Injectable cryogel-based whole-cell cancer vaccines. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:7556. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8556
- 109. Weiden J, Tel J, Figdor CG. Synthetic immune niches for cancer immunotherapy. Nat Rev Immunol. (2017) 18:212– 9. doi: 10.1038/nri.2017.89
- 110. Fransen MF, Schoonderwoerd M, Knopf P, Camps MG, Hawinkels LJ, Kneilling M, et al. Tumor-draining lymph nodes are pivotal in PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint therapy. JCI Insight. (2018) 3:124507. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.124507
- 111. Monette A, Ceccaldi C, Assaad E, Lerouge S, Lapointe R. Chitosan thermogels for local expansion and delivery of tumor-specific T lymphocytes towards enhanced cancer immunotherapies. *Biomaterials*. (2016) 75:237– 49. doi: 10.1016/j.biomaterials.2015.10.021

- Andorko JI, Hess KL, Pineault KG, Jewell CM. Intrinsic immunogenicity of rapidly-degradable polymers evolves during degradation. *Acta Biomater*. (2016) 32:24–34. doi: 10.1016/j.actbio.2015.12.026
- Andorko JI, Pineault KG, Jewell CM. Impact of molecular weight on the intrinsic immunogenic activity of poly(beta amino esters). J Biomed Mater Res A. (2017) 105:1219–29. doi: 10.1002/jbm.a.35970
- 114. Wang H, Mooney DJ. Biomaterial-assisted targeted modulation of immune cells in cancer treatment. *Nat Mater.* (2018) 17:761–72. doi: 10.1038/s41563-018-0147-9
- 115. Pashuck ET, Stevens MM. Designing regenerative biomaterial therapies for the clinic. Sci Transl Med. (2012) 4:160sr4. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3002717
- Hollister SJ. Scaffold design and manufacturing: from concept to clinic. Adv Mater. (2009) 21:3330–42. doi: 10.1002/adma.200802977

117. US National Library of Medicine. *ClinicalTrials.gov.* (2019) Available online at: https://www.clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03815682

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Schluck, Hammink, Figdor, Verdoes and Weiden. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## Determinants for Neoantigen Identification

#### Andrea Garcia-Garijo, Carlos Alberto Fajardo and Alena Gros\*

Tumor Immunology and Immunotherapy, Vall d'Hebron Institute of Oncology (VHIO), Barcelona, Spain

All tumors accumulate genetic alterations, some of which can give rise to mutated, non-self peptides presented by human leukocyte antigen (HLA) molecules and elicit T-cell responses. These immunogenic mutated peptides, or neoantigens, are foreign in nature and display exquisite tumor specificity. The correlative evidence suggesting they play an important role in the effectiveness of various cancer immunotherapies has triggered the development of vaccines and adoptive T-cell therapies targeting them. However, the systematic identification of personalized neoantigens in cancer patients, a critical requisite for the success of these therapies, remains challenging. A growing amount of evidence supports that only a small fraction of all tumor somatic non-synonymous mutations (NSM) identified represent bona fide neoantigens; mutated peptides that are processed, presented on the cell surface HLA molecules of cancer cells and are capable of triggering immune responses in patients. Here, we provide an overview of the existing strategies to identify candidate neoantigens and to evaluate their immunogenicity, two factors that impact on neoantigen identification. We will focus on their strengths and limitations to allow readers to rationally select and apply the most suitable method for their specific laboratory setting.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Michal Bassani-Stemberg, Lausanne University Hospital (CHUV), Switzerland

#### Reviewed by:

Pramod Kumar Srivastava, University of Connecticut, United States Alexandre Harari, Université de Lausanne, Switzerland

\*Correspondence:

Alena Gros agros@vhio.net

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vaccines and Molecular Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 01 April 2019 Accepted: 03 June 2019 Published: 24 June 2019

#### Citation:

Garcia-Garijo A, Fajardo CA and Gros A (2019) Determinants for Neoantigen Identification. Front. Immunol. 10:1392. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01392 Keywords: cancer, immunotherapy, neoantigen, vaccine, T-cell therapy, review

## **INTRODUCTION**

Cancer arises as a result of the accumulation of DNA damage and genetic alterations. Mutated gene products can be processed and presented in the form of small peptides on major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules of tumor cells and some can elicit T-cell responses. Such immunogenic mutated peptides, referred to as neoantigens, are emerging as promising targets to develop personalized clinical interventions.

Awareness that T cells can target cancer neoantigens is not novel. The dissection of the molecular nature of neoantigens derived from tumor variants induced through exposure to chemical carcinogens was first performed in mice in the late 1980s. The coding regions of three tumor-rejection antigens identified all contained mutations that changed one amino acid in proteins that were ubiquitously expressed (1–3). Importantly, the corresponding wild-type peptides were not immunogenic. The first strategy employed to identify human T-cell reactivities to neoantigens involved the laborious screening of cytotoxic tumor-reactive lymphocytes for recognition of tumor cDNA library pools by transfecting them along with the proper human leukocyte antigen (HLA) restriction element into transfectable target cells (4). In addition, neoantigen-specific responses dominated compared to responses targeting shared antigens in a patient with melanoma suggesting a greater contribution of neoantigen-specific T cells to antitumor immunity (5). The

64

immunotherapeutic potential of targeting neoantigens was already acknowledged at the time. Neoantigens are specifically expressed by tumor cells and immunotherapeutic targeting of these antigens should be safe. In addition, neoantigens elicit Tcell responses that are not subject to central tolerance in the thymus, suggesting that immune responses against these antigens should be more potent. However, the difficulties of identifying such personalized peptides and T cells were daunting.

Recent technological innovations have enabled the systematic dissection of the personalized T-cell response targeting the tumor mutanome. Retrospective studies have shown that patients that exhibited complete tumor regressions following tumorinfiltrating lymphocyte (TIL) therapy have a higher tumor mutation burden (6) and TILs from responders frequently contain neoantigen-specific lymphocytes (7-11). Antibodies targeting the CTLA-4 and PD-1 pathways have shown the greatest clinical activity in tumor histologies with higher mutation load and brisk T-cell infiltrates such as metastatic melanoma, non-small-cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC), bladder cancer, and tumors with DNA-mismatch-repair deficiencies (12). Even within one same tumor histology, patients whose tumors have a higher mutation load display greater clinical benefit following treatment with immune checkpoint inhibitors (13-15), and this association has been observed across multiple cancer types (16). It is worth noting that a few retrospective studies have also reported a lack of correlation between high tumor mutational burden and clinical benefit in some tumor types (17, 18). Overall, the majority of clinical data are consistent with the hypothesis that higher mutation load is associated with higher likelihood to present neoantigens which can facilitate immune recognition of tumors as foreign.

The clinical correlative data coupled with the technological innovations to sequence tumors and to functionally dissect the personalized T-cell responses in cancer patients have spurred the development of immunotherapies targeting neoantigens. Active immunization strategies employed to treat patients rely on the identification of the non-synonymous mutations (NSM) by tumor whole exome sequencing (WES), in silico peptide HLA binding affinity prediction and prioritization of 10-20 candidate neoantigens, to manufacture RNA, synthetic long peptide or dendritic cell-based vaccines of unique composition. In one clinical trial, the vaccines also included candidate neoepitopes identified through elution from tumor cell-surface HLA-I molecules. Results reported thus far in patients with melanoma (19-21), and glioblastoma (22, 23) demonstrate that immunization with vaccines targeting neoantigens is feasible, safe and well tolerated. The melanoma trials reported clinical activity in some patients with detectable tumors at the time of vaccination, and some patients who progressed after vaccination and received anti-PD-1 therapy showed complete responses. More recently, two clinical studies of personalized neoantigen vaccines in patients with resected glioblastoma reported that, although vaccines triggered strong systemic T-cell responses, the majority of patients showed tumor recurrence. These first five clinical trials provide proof of principle that these approaches can enhance the frequency of pre-existing or de novo neoantigenresponses following immunization. However, induction of T cell responses were previously observed following immunization against shared antigens and this rarely translated into clinical benefit (24). Hence, significant challenges remain to be overcome including improvement of neoantigen selection, identifying the best route and method for immunization and overcoming intrinsic factors in the tumor microenvironment. However, the complete responses observed in post-vaccination melanoma patients receiving immune checkpoint inhibitors open a window of opportunity for the design of combinatorial approaches in the future.

In another approach different to vaccination, the infusion of large numbers of TILs targeting personalized cancer neoantigens have shown antitumor responses in selected cases of patients with cholangiocarcinoma (25), colorectal cancer (26), and breast cancer (27). This together with the prospective analyses of neoantigen reactivity in peripheral blood of melanoma, gastrointestinal (GI) and ovarian cancer patients suggesting that neoantigen-specific lymphocytes can be detected in the vast majority of patients screened (28–31), provide rationale to develop personalize T-cell based therapies targeting neoantigens.

## DETERMINANTS FOR NEOANTIGEN IDENTIFICATION

Despite the increasing interest in clinical interventions targeting neoantigens, substantial challenges remain to enable a more precise identification of neoantigens that are relevant for patient treatment. RNA and synthetic peptide-based vaccines targeting neoantigens used to treat patients thus far lack prospective immunological testing of candidate neoantigens. Rather, these are selected largely based on *in silico* HLA-I binding affinity, making the selection of candidate neoantigens crucial for this therapeutic approach. Surprisingly, neoantigen vaccines reported appear to favor  $CD4^+$  over  $CD8^+$  responses. Moreover, only few of the patients immunized generated T-cell responses targeting the autologous melanoma cell lines (21), manifesting the limitations of *in silico* peptide HLA binding prediction alone to effectively identify neoantigens naturally processed and presented by the tumor.

Evidence arising from available studies is that only a small fraction of all NSM identified by tumor WES are actually processed, presented and recognized by T cells (8, 28, 29, 31-33). Many of these screenings interrogated the immunogenicity of all the candidate NSM identified by tumor WES, without using in silico prediction algorithms. Instead, they used a high through-put immunological screening method relying on the expression of all the mutated minigenes in the patient's own antigen presenting cells (APCs), which enables unbiased processing and presentation on the patient's own HLA-I and HLA-II molecules (described in more detail in section Unbiased Screening of All Candidate Neoantigens Identified by Tumor WES). Hence, the paucity of reactivities detected cannot be attributed to the limitations of in silico peptide prediction algorithms. Furthermore, the vast majority of selected candidate neoantigens identified in a tumor are also not effective in tumor rejection in mouse models (34, 35). Part of the reason that could explain this lack of immunogenicity lies in the fact that for a neoepitope to be recognized in a cancer patient, the T-cell receptor (TCR) repertoire of the patient needs to contain a TCR that specifically targets this peptide bound to a specific HLA allele. Although the TCR repertoire diversity in any given individual is thought to be capable of recognizing virtually any pathogen, this may not hold true for neoantigens which frequently differ from their wild-type counterparts only by one residue. Tumor heterogeneity is yet another potential factor that could hinder neoantigen identification.

Estimating the exact number of neoantigen-specificities in a cancer patient is further complicated by the fact that the absence of evidence is not evidence of absence. Neoantigen identification is technically challenging and all the steps involved can impact on the outcome. Briefly, as depicted in Figure 1, WES from tumor and matched normal DNA is typically used to identify all cancer-specific NSM, all candidate neoantigens. The resulting neoepitope candidates can be further selected based on their likelihood to be processed and presented on the cell surface HLA molecules using *in silico* prediction algorithms or through selection of mutated epitopes bound to tumor cell-surface HLA molecules through immunopeptidomics. Finally, a variety of novel high-throughput immunological screening methods, with enhanced capacity to interrogate large numbers of candidate neoepitopes, are used to screen cancer-derived CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell populations of interest for neoantigen recognition. Given the technical complexity, it is entirely possible that a fraction of neoantigen-reactive lymphocytes are not detected due to limitations arising from the specific computational analysis performed to identify NSM from WES data, from the in silico peptide prediction algorithms, from the specific immunological screening assay and read-outs chosen and/or the limited frequency of neoantigen-specific TCR clonotypes within the chosen source of effector T-cell population used for the screening.

Overall, two critical factors can greatly influence the identification of *bona fide* immunogenic neoantigens: (1) the identification of candidate neoantigens, and (2) the evaluation of their immunogenicity. Given the emerging potential of neoantigens as therapeutic targets, and the crucial importance of these factors for neoantigen identification, the technical implications of these steps and advantages and disadvantages will be reviewed in detail.

## IDENTIFICATION OF CANDIDATE NEOANTIGENS

The first element that can influence the identification of immunogenic neoantigens is the tumor-derived DNA and RNA sequencing and the computational analysis necessary to identify tumor-specific NSM.

## Identification of Tumor-Specific Non-synonymous Mutations

The process for discovering immunogenic neoantigens starts with the identification of all tumor somatic NSM. To date,

this is generally done by mapping genetic alterations in the tumor genome using next generation sequencing (NGS). For each patient, Whole genome sequencing (WGS) or WES data from matched tumor and normal DNA is required. Following the alignment of normal and tumor reads to the human reference genome, somatic variants, which include single nucleotide variants (SNV), gene fusions and insertion or deletion variants (indels), can be detected using variant-calling algorithms. Multiple variant callers have been developed to date and each of them differ in their accuracy and sensitivity to detect different somatic variant types (i.e., SNV, gene fusions, or indels) (36). Indeed, several studies have compared distinct variant calling pipelines and reported substantial discrepancies in the detected variants from the same set of raw sequencing data (37, 38). Consequently, computational analysis pipelines commonly use more than one variant caller and select those somatic variants that are identified by several independent variant callers to reduce the number of false positives (39, 40). Integration of these pipelines will however not solve falsenegative calls, which are somatic variants that, despite being potential neoantigens, will remain undetected, pointing out the need for improvement of sensitivity of variant calling algorithms. Of note, the performance of variant calling algorithms is directly related to the process of sequencing. Thus, current technical limitations of sequencing technology such as errors introduced by PCR amplification during library construction or mismapped reads can affect the accurate identification of somatic variants leading to detection of false variants (41). Tumor heterogeneity is an additional limitation for calling somatic variants with confidence, since it biases the detection of clonal over subclonal mutations due to differences in variant allele frequency, thus resulting in underrepresentation of somatic variants (41).

Although WES is currently the standard strategy used to identify candidate neoantigens, RNA sequencing (RNAseq) could alternatively be performed. RNAseq is currently used in combination with WES, to filter out those candidate neoantigens that do not exceed a selected threshold of gene expression. However, its usage should not be restricted to gene expression assessment as it provides additional information that might be essential for the identification of certain somatic variants that otherwise would remain undetected. For instance, low frequency somatic variants that might not be identified by WES could conversely be detected using RNAseq data if their read count is within the detection range (36). Moreover, as RNAseq surveys the entire transcriptome, it is the only method that allows the identification of peptides arising from RNA editing processes such as alternative splicing, gene fusions and posttranscriptional modifications (42, 43). Of note, unlike mutations identified using WES data, which can be assigned to the tumor but not normal DNA, alterations identified exclusively using tumor RNAseq data are not necessarily restricted to the tumor. Epitopes derived from edited RNA cannot immediately be considered candidate neoantigens until their expression in normal tissue has been ruled out. Nevertheless, the use of tumor RNAseq could provide a broader landscape of candidate neoantigens.



# Selection of Neoantigen Candidate Set of Interest

Following the identification of NSM, the neoantigen candidate set of interest can be (1) filtered using *in silico* peptide prediction algorithms, (2) selected based on the identification of specific neoepitopes eluted from tumor HLA through immunopeptidomics, or (3) left unfiltered to perform unbiased testing of all the neoantigens identified (**Table 1**).

## Selection of Candidate Neoantigens Using *in silico* Peptide Prediction

The advances in computational biology and immunology have led to the development of algorithms that allow to prioritize candidate peptides that are more likely to be presented on HLA-I based on biochemical and biophysical properties of most of the steps involved in peptide processing, transport and binding to HLA-I.

While peptide processing and transport prediction tools can give important information about the nature of peptides that are presented on HLA, their predictive value alone is still limited. Tools available for proteasomal peptide processing have been trained with a combination of data sets derived from *in vitro* digestion assays with the conventional proteasome, and naturally processed HLA-I ligands, which also include those processed by the immunoproteasome (44, 45). Likewise, peptide transport prediction algorithms have been trained with data sets of experimentally validated HLA-I peptides known to bind TAP (46, 47). However, TAP-independent processing pathways also contribute to the peptide repertoire, and these cannot be predicted with currently available transport prediction tools (48). Given the yet limited predictive value of these *in silico* prediction tools, they are typically integrated with more robust predictors in pipelines for neoantigen prioritization (49, 50).

Algorithms capable of predicting peptide binding to HLA molecules are the most widely used for *in silico* prioritization of neoantigens and were instrumental for the first identification of neoantigens using tumor WES (7, 51). These tools are usually trained with large datasets of experimentally defined HLA ligands and peptides eluted from HLA molecules using mass spectrometry (MS)-based immunopeptidomics. Peptide HLA binding prediction takes into account not only the importance of anchor residues but also the influence of amino acids flanking them. Additionally, the diversity of HLA molecules, which gives rise to thousands of alleles with distinct binding preferences, are considered. Since generating experimental data for that amount of alleles is not feasible, prediction tools used to date incorporate biochemical and structural data of known alleles to infer peptide binding to rare alleles for which no or little data is available (52).

In order to predict which mutated peptides are more likely to bind to HLA, binding affinity prediction tools are commonly fed with a list of peptides in which the detected mutation is flanked by a variable number of amino acids of the wild-type sequence. Algorithms then generate small peptides (8–14 amino acids) from the input sequence for which the binding affinity to the queried HLAs is predicted. Since several peptides derived from the same 25mer sequence are likely to bind one or more

Strategy	Advantages	Disadvantages
In silico peptide prediction and prioritization	Narrows down the number of candidate neoantigens Identifies minimal epitopes	Depends on accuracy of prediction algorithms Not optimal for HLA-II-presented peptides Less accurate predictions for low frequent HLA clonotype:
LC-MS/MS based immunopeptidomics	Direct identification of naturally presented HLA binding peptides Narrows down the number of candidate neoantigens Allows the identification of post-translational modified peptides and non-canonical neoantigens Identifies minimal epitopes	Limited sensitivity of mass spectrometry Biased toward detecting the more abundant peptides Relies on efficient peptide ionization and fragmentation Depends on HLA expression of tumor cells High amount of tumor tissue needed
List of all candidate neoantigens based on whole-exome sequencing data	Identification of all candidate neoantigens	Minimal epitope is not defined Limited feasibility in tumors with high mutation burden

HLA, human leukocyte antigen.

HLAs, the potential number of candidate peptides can sometimes increase (Figure 1). Given that in vitro neoantigen screening assays currently limit the number of tested peptides to the hundreds, peptides are commonly prioritized based on binding affinity ranking. Predictors such as NetMHCpan 4.0 generally report results as either IC50 values in nM units or as a percentile rank score. IC50 values reflect direct binding affinity predictions, and thresholds <500 nM can be used to define candidate peptides that are more likely to bind to HLA. Percentile rank scores reflect relative binding affinity to a specific HLA allele compared to a large set of random peptides, and ranks  $\leq 2$  are used as thresholds for selecting potential neoantigen binders (53). Although both outputs can be used, the percentile rank is preferred to select candidate peptides across multiple HLA molecules, as it is less influenced by the large differences in peptide binding affinity values among HLA molecules.

Although prediction tools for HLA-II-restricted peptides also exist, these are less reliable than HLA-I predictors for two main reasons. First, endosomal HLA-II peptide processing is complex and poorly characterized (54), limiting the development of HLA-II peptide processing algorithms. Second, prediction of binding affinity to HLA-II molecules is more complex due to its structural nature because, unlike HLA-I molecules in which the peptidebinding groove is closed, HLA-II molecules have open ends. Even though the core binding motif of both molecules comprises peptides of approximately nine amino acids, HLA-II-restricted ones have a wider length range (11–20 amino acids) compared to HLA-I-restricted ones (8–11 amino acids), and the flanking amino acids can affect binding affinity (55). Further research addressing these challenges will be crucial for improvement of HLA-II prediction tools in the future.

Despite advances in prediction algorithms, currently available tools fail to reliably predict which of the presented peptides will be immunogenic (i.e., whether a presented peptide will be recognized by T cells). This is one of the main limiting steps in neoantigen screening, and it is perfectly reflected by the fact that only few of the hundreds of peptides identified by tumor WES data and *in silico* prediction are immunogenic despite binding to HLA molecules. Although HLA binding prediction is a strong correlate of immunogenicity, accumulating data suggest that bias

of in silico prediction toward strong binders (<500 nM) can overlook immunogenic peptides that show low-binding affinity. The first evidence of this was reported by Duan et al., who developed an algorithm, termed differential agretopicity index (DAI), which ranks mutant peptides based on their improved binding to HLA compared to the wild-type counterpart (34). Using DAI to identify neoantigens in mouse models of cancer, the study demonstrated that validated immunogenic peptides could have binding affinities up to 140-fold higher than the 500 nM threshold. These findings have been confirmed by other studies in humans (17, 18, 28, 56), highlighting that peptide selection based on the 500 nM threshold should be revisited. Additionally, other limitations of binding prediction tools have been recently identified in clinical trials of cancer vaccines. Patients with melanoma or glioblastoma receiving personalized neoantigen vaccines appear to favor CD4<sup>+</sup> over CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses against the immunizing peptides, even though these were predicted and prioritized using HLA-I binding algorithms (21, 22). These data further stress the need of developing improved algorithms which can reliably predict HLA-I and II immunogenic peptides. The low number of immunogenic neoantigens validated to date [<300; reviewed in Karpanen and Olweus (32)] makes it difficult to generate a consensus for features likely to predict peptide immunogenicity. Although this is currently a matter of extensive research, only few parameters, besides the aforementioned DAI, have been suggested to improve the prediction of immunogenicity of peptides. For instance, differences in non-anchor residues (P4-P6), peptide size (i.e., large) and amino acid composition (i.e., aromatic residues) have been associated with immunogenicity (57). Additionally, peptide-HLA (pHLA) stability, measured by biochemical assays, has been proposed as a parameter to discriminate immunogenic from non-immunogenic peptides (58). Data derived from this kind of experiments led to the development of prediction tools which show that immunogenic peptides promote more stable pHLA-I than non-immunogenic peptides (59). However, the predictive value of this tool is still controversial (60). Thus, its use as a single predictor is less frequent.

It is worth mentioning that the immunogenicity of a given neoantigen does not necessarily translate into tumor rejection and/or therapeutic benefit. Mice studies have shown that the vast majority of identified neoepitopes, despite triggering T-cell responses, fail to induce complete tumor rejections (34, 35). In humans, the previously mentioned clinical trials of personalized neoantigen vaccines have rarely shown clinical responses despite triggering strong T-cell responses against the targeted neoantigens (20–23). The development of novel algorithms or screening tools capable of identifying neoantigens capable of inducing tumor rejection could be determinant for the efficacy of personalized vaccines.

To date, there is a plethora of computational pipelines that allow the identification of NSM and the prediction of neoantigens. However, these are built on the basis of traits set by each developer, which often leads to discordant results. Strategies such as the Tumor Neoantigen Selection Alliance (TESLA), which seek to harmonize these pipelines, will be of great importance in the coming years to improve neoantigen identification (61).

#### Selection of Candidate Neoepitopes Using Mass Spectrometry-Based Immunopeptidomics

Another possible strategy that can be used to prioritize candidate neoantigens for screening is the use of MSbased immunopeptidomics which relies on the study of the tumor pHLA immunopeptidome (62). This method starts with the lysis and homogenization of the tumor material followed by the purification of the pHLA complexes through immunoprecipitation. After eluting the peptides bound to HLA molecules, liquid chromatography coupled tandem MS (LC-MS/MS) is performed to identify the amino acid sequence of the eluted peptides, which is commonly obtained by matching MS/MS spectra against a customized protein sequence database (63). This database is generated by combining a reference protein sequence database with genomic information derived from patient's NGS data, which is essential to identify eluted mutated peptides that are private for each patient. This method to identify neoantigens was first described in a mouse tumor model. WES and RNAseq in combination with MS analysis of peptides eluted from the cell surface MHC of two mouse tumor cell lines allowed the identification of seven candidate neoantigens, three of which turned out to be truly immunogenic (64). Since then, candidate neoantigens have also been successfully identified in human tumor cell lines (65) and, more importantly, in fresh tumor material (56, 66). Indeed, Bassani-Sternberg et al. demonstrated for the first time that this strategy could also be exploited to identify immunogenic neoantigens directly from primary human cancer tissues. In this case, the combination of WES and immunopeptidomics of tumors from five patients allowed the identification of 11 mutated peptides, and two of eight peptides tested were able to elicit antitumor T-cell responses.

MS-based immunopeptidomics is advantageous, as it substantially narrows down the list of candidate neoantigens to be screened (**Figure 1**) and, consequently, the number of false positives that are obtained using other strategies such as *in silico* prediction (67). This might be of great importance for immunogenicity screening assays, especially in tumors with high mutation burden. Additionally, this is currently the

only unbiased method that directly interrogates the naturally presented HLA-bound peptides including those harboring post-translational modifications (68). Neoantigens could also derive from non-canonical or cryptic peptides, including those derived from alternative open reading frames, novel exonexon junctions, intronic sequences, long non-coding RNAs, 5' untranslated regions (5'UTRS; Table 2). These could also be identified by performing database-dependent analyses as long as the amino acid sequences of such peptides have been previously introduced into the customized protein sequence database (80, 81). This could be achieved using a customized database derived from RNAseq data as exemplified by the study of Smart et al., in which they identified epitopes derived from retained introns using RNAseq and validated their expression and presentation by MS analyses (42). Importantly, retained introns expressed in normal tissues were filtered out with the aim to exclusively identify those that are tumor-specific and can potentially be immunogenic. As an alternative to the generation of a customized sequence database, the amino acid sequence can also be directly extracted from tandem mass spectra through database-independent analysis (i.e., de novo sequencing). However, the use of this strategy is still limited because it is error prone and fails to determine the entire amino acid sequences due to incomplete tandem mass spectra (82).

Although MS-based immunopeptidomics offers multiple advantages, the discovery of presented immunogenic peptides using this approach is hindered by technical limitations, evidenced by the short list of human cancer neoepitopes identified through this approach to date (56, 66). The major concern is the low sensitivity of MS. The fact that MS is skewed toward detecting the more abundant peptides hampers the identification of mutated peptides among all endogenously presented peptides, especially if they are expressed at low levels or exclusively expressed in subclonal tumor populations. Because of this, and considering that tumor cells express heterogeneous levels of HLA molecules, large amounts of starting tumor material is required to identify candidate neoepitopes. Indeed, in the study by Bassani-Sternberg et al. in which they eluted HLA-I and II bound peptides from primary tumor material, tumor biopsy size seems to be associated with the number of mutated peptides detected (66). Identifying candidate neoantigens within the repertoire of HLA II-peptides in fresh tumor material can also be cumbersome probably due to their low frequency within the pool of presented peptides on APCs, which typically express HLA-II molecules. In fact, even if HLA-II peptides have been successfully eluted in different studies, neoantigens have not been identified so far among the class II tumor peptidomes (67, 83).

Another important consideration is that MS/MS relies on efficient ionization and fragmentation of the peptides. Thus, the successful identification of the sequence of a peptide will depend on its amino acid composition and the biochemical characteristics of such amino acids, which will determine their capacity to be ionized and efficiently fragmented (84). Consequently, a fraction of peptides that are naturally presented might never be detected using this approach.

Overall, this strategy yields a long list of minimal epitopes from both normal and mutated HLA-bound peptides, from **TABLE 2** | Tumor-rejection antigens derived from non-canonical protein sequences.

Epitope identified <sup>a</sup>	Type of tumor	Origin of non-canonical peptide	Expression in normal tissue	Gene name	HLA restriction element	Reference
MSLQRQFLR	Melanoma	aORF	Unknown	TRP1	HLA-A <sup>*</sup> 31	(69)
VYFFLPDHL	Melanoma	Intronic	Yes	GP100	HLA-A <sup>*</sup> 24	(70)
RSDSGQQARY	Melanoma	Intronic	Yes/low <sup>b</sup>	AIM2	HLA-A <sup>*</sup> 01	(71)
VLPDVFIRC/VLPDVFIRCV	Melanoma	Intronic	No	GNTV	HLA-A*02:01	(72)
EEKLIVVLF	Melanoma	Intronic	No	MUM1	HLA-B*44:02	(4)
LPAVVGLSPGEQEY	Renal cell carcinoma	aORF	Yes	MCSF	HLA-B*35:01	(73)
SPRWWPTCL	Renal cell carcinoma	aORF	Yes/low <sup>b</sup>	iCE	HLA-B*07:02	(74)
EVISCKLIKR	Melanoma	Intronic	No	TRP2	HLA-A*68:011/HLA- A*33:01	(75)
LAAQERRVPR	Melanoma and breast cancer	aORF	Unknown	NYESO1	HLA-A <sup>*</sup> 31	(76)
MLMAQEALAFL	Melanoma	aORF	Yes	LAGE1	HLA-A*02:01	(77)
CQWGRLWQL/MCQWG RLWQL	Melanoma	aORF	Unknown	BING4	HLA-A <sup>*</sup> 02	(78)
LPRWPPPQL	Renal cell carcinoma	Intronic	Yes	RU2	HLA-B <sup>*</sup> 07	(79)

<sup>a</sup>identified by cDNA library screens; <sup>b</sup> compared to cancer tissue; aORF, alternative open reading frame; HLA, human leukocyte antigen.

which candidate neoantigens can be selected and tested to assess their immunogenicity.

#### Unfiltered Neoantigen Candidate List

Once all tumor NSM are identified, one possibility is to interrogate the immunogenicity of all candidate neoepitopes identified by tumor WES, without biasing the selection of peptides based on *in silico* prediction, which may not always be accurate. This can be done using a variety of immunological screening methods, as explained in section Immunological Screening Methods Used to Evaluate Neoantigen Recognition. However, the feasibility of this approach is restricted to tumors with a limited number of mutations given the cost and effort associated with screening T cells for recognition of a large set of mutated epitopes. Alternatively, and particularly when dealing with tumors with high mutation burden, it is crucial to further filter candidate neoantigens to exclusively evaluate the immunogenicity of a selected set of candidate neoantigens.

# EVALUATION OF IMMUNOGENICITY OF CANDIDATE NEOANTIGENS

Evidence arising from available studies is that the vast majority of selected candidate neoantigens identified in a tumor are not recognized by T cells (28–30, 32, 85). Thus, evaluation of the immunogenicity of candidate neoantigens using a variety of screening methods will be critical to more precisely identify and select neoantigens suitable for clinical intervention (**Table 3**).

## Immunological Screening Methods Used to Evaluate Neoantigen Recognition

The first strategy employed to identify human T-cell reactivities to neoantigens was described in Coulie et al. (4). Coulie

et al. identified a tumor-specific intronic mutation in MUM-1 recognized by a human cytolytic T lymphocyte (CTL) clone using an approach which involved screening melanoma-specific CTLs for recognition of target cells transfected with tumor cDNA library pools along with the appropriate HLA restriction element. Additional mutated gene products derived from CDK4 and  $\beta$ -catenin, capable of inducing T-cell responses, were also identified using similar strategies and were found to either enable peptide binding to HLA-I by creating an HLA-I binding motif or to modify a TCR contact residue of a peptide that was already capable of binding to HLA-I (9, 86). This strategy was widely used during the following decades to dissect the molecular nature of antigens recognized by tumor-reactive T cells, leading to the identification of additional neoantigens (10, 11, 87). However, this approach is laborious and timeconsuming, it can be influenced by the size, expression levels or GC-richness of transcripts encoding for T-cell epitopes, and optimally requires the establishment of tumor-specific clones and matched tumor cell lines, which is often not possible. Furthermore, this approach unbiasedly screens T cells for recognition of both mutated and non-mutated antigens, leading to frequent identification of self-antigens, rather than neoantigens (Table 3).

All these limitations have incentivized the development of alternative high-throughput immunological strategies that facilitate the evaluation of T-cell reactivity against a large number of candidate neoepitopes identified by tumor WES. Yet, it is worth mentioning that a considerable number of tumor-rejection antigens identified by screening tumor cDNA libraries, including the first human neoantigen identified (4), derive from noncanonical protein sequences encoded by introns, alternative open reading frames or aberrantly spliced variants (**Table 2**). These findings are of potential concern, given that the current strategies exclusively identify NSM in exons (rarely using WGS), ignoring potential neoantigens that could arise from non-canonically TABLE 3 | Immunological screening assays used to test for neoantigen recognition.

Strategy	Advantages	Disadvantages		
cDNA libraries	Interrogates all transcribed sequences	Labor intensive and time-consuming. Biased toward highly transcribed genes. Influenced by the size, expression levels or GC-richness of transcripts encoding for T-cell epitopes. Interrogates mutated and non-mutated sequences.		
Minimal epitopes	Cost-effective. HLA-matched target cells (based on <i>in silico</i> prediction) can be used instead of autologous APCs	Exclusively interrogates a selected list of mutated epitopes based on <i>in silico</i> prediction or validated by immunopeptidomics Requires autologous or HLA-matched cells as target cells Not optimal for CD4 <sup>+</sup> cells		
Peptide-HLA multimers	Overcomes the need of autologous APCs Allows the isolation of antigen-specific T cells	Exclusively interrogates a selected list of mutated epitopes based on <i>in silico</i> prediction or validated by immunopeptidomics Multimers are available for a limited number of HLA molecules Not optimal for CD4 <sup>+</sup> cells		
Tandem minigenes or peptide pools	Can be used to interrogate all or a large portion of mutated epitopes Allows potential processing and presentation of candidate neoantigens on HLA-I and HLA-II Does not require prior knowledge of the minimal epitope or HLA restriction	Cost increases in patients with high mutation burden Availability of APCs/effectors can limit this approach, especially when >250 epitopes are tested Requires autologous APCs as target cells Peptide processing by immunoproteasome in APCs might differ from processing by the proteasome in tumor cells		

APC, antigen-presenting cell; HLA, human leukocyte antigen.

translated sequences. Current efforts to overcome this limitation of exome-based strategies to identify neoantigens arising from non-canonical protein sequences combine WES with RNAseq and immunopeptidomics, as previously explained in detail in section Selection of Candidate Neoepitopes Using Mass Spectrometry-Based Immunopeptidomics.

## Screening of Predicted or Eluted Minimal Neoepitopes

In 2012, two reports in mouse tumor models demonstrated for the first time that tumor WES can be exploited to identify neoantigens (35, 88). In 2013, Robbins et al. performed a retrospective study to identify the molecular nature of the antigens targeted by TILs from five melanoma patients, some of which demonstrated tumor regression following TIL transfer (7). They used tumor exome sequencing to identify all NSM and synthesized neoepitopes that were predicted to bind to the patients' HLA-A class I molecules and screened the TIL infusion products for recognition of the mutated peptides individually pulsed onto COS7 monkey kidney cells or HEK293 human embryonal kidney cells transfected with the appropriate HLA-A alleles. This work led to the identification of eight mutated peptides recognized in four of five patients analyzed. Remarkably, two of the neoantigens that were identified in two independent patients using this approach, CSNK1A1 and PLEKHM2, were not identified using the tumor cDNA screening method. This work describing frequent detection of neoantigenspecific lymphocytes in responding patients together with a recent study demonstrating that patients that exhibited complete tumor regressions following tumor-infiltrating lymphocyte (TIL) therapy (6) have a higher tumor mutation burden suggest that neoantigen-specific lymphocytes play an important role in the efficacy of TIL therapy.

Although this screening strategy was initially used to interrogate reactivity to neoepitopes presented exclusively by HLA-A alleles, it can be used to identify neoantigens in any HLA of interest as long as autologous or HLA-matched antigen-negative target cells are available or by introducing the autologous HLA molecules into transfectable cells, that can be used as target cells. It can also be used to interrogate candidate neoepitopes eluted from the cell surface HLA molecules of tumor cell lines or tumor biopsies (65, 89). In a slightly higher-throughput version, it can be used to interrogate large numbers of *in silico* predicted neoepitopes by grouping these into peptide pools. It is the simplest approach available to analyze neoantigen immunogenicity, since it relies on classically available immunological techniques such as IFN-y release by ELISA or ELISPOT assays, as well as others, and its sensitivity depends on the specific read-out chosen to measure T-cell responses. This approach has allowed to successfully identify immunogenic neoepitopes in different malignancies including melanoma, NSCLC and ovarian cancer (56, 65, 90, 91).

A second immunological method that can be used to identify neoantigen-specific lymphocytes is the use of pHLA multimers. Since pHLA-I tetramers were described in 1996, these have become essential reagents for the visualization and isolation of antigen-specific T cells (92). However, the technically challenging generation of individual pHLA monomers coupled with the limited number of fluorochromes available for pHLA multimer detection precluded a more comprehensive analysis of T-cell immunity. Two technical innovations have contributed to facilitate large scale neoepitope discovery using HLA multimer-based detection technologies from limited biological material. First, the development of conditional HLA ligands which are cleaved upon exposure to UV-light and can be exchanged with any epitope of interest (93, 94). Using
UV-exchangeable HLA ligands, only one pHLA multimer loaded with an exchangeable peptide has to be produced for each HLA allele of interest and can be used as a stock to generate large libraries of pHLA complexes through simple manipulations. Similar strategies have been reported recently, all of them aiming at facilitating the high-throughput production of large panels of pHLA complexes (95, 96). Second, fluorochromebased combinatorial encoding has increased the number of Tcell specificities that can be interrogated by flow cytometry in one sample (up to 28 single specificities with two-dimensional combinatorial encoding with eight fluorochromes) (97). In one study, Van Rooij et al. performed tumor WES, and expanded TILs from a melanoma patient who exhibited a partial response to ipilimumab. They used in silico HLA-A and HLA-B binding prediction algorithms to identify neoepitope candidates and generated a library of pHLA tetramers. TILs were screened for binding to this library of tetramers using the fluorochromebased combinatorial encoding staining method and this led to the identification of TILs targeting two distinct neoantigens (51). Interestingly, they also monitored an increase in the frequency of one of the neoantigen-specific lymphocytes in the blood of the patient following treatment with anti-CTLA-4, suggesting the involvement of these T cells in the therapeutic efficacy of this immunotherapy.

This technology has enabled the generation of large panels of desired pHLA complexes and consequently pHLA multimer libraries are currently used for large-scale immunogenic neoepitope discovery (98), and have successfully been used to identify immunogenic mutated neoepitopes in NSCLC and melanoma (14, 99). More recently, DNA barcoding of individual pHLA molecules has enabled to screen 1031 T-cell specificities in one single reaction (100). While DNA barcodes offer the possibility of screening T cells for a full cancer mutanome using one biological sample, this technology only provides a measure of T-cell frequency, but lacks the visual assessment of the individual T-cell reactivities as well as the possibility of performing short-term culture given that T cells are lysed for DNA barcoding amplification.

High-throughput screening of T cells using multiplexed pHLA multimer staining is of particular interest as it overcomes the need of autologous or HLA-matched APCs. However, pHLA complexes are only available for a limited number of HLA allotypes. Thus, if the aim is to screen T cells for recognition of all possible predicted or HLA-eluted neoepitopes, this strategy can only be used in patients for which all or most of the HLA allotypes are available for pHLA multimer generation. The detection of CD4<sup>+</sup> specificities using HLA-II multimers represents an additional challenge in the field. Although it is feasible (101), the low accuracy of in silico prediction of HLA-II-restricted epitopes can result in a less precise identification of candidate minimal epitopes (see section Selection of Candidate Neoantigens using in silico Peptide Prediction). Furthermore, technical issues related with the production of pHLA-II multimers, and the weaker TCR binding affinities to HLA-II also hinder the use of pHLA-II multimer staining for neoantigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> Tcell identification (102). Consequently, the majority of screenings performed using this approach are usually focused on identifying neoepitopes presented on HLA-I molecules to  $CD8^+$  T cells, which might underestimate the contribution of neoantigen-specific  $CD4^+$  T cell populations.

It is worth mentioning that the immunological functional screening assay as well as the HLA multimer staining technologies described above rely on in-house or commercial production of synthetic peptides. These are frequently synthesized or ordered at <70% purity, given the relatively large number of neoepitopes obtained following in silico peptide prediction algorithms and the costs associated with custom peptide production. However, custom peptide libraries have been reported to contain impurities, that can affect T-cell recognition and yield false-positive results (103, 104). Hence, validation of neoantigen-specific reactivity/ies using a second batch of >70% pure peptides is highly advisable. Ultimately, the best in vitro evidence that a neoantigen exists is provided by showing preferential T-cell recognition of a given neoantigen expressed, processed and presented by autologous APCs or HLA transfectable target cells, compared to the corresponding wild-type (wt) counterpart.

#### Unbiased Screening of All Candidate Neoantigens Identified by Tumor WES

While the strategies mentioned above are frequently used to identify neoantigens and neoantigen-specific lymphocytes, they are limited by the accuracy of current in silico prediction algorithms, which have not been thoroughly trained to identify minimal epitopes for rare HLA-I alleles or HLA-II molecules, and do not consider post-translational modifications (see section Selection of Candidate Neoantigens using in silico Peptide Prediction). To overcome these limitations, Lu et al. devised a new screening assay to evaluate CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses to any of the NSM identified expressed processed and presented on the patient-specific HLA-I and HLA-II molecules, without the need for in silico prediction. Briefly, for each NSM identified one minigene construct was designed, encoding the mutated amino acid flanked by 12 amino acids of the wt sequence. Typically, between 6 and 24 minigenes were stringed together to generate tandem minigenes (TMG) in a single open reading frame. In vitro transcribed RNA generated from the TMGs was transfected into autologous APCs, such as B cells or immature dendritic cells (8, 25, 29). In addition, or as an alternative to the generation of mutated TMGs, 25residue peptides can be synthesized and grouped into peptide pools (PPs), each containing up to 24 mutated peptides. Neoepitopes presented through intracellular (transfected TMGs) and extracellular (pulsed peptides) pathways on autologous APCs expressing all HLA-I and HLA-II molecules are then evaluated for their ability to induce T-cell responses and when reactivities are detected against a specific TMG or PP, these are subsequently deconvoluted to identify the specific neoantigen recognized.

This unbiased screening approach was used to identify two mutated antigens, KIF2C and POLA2, targeted by TIL derived from two patients that underwent complete tumor regression following TIL transfer (8). An additional study interrogated the immunogenicity of 720 non-synonymous somatic variants identified by WES, encoded by 62 TMGs,

and identified 10 neoantigens targeted by TILs presented on three different HLA molecules (33). Linnemann et al. used immortalized autologous B cells pulsed with 31-residue mutated peptides to identify neoantigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in two of three melanoma patients evaluated (85). Moreover, this highthroughput screening approach revealed that neoantigen-specific lymphocytes are frequently detected in TILs derived from GI cancers which have lower mutation burden (29), providing an opportunity to develop effective immunotherapies for patients with additional cancer types. Importantly, TMG and/or PP screening were used to prospectively select neoantigen-specific TILs for patient treatment and this was able to induce antitumor responses in a patient with cholangiocarcinoma treated with CD4<sup>+</sup> ERBB2IP mutation-specific lymphocytes (25), a patient with metastatic colorectal cancer treated with CD8<sup>+</sup> KRAS mutation-specific lymphocytes (26), and a patient with breast cancer treated with TILs recognizing SLC3A2, KIAA0368, CADPS2, and CTSB mutated gene products combined with anti-PD-1 (27). A diverse repertoire of lymphocytes targeting three neoantigens was also detected using this approach in one patient with cervical carcinoma who underwent complete tumor regression following TIL transfer (105). Overall, this strategy has been used to identify over 100 neoantigens in over 13 studies (8, 25-31, 33, 105-108), including both CD4<sup>+</sup> and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses. Moreover, this provides the strongest evidence that T-cell therapies targeting neoantigens can lead to antitumor responses. However, these unbiased screening strategies have also provided evidence that only a limited number of tumor somatic mutations detected by tumor WES and RNAseq are immunogenic.

The biggest advantage of the unbiased screening using TMGs and PPs is that it mimics the natural antigen processing and presentation of neoepitopes on both class I and class II patients own HLA molecules, overcoming the need of in silico peptide prediction algorithms. Importantly, it has enabled the identification of CD4<sup>+</sup> neoantigen-specific lymphocytes. However, it also has some limitations that should be taken into account. Although, theoretically, all mutations identified by WES can be screened, the cost associated with peptide and TMG synthesis, and in vitro RNA transcription greatly increases when screening tumors with high mutation load. Moreover, since the initial screening is carried out with TMGs and PPs containing multiple candidate neoantigens, a deconvolution is required to identify the neoantigen recognized. Thus, the availability of large numbers of autologous APCs and effector cells to assess the immunogenicity of neoantigens can sometimes be a limitation. The lack of autologous APCs could be overcome using HLAmatched cells or by transfecting the individual HLA alleles, although this further complicates the screening strategy. In addition, the electroporation of TMG RNA does not guarantee expression and processing of all the mutated minigenes included, which could be influenced by the position in the TMG or the 3D structure of the chimeric protein resulting from the concatenation of up to 24 minigenes. Moreover, the size of the mutated minigene or peptide to ensure proper processing and presentation is still a matter of debate. Finally, the efficiency of this approach is influenced by the APC chosen. Although immature dendritic cells and *ex vivo* stimulated B cells are the cells of preference, their proteasome can be different to that expressed in tumor cells, and the ability of each cell type to process and present TMG or cross-present peptides could differ.

In conclusion, this strategy allows to agnostically interrogate the immunogenicity of all or a large fraction of candidate neoantigens detected in a given tumor without prior knowledge of the minimal epitope or the HLA restriction element of each mutated peptide.

# Novel High-Throughput Screening Strategies to Identify Neoantigens

A few novel technologies that have recently been described aim at identifying the cognate peptide recognized by a T cell through the detection of APCs that have been specifically recognized by T cells, rather than monitoring specific activation of T cells. For instance, Joglekar et al., developed a cell-based platform for T-cell antigen discovery that relies on the screening of a large number of antigens through the expression of chimeric receptors termed Signaling and antigen-presenting bifunctional receptors (SABRs) in NFAT-GFP-Jurkat cells through stable transduction with lentiviral vectors (109). These chimeric receptors are composed of an extracellular domain comprising a peptide tethered to an HLA fused to an intracellular CD3ζ signaling domain and a CD28 co-stimulatory domain. When recognized by a specific TCR, this interaction triggers the expression of GFP and CD69 on NFAT-GFP-Jurkat cells which can be selected and sequenced to identify the specific peptide recognized. More recently, Kisielow et al. have used a similar NFAT reporter system which is restricted to the identification of tumor-specific peptides recognized by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells (110). In this case, the signal-triggering molecule is a MHC-TCR chimeric receptor (MCRs) which incorporates the peptide linked to the MHC domain. MCR libraries are generated by cloning fragmented tumor cell cDNA into MCR sequences and are transduced into reporter cells, which are used as target cells in co-culture assays with T cells encoding for TCR of interest. TCR interaction with a specific MCR induces reporter gene expression through NFAT activation, allowing the selection, and identification of the recognized peptide through sequencing. Although these are proof-of-concept studies and their applicability as well as advantages and limitations remain to be determined, the novel strategies described may potentially be used alone or in combination with other screening strategies for an unbiased identification of neoantigens targeted by T cells in patients with cancer.

# Sources of Effector T-Cell Populations to Identify Neoantigen-Specific Lymphocytes

Once a list of candidate neoantigens is obtained, their immunogenicity is typically evaluated *in vitro*. In addition to the immunological screening methods previously described, the selection of an effector T-cell population with which screening assays will be performed is a critical determinant for neoantigen identification (**Figure 2**). Theoretically, any tissue or fluid from which T cells can be isolated and/or expanded is a potential source for neoantigen immunogenicity screenings.



#### **TILs and Other Tumor-Associated Populations**

T cells are thought to accumulate at the tumor site, presumably as a result of local antigen-specific clonal expansion. Consistent with this, the tumor-infiltrating TCR repertoire is typically more oligoclonal as shown by intratumoral TCR deep sequencing (111, 112). It is therefore not surprising that TILs are the preferred T-cell source to detect T cells recognizing neoantigens. The optimization of TIL culture conditions in the late 1980s (113), motivated in part by the therapeutic potential of adoptive cell transfer (ACT), has facilitated the expansion of the relatively small numbers of lymphocytes that can be naturally found infiltrating human tumors. TIL cultures, which are usually expanded from tumor biopsies in the presence of high IL-2 concentrations, have been used to identify immunogenic HLA-I- and HLA-II-restricted neoantigens (7, 25, 29, 51, 111, 114). Despite being the most attractive source in terms of T-cell composition, expansion of TILs is not always successful, it can be highly heterogeneous even when expanding TILs from contiguous tumor fragments, and the generation of these cultures depends on tumor biopsies which are not always available. Furthermore, in vitro expansion of TILs can significantly increase or decrease the frequency of antigen-specific T cells (99, 115), thereby underestimating the initial T-cell repertoire. Recent studies have also shown that TILs are composed not only of tumor-reactive but also of cancer-unrelated T cells (e.g., virus-specific T cells) (116, 117). How these bystander cancerunrelated T cells behave in comparison to tumor-reactive cells during TIL expansion has not been fully determined, although initial studies suggest that ex vivo expansion of TILs can increase the frequency of virus-specific T cells at the expense of tumor-reactive T cells (115). Therefore, other T-cell sources have been studied with the aim of complementing TILs for neoantigen validation.

Fluids directly associated with particular solid tumors, such as ascites from ovarian cancer or pleural effusions from

mesotheliomas, have been used as sources for the expansion of tumor-associated lymphocytes (TALs). TALs do not fully share TCR repertoires with TILs (118), and they might thus underrepresent the tumor-reactive T-cell population of the primary tumor. Nonetheless, the potential of TALs has been demonstrated in a high-grade serous ovarian cancer patient in which a neoantigen-specific T-cell clone was detected in ascites at the time of recurrence, but not in primary ascites or tumor samples (90). Other body fluids, such as cerebroespinal fluid (CSF), although low or absent in healthy individuals, can be increased in patients with different pathologies (119). Indeed, T cells isolated and expanded from CSF of patients with diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma have been used to detect tumorreactive T cells after dendritic-cell vaccination (120). Urine has been recently used to isolate and characterize lymphocytes from bladder cancer patients (121). Notably, urine-derived lymphocytes (UDLs) recapitulated the phenotypic and TCR landscapes of T cells from the tumor microenvironment. Given the non-invasive nature of urine collection and the similarities between UDLs and TILs, the former represents an attractive source of T cells to identify immunogenic neoantigens in bladder cancer patients.

#### PBMCs

One of the major challenges for the identification of neoantigens is finding non-invasive T-cell sources to perform immunological screenings. PBMCs derived from blood extractions represent the most attractive source for this purpose. The first evidence of circulating neoantigen-specific T cells was reported more than 20 years ago. Back then, effector T cells used for reactivity screenings were obtained using a mixed lymphocyte tumor culture (MLTC) (122). After successive rounds of stimulation of PBMCs from cancer patients with irradiated autologous tumor cell lines, they were tested for tumor reactivity, and positive "clones" were obtained. Using MLTC-derived clones, Wölfel et al. identified an HLA-A2.1-restricted neoepitope derived from CDK4 (86). This strategy has been successfully exploited in other studies, but the requirement of multiple stimulations prompted the development of strategies to detect neoantigen-specific lymphocytes in unmanipulated PBMCs. The first reports of circulating neoantigen-specific T cells detected in bulk PBMCs from cancer patients are from less than a decade ago with the advent of improved multimer staining technologies (51, 99). In one of those studies, Cohen et al. used multimer libraries to screen for candidate neoantigens, resulting in the successful isolation and expansion of neoantigenspecific T cells from the blood of melanoma patients. Subsequent studies have also shown that naïve T cells from healthy donors can be used as a source to identify neoantigens from melanoma patients for which T-cell reactive clones were absent in autologous TILs (123). These studies suggest that blood-derived T cells are attractive populations for identifying immunogenic neoantigens.

#### **Pre-enriched T-Cell Populations**

Multimer-based studies have shown that neoantigen-specific T cells are present at relatively low frequencies in fresh tumor single-cell suspensions (98), and this is even more problematic when working with peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBLs) (51, 99). To overcome this challenge, different enrichment strategies have been developed to increase the odds of detecting cells which otherwise would be missed due to limited technical sensitivities. Given the low frequency of neoantigen-specific T cells, enrichment strategies rely on the selection of particular T-cell populations that are then *in vitro* expanded to achieve high cell numbers for immunogenicity screenings (**Figure 2; Table 4**).

One of these strategies exploits the fact that, upon recognition of their target antigen on tumor cells, T cells express co-inhibitory and co-stimulatory molecules. Furthermore, chronic exposure to target antigens may differentiate TILs into a dysfunctional (also termed exhausted) state characterized by the co-expression of exhaustion/activation markers (124, 125). This T-cell phenotype has prompted research evaluating whether the expression of these markers could be used to identify and enrich for neoantigenspecific T-cells residing in fresh tumors or peripheral blood of patients with cancer. To date, most of the co-inhibitory/costimulatory markers identified to associate with enrichment of tumor- or neoantigen-reactive T cells have been described in TILs from fresh tumor preparations. Initial reports demonstrated that the isolation and expansion of CD8<sup>+</sup> melanoma TILs based on either PD-1, or a combination of PD-1 TIM-3 and LAG-3 expression consistently enriched for T cells recognizing tumors and neoantigens (111, 126). Subsequent studies have confirmed that tumor-specific CD8<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>+/hi</sup>-infiltrating populations show a distinct transcriptional and metabolic profile (127). Phenotypic characterization of CD8<sup>+</sup> TILs from colorectal and lung cancer patients has revealed that CD39, rather than PD-1, could accurately distinguish between tumor-specific (CD39<sup>+</sup>) and cancer-unrelated T cells (CD39<sup>-</sup>) (117). In line with this, a recent study has shown that co-expression of CD39 and CD103 favors the identification of tumor-reactive T cells (128).

A different approach exploits the fact that T cells express CD137 upon recognition of tumor cells (129). Consequently, isolating T cells based on CD137 expression after co-culture with autologous tumor cells leads to enrichment of neoantigenspecific T cells (130, 131). Identification of markers associated with neoantigen-specific T-cell enrichment in circulating T cells has been more challenging compared to TILs. For instance, expression levels of immune checkpoints in blood-derived T cells is lower than in TILs (111). Additionally, circulating T cells expressing immune checkpoints could result from other pathogen-specific responses. To date, only two reports have used T-cell markers for enrichment of tumor-specific T cells from peripheral blood. In contrast to CD8<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>-</sup> peripheral blood T cells, sorted CD8<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup> cells from melanoma patients contained lymphocytes targeting neoantigens (28). Moreover, neoantigen specificities and TCR repertoires in CD8+PD-1+ cells from blood and melanoma tumors were very similar. More recently, isolation of circulating memory T cells based on CD62L and CD45RO expression enabled the identification of neoantigen-specific T cells (108). Enriching T cells based on marker expression is advantageous as no foreknowledge of T cell-specific reactivities or HLA restriction is required, thereby theoretically broadening its application to any patient. However, marker expression is variable among patients. Furthermore, the low frequency of marker-expressing cells demands an additional in vitro expansion step after sorting in order to achieve reasonable cell numbers for in vitro immunological screening assays, which could change the repertoire compared to the initial population. Although there is no direct evidence of this for marker-sorted cells in humans, mouse antigen-specific T cells among sorted CD8<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup> TILs have been shown to decrease in frequency after in vitro expansion (132). Despite these challenges, this approach is attractive not only for neoantigen screening but also as a source of T cells for therapeutic applications such as ACT. Open questions regarding this strategy that still need to be addressed include: (i) which marker best recovers most of the neoantigen-specific T-cell repertoire, and (ii) whether the coexpression of multiple markers can improve enrichment based on single-markers.

Other enrichment strategies rely on the detection of the interaction between the TCR and its cognate pHLA complex. Staining of T cells with fluorescently-labeled pHLA multimers allows the simultaneous detection and sorting of pure antigen-specific populations, which can then be interrogated for validation of neoantigens in functional assays. Using this approach, multimer-enriched T cells from either PBMCs or fresh tumor digests have been used for validation of neoantigens derived from solid and hematological malignancies (99, 133, 134). Besides the disadvantages related to pHLA multimers mentioned in section Screening of Predicted or Eluted Minimal Neoepitopes, one that limits multimer-based enrichment of T cells is the fact that positive signals after multimer staining not necessarily determine functional T-cell responses (134–136).

Another frequently used enrichment strategy is *in vitro* sensitization (IVS), which exploits antigen-specific stimulation and expansion to increase the frequency of specific T-cell

TABLE 4	Strategies to	o enrich for	neoantigen-specific	lymphocytes.
---------	---------------	--------------	---------------------	--------------

Strategy	Advantages	Disadvantages	
Surface marker-based selection	Prior knowledge of the specific reactivity or HLA restriction is not required Universal (Can be used for every patient) Increases the frequency of neoantigen-specific lymphocytes	Expression of surface markers varies among patients May not capture all reactivities Does not exclusively select neoantigen-reactive lymphocytes	
Multimer staining	Allows isolation of T cells with one specific reactivity with high purity $\$	Requires generation of HLA multimer for each reactivity Limited number of HLA multimers Prior knowledge of the specific reactivity and HLA restriction required Not optimal for isolating tumor-reactive CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells Sensitivity limited by the frequency of the neoantigen-specific population	
In vitro sensitization	Increases the frequency of $T$ cells with a specific reactivity	Requires multiple rounds of <i>in vitro</i> sensitization Requires autologous or HLA matched APCs Laborious depending on the number of peptides screened	

APC, antigen-presenting cell; TCR, T-cell receptor; HLA, human leukocyte antigen.

reactivities. The most frequently used approach of IVS involves the co-culture of either PBMCs or TILs, with or without irradiated feeders and a pool of candidate peptides in the presence of cytokine cocktails [usually combinations of interleukin (IL)-2, IL-7, IL-15, and IL-21]. Co-cultures are usually incubated for 10-14 days, after which the resulting T-cell populations can be screened for neoantigen recognition or for subsequent rounds of stimulations. A modified version of this approach involves the stimulation of TILs or PBMCs with autologous APCs electroporated or pulsed with TMGs or peptides (long or minimal epitopes), respectively, under similar culture conditions as the ones mentioned above. Alternatively, if the patient's autologous tumor cell line is available, it can be used instead of APCs for stimulation. These three strategies have proven to be useful for enrichment of neoantigen-specific T cells and for the subsequent validation of candidate neoantigens (86, 108, 137, 138). However, the simultaneous presentation of multiple epitopes during IVS may favor the enrichment of Tcell populations specific for immunodominant peptides, leading to underrepresentation of the true neoantigen-specific T-cell repertoire present in the starting population. To overcome the potentially biased enrichment of T cells and in order to detect the broader repertoire of neoantigen-specific T cells, a more reliable but also more cumbersome approach involves the stimulation of T cells with APCs pulsed with every single predicted minimal epitope for separate (91). It is important to note, however, that this strategy has been limited to tumors with low mutational load, or those whose neoantigen candidate list has been prioritized using in silico prediction algorithms.

The methods described in this section have been commonly used as single enrichment strategies. However, the combination of such enrichment strategies (e.g., marker-based selection and IVS) can result in highly enriched populations of neoantigenspecific T cells (108). Furthermore, recent efforts aim at combining enrichment methods, such as IVS with or without CD137-based T-cell selection, with other sensitive technologies such as TCR $\beta$  deep sequencing by NGS to screen for neoantigens (91, 139–141).

#### T-Cell Clones and TCR-Transduced Lymphocytes

The antitumor responses observed upon adoptive transfer of TILs targeting neoantigens has provided rationale to develop personalized T-cell therapies. However, the differentiated status of the administered cells has been associated with limited antitumor activity in mouse models, suggesting that TCR-gene engineered T cells could be more efficacious. This, combined with recent progress in the non-viral delivery of TCRs into PBLs (142), has made personalized neoantigen-specific TCR-gene engineering a true possibility.

The rapid identification of neoantigen-specific TCRs, a pre-requisite for the development of such therapies, can be performed through multiple strategies. First, T-cell clones can be established either from TILs, peripheral blood subsets or enriched populations (as described above) and can be screened for recognition of neoantigens. TCR $\alpha$  and TCR $\beta$  sequencing can be carried out from the neoantigen-specific clones to isolate the variable regions of the TCR. These can then be cloned into a vector of choice to transduce or transfect PBLs to express and test the specificity of the TCRs identified. This approach led to the rapid identification of six neoantigen-specific TCRs from two patients, including a high affinity HLA-II-restricted KRAS<sub>p.G12D</sub>-specific TCR in a recent report (30). However, the limited proliferative capacity of some clonotypes may result in a biased representation of the starting TCR repertoire.

A second approach to isolate neoantigen-specific TCRs uses the oligoclonality of specific tumor-resident TCR clonotypes as a surrogate to select for candidate neoantigen-specific TCRs that may have undergone clonal antigen-specific expansion. As exemplified in the work by Pasetto et al. the most frequent TCR $\beta$ clonotypes identified by TCR $\beta$  deep sequencing were selected as candidate tumor or neoantigen-specific lymphocytes and were paired with the most dominant TCR $\alpha$  sequences, leading to the cloning, expression and immunological testing of a few TCR $\alpha$ - $\beta$  pairs (112). However, the inefficient allelic exclusion of TCR $\alpha$  chains during somatic recombination in T cells frequently leads to T cells harboring two TCR $\alpha$  sequences and this can hinder construction of the correct pairs. Alternatively, the TCR $\alpha$ 

sequence that pairs with the oligoclonal TCR<sup>β</sup> clonotype selected can be identified using pairSEQ, a high-throughput strategy combining TCRa and TCRB sequencing with statistical analysis to infer TCR $\alpha$ - $\beta$  pairs from bulk PBLs or TILs (143). In addition, single-cell TCRa and TCRB sequencing of cells directly isolated from the tumor can be carried out either using conventional sanger sequencing (112) or NGS (116), to identify TCR $\alpha$ - $\beta$ pairs from TILs. Once the sequence of the selected TCR $\alpha$ - $\beta$ pairs are identified, T cells can be screened for recognition of candidate epitopes in functional assays that require autologous target cells (116). Using this approach, Pasetto et al. generated PBLs expressing 68 TCRa-B pairs derived from melanomaresident CD8<sup>+</sup>PD-1<sup>+</sup> T cells from 10 patients and successfully identified 9 neoantigen-specific TCRs. Furthermore, recently, single-cell transcriptomics has enabled to couple specific TCRa- $\beta$  sequences to specific differentiation and functional traits. Although this technology has not yet been exploited to isolate neoantigen-specific TCRs from TILs, it could further improve our understanding of the functional and phenotypic traits of TILs and the accuracy of existing biomarkers to select for candidate neoantigen-specific lymphocytes. The major limitation of this approach is the high amount of TCR clonotypes that can be retrieved from all the sequencing data. Hence, high-throughput platforms to gene-engineer and test the specificity of such high number of TCRs is currently a matter of extensive research (144).

### **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

Virtually all cancers harbor genetic alterations, some of which can give rise to mutated, non-self peptides presented by HLA molecules and elicit T-cell responses, referred to as neoantigens. Recent data suggests that neoantigen-specific lymphocytes can be detected in the vast majority of cancer patients, regardless of their tumor mutation burden. Moreover, they appear to have a central role in the clinical activity of cancer immunotherapies. Thus, neoantigens have emerged as promising targets for personalized immunotherapies. However, mounting evidence suggests that only a small fraction of the NSM identified by tumor WES are actually immunogenic. While inherent difficulties can limit neoantigen identification, such as tumor heterogeneity or as a result of *holes* in the TCR repertoire, the success or failure of neoantigen identification is, in great part, determined by the identification of candidate neoantigens and the immunological screening assays required to identify bona fide neoantigens, all with their own advantages and disadvantages.

Whilst *in silico* peptide prediction strategies have led to the identification of neoantigens, they can inaccurately predict

### REFERENCES

- De Plaen E, Lurquin C, Van Pel A, Mariame B, Szikora JP, Wolfel T, et al. Immunogenic (tum-) variants of mouse tumor P815: cloning of the gene of tum- antigen P91A and identification of the tum- mutation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1988) 85:2274–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.85.7.2274
- 2. Szikora JP, Van Pel A, Brichard V, Andre M, Van Baren N, Henry P, et al. Structure of the gene of tum- transplantation antigen P35B: presence

peptides, and they are not efficiently trained to identify HLA-II neoantigens. Immunopeptidomics can be used to discover novel neoantigens or validate those obtained using in silico peptide predictors, but MS based identification of peptides is limited by its current sensitivity and by the fact that some peptides may never be detected using this approach. To date, the safest, albeit, the most laborious, and costly strategy to identify neoantigens requires the unbiased screening of all neoantigens identified using TMGs or PPs, as demonstrated by the growing number of neoantigens identified using this approach in the last five years. This strategy has provided a broader idea of the frequency of neoantigen reactivities in cancer patients and is capable of detecting CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cell responses targeting neoantigens, which may be important to develop effective treatments. Moreover, the specific immunological screening method and read-outs selected, as well as the choice of effector population screened can also greatly impact on neoantigen identification.

Thus far, clinical trials testing vaccines targeting neoantigens have demonstrated they are safe and well tolerated, and personalized T-cell based therapies targeting neoantigens have shown antitumor responses in selected cases. However, whether individualized immunotherapies targeting neoantigens can mediate effective antitumor responses in a broader patient population, remains an open question. Despite all the technological innovation and development of novel screening assays, the rapid and precise identification of the *bona fide* neoantigens in any given patient remains a major hurdle that will need to be overcome to translate the potential of neoantigen targeting into effective therapies for patients with cancer.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AG conceived the review. All authors listed made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work. Figures were created by AG-G with BioRender.com.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

AG was supported by the Spanish Instituto de Salud Carlos III (ISCIII) funding, an initiative of the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Innovation (MS15/00058 and P17/01085), the Fero Foundation, and the Cellex Foundation. AG is a member of the Cancer Immunology and Immunotherapy (CAIMI 89/2017) program funded by BBVA Foundation. CF was supported by funding from the Asociación Española Contra el Cáncer (AECC, LABAE16021PORT).

of a point mutation in the antigenic allele.  $EMBO\ J.$  (1990) 9:1041–50. doi: 10.1002/j.1460-2075.1990.tb08208.x

- Sibille C, Chomez P, Wildmann C, Van Pel A, De Plaen E, Maryanski JL, et al. Structure of the gene of tum- transplantation antigen P198: a point mutation generates a new antigenic peptide. *J Exp Med.* (1990) 172:35– 45. doi: 10.1084/jem.172.1.35
- Coulie PG, Lehmann F, Lethé B, Herman J, Lurquin C, Andrawiss M, et al. A mutated intron sequence codes for an antigenic peptide recognized by

cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human melanoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (1995) 92:7976–80. doi: 10.1073/pnas.92.17.7976

- Lennerz V, Fatho M, Gentilini C, Frye RA, Lifke A, Ferel D, et al. The response of autologous T cells to a human melanoma is dominated by mutated neoantigens. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:16013– 8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0500090102
- Lauss M, Donia M, Harbst K, Andersen R, Mitra S, Rosengren F, et al. Mutational and putative neoantigen load predict clinical benefit of adoptive T cell therapy in melanoma. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:1738. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-01460-0
- Robbins PF, Lu Y-C, El-Gamil M, Li YF, Gross C, Gartner J, et al. Mining exomic sequencing data to identify mutated antigens recognized by adoptively transferred tumor-reactive T cells. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:747. doi: 10.1038/nm.3161
- Lu Y-C, Yao X, Crystal JS, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Gross C, et al. Efficient identification of mutated cancer antigens recognized by T cells associated with durable tumor regressions. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:3401– 10. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-0433
- Robbins PF, El-Gamil M, Li YF, Kawakami Y, Loftus D, Appella E, et al. A mutated beta-catenin gene encodes a melanoma-specific antigen recognized by tumor infiltrating lymphocytes. *J Exp Med.* (1996) 183:1185– 92. doi: 10.1084/jem.183.3.1185
- Huang J, El-Gamil M, Dudley ME, Li YF, Rosenberg SA, Robbins PF. T cells associated with tumor regression recognize frameshifted products of the *CDKN2A* tumor suppressor gene locus and a mutated HLA class I gene product. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:6057–64. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.10.6057
- 11. Lu Y-C, Yao X, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Dudley ME, Yang JC, et al. Mutated PPP1R3B is recognized by T cells used to treat a melanoma patient who experienced a durable complete tumor regression. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:6034–42. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.12 02830
- Ribas A, Wolchok JD. Cancer immunotherapy using checkpoint blockade. Science. (2018) 359:1350–5. doi: 10.1126/science.aar4060
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. (2014) 371:2189–99. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1 406498
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. *Science*. (2015) 348:124– 8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa1348
- Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, et al. Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. *Science*. (2015) 350:207–11. doi: 10.1126/science.aad0095
- Samstein RM, Lee CH, Shoushtari AN, Hellmann MD, Shen R, Janjigian YY, et al. Tumor mutational load predicts survival after immunotherapy across multiple cancer types. *Nat Genet*. (2019) 51:202–6. doi: 10.1038/s41588-018-0312-8
- Ghorani E, Rosenthal R, McGranahan N, Reading JL, Lynch M, Peggs KS, et al. Differential binding affinity of mutated peptides for MHC class I is a predictor of survival in advanced lung cancer and melanoma. *Ann Oncol.* (2017) 29:271–9. doi: 10.1093/annonc/ mdx687
- Rech AJ, Balli D, Mantero A, Ishwaran H, Nathanson KL, Stanger BZ, et al. Tumor immunity and survival as a function of alternative neopeptides in human cancer. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 2018:canimm.0559.2017. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-1 7-0559
- Carreno BM, Magrini V, Becker-Hapak M, Kaabinejadian S, Hundal J, Petti AA, et al. Cancer immunotherapy. A dendritic cell vaccine increases the breadth and diversity of melanoma neoantigen-specific T cells. *Science.* (2015) 348:803–8. doi: 10.1126/science. aaa3828
- Sahin U, Derhovanessian E, Miller M, Kloke BP, Simon P, Lower M, et al. Personalized RNA mutanome vaccines mobilize polyspecific therapeutic immunity against cancer. *Nature*. (2017) 547:222–6. doi: 10.1038/nature23003

- Ott PA, Hu Z, Keskin DB, Shukla SA, Sun J, Bozym DJ, et al. An immunogenic personal neoantigen vaccine for patients with melanoma. *Nature*. (2017) 547:217–21. doi: 10.1038/nature22991
- Keskin DB, Anandappa AJ, Sun J, Tirosh I, Mathewson ND, Li S, et al. Neoantigen vaccine generates intratumoral T cell responses in phase Ib glioblastoma trial. *Nature*. (2019) 565:234–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0792-9
- Hilf N, Kuttruff-Coqui S, Frenzel K, Bukur V, Stevanovic S, Gouttefangeas C, et al. Actively personalized vaccination trial for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *Nature*. (2019) 565:240–5. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0810-y
- Rosenberg SA, Sherry RM, Morton KE, Scharfman WJ, Yang JC, Topalian SL, et al. Tumor progression can occur despite the induction of very high levels of self/tumor antigen-specific CD8+ T cells in patients with melanoma. J Immunol. (2005) 175:6169–76. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.9.6169
- Tran E, Turcotte S, Gros A, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Dudley ME, et al. Cancer immunotherapy based on mutation-specific CD4+ T cells in a patient with epithelial cancer. *Science.* (2014) 344:641–5. doi: 10.1126/science.12 51102
- 26. Tran E, Robbins PF, Lu Y-C, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Jia L, et al. T-cell transfer therapy targeting mutant KRAS in cancer. *N Engl J Med.* (2016) 375:2255–62. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa16 09279
- Zacharakis N, Chinnasamy H, Black M, Xu H, Lu Y-C, Zheng Z, et al. Immune recognition of somatic mutations leading to complete durable regression in metastatic breast cancer. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:724– 30. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0040-8
- Gros A, Parkhurst MR, Tran E, Pasetto A, Robbins PF, Ilyas S, et al. Prospective identification of neoantigen-specific lymphocytes in the peripheral blood of melanoma patients. *Nat Med.* (2016) 22:433. doi: 10.1038/nm.4051
- Tran E, Ahmadzadeh M, Lu Y-C, Gros A, Turcotte S, Robbins PF, et al. Immunogenicity of somatic mutations in human gastrointestinal cancers. *Science*. (2015) 350:1387–90. doi: 10.1126/science. aad1253
- 30. Yossef R, Tran E, Deniger DC, Gros A, Pasetto A, Parkhurst MR, et al. Enhanced detection of neoantigen-reactive T cells targeting unique and shared oncogenes for personalized cancer immunotherapy. *JCI Insight*. (2018) 3:122467. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight. 122467
- Deniger DC, Pasetto A, Robbins PF, Gartner JJ, Prickett TD, Paria BC, et al. T-cell responses to TP53 "hotspot" mutations and unique neoantigens expressed by human ovarian cancers. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:5562– 73. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-18-0573
- Karpanen T, Olweus J. The potential of donor T-cell repertoires in neoantigen-targeted cancer immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1718. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01718
- Prickett TD, Crystal JS, Cohen CJ, Pasetto A, Parkhurst MR, Gartner JJ, et al. Durable complete response from metastatic melanoma after transfer of autologous T cells recognizing 10 mutated tumor antigens. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2016) 4:669–78. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-1 5-0215
- Duan F, Duitama J, Al Seesi S, Ayres CM, Corcelli SA, Pawashe AP, et al. Genomic and bioinformatic profiling of mutational neoepitopes reveals new rules to predict anticancer immunogenicity. J Exp Med. (2014) 211:2231– 48. doi: 10.1084/jem.20141308
- Castle JC, Kreiter S, Diekmann J, Lower M, van de Roemer N, de Graaf J, et al. Exploiting the mutanome for tumor vaccination. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:1081–91. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-3722
- Xu C. A review of somatic single nucleotide variant calling algorithms for next-generation sequencing data. *Comput Struct Biotechnol J.* (2018) 16:15–24. doi: 10.1016/j.csbj.2018.01.003
- Hwang S, Kim E, Lee I, Marcotte EM. Systematic comparison of variant calling pipelines using gold standard personal exome variants. *Sci Rep.* (2015) 5:17875. doi: 10.1038/srep17875
- O'Rawe J, Jiang T, Sun G, Wu Y, Wang W, Hu J, et al. Low concordance of multiple variant-calling pipelines: practical implications for exome and genome sequencing. *Genome Med.* (2013) 5:28. doi: 10.1186/ gm432

- Ding L, Wendl MC, McMichael JF, Raphael BJ. Expanding the computational toolbox for mining cancer genomes. *Nat Rev Genet*. (2014) 15:556– 70. doi: 10.1038/nrg3767
- Liu Z-K, Shang Y-K, Chen Z-N, Bian H. A three-caller pipeline for variant analysis of cancer whole-exome sequencing data. *Mol Med Rep.* (2017) 15:2489–94. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2017.6336
- Jurtz VI, Olsen LR. Computational methods for identification of T cell neoepitopes in tumors. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2019) 1878:157-72. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8868-6\_9
- Smart AC, Margolis CA, Pimentel H, He MX, Miao D, Adeegbe D, et al. Intron retention is a source of neoepitopes in cancer. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2018) 36:1056. doi: 10.1038/nbt.4239
- Rathe SK, Popescu FE, Johnson JE, Watson AL, Marko TA, Moriarity BS, et al. Identification of candidate neoantigens produced by fusion transcripts in human osteosarcomas. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:358. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-36840-z
- Nielsen M, Lundegaard C, Lund O, Keşmir C. The role of the proteasome in generating cytotoxic T-cell epitopes: insights obtained from improved predictions of proteasomal cleavage. *Immunogenetics*. (2005) 57:33–41. doi: 10.1007/s00251-005-0781-7
- Keşmir C, Nussbaum AK, Schild H, Detours V, Brunak S. Prediction of proteasome cleavage motifs by neural networks. *Protein Eng Design Select*. (2002) 15:287–96. doi: 10.1093/protein/15.4.287
- Daniel S, Brusic V, Caillat-Zucman S, Petrovsky N, Harrison L, Riganelli D, et al. Relationship between peptide selectivities of human transporters associated with antigen processing and HLA class I molecules. *J Immunol.* (1998) 161:617–24.
- Zhang GL, Petrovsky N, Kwoh CK, August JT, Brusic V. PRED(TAP): a system for prediction of peptide binding to the human transporter associated with antigen processing. *Immunome Res.* (2006) 2:3. doi: 10.1186/1745-7580-2-3
- Oliveira CC, van Hall T. Importance of TAP-independent processing pathways. *Mol Immunol.* (2013) 55:113– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2012.10.005
- Larsen MV, Lundegaard C, Lamberth K, Buus S, Lund O, Nielsen M. Largescale validation of methods for cytotoxic T-lymphocyte epitope prediction. *BMC Bioinformatics*. (2007) 8:424. doi: 10.1186/1471-2105-8-424
- Dönnes P, Kohlbacher O. Integrated modeling of the major events in the MHC class I antigen processing pathway. *Protein Sci.* (2005) 14:2132– 40. doi: 10.1110/ps.051352405
- van Rooij N, van Buuren MM, Philips D, Velds A, Toebes M, Heemskerk B, et al. Tumor exome analysis reveals neoantigen-specific T-cell reactivity in an ipilimumab-responsive melanoma. *J Clin Oncol.* (2013) 31:e439e42. doi: 10.1200/jco.2012.47.7521
- Zhang H, Lundegaard C, Nielsen M. Pan-specific MHC class I predictors: a benchmark of HLA class I pan-specific prediction methods. *Bioinformatics*. (2009) 25:83–9. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btn579
- Jurtz V, Paul S, Andreatta M, Marcatili P, Peters B, Nielsen M. NetMHCpan-4.0: improved peptide–MHC class I interaction predictions integrating eluted ligand and peptide binding affinity data. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:3360– 8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700893
- Nielsen M, Lund O, Buus S, Lundegaard C. MHC class II epitope predictive algorithms. *Immunology*. (2010) 130:319– 28. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2010.03268.x
- Lundegaard C, Lund O, Keşmir C, Brunak S, Nielsen M. Modeling the adaptive immune system: predictions and simulations. *Bioinformatics*. (2007) 23:3265–75. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/ btm471
- 56. Samuels Y, Kalaora S, Wolf Y, Feferman T, Barnea E, Greenstein E, et al. Combined analysis of antigen presentation and T cell recognition reveals restricted immune responses in melanoma. *Cancer Discov.* (2018) 2018:CD-17-1418. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-17-1418
- Calis JJA, Maybeno M, Greenbaum JA, Weiskopf D, De Silva AD, Sette A, et al. Properties of MHC class I presented peptides that enhance immunogenicity. *PLOS Comput Biol.* (2013) 9:e1003266. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003266
- 58. Harndahl M, Rasmussen M, Roder G, Dalgaard Pedersen I, Sørensen M, Nielsen M, et al. Peptide-MHC class I stability is a better predictor than

peptide affinity of CTL immunogenicity. *Eur J Immunol.* (2012) 42:1405–16. doi: 10.1002/eji.201141774

- Jørgensen KW, Rasmussen M, Buus S, Nielsen M. NetMHCstab predicting stability of peptide–MHC-I complexes; impacts for cytotoxic T lymphocyte epitope discovery. *Immunology*. (2014) 141:18–26. doi: 10.1111/ imm.12160
- Kosaloglu-Yalcin Z, Lanka M, Frentzen A, Logandha Ramamoorthy Premlal A, Sidney J, Vaughan K, et al. Predicting T cell recognition of MHC class I restricted neoepitopes. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1492508. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1492508
- Tumor Neoantigen Selection Alliance Parker Institute for Cancer Immunotherapy. (2019). Available online at: https://www.parkerici.org/ research\_project/tumor-neoantigen-selection-alliance/
- 62. Nesvizhskii AI. Proteogenomics: concepts, applications and computational strategies. *Nat Methods*. (2014) 11:1114. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3144
- Bassani-Sternberg M. Mass spectrometry based immunopeptidomics for the discovery of cancer neoantigens. In: Schrader M, Fricker L, editors. *Peptidomics: Methods and Strategies*. New York, NY: Springer New York. (2018). p. 209–21. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-7537-2\_14
- 64. Yadav M, Jhunjhunwala S, Phung QT, Lupardus P, Tanguay J, Bumbaca S, et al. Predicting immunogenic tumour mutations by combining mass spectrometry and exome sequencing. *Nature*. (2014) 515:572–6. doi: 10.1038/nature14001
- Kalaora S, Barnea E, Merhavi-Shoham E, Qutob N, Teer JK, Shimony N, et al. Use of HLA peptidomics and whole exome sequencing to identify human immunogenic neo-antigens. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:5110– 7. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.6960
- 66. Bassani-Sternberg M, Bräunlein E, Klar R, Engleitner T, Sinitcyn P, Audehm S, et al. Direct identification of clinically relevant neoepitopes presented on native human melanoma tissue by mass spectrometry. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:13404. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13404
- 67. Bassani-Sternberg spectrometry-М, G. Coukos Mass based antigen discovery for cancer immunotherapy. Curr Opin Immunol. (2016) 41:9-17. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2016. 04.005
- van der Lee DI, Reijmers RM, Honders MW, Hagedoorn RS, de Jong RC, Kester MG, et al. Mutated nucleophosmin 1 as immunotherapy target in acute myeloid leukemia. J Clin Invest. (2019) 129:774– 85. doi: 10.1172/JCI97482
- Wang RF, Parkhurst MR, Kawakami Y, Robbins PF, Rosenberg SA. Utilization of an alternative open reading frame of a normal gene in generating a novel human cancer antigen. J Exp Med. (1996) 183:1131– 40. doi: 10.1084/jem.183.3.1131
- Robbins PF, El-Gamil M, Li YF, Fitzgerald EB, Kawakami Y, Rosenberg SA. The intronic region of an incompletely spliced gp100 gene transcript encodes an epitope recognized by melanoma-reactive tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. *J Immunol.* (1997) 159:303–8.
- Harada M, Li YF, El-Gamil M, Ohnmacht GA, Rosenberg SA, Robbins PF. Melanoma-Reactive CD8+ T cells recognize a novel tumor antigen expressed in a wide variety of tumor types. *J Immunother*. (2001) 24:323– 33. doi: 10.1097/00002371-200107000-00008
- 72. Guilloux Y, Lucas S, Brichard VG, Van Pel A, Viret C, De Plaen E, et al. A peptide recognized by human cytolytic T lymphocytes on HLA-A2 melanomas is encoded by an intron sequence of the N-acetylglucosaminyltransferase V gene. J Exp Med. (1996) 183:1173–83. doi: 10.1084/jem.183. 3.1173
- 73. Probst-Kepper M, Stroobant V, Kridel R, Gaugler B, Landry C, Brasseur F, et al. An alternative open reading frame of the human macrophage colony-stimulating factor gene is independently translated and codes for an antigenic peptide of 14 amino acids recognized by tumor-infiltrating CD8 T lymphocytes. *J Exp Med.* (2001) 193:1189–98. doi: 10.1084/jem.193. 10.1189
- 74. Ronsin C, Chung-Scott V, Poullion I, Aknouche N, Gaudin C, Triebel F. A non-AUG-defined alternative open reading frame of the intestinal carboxyl esterase mRNA generates an epitope recognized by renal cell carcinoma-reactive tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes *in situ. J Immunol.* (1999) 163:483–90.

- Lupetti R, Pisarra P, Verrecchia A, Farina C, Nicolini G, Anichini A, et al. Translation of a retained intron in tyrosinase-related protein. (TRP) 2 mRNA generates a new cytotoxic T lymphocyte. (CTL)-defined and shared human melanoma antigen not expressed in normal cells of the melanocytic lineage. *J Exp Med.* (1998) 188:1005–16. doi: 10.1084/jem.18 8.6.1005
- Wang RF, Johnston SL, Zeng G, Topalian SL, Schwartzentruber DJ, Rosenberg SA. A breast and melanoma-shared tumor antigen: T cell responses to antigenic peptides translated from different open reading frames. *J Immunol.* (1998) 161:3598–606.
- 77. Aarnoudse CA, van den Doel PB, Heemskerk B, Schrier PI. Interleukin-2-induced, melanoma-specific T cells recognize CAMEL, an unexpected translation product of LAGE-1. *Int J Cancer*. (1999) 82:442–8. doi: 10.1002/ (SICI)1097-0215(19990730)82:3<442::AID-IJC19&gt;3.3.CO;2-Q
- Rosenberg SA, Tong-On P, Li Y, Riley JP, El-Gamil M, Parkhurst MR, et al. Identification of BING-4 cancer antigen translated from an alternative open reading frame of a gene in the extended MHC class II region using lymphocytes from a patient with a durable complete regression following immunotherapy. *J Immunol.* (2002) 168:2402–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168. 5.2402
- Van Den Eynde BJ, Gaugler B, Probst-Kepper M, Michaux L, Devuyst O, Lorge F, et al. A new antigen recognized by cytolytic T lymphocytes on a human kidney tumor results from reverse strand transcription. *J Exp Med.* (1999) 190:1793–800. doi: 10.1084/jem.190.12.1793
- Laumont CM, Daouda T, Laverdure J-P, Bonneil É, Caron-Lizotte O, Hardy M-P, et al. Global proteogenomic analysis of human MHC class I-associated peptides derived from non-canonical reading frames. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:10238. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10238
- Laumont CM, Vincent K, Hesnard L, Audemard É, Bonneil É, Laverdure J-P, et al. Noncoding regions are the main source of targetable tumor-specific antigens. *Sci Trans Med.* (2018) 10:eaau5516. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aau5516
- Ma B, Johnson R. De novo sequencing and homology searching. Mol Cell Proteomics. (2012) 11:O111.014902. doi: 10.1074/mcp.O111.014902
- Chong C, Marino F, Pak H, Racle J, Daniel RT, Müller M, et al. High-throughput and sensitive immunopeptidomics platform reveals profound interferonγ-mediated remodeling of the human leukocyte antigen. (HLA) Ligandome. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2018) 17:533–48. doi: 10.1074/mcp.TIR117.000383
- 84. Faridi P, Purcell AW, Croft NP. In immunopeptidomics we need a sniper instead of a shotgun. *Proteomics*. (2018) 18:1700464. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201700464
- Linnemann C, van Buuren MM, Bies L, Verdegaal EME, Schotte R, Calis JJA, et al. High-throughput epitope discovery reveals frequent recognition of neo-antigens by CD4+ T cells in human melanoma. *Nat Med.* (2014) 21:81. doi: 10.1038/nm.3773
- Wolfel T, Hauer M, Schneider J, Serrano M, Wolfel C, Klehmann-Hieb E, et al. A p16INK4a-insensitive CDK4 mutant targeted by cytolytic T lymphocytes in a human melanoma. *Science*. (1995) 269:1281– 4. doi: 10.1126/science.7652577
- Zhou J, Dudley ME, Rosenberg SA, Robbins PF. Persistence of multiple tumor-specific T-cell clones is associated with complete tumor regression in a melanoma patient receiving adoptive cell transfer therapy. *J Immunother*. (2005) 28:53–62. doi: 10.1097/00002371-200501000-00007
- Matsushita H, Vesely MD, Koboldt DC, Rickert CG, Uppaluri R, Magrini VJ, et al. Cancer exome analysis reveals a T-cell-dependent mechanism of cancer immunoediting. *Nature*. (2012) 482:400–4. doi: 10.1038/nature10755
- Bassani-Sternberg M, Chong C, Guillaume P, Solleder M, Pak H, Gannon PO, et al. Deciphering HLA-I motifs across HLA peptidomes improves neo-antigen predictions and identifies allostery regulating HLA specificity. *PLoS Comput Biol.* (2017) 13:e1005725. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.10 05725
- 90. Wick DA, Webb JR, Nielsen JS, Martin SD, Kroeger DR, Milne K, et al. Surveillance of the tumor mutanome by T cells during progression from primary to recurrent ovarian cancer. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:1125–34. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-1 3-2147

- Danilova L, Anagnostou V, Caushi JX, Sidhom J-W, Guo H, Chan HY, et al. The mutation-associated neoantigen functional expansion of specific T cells. (MANAFEST) Assay: a sensitive platform for monitoring antitumor immunity. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2018) 6:888– 99. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.cir-18-0129
- Altman JD, Moss PA, Goulder PJ, Barouch DH, McHeyzer-Williams MG, Bell JI, et al. Phenotypic analysis of antigen-specific T lymphocytes. *Science.* (1996) 274:94–6. doi: 10.1126/science.274. 5284.94
- Toebes M, Coccoris M, Bins A, Rodenko B, Gomez R, Nieuwkoop NJ, et al. Design and use of conditional MHC class I ligands. *Nat Med.* (2006) 12:246. doi: 10.1038/nm1360
- 94. Rodenko B, Toebes M, Hadrup SR, van Esch WJE, Molenaar AM, Schumacher TNM, et al. Generation of peptide–MHC class I complexes through UV-mediated ligand exchange. *Nat Protocols*. (2006) 1:1120. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2006.121
- Luimstra JJ, Garstka MA, Roex MCJ, Redeker A, Janssen GMC, van Veelen PA, et al. A flexible MHC class I multimer loading system for large-scale detection of antigen-specific T cells. J Exp Med. (2018) 215:1493–504. doi: 10.1084/jem.20 180156
- 96. Leisner C, Loeth N, Lamberth K, Justesen S, Sylvester-Hvid C, Schmidt EG, et al. One-pot, mix-and-read peptide-MHC tetramers. *PLoS ONE*. (2008) 3:e1678. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.00 01678
- Hadrup SR, Bakker AH, Shu CJ, Andersen RS, van Veluw J, Hombrink P, et al. Parallel detection of antigen-specific T-cell responses by multidimensional encoding of MHC multimers. *Nat Methods*. (2009) 6:520– 6. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.1345
- McGranahan N, Furness AJS, Rosenthal R, Ramskov S, Lyngaa R, Saini SK, et al. Clonal neoantigens elicit T cell immunoreactivity and sensitivity to immune checkpoint blockade. *Science*. (2016) 351:1463– 9. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf1490
- Cohen CJ, Gartner JJ, Horovitz-Fried M, Shamalov K, Trebska-McGowan K, Bliskovsky VV, et al. Isolation of neoantigen-specific T cells from tumor and peripheral lymphocytes. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:3981–91. doi: 10.1172/JCI82416
- 100. Bentzen AK, Marquard AM, Lyngaa R, Saini SK, Ramskov S, Donia M, et al. Large-scale detection of antigen-specific T cells using peptide-MHC-I multimers labeled with DNA barcodes. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2016) 34:1037– 45. doi: 10.1038/nbt.3662
- 101. Crawford F, Kozono H, White J, Marrack P, Kappler J. Detection of antigen-specific T cells with multivalent soluble class II MHC covalent peptide complexes. *Immunity*. (1998) 8:675–82. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80572-5
- 102. Vollers SS, Stern LJ. Class II major histocompatibility complex tetramer staining: progress, problems, and prospects. *Immunology*. (2008) 123:305–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.0 2801.x
- 103. de Graaf MT, de Beukelaar JW, Burgers PC, Luider TM, Kraan J, Smitt PA, et al. Contamination of synthetic HuD protein spanning peptide pools with a CMV-encoded peptide. *Cytometry A*. (2008) 73:1079– 85. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.20636
- 104. Currier JR, Galley LM, Wenschuh H, Morafo V, Ratto-Kim S, Gray CM, et al. Peptide impurities in commercial synthetic peptides and their implications for vaccine trial assessment. *Clin Vaccine Immunol.* (2008) 15:267–76. doi: 10.1128/CVI.00284-07
- 105. Stevanović S, Pasetto A, Helman SR, Gartner JJ, Prickett TD, Howie B, et al. Landscape of immunogenic tumor antigens in successful immunotherapy of virally induced epithelial cancer. *Science.* (2017) 356:200–5. doi: 10.1126/science. aak9510
- 106. Parkhurst M, Gros A, Pasetto A, Prickett T, Crystal JS, Robbins P, et al. Isolation of T-cell receptors specifically reactive with mutated tumor-associated antigens from tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes based on CD137 expression. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2017) 23:2491–505. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-16-2680

- Tran E, Robbins PF, Rosenberg SA. 'Final common pathway' of human cancer immunotherapy: targeting random somatic mutations. *Nat Immunol.* (2017) 18:255–62. doi: 10.1038/ni.3682
- 108. Cafri G, Yossef R, Pasetto A, Deniger DC, Lu YC, Parkhurst M, et al. Memory T cells targeting oncogenic mutations detected in peripheral blood of epithelial cancer patients. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:449. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08304-z
- 109. Joglekar AV, Leonard MT, Jeppson JD, Swift M, Li G, Wong S, et al. T cell antigen discovery via signaling and antigen-presenting bifunctional receptors. *Nat Methods*. (2019) 16:191–8. doi: 10.1038/s41592-01 8-0304-8
- Kisielow J, Obermair FJ, Kopf M. Deciphering CD4(+) T cell specificity using novel MHC-TCR chimeric receptors. *Nat Immunol.* (2019) 20:652– 62. doi: 10.1038/s41590-019-0335-z
- 111. Gros A, Robbins PF, Yao X, Li YF, Turcotte S, Tran E, et al. PD-1 identifies the patient-specific CD8+ tumor-reactive repertoire infiltrating human tumors. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:2246–59. doi: 10.1172/JCI 73639
- 112. Pasetto A, Gros A, Robbins PF, Deniger DC, Prickett TD, Matus-Nicodemos R, et al. Tumor- and neoantigen-reactive T-cell receptors can be identified based on their frequency in fresh tumor. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2016) 4:734–43. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-16-0001
- 113. Topalian SL, Muul LM, Solomon D, Rosenberg SA. Expansion of human tumor infiltrating lymphocytes for use in immunotherapy trials. *J Immunol Methods*. (1987) 102:127–41. doi: 10.1016/S0022-1759(87) 80018-2
- 114. Turcotte S, Gros A, Tran E, Lee C-CR, Wunderlich JR, Robbins PF, et al. Tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells in metastatic gastrointestinal cancer refractory to chemotherapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:331–43. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-1 3-1736
- 115. Andersen RS, Thrue CA, Junker N, Lyngaa R, Donia M, Ellebæk E, et al. Dissection of T-cell antigen specificity in human melanoma. *Cancer Res.* (2012) 72:1642–50. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.can-11-2614
- 116. Scheper W, Kelderman S, Fanchi LF, Linnemann C, Bendle G, de Rooij MAJ, et al. Low and variable tumor reactivity of the intratumoral TCR repertoire in human cancers. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:89–94. doi: 10.1038/s41591-01 8-0266-5
- 117. Simoni Y, Becht E, Fehlings M, Loh CY, Koo S-L, Teng KWW, et al. Bystander CD8+ T cells are abundant and phenotypically distinct in human tumour infiltrates. *Nature*. (2018) 557:575–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-01 8-0130-2
- 118. Jang M, Yew PY, Hasegawa K, Ikeda Y, Fujiwara K, Fleming GF, et al. Characterization of T cell repertoire of blood, tumor, and ascites in ovarian cancer patients using next generation sequencing. *Oncoimmunology*. (2015) 4:e1030561. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2015.1030561
- 119. Castañón S, Román A, Subirá D, Jiménez AM, Jiménez A, Jiménez-Garófano C, et al. Flow cytometric analysis of cerebrospinal fluid samples and its usefulness in routine clinical practice. Am J Clin Pathol. (2002) 117:952–8. doi: 10.1309/123P-CE6V-WYAK-BB1F
- 120. Benitez-Ribas D, Cabezón R, Flórez-Grau G, Molero MC, Puerta P, Guillen A, et al. Immune response generated with the administration of autologous dendritic cells pulsed with an allogenic tumoral cell-lines lysate in patients with newly diagnosed diffuse intrinsic pontine glioma. *Front Oncol.* (2018) 8:127. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00127
- 121. Wong YNS, Joshi K, Khetrapal P, Ismail M, Reading JL, Sunderland MW, et al. Urine-derived lymphocytes as a non-invasive measure of the bladder tumor immune microenvironment. J Exp Med. (2018) 215:2748– 59. doi: 10.1084/jem.20181003
- 122. Hérin M, Lemoine C, Weynants P, Vessière F, Van Pel A, Boon T, et al. Production of stable cytolytic T-cell clones directed against autologous human melanoma. *Int J Cancer.* (1987) 39:390–6. doi: 10.1002/ijc.2910390320
- 123. Strønen E, Toebes M, Kelderman S, van Buuren MM, Yang W, van Rooij N, et al. Targeting of cancer neoantigens with donor-derived T cell receptor repertoires. *Science.* (2016) 352:1337–41. doi: 10.1126/science. aaf2288

- 124. Hashimoto M, Kamphorst AO, Im SJ, Kissick HT, Pillai RN, Ramalingam SS, et al. CD8 T cell exhaustion in chronic infection and cancer: opportunities for interventions. *Ann Rev Med.* (2018) 69:301–18. doi: 10.1146/annurev-med-012017-043208
- Pauken KE, Wherry EJ. Overcoming T cell exhaustion in infection and cancer. *Trends Immunol.* (2015) 36:265–76. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015. 02.008
- 126. Inozume T, Hanada K, Wang QJ, Ahmadzadeh M, Wunderlich JR, Rosenberg SA, et al. Selection of CD8+PD-1+ lymphocytes in fresh human melanomas enriches for tumor-reactive T cells. *J Immunother*. (2010) 33:956–64. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e318 1fad2b0
- 127. Thommen DS, Koelzer VH, Herzig P, Roller A, Trefny M, Dimeloe S, et al. A transcriptionally and functionally distinct PD-1+ CD8+ T cell pool with predictive potential in non-small-cell lung cancer treated with PD-1 blockade. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:994–1004. doi: 10.1038/s41591-01 8-0057-z
- 128. Duhen T, Duhen R, Montler R, Moses J, Moudgil T, de Miranda NF, et al. Co-expression of CD39 and CD103 identifies tumor-reactive CD8 T cells in human solid tumors. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:2724. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-0 5072-0
- 129. Wolfl M, Kuball J, Ho WY, Nguyen H, Manley TJ, Bleakley M, et al. Activation-induced expression of CD137 permits detection, isolation, and expansion of the full repertoire of CD8+ T cells responding to antigen without requiring knowledge of epitope specificities. *Blood.* (2007) 110:201–10. doi: 10.1182/blood-2006-11-0 56168
- 130. Ye Q, Song D-G, Poussin M, Yamamoto T, Best A, Li C, et al. CD137 accurately identifies and enriches for naturally occurring tumor-reactive T cells in tumor. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:44–55. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-0945
- 131. Seliktar-Ofir S, Merhavi-Shoham E, Itzhaki O, Yunger S, Markel G, Schachter J, et al. Selection of shared and neoantigen-reactive T cells for adoptive cell therapy based on CD137 separation. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1211. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01211
- 132. Fernandez-Poma SM, Salas-Benito D, Lozano T, Casares N, Riezu-Boj J-I, Mancheño U, et al. Expansion of tumor-infiltrating CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells expressing PD-1 improves the efficacy of adoptive T-cell therapy. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:3672–84. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0236
- Andersen RS, Andersen SR, Hjortsø MD, Lyngaa R, Idorn M, Køllgård TM, et al. High frequency of T cells specific for cryptic epitopes in melanoma patients. Oncoimmunology. (2013) 2:e25374-e. doi: 10.4161/onci.25374
- 134. Tubb VM, Schrikkema DS, Croft NP, Purcell AW, Linnemann C, Freriks MR, et al. Isolation of T cell receptors targeting recurrent neoantigens in hematological malignancies. J Immunother Cancer. (2018) 6:70. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0386-y
- 135. Hombrink P, Raz Y, Kester MGD, de Boer R, Weißbrich B, von dem Borne PA, et al. Mixed functional characteristics correlating with TCR-ligand koffrate of MHC-tetramer reactive T cells within the naive T-cell repertoire. *Eur J Immunol.* (2013) 43:3038–50. doi: 10.1002/eji.201343397
- 136. Rius C, Attaf M, Tungatt K, Bianchi V, Legut M, Bovay A, et al. Peptide-MHC class I tetramers can fail to detect relevant functional T cell clonotypes and underestimate antigen-reactive T cell populations. *J Immunol.* (2018) 200:2263–79. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700242
- 137. Meng Q, Valentini D, Rao M, Moro CF, Paraschoudi G, Jäger E, et al. Neoepitope targets of tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes from patients with pancreatic cancer. Br J Cancer. (2019) 120:97–108. doi: 10.1038/s41416-018-0262-z
- 138. Bobisse S, Genolet R, Roberti A, Tanyi JL, Racle J, Stevenson BJ, et al. Sensitive and frequent identification of high avidity neo-epitope specific CD8+T cells in immunotherapy-naive ovarian cancer. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:1092. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03301-0
- 139. Klinger M, Pepin F, Wilkins J, Asbury T, Wittkop T, Zheng J, et al. Multiplex identification of antigen-specific T cell receptors using a combination of immune assays and immune receptor sequencing. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0141561. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0141561

- 140. Smith KN, Llosa NJ, Cottrell TR, Siegel N, Fan H, Suri P, et al. Persistent mutant oncogene specific T cells in two patients benefitting from anti-PD-1. *J Immunother Cancer*. (2019) 7:40. doi: 10.1186/s40425-018-0492-x
- 141. Forde PM, Chaft JE, Smith KN, Anagnostou V, Cottrell TR, Hellmann MD, et al. Neoadjuvant PD-1 blockade in resectable lung cancer. N Engl J Med. (2018) 378:1976–86. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1716078
- 142. Roth TL, Puig-Saus C, Yu R, Shifrut E, Carnevale J, Li PJ, et al. Reprogramming human T cell function and specificity with non-viral genome targeting. *Nature*. (2018) 559:405– 9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0326-5
- 143. Howie B, Sherwood AM, Berkebile AD, Berka J, Emerson RO, Williamson DW, et al. High-throughput pairing of T cell receptor alpha and beta sequences. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:301ra131. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aac5624
- 144. Hu Z, Anandappa AJ, Sun J, Kim J, Leet DE, Bozym DJ, et al. A cloning and expression system to probe T-cell receptor specificity and assess functional avidity to neoantigens. *Blood*. (2018) 132:1911– 21. doi: 10.1182/blood-2018-04-843763

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** AG reports receiving funding from Novartis, Roche and EMD Serono, has received speaker honoraria from Roche, and has consulted for Achilles Therapeutics, Neon Therapeutics and PACT Pharma. AG is co-inventor in a patent application regarding the isolation of T cells and T-cell receptors targeting neoantigens from tumor and peripheral blood (US Application number 15/567,157).

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Garcia-Garijo, Fajardo and Gros. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Based Cancer Vaccines

#### Xiaoming Ouyang<sup>1,2</sup>, Melinda L. Telli<sup>3</sup> and Joseph C. Wu<sup>1,2,3,4\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Cardiovascular Institute, School of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States, <sup>2</sup> Institute for Stem Cell Biology and Regenerative Medicine, School of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States, <sup>3</sup> Department of Medicine, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States, <sup>4</sup> Department of Radiology, Stanford University, Stanford, CA, United States

Over a century ago, it was reported that immunization with embryonic/fetal tissue could lead to the rejection of transplanted tumors in animals. Subsequent studies demonstrated that vaccination of embryonic materials in animals induced cellular and humoral immunity against transplantable tumors and carcinogen-induced tumors. Therefore, it has been hypothesized that the shared antigens between tumors and embryonic/fetal tissues (oncofetal antigens) are the key to anti-tumor immune responses in these studies. However, early oncofetal antigen-based cancer vaccines usually utilize xenogeneic or allogeneic embryonic stem cells or tissues, making it difficult to tease apart the anti-tumor immunity elicited by the oncofetal antigens vs. graft-vs.-host responses. Recently, one oncofetal antigen-based cancer vaccine using autologous induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) demonstrated marked prophylactic and therapeutic potential, suggesting critical roles of oncofetal antigens in inducing anti-tumor immunity. In this review, we present an overview of recent studies in the field of oncofetal antigen-based cancer vaccines, including single peptide-based cancer vaccines, embryonic stem cell (ESC)- and iPSC-based whole-cell vaccines, and provide insights on future directions.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Roberto S. Accolla, University of Insubria, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

María Marcela Barrio, Fundación Cáncer, Argentina Theresa L. Whiteside, University of Pittsburgh, United States

> \*Correspondence: Joseph C. Wu joewu@stanford.edu

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vaccines and Molecular Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 15 March 2019 Accepted: 17 June 2019 Published: 08 July 2019

#### Citation:

Ouyang X, Telli ML and Wu JC (2019) Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Based Cancer Vaccines. Front. Immunol. 10:1510. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01510 Keywords: cancer vaccine, iPSC, ESC, oncofetal antigen, cancer stem cell

# INTRODUCTION

Cancer cells have the capability to proliferate indefinitely and metastasize to different parts of the body. Embryonic stem cells (ESCs) have the ability to undergo rapid clonal proliferation and self-renew, and can inhabit and thrive in various environments of the human body. The similarities between fetal development and cancer have long been recognized (1) following the discovery of oncofetal proteins and antigens such as  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein (AFP) (2), carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) (3), and human chorionic gonadotropic (HCG) (4) (**Supplemental Table 1**). These proteins are tumor associated proteins or antigens (TAA) that are synthesized during embryonic development and appear again in adults during cancer development. Furthermore, these proteins are well-known biomarkers for cancer detection and monitoring (3, 5–9). Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) can be generated by introducing four transcription factors into adult somatic cells, which transform their transcriptional and epigenetic state to a pluripotent one that closely resembles ESCs (10). Similar to ESCs, iPSCs share genetic and transcriptomic signatures with cancer cells, including protein markers that can be recognized by the immune system (11, 12).

Schöne recognized over a century ago that immunization with embryonic/fetal tissue could lead to the rejection of transplanted tumors in animals (13). Later studies indicated that vaccination of embryonic materials in animals elicited humoral and cellular immunity against transplantable

83

tumors and carcinogen-induced tumors, supporting the idea that anti-tumor immunity may arise from the antigens shared between fetal tissue and cancer cells. Recent studies provided evidence that oncofetal antigen-based cancer vaccines could elicit potent T cell responses (5-9). However, there are problems associated with utilizing embryonic/fetal materials for the development of anti-cancer vaccines. Ethical issues, tumorigenicity, and alloimmunity have been the main limitations of using ESCs for clinical applications. Therefore, a substitute for ESCs is needed for overcoming these obstacles. A recent study using an irradiated autologous iPSC-based cancer vaccine has started to address these issues (14). Moreover, the use of ESCs/iPSCs alone as an anti-cancer vaccine only showed moderate anti-tumor effects in some of the early studies (13, 15, 16), suggesting that vaccine adjuvants may be needed in combination with ESCs/iPSCs to enhance innate immunity and increase antigen presentation. Here, we summarize and compare recent studies in addressing these challenges.

## CANCER CELLS ARE REMARKABLY SIMILAR TO ESCS AND iPSCS

Cancer cells and ESCs share many cellular and molecular features. These include a rapid proliferation rate (17), upregulated activity of telomerase (18), increased expression levels of oncogenes such as c-MYC (19) and krupple-like factor 4 (*KLF4*) (20), and similar overall gene expression profiles (21, 22), microRNA signatures (23), and epigenetic status (24). Similar to cancer cells, after long-term culture the ESC lines will continue to proliferate actively and express high levels of telomerase activity, allowing them to maintain telomere length and cellular immortality (18, 25, 26). These features of ESCs resemble the hallmarks of cancer cells that have "sustaining proliferative signaling" and "replicative immortality" (27).

The discovery of iPSCs in 2006 (10, 28) has revolutionized the field of stem cell research. Human iPSCs reprogrammed from a patient's somatic tissues share almost the same gene expression profiles with that patient's ESCs (29-32), providing a possible solution to the ethical objections that have obstructed the use of human ESCs in many countries. Similar to ESCs, iPSCs share genetic and transcriptomic signatures with cancer cells (14). Human iPSCs were first generated by the transduction of fibroblasts with four transcription factors: OCT4, SOX2, c-MYC, and KLF4 (28). C-MYC is a well-known oncogene (33, 34), and the other three factors are also known to be upregulated in multiple cancers types (35-40). Indeed, one study showed significant overexpression of at least one of these factors in 18 of the 40 cancer types that were evaluated (41). Also, these genes are associated with tumor progression and poor prognosis in certain tumor types (41), suggesting that targeting these genes in cancers may be therapeutically beneficial.

A recent study analyzed and compared the epigenomic and transcriptomic signatures of human tumors from The Cancer Genome Atlas (TCGA) and ESCs, as well as iPSCs and other progenitor cells from Progenitor Cell Biology Consortium (PCBC) (42). In this study, the authors applied machine learning algorithms to reveal a positive correlation between tumor dedifferentiation status and stemness indices for most of the tumor cases they analyzed (42). Importantly, they also demonstrated that the cancer stemness indices are higher in recurrent and metastatic tumors than primary tumors, supporting the concept that cancer stem cells play essential roles in cancer recurrence and metastasis (43, 44). In addition, using single-cell transcriptome analysis the authors identified a heterogeneous expression of stemness-associated markers in patient tumors, suggesting the need for multi-target strategies when targeting cancer stem cells.

# IMMUNOGENICITY OF ESCS AND iPSCS

Embryonic stem cells are usually obtained from an unrelated donor due to their limited availability. Therefore, these cells often express mismatched major histocompatibility complex (MHC) and/or minor histocompatibility (miH) antigens and will trigger alloimmune responses when transplanted in the host. ESCs express low levels of HLA class I molecules (45) and almost undetectable levels of HLA class II and costimulatory molecules (46). Although expressed at a low level, HLA class I molecules in ESCs are sufficient to trigger xenorejection of human ESCs mediated by cytotoxic T cells (47, 48). ESCs induce potent humoral and cellular immune responses, leading to the infiltration of inflammatory cells that is followed by ESC rejection (49). So far, most immunogenicity studies of ESCs have focused on a scenario that involves MHC mismatches, implicating alloimmunity as one of the main players in the immune responses after ESCs transplantation. However, whether embryonic antigens in ESCs could induce an immune response is less clear.

Induced pluripotent stem cells are somatic cells that were reprogramed back to a pluripotent state. Autologous iPSCs can be generated from the person receiving therapy. Since the initial discovery of iPSCs, researchers immediately assumed that these cells would be a potential cell source of autologous cell-based therapies to bypass the issues of alloimmunity caused by allogeneic sources such as human ESCs or donated tissue (50, 51). However, later studies investigating iPSC immunogenicity in autologous settings raised questions about this assumption. Araki et al. (52) showed that autologous iPSC-derived teratomas were rejected by immune-competent mice and found a comparable level of rejection of autologous ESC-derived teratomas. These data suggest that in autologous transplantation models with minimized alloimmunity, other antigens such as embryonic antigens in ESCs and iPSCs could still induce an immune response. In 2014, we noticed that autologous iPSCs are immunogenic (11), contradicting earlier studies claiming they are immune privileged. We showed in murine models that undifferentiated autologous iPSCs elicited an immune response with increased lymphocytic infiltration and elevated granzyme-B, IFN-y, and perforin intragraft. In contrast, autologous iPSC-derived endothelial cells were accepted by immune mechanisms similar to self-tolerance. These studies suggest that undifferentiated autologous iPSCs may express antigens of embryonic origin that can trigger an immune response, whereas fully differentiated cells derived from iPSCs have lower levels of immunogenicity. Based on these data and the similarity between iPSCs and cancer cells, we reached the conclusion that undifferentiated iPSCs are immunogenic and hypothesized that they can be used as a cancer vaccine.

# ONCOFETAL PEPTIDE VACCINES AND WHOLE-CELL VACCINES

#### **Oncofetal Peptide-Based Vaccines**

A wide range of vaccines based on the aforementioned oncofetal antigens have been tested in pre-clinical studies, and some single antigen vaccines have been tested in clinical trials. Among all oncofetal antigens, many well-studied ones belong to a class of proteins called cancer testis antigens (CTAs) (Supplemental Table 1). CTAs are expressed within the immune-privileged environment of the testes as well as by tumor cells. Targeting CTAs can induce highly tumor-specific immune responses and thus provide an ideal strategy for anticancer vaccines. For example, a series of clinical trials have evaluated the CTA melanoma-specific antigen A3 (MAGE-A3) as a cancer vaccine target. MAGE-A3 is highly expressed in many different tumor types (53, 54). An early phase clinical trial demonstrated that adjuvant-mixed, recombinant MAGE-A3 proteins or peptide vaccines could elicit potent anti-tumor T cell and antibody responses which are associated with objective responses (54). However, a phase III trial in non-small-cell lung carcinoma (NSCLC) evaluating MAGE-A3 as an adjuvant treatment demonstrated no significant improvement in diseasefree survival compared with placebo in MAGE-A3-positive patients. So far, no further clinical trials testing the MAGE-A3 targeting immunotherapies in NSCLC have been approved based on these results (55).

Another example of a single-peptide-antigen vaccine in clinical trial targeting glypican-3 taught us a similar lesson (56). In this phase II clinical trial, the investigators observed that two patients had tumor relapse despite significant numbers of vaccine-induced peptide-specific CTLs in their blood. Interestingly, they found that although glypican-3 was expressed in the primary tumor, the recurrent tumors lost the antigen expression. The investigators concluded that "the peptide vaccine may eradicate tumor cells that express such antigen, [and] cancer cells that do not express or lose the same antigen may then proliferate. In such cases, vaccines that target multiple shared antigens would be effective."

Upon learning the lessons from failed early clinical trials using single-peptide cancer vaccines, later clinical trials evaluating peptide antigen-based cancer vaccines have focused mostly on multiple-peptide and antigens and/or are administered in combination with immunostimulatory adjuvants and other targeted therapies (57).

These results indicate that targeting one antigen alone may not be able to generate a sufficiently effective and durable antitumor immune response to mediate tumor rejection because of tumor heterogeneity and the rapid appearance of escape mutants. Therefore, it has been suggested that strategies that could target multiple tumor-associated antigens at once would induce a broader spectrum of anti-tumor immunity and possibly provide more effective and durable protection against cancer.

# **ESC-Based Whole-Cell Cancer Vaccines**

Since the establishment and characterization of human ESC lines, researchers have attempted to evaluate ESC-based whole-cell cancer vaccines due to their ability to deliver multiple oncofetal antigens in one treatment. In addition, unlike defined antigenbased vaccines, the whole-cell vaccine is universally applicable to all patients regardless of their HLA type. Li et al. found that human ESCs were able to induce a moderate anti-tumor effect (16). Both humoral and cellular immunity were activated by H9 ESC line, as evidenced by the production of colon carcinoma cell line-specific antibodies and IFNy-producing cells, respectively. It was speculated that oncofetal antigens shared by the ESCs and tumors might have contributed to the vaccine-induced antitumor response. However, these immune responses were induced by a xenogeneic human ESC line injected into mice, and it is very likely that the incompatibility of the MHC antigens between the human ESCs and mouse cells contributed to a large portion of the immune responses. Furthermore, the anti-tumor effects produced by the xenogeneic ESC-vaccine were not as potent as those induced by immunization with the syngeneic murine colon cancer cells. A similar approach using xenogeneic human ESCs as a cancer prevention vaccine was evaluated by Zhang et al. (58) in an ovarian cancer model in rats, and a moderate tumor prevention effect was observed in this study.

These results raise the question of whether allogeneic or autologous ESCs are better than xenogeneic ESCs as an anticancer vaccine. A later study by Dong et al. (59) evaluated an allogeneic ESC cancer vaccine in mice. They investigated the ESC vaccine both as a prophylactic vaccine and as a therapeutic treatment in a transplantable lung cancer model by showing it could inhibit tumor growth in mice by enhancing lymphocyte proliferation and cytokine secretion, suggesting the potential of utilizing allogeneic ESC vaccines as a therapeutic strategy. However, they observed a stronger tumor inhibitory effect in the prophylactic group compared with the therapeutic group, which may be due to the immunosuppressive environment in established tumors.

To test the prophylactic ESC cancer vaccine in a physiologically relevant setting, Yaddanapudi et al. (60) employed a spontaneous mouse tumor model. Allogenic ESCs along with GM-CSF were used to provide immunostimulatory adjuvant activity. GM-CSF can stimulate and activate antigen-presenting cells (APCs), which can process and present tumor antigens to CD4+ helper T cells and CD8+ cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) (61, 62). The authors observed more potent and durable protection against tumor growth than that found in earlier studies using ESCs alone, corroborating the immunostimulatory effects of the GM-CSF in the cancer vaccine. Moreover, this combinatory vaccination could inhibit carcinogen and chronic pulmonary inflammation induced lung cancer, which is a physiologically relevant spontaneous lung cancer model in mice.

### iPSC-Based Whole-Cell Cancer Vaccines

Embryonic stem cells and iPSCs share nearly identical gene expression and epigenetic profiles (29-32). Based on the similarities between cancer cells and ESCs, Li et al. (16) evaluated one human iPSC line TZ1 as an anti-cancer vaccine in a transplantable mouse colon cancer model. They found that although these iPSCs induced significant numbers of IFNyand IL-4-producing splenocytes against the mouse colon cancer cells, no evidence of tumor rejection was seen, possibly due to the accumulation of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in TZ1-immunized groups. These data suggest that modifications of the iPSC-based cancer vaccine are needed to increase the immune response against tumors. For example, autologous iPSCs may contain a more representative and accurate panel of tumor antigens than xenogeneic iPSCs, and therefore, autologous iPSCs may be better than xenogeneic iPSCs as anti-cancer vaccines, pending further confirmatory studies. In addition, an immunostimulatory vaccine adjuvant may enhance the antitumor immunity of the iPSC-based vaccines.

Embryonic/fetal materials or ESCs often come from unrelated donors and may express mismatched MHC that could trigger an immune response. To study the immunogenicity of oncofetal proteins, alloimmunity stimulated by MHC mismatches will need to be eliminated. In addition, tumorigenicity associated with ESCs has been one of the major obstacles in using ESCs as cancer vaccines for clinical applications. Recently, a study by our lab (14) addressed these issues using an irradiated autologous iPSC-based cancer vaccine. In this study, we first demonstrated that human and murine iPSCs express a list of tumor-associated and tumor-specific antigens by comparing expression profiles of 11 different human iPSC clones with human ESCs, cancer tissues, and healthy tissues using RNA sequencing. We showed that human iPSCs cluster with human ESCs and the cancer tissues, revealing significant gene expression overlap in cancer genes among different cancer types and iPSCs. To evaluate whether the oncofetal antigens in iPSCs rather than MHC mismatches could induce immune responses, we minimized alloimmunity by utilizing autologous iPSCs as the source of the anti-cancer vaccine. To enhance the antitumor immunity induced by the vaccine, we included an immunostimulatory adjuvant, CpG oligodeoxynucleotide, a tolllike receptor 9 (TLR 9) agonist that can induce the maturation of APCs (Figure 1). We then irradiated iPSCs before vaccination to prevent teratoma formation, as studies have shown that gamma irradiation could inhibit the tumorigenicity of iPSCs (63, 64). We irradiated iPSCs at 60 Gy, which is a lethal dose to human iPSCs in vitro and known to significantly decrease teratoma formation ability of human iPSCs in mice (63, 64). We generated autologous iPSCs by introducing Yamanaka factors (Oct4, Sox2, Klf4, and c-Myc) into mouse fibroblasts from the same mouse strain. Vaccinations with irradiated iPSCs mixed with the immunostimulatory CpG were administered weekly for a month, inducing antibodies that bound to iPSCs and tumor cells. Vaccination with iPSC-based cancer vaccine also induced CD4+ and CD8+ T cells that could recognize tumor cells in vitro, suggesting the induced immune responses are tumor specific. Vaccination increased APCs and activated T cells in mice, resulting in a favorable ratio of CD8+ T cells over CD4+CD25+FoxP3+ regulatory T cells (T-regs). As a result, vaccinated mice rejected transplanted breast cancer, melanoma, and mesothelioma tumor cells, indicating that the stimulated immune activity was tumor-specific and functional. Importantly, adoptive transfer of T cells isolated from vaccine-treated tumors could transfer this tumor protection to naïve mice, proving that the tumor protection effect was mediated by T cells (**Figure 1**).

Because preventive treatment of cancer is clinically uncommon for non-viral associated cancers, we also investigated the therapeutic effects of the iPSC-vaccine in established tumors. Here, the vaccination with iPSC vaccine did not stop the growth of established melanomas, which may be due to the established immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. We then examined a clinically relevant scenario involving the surgical removal of the majority of tumors but left some residual tumor remains at the margins; we found that the iPSC + CpG vaccine could inhibit tumor relapse. These data are consistent with the finding that cancer stemness features are more highly expressed in recurrent tumors (42).

Because adult stem cells are also present, although rare, in some adult organs such as skin, liver, bone marrow, and digestive system (65), we evaluated auto-immunity by monitoring the animal body weight, organ histology, and antinuclear antibody levels. All of these measurements were normal, suggesting the absence of gross toxicity and autoimmunity in vaccinated mice. The iPSC vaccine could break the self-tolerance of the immune system to oncofetal antigens yet did not induce significant autoimmunity, which was possibly due to the higher abundance of these oncofetal antigens in tumors than in resident stem cells within organs. Taken together, our data support further assessing the value of iPSC-based whole-cell therapy as an anti-cancer immunotherapy.

# **CONCLUDING REMARKS**

Oncofetal antigen-based cancer vaccines have demonstrated therapeutic potential in preclinical and some clinical studies. As presented by several examples in this review, various oncofetal antigen-based vaccine strategies, particularly approaches that combine an autologous iPSC vaccine with an immune adjuvant, have demonstrated great promise to elicit potent anti-tumor responses for cancer treatment. Despite these advances, challenges remain. For instance, many early clinical studies using oncofetal antigen-based vaccines focused on single oncofetal antigens with or without immune adjuvants, limiting the level, and duration of the induced anti-tumor immune response due to tumor heterogenicity and fast adaptation of cancer cells. Unlike the defined antigen-based vaccines, whole-cell vaccines are universally applicable to all patients without concerns on HLA type mismatches. Therefore, whole cell-based cancer vaccines, with the epitope heterogeneity of wholes cells of ESCs and iPSCs, may prove more potent, durable, and easier to apply than single-antigen targeted vaccines.









The only FDA approved non-antiviral cancer vaccine, Sipuleucel-T (Provenge), was developed as a TAA pulsed autologous dendritic cell-based cancer vaccination for prostate cancer (66). In 2010, it was approved as an autologous whole-cell cancer vaccine that utilizes a TAA and GM-CSF fusion protein pulsed autologous peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). It prolonged patient survival rate by 50% at 3 years in a phase III study, thus has been approved for treating patients with castration -resistant metastatic prostate cancer (67), supporting the efficacy of TAA-based cancer vaccine and the feasibility of using autologous whole-cell cancer vaccine in clinical settings.

In addition, because autologous iPSC-based cancer vaccines are relatively easy to generate (**Figure 2**), iPSC vaccines can be made available at short notice after a diagnosis, ready to be dispensed soon after surgery, chemotherapy, or radiation therapy when cancer cells are most vulnerable. Vaccination of iPSCvaccines at this time could prime the immune system to target a broad spectrum of cancer-specific antigens to prevent recurrence of cancer, because recurrent and metastatic tumors have a higher level of stemness phenotype (42).

Concerns such as teratoma formation and auto-immunity must be addressed in evaluating the use of iPSC-based cancer vaccines in humans. Although the iPSC-based cancer vaccine did not induce significant auto-immunity in mice and injection of irradiated miPSCs did not result in teratoma formation in mice (14), differences in mouse and human iPSCs and immune systems should be carefully considered before moving this treatment to the clinical settings.

#### REFERENCES

- Chism SE, Burton RC, Warner NL. Immunogenicity of oncofetal antigens: a review. *Clin Immunol Immunopathol.* (1978) 11:346– 73. doi: 10.1016/0090-1229(78)90059-4
- Trojan J, Naval X, Johnson T, Lafarge-Frayssinet C, Hajeri-Germond M, Farges O, et al. Expression of serum albumin and of alphafetoprotein in murine normal and neoplastic primitive embryonic structures. *Mol Reprod Dev.* (1995) 42:369–78. doi: 10.1002/mrd. 1080420402
- Haynes WDG, Shertock KL, Skinner JM, Whitehead R. The ultrastructural immunohistochemistry of oncofoetal antigens in large bowel carcinomas. *Virchows Arch A*. (1985) 405:263–75. doi: 10.1007/BF00704377
- Matzuk MM, Krieger M, Corless CL, Boime I. Effects of preventing O-glycosylation on the secretion of human chorionic gonadotropin in Chinese hamster ovary cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1987) 84:6354– 8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.84.18.6354
- Fishman WH, Raam S, Stolbach LL. Markers for ovarian cancer: regan isoenzyme and other glycoproteins. *Semin Oncol.* (1975) 2:211–6.
- Slodkowska J, Szturmowicz M, Rudzinski P, Giedronowicz D, Sakowicz A, Androsiuk W, et al. Expression of CEA and trophoblastic cell markers by lung carcinoma in association with histological characteristics and serum marker levels. *Eur J Cancer Prev Off J Eur Cancer Prev Organ ECP*. (1998) 7:51–60.
- 7. Tran L, Judor J-P, Gauttier V, Geist M, Hoffman C, Rooke R, et al. The immunogenicity of the tumor-associated antigen  $\alpha$ -fetoprotein is enhanced by a fusion with a transmembrane domain. *BioMed Res Inter.* (2012). 2012:878657. doi: 10.1155/2012/878657
- Skinner JM, Whitehead R. Tumor-associated antigens in polyps and carcinoma of the human large bowel. *Cancer*. (1981) 47:1241–5. doi: 10.1002/ 1097-0142(19810315)47:6<1241::AID-CNCR2820470602>3.0.CO;2-Y

Approaches to further enhance the efficacy of iPSC-based cancer vaccines include concurrent treatment with PD-1/CTLA-4 checkpoint inhibitors, chemotherapy, or radiation therapy. Additional approaches include immunostimulatory agents that can more potently activate APCs, including agonistic CD40 monoclonal antibodies and other TLR agonists such as PolyI:C. These approaches offer powerful combination therapies with possible synergistic effects that may be more effective in patients who have a high risk of disease recurrence after receiving initial standard-of-care therapy.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

XO wrote the manuscript. XO, MT, and JW revised the manuscript and provided the critical input.

#### FUNDING

XO is supported by National Institutes of Health (NIH) T32 HL098049. JW is supported by NIH R01 HL141851, R01 HL123968, R01 HL132875 and Stanford Cancer Institute Cancer Innovation Award.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.01510/full#supplementary-material

- Purswani S, Talwar GP. Development of a highly immunogenic recombinant candidate vaccine against human chorionic gonadotropin. *Vaccine*. (2011) 29:2341–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2010.11.069
- Takahashi K, Yamanaka S. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. *Cell.* (2006) 126:663–76. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.024
- de Almeida PE, Meyer EH, Kooreman NG, Diecke S, Dey D, Sanchez-Freire V, et al. Transplanted terminally differentiated induced pluripotent stem cells are accepted by immune mechanisms similar to self-tolerance. *Nat Commun.* (2014) 5:3903. doi: 10.1038/ncomms4903
- Ghosh Z, Huang M, Hu S, Wilson KD, Dey D, Wu JC. Dissecting the oncogenic potential of human embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cell derivatives. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:5030–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-4402
- Brewer BG, Mitchell RA, Harandi A, Eaton JW. Embryonic vaccines against cancer: an early history. *Exp Mol Pathol.* (2009) 86:192–7. doi: 10.1016/j.yexmp.2008.12.002
- Kooreman NG, Kim Y, de Almeida PE, Termglinchan V, Diecke S, Shao N-Y, et al. Autologous iPSC-based vaccines elicit anti-tumor responses *in vivo. Cell Stem Cell.* (2018) 22:501–13.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2018.01.016
- Zheng Q, Zheng Y, Chen J, You J, Zhu Y, Liu Y, et al. A hepatic stem cell vaccine is superior to an embryonic stem cell vaccine in the prophylaxis and treatment of murine hepatocarcinoma. *Oncol Rep.* (2017) 37:1716– 24. doi: 10.3892/or.2017.5381
- Li Y, Zeng H, Xu R-H, Liu B, Li Z. Vaccination with human pluripotent stem cells generates a broad spectrum of immunological and clinical responses against colon cancer. *Stem Cells Dayt Ohio.* (2009) 27:3103– 11. doi: 10.1002/stem.234
- Ben-David U, Benvenisty N. The tumorigenicity of human embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells. *Nat Rev Cancer.* (2011) 11:268– 77. doi: 10.1038/nrc3034

- Hiyama E, Hiyama K. Telomere and telomerase in stem cells. Br J Cancer. (2007) 96:1020–4. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6603671
- Heisig J, Weber D, Englberger E, Winkler A, Kneitz S, Sung W-K, et al. Target Gene analysis by microarrays and chromatin immunoprecipitation identifies HEY proteins as highly redundant bHLH repressors. *PLoS Genet*. (2012) 8:e1002728. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1002728
- Evans PM, Liu C. Roles of Krüpel-like factor 4 in normal homeostasis, cancer and stem cells. *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin.* (2008) 40:554–64. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-7270.2008.00439.x
- Sperger JM, Chen X, Draper JS, Antosiewicz JE, Chon CH, Jones SB, et al. Gene expression patterns in human embryonic stem cells and human pluripotent germ cell tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:13350– 5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.2235735100
- Ben-Porath I, Thomson MW, Carey VJ, Ge R, Bell GW, Regev A, et al. An embryonic stem cell-like gene expression signature in poorly differentiated aggressive human tumors. *Nat Genet*. (2008) 40:499–507. doi: 10.1038/ng.127
- Neveu P, Kye MJ, Qi S, Buchholz DE, Clegg DO, Sahin M, et al. MicroRNA profiling reveals two distinct p53-related human pluripotent stem cell states. *Cell Stem Cell*. (2010) 7:671–81. doi: 10.1016/j.stem.2010.11.012
- Calvanese V, Horrillo A, Hmadcha A, Suarez-Alvarez B, Fernandez AF, Lara E, et al. Cancer genes hypermethylated in human embryonic stem cells. *PloS ONE*. (2008) 3:e3294. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003294
- Baker DEC, Harrison NJ, Maltby E, Smith K, Moore HD, Shaw PJ, et al. Adaptation to culture of human embryonic stem cells and oncogenesis *in vivo*. *Nat Biotechnol.* (2007) 25:207–15. doi: 10.1038/nbt1285
- Thomson JA, Itskovitz-Eldor J, Shapiro SS, Waknitz MA, Swiergiel JJ, Marshall VS, et al. Embryonic stem cell lines derived from human blastocysts. *Science*. (1998) 282:1145–7. doi: 10.1126/science.282.5391.1145
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell. (2011) 144:646–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Takahashi K, Tanabe K, Ohnuki M, Narita M, Ichisaka T, Tomoda K, et al. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. *Cell.* (2007) 131:861–72. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2007.11.019
- Bock C, Kiskinis E, Verstappen G, Gu H, Boulting G, Smith ZD, et al. Reference maps of human ES and iPS cell variation enable highthroughput characterization of pluripotent cell lines. *Cell.* (2011) 144:439– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.12.032
- Mallon BS, Hamilton RS, Kozhich OA, Johnson KR, Fann YC, Rao MS, et al. Comparison of the molecular profiles of human embryonic and induced pluripotent stem cells of isogenic origin. *Stem Cell Res.* (2014) 12:376– 86. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2013.11.010
- Mallon BS, Chenoweth JG, Johnson KR, Hamilton RS, Tesar PJ, Yavatkar AS, et al. StemCellDB: the human pluripotent stem cell database at the national institutes of health. *Stem Cell Res.* (2013) 10:57– 66. doi: 10.1016/j.scr.2012.09.002
- Soldner F, Hockemeyer D, Beard C, Gao Q, Bell GW, Cook EG, et al. Parkinson's disease patient-derived induced pluripotent stem cells free of viral reprogramming factors. *Cell.* (2009) 136:964–77. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2009.02.013
- Albihn A, Johnsen JI, Henriksson MA. MYC in oncogenesis and as a target for cancer therapies. Adv Cancer Res. (2010) 107:163– 224. doi: 10.1016/S0065-230X(10)07006-5
- Ruggero D. The role of Myc-induced protein synthesis in cancer. *Cancer Res.* (2009) 69:8839–43. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-1970
- 35. Tian Y, Luo A, Cai Y, Su Q, Ding F, Chen H, et al. MicroRNA-10b promotes migration and invasion through KLF4 in human esophageal cancer cell lines. *J Biol Chem.* (2010) 285:7986–94. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M109.062877
- Lambertini C, Pantano S, Dotto GP. Differential control of Notch1 gene transcription by Klf4 and Sp3 transcription factors in normal versus cancer-derived keratinocytes. *PloS ONE*. (2010) 5:e10369. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0010369
- Rageul J, Mottier S, Jarry A, Shah Y, Théoleyre S, Masson D, et al. KLF4dependent, PPARgamma-induced expression of GPA33 in colon cancer cell lines. *Int J Cancer*. (2009) 125:2802–9. doi: 10.1002/ijc.24683
- Asadi MH, Mowla SJ, Fathi F, Aleyasin A, Asadzadeh J, Atlasi Y. OCT4B1, a novel spliced variant of OCT4, is highly expressed in gastric cancer and acts as an antiapoptotic factor. *Int J Cancer.* (2011) 128:2645– 52. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25643

- Ji J, Zheng P-S. Expression of Sox2 in human cervical carcinogenesis. *Hum Pathol.* (2010) 41:1438–47. doi: 10.1016/j.humpath.2009.11.021
- Sholl LM, Barletta JA, Yeap BY, Chirieac LR, Hornick JL. Sox2 protein expression is an independent poor prognostic indicator in stage I lung adenocarcinoma. *Am J Surg Pathol.* (2010) 34:1193–8. doi: 10.1097/PAS.0b013e3181e5e024
- Schoenhals M, Kassambara A, De Vos J, Hose D, Moreaux J, Klein B. Embryonic stem cell markers expression in cancers. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2009) 383:157–62. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2009.02.156
- Malta TM, Sokolov A, Gentles AJ, Burzykowski T, Poisson L, Weinstein JN, et al. Machine learning identifies stemness features associated with oncogenic dedifferentiation. *Cell.* (2018) 173:338-354.e15. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.03.034
- Clarke MF. Clinical and therapeutic implications of cancer stem cells. N Engl J Med. (2019) 380:2237–45. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1804280
- Shiozawa Y, Nie B, Pienta KJ, Morgan TM, Taichman RS. Cancer stem cells and their role in metastasis. *Pharmacol Ther.* (2013) 138:285– 93. doi: 10.1016/j.pharmthera.2013.01.014
- Drukker M, Katz G, Urbach A, Schuldiner M, Markel G, Itskovitz-Eldor J, et al. Characterization of the expression of MHC proteins in human embryonic stem cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2002) 99:9864– 9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.142298299
- 46. Drukker M, Katchman H, Katz G, Even-Tov Friedman S, Shezen E, Hornstein E, et al. Human embryonic stem cells and their differentiated derivatives are less susceptible to immune rejection than adult cells. *Stem Cells Dayt Ohio.* (2006) 24:221–9. doi: 10.1634/stemcells.2005-0188
- Robertson NJ, Brook FA, Gardner RL, Cobbold SP, Waldmann H, Fairchild PJ. Embryonic stem cell-derived tissues are immunogenic but their inherent immune privilege promotes the induction of tolerance. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2007) 104:20920–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0710265105
- Bifari F, Pacelli L, Krampera M. Immunological properties of embryonic and adult stem cells. World J Stem Cells. (2010) 2:50–60. doi: 10.4252/wjsc.v2.i3.50
- Grinnemo K-H, Kumagai-Braesch M, Månsson-Broberg A, Skottman H, Hao X, Siddiqui A, et al. Human embryonic stem cells are immunogenic in allogeneic and xenogeneic settings. *Reprod Biomed Online*. (2006) 13:712–24. doi: 10.1016/S1472-6483(10)60663-3
- Nishikawa S, Goldstein RA, Nierras CR. The promise of human induced pluripotent stem cells for research and therapy. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* (2008) 9:725–9. doi: 10.1038/nrm2466
- Zhao R, Daley GQ. From fibroblasts to iPS cells: induced pluripotency by defined factors. J Cell Biochem. (2008) 105:949–55. doi: 10.1002/jcb.21871
- Araki R, Uda M, Hoki Y, Sunayama M, Nakamura M, Ando S, et al. Negligible immunogenicity of terminally differentiated cells derived from induced pluripotent or embryonic stem cells. *Nature*. (2013) 494:100– 4. doi: 10.1038/nature11807
- Brichard VG, Lejeune D. GSK's antigen-specific cancer immunotherapy programme: pilot results leading to Phase III clinical development. *Vaccine*. (2007) 25(Suppl 2):B61–71. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2007.06.038
- Atanackovic D, Altorki NK, Cao Y, Ritter E, Ferrara CA, Ritter G, et al. Booster vaccination of cancer patients with MAGE-A3 protein reveals long-term immunological memory or tolerance depending on priming. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:1650–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.07071 40104
- 55. Vansteenkiste JF, Cho BC, Vanakesa T, De Pas T, Zielinski M, Kim MS, et al. Efficacy of the MAGE-A3 cancer immunotherapeutic as adjuvant therapy in patients with resected MAGE-A3-positive non-small-cell lung cancer (MAGRIT): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2016) 17:822–35. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)00099-1
- Shimizu Y, Suzuki T, Yoshikawa T, Tsuchiya N, Sawada Y, Endo I, et al. Cancer immunotherapy-targeted glypican-3 or neoantigens. *Cancer Sci.* (2018) 109:531–41. doi: 10.1111/cas.13485
- Bezu L, Kepp O, Cerrato G, Pol J, Fucikova J, Spisek R, et al. Trial watch: peptide-based vaccines in anticancer therapy. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1511506. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1511506
- Zhang Z-J, Chen X-H, Chang X-H, Ye X, Li Y, Cui H. Human embryonic stem cells–a potential vaccine for ovarian cancer. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev APJCP*. (2012) 13:4295–300. doi: 10.7314/APJCP.2012.13.9.4295
- 59. Dong W, Du J, Shen H, Gao D, Li Z, Wang G, et al. Administration of embryonic stem cells generates effective antitumor immunity in mice with

minor and heavy tumor load. Cancer Immunol Immunother CII. (2010) 59:1697-705. doi: 10.1007/s00262-010-0899-9

- Yaddanapudi K, Mitchell RA, Putty K, Willer S, Sharma RK, Yan J, et al. Vaccination with embryonic stem cells protects against lung cancer: is a broadspectrum prophylactic vaccine against cancer possible? *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e42289. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042289
- Nemunaitis J, Sterman D, Jablons D, Smith JW, Fox B, Maples P, et al. Granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor gene-modified autologous tumor vaccines in non-small-cell lung cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. (2004) 96:326–31. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djh028
- Dranoff G. GM-CSF-based cancer vaccines. *Immunol Rev.* (2002) 188:147– 54. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-065X.2002.18813.x
- Katsukawa M, Nakajima Y, Fukumoto A, Doi D, Takahashi J. Fail-safe therapy by gamma-ray irradiation against tumor formation by humaninduced pluripotent stem cell-derived neural progenitors. *Stem Cells Dev.* (2016) 25:815–25. doi: 10.1089/scd.2015.0394
- Inui S, Minami K, Ito E, Imaizumi H, Mori S, Koizumi M, et al. Irradiation strongly reduces tumorigenesis of human induced pluripotent stem cells. J Radiat Res (Tokyo). (2017) 58:430–8. doi: 10.1093/jrr/rrw124
- The Adult Stem Cell. Stemcells.nih.gov. Available online at: https://stemcells. nih.gov/info/2001report/chapter4.htm (cited 2019 May 16).
- Fong L, Brockstedt D, Benike C, Breen JK, Strang G, Ruegg CL, et al. Dendritic cell-based xenoantigen vaccination for prostate cancer immunotherapy. J Immunol Baltim Md 1950. (2001) 167:7150–6. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.12.7150
- Cheever MA, Higano CS. PROVENGE (Sipuleucel-T) in prostate cancer: the first FDA-approved therapeutic cancer vaccine. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2011) 17:3520–6. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-10-3126
- Grozdanov PN, Yovchev MI, Dabeva MD. The oncofetal protein glypican-3 is a novel marker of hepatic progenitor/oval cells. *Lab Investig J Tech Methods Pathol.* (2006) 86:1272–84. doi: 10.1038/labinvest.3700479
- 69. Slodkowska J, Szturmowicz M, Rudzinski P, Giedronowicz D, Sakowicz A, Androsiuk W, et al. Expression of CEA and trophoblastic cell markers by lung carcinoma in association with histological characteristics and serum marker levels. *Eur J Cancer Prev Off J Eur Cancer Prev Organ ECP*. (1998) 7:51–60.
- Baumhoer D, Tornillo L, Stadlmann S, Roncalli M, Diamantis EK, Terracciano LM. Glypican 3 expression in human nonneoplastic, preneoplastic, and neoplastic tissues: a tissue microarray analysis of 4,387 tissue samples. *Am J Clin Pathol.* (2008) 129:899–906. doi: 10.1309/HCQWPWD50XHD2DW6
- Coggin JH, Adkinson L, Anderson NG. Fetal antigens shared as transplantation rejection antigens on chemically induced mouse and hamster sarcomas. *Cancer Res.* (1980) 40:1568–73.
- Hishinuma M, Ohashi K-I, Yamauchi N, Kashima T, Uozaki H, Ota S, et al. Hepatocellular oncofetal protein, glypican 3 is a sensitive marker for alpha-fetoprotein-producing gastric carcinoma. *Histopathology*. (2006) 49:479–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2559.2006.02522.x
- 73. Kato T, Hayama S, Yamabuki T, Ishikawa N, Miyamoto M, Ito T, et al. Increased expression of insulin-like growth factor-II messenger RNA-binding protein 1 is associated with tumor progression in patients with lung cancer. Clin Cancer Res Off J Am Assoc Cancer Res. (2007) 13(2 Pt 1):434– 42. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-1297
- Shi YY, Wang HC, Yin YH, Sun WS, Li Y, Zhang CQ, et al. Identification and analysis of tumour-associated antigens in hepatocellular carcinoma. Br J Cancer. (2005) 92:929–34. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjc.6602460

- Jiang XP, Yang DC, Elliott RL, Head JF. Vaccination with a mixed vaccine of autogenous and allogeneic breast cancer cells and tumor associated antigens CA15-3, CEA and CA125 - results in immune and clinical responses in breast cancer patients. *Cancer Biother Radiopharm.* (2000) 15:495– 505. doi: 10.1089/cbr.2000.15.495
- Coggin JH, Rohrer JW, Barsoum AL. True immunogenicity of oncofetal antigen/immature laminin receptor protein. *Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:4685. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-2940
- 77. Fishman WH, Raam S, Stolbach LL. Markers for ovarian cancer: regan isoenzyme and other glycoproteins. *Semin Oncol.* (1975) 2:211–6.
- Nouri AME, Torabi-Pour N, Dabare AANPM. A new highly specific monoclonal antibody against placental alkaline phosphatase: a potential marker for the early detection of testis tumour. *BJU Int.* (2000) 86:894– 900. doi: 10.1046/j.1464-410x.2000.00939.x
- 79. Lüftl M, Schuler G, Jungbluth AA. Melanoma or not? Cancer testis antigens may help. Br J Dermatol. (2004) 151:1213– 8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2133.2004.06260.x
- Mizukoshi E, Nakamoto Y, Tsuji H, Yamashita T, Kaneko S. Identification of alpha-fetoprotein-derived peptides recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes in HLA-A24+ patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Int J Cancer*. (2006) 118:1194–204. doi: 10.1002/ijc.21468
- Liu W, Li Y, Wang B, Dai L, Qian W, Zhang J-Y. Autoimmune response to IGF2 mRNA-binding protein 2 (IMP2/p62) in breast cancer. Scand J Immunol. (2015) 81:502–7. doi: 10.1111/sji.12285
- Broe MED, Pollet DE. Multicenter evaluation of human placental alkaline phosphatase as a possible tumor-associated antigen in serum. *Clin Chem.* (1988) 34:1995–9.
- Szmania S, Gnjatic S, Tricot G, Stone K, Zhan F, Moreno A, et al. Immunization with a recombinant MAGE-A3 protein after high-dose therapy for myeloma. J Immunother Hagerstown Md 1997. (2007) 30:847– 54. doi: 10.1097/CJI.0b013e318158fcff
- Malatesta M, Mannello F, Luchetti F, Marcheggiani F, Condemi L, Papa S, et al. Prostate-specific antigen synthesis and secretion by human placenta: a physiological kallikrein source during pregnancy. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2000) 85:317–21. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.1.6302
- Eifuku R, Takenoyama M, Yoshino I, Imahayashi S, So T, Yasuda M, et al. Analysis of MAGE-3 derived synthetic peptide as a human lung cancer antigen recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. *Int J Clin Oncol.* (2001) 6:34–9. doi: 10.1007/PL00012077

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** JW is the co-founder of Khloris Biosciences. However, research in his laboratory is independent from and not supported by Khloris Biosciences.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Ouyang, Telli and Wu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# **CIITA-Driven MHC Class II Expressing Tumor Cells as Antigen Presenting Cell Performers: Toward the Construction of an Optimal Anti-tumor Vaccine**

#### Roberto S. Accolla, Elise Ramia, Alessandra Tedeschi and Greta Forlani\*

Laboratories of General Pathology and Immunology "Giovanna Tosi", Department of Medicine and Surgery, School of Medicine, University of Insubria, Varese, Italy

Construction of an optimal vaccine against tumors relies on the availability of appropriate tumor-specific antigens capable to stimulate CD4+ T helper cells (TH) and CD8+ cytolytic T cells (CTL). CTL are considered the major effectors of the anti-tumor adaptive immune response as they recognize antigens presented on MHC class I (MHC-I) molecules usually expressed in all cells and thus also in tumors. However, attempts to translate in clinics vaccination protocols based only on tumor-specific MHC-I-bound peptides have resulted in very limited, if any, success. We believe failure was mostly due to inadequate triggering of the TH arm of adaptive immunity, as TH cells are necessary to trigger and maintain the proliferation of all the immune effector cells required to eliminate tumor cells. In this review, we focus on a novel strategy of anti-tumor vaccination established in our laboratory and based on the persistent expression of MHC class II (MHC-II) molecules in tumor cells. MHC-II are the restricting elements of TH recognition. They are usually not expressed in solid tumors. By genetically modifying tumor cells of distinct histological origin with the MHC-II transactivator CIITA, the physiological controller of MHC-II gene expression discovered in our laboratory, stable expression of all MHC class II genes was obtained. This resulted in tumor rejection or strong retardation of tumor growth in vivo in mice, mediated primarily by tumor-specific TH cells as assessed by both depletion and adoptive cell transfer experiments. Importantly these findings led us to apply this methodology to human settings for the purification of MHC-II-bound tumor specific peptides directly from tumor cells, specifically from hepatocarcinomas, and the construction of a multi-peptide (MHC-II and MHC-I specific) immunotherapeutic vaccine. Additionally, our approach unveiled a noticeable exception to the dogma that dendritic cells are the sole professional antigen presenting cells (APC) capable to prime naïve TH cells, because CIITA-dependent MHC-II expressing tumor cells could also perform this function. Thus, our approach has served not only to select the most appropriate tumor specific peptides to activate the key lymphocytes triggering the anti-tumor effector functions but also to increase our knowledge of intimate mechanisms governing basic immunological processes.

Keywords: MHC-II, CIITA, CD4+ TH cells, APC, tumor vaccines

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Pedro A. Reche, Complutense University of Madrid, Spain

#### Reviewed by:

Tadao Ohno, Cell-Medicine, Inc., Japan Jonathan A. Harton, Albany Medical College, United States

> \*Correspondence: Greta Forlani greta.forlani@uninsubria.it

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vaccines and Molecular Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 03 May 2019 **Accepted:** 17 July 2019 **Published:** 30 July 2019

#### Citation:

Accolla RS, Ramia E, Tedeschi A and Forlani G (2019) CIITA-Driven MHC Class II Expressing Tumor Cells as Antigen Presenting Cell Performers: Toward the Construction of an Optimal Anti-tumor Vaccine. Front. Immunol. 10:1806. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01806

## INTRODUCTION

In recent years, tumor immunology has witnessed a dramatic development mostly due to the possibility of applying the acquired knowledge in the field to the development of concrete and realistic approaches to fight cancer. The interest of many investigators has been concentrated mainly on ways to activate and maintain those effector cells of adaptive immunity that are believed be the major actors in eliminating the tumor cells, the CD8+ cytolytic T cells (CTL). This was justified by the fact that CTL recognize directly the tumor cells via their specific receptors (TcR) directed against "tumor antigens" [here defined as peptides derived from both overexpressed or mutated (neoantigens) proteins in the tumor], presented by MHC class I (MHC-I) molecules of tumor cells (1). At the variance with MHC class II (MHC-II) molecules that are constitutively expressed only in few cell types (2), MHC-I molecules are expressed, with few exceptions, in all cell types including tumor cells (3). Moreover, the intracellular pathway through which MHC-I molecules are loaded with peptides favors the binding of peptides from endogenously synthesized proteins (4, 5), as potential tumor antigens are. Unfortunately, CTL suffers of important extrinsic and intrinsic limitations in the fight against tumors. Often the tumor cells down-regulate their MHC-I expression to elude recognition by the CTL (3, 6-8); moreover tumor cells secrete in the tumor microenvironment suppressive mediators that limit the functional activity of CTL (9). Finally, and importantly, maturation, proliferation and functional activity of CTL require the continuous support of CD4+ T cells (T helper cells or TH) and this makes TH cells the master officers and the regulators of all adaptive immune responses (10, 11). Thus, the efficacy of the adaptive immune response against the tumor is strongly conditioned by the initial priming and activation of TH cells. To become fully active, TH cells must recognize antigens, including tumor antigens, via their TcR that interact with the antigen only if it is presented within the context of MHC-II molecules expressed on the surface of professional antigen presenting cells (APC), mainly dendritic cells (DC) and macrophages. At variance with MHC-I, loading of peptides on MHC-II molecules preferentially takes place in endosomal compartments (4), rich of degraded products from endocytosed external materials. Hence, it is believed that MHC-II molecules cannot present peptides derived from the processing of endogenously synthesized molecules. As mentioned above, due to their relatively restricted tissue distribution MHC-II molecules are not expressed on the majority of tumor cell types. For all these reasons, tumor cells would be prevented to stimulate TH cells and consequently to initiate the cascade of event leading to anti-tumor effector functions. The inability of tumor cells to trigger TH cells has contributed to substantiate the immunological dogma, verified for a wide variety of antigens, including pathogens, that tumor antigens could trigger the response of TH only if endocytosed, processed and presented by professional APC (12, 13). However, while for pathogens the mechanism of phago-endocytosis, digestion, processing, and presentation on the MHC-II molecules by professional APC is part of the normal physiology to eliminate the non-self external aggressors, the same is not true for tumor cells as in general these cells are not phagocytosed and degraded by APC. Thus, processing and presentation of putative immunogenic tumor antigens is strongly limited to tumor cell debris and possibly secreted tumor cell products that APC can capture in the tumor microenvironment. It is clear that in this condition the potential repertoire of tumor antigens that professional APC can process and expose via their MHC class II molecules is relatively limited both in quality and in quantity.

# **RE-ORIENTING THE FOCUS**

On the basis of the above considerations, it was not so surprising that attempts to translate to clinics vaccination protocols based only on tumor-specific MHC-I-bound peptides resulted in very limited, if any, success (7). In our opinion the failure of this vaccination attempts was mostly due to inadequate triggering of the TH arm of adaptive immunity. In this review, we focus on a novel strategy of anti-tumor vaccination established in our laboratory and based on the persistent expression of MHC-II molecules in tumor cells. Our approach started by asking a relatively naïve question: *should tumor cells have the possibility to express in a "physiological way" MHC-II molecules, would they be capable to process and present putative tumor antigens, and would they even have the capacity to trigger naïve CD4+ TH cells specific for tumor?* 

## CANONICAL MHC CLASS II EXPRESSION IN TUMOR CELLS CAN RESULT IN TRIGGERING OF PROTECTIVE ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNE RESPONSE IN VIVO

Although, MHC-II molecules can present preferentially peptides originated from protein processing in endosomal compartments and thus derived from exogenously endocytosed material, endogenous proteins could also access the MHC-II pathway of antigen presentation, as demonstrated by previous important studies (14–16) and peptides of these proteins could be recognized and serve as immunogens for TH cell triggering (17, 18). On this ground, we hypothesized that tumor cells, modified to express MHC-II molecules in an appropriate way, could present their own tumor antigens in a MHC-II-restricted fashion to tumor-specific TH cells.

As mentioned above, normally, tumor cells do not express MHC-II genes constitutively because this expression is developmentally regulated and restricted to few cell types. Nevertheless, a vast array of cell types can transiently express MHC class II genes after induction with immune cytokines, particularly IFN $\gamma$  (19). Both constitutive and inducible MHC class II gene expression are under the control of the MHC class II transcriptional activator encoded by the AIR-1 locus discovered in our laboratory (20–23) and also designated CIITA (24). CIITA regulates also the expression of other fundamental genes necessary for MHC-II transport to endosomal compartments

and loading of peptides, including the invariant chain (In chain) and DM (25-28). When experiments were performed to stably express CIITA in both human and mouse tumor cells, we could demonstrate the constitutive expression of MHC-II genes and corresponding molecules and, importantly, the acquisition of antigen processing and presentation to primed TH cells (29). These findings were the ground to verify in vivo the hypothesis that MHC-II positive tumor cells could be specifically recognized by the host immune system and establish a protective immune response. Indeed, we could demonstrate that CIITA-transfected tumor cells of distinct histological origin can be efficiently rejected or strongly retarded in their growth when injected into immunocompetent syngeneic mice (30, 31). Importantly, capacity to reject the tumors and/or strongly retard their growth was directly related to the amount of CIITAdriven MHC class II molecules expressed on the cancer cell surface (30-32). Furthermore, it was shown that CIITA-tumor vaccinated mice develop an anamnestic response not only against the CIITA-transfected tumor but, most importantly, against the parental tumor leading to a very efficient rejection of the parental tumor as well. The expression of MHC class II molecules driven by CIITA was an obligatory requirement to induce the anamnestic protective response against the parental tumor, and this received confirmation also by experiments using as a vaccine non-replicating CIITA-transfected tumor cells (33).

Careful analysis of the mechanisms of protection highlighted several crucial aspects. First, enduring immunity was generated in CIITA-tumor vaccinated as shown by the fact that these mice remained immune from further challenge with parental tumor cells for many months. Moreover, anti-tumor effector mechanisms were specifically mediated by CD4+ TH cells and CTL, since elimination of these cell subpopulation in vivo by injecting anti-CD4 or anti-CD8 specific antibodies, abrogated the capacity of the animals to generate protective immunity after administration of CIITA-tumor cells. On the other hand, elimination of B cells or NK cells did not affect the capacity of the animals to reject CIITA-tumor cells. Finally, the crucial importance of CD4+ TH cells as key players in the generation of protective anti-tumor immunity was substantiated by adoptive cell transfer experiments of CD4+ cells from vaccinated mice into naïve recipients and consequent acquisition of protection from tumor growth when challenged with parental tumor cells.

Cumulatively, these findings demonstrated the that the expression of MHC class II molecules driven by CIITA in tumor cells was key in triggering an adaptive and protective immunity.

These results were at variance with respect to those obtained by the group of Ostrand-Rosenberg and colleagues, who studied the function of MHC class II expression in tumors by focusing however mostly on a single tumor model, the  $H-2^{K}$  SaI sarcoma, and on MHC class II alpha-beta transfected genes, in absence of invariant chain, reaching the conclusion that class II-transfected cells could be better rejected as compared to CIITA-transfected cells (34, 35). We have extensively discussed in a previous publication (36) the immunological constraints and limitations of this approach and the consequent biological conclusions, due mostly to the fact that MHC class II molecules are highly unstable in absence of invariant chain and therefore they can hardly go to the cell surface end present antigenic peptides for appropriate recognition by CD4+T cells (6, 37).

# THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT SWITCH IN CIITA-TUMOR VACCINATED MICE

The comparative study of the tumor microenvironment and tumor draining lymph nodes of animals injected with parental tumor or CIITA-tumor cells gave additional and crucial hints for understanding the mechanism through which CIITAtumor cells triggered a protective immune response (32). Little infiltration composed mostly by macrophages and neutrophils, and virtually no CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells, and DC was observed in tumors derived from parental cells. In contrast a rapid infiltration of CD4+ T cells, followed by DC and CD8+ T cells was observed at the tumor site when mice were injected with CIITA-tumors. Interestingly the CIITA-tumor microenvironment was characterized by extensive areas of tumor cell necrosis. Furthermore, in CIITA-tumor vaccinated mice challenged with parental tumors, the number of infiltrating lymphocytes and the extension of necrotic tissue were clearly larger than those found in naïve mice injected with CIITA-tumor cells (31).

The above histological aspect in parental tumor-injected vs. CIITA-tumor injected mice was indeed representative of what is generally described as a "non-inflamed or cold" vs. an "inflamed or hot" tumor microenvironment, respectively (38, 39). Thus, forcing the "physiological" expression of MHC-II molecules by transfecting CIITA into tumor cells resulted in a dramatic modification of the tumor microenvironment which was associated to specific tumor rejection and/or strong retardation of tumor growth (Figure 1). Within this frame it is tempting to speculate that in spontaneous tumors characterized by an inflamed microenvironment, tumor infiltrating CD4+ as well as CD8+ T cells by actively secreting IFN $\gamma$  may transiently induce CIITA expression and consequently MHC class II gene expression in naïve tumor cells resulting in further recognition and killing of the tumor. Additionally, tumor-draining lymph nodes of mice vaccinated with CIITA-tumor cells showed a more polarized TH1-type phenotype with respect to a rather polarized TH2-type phenotype observed in similar lymph nodes of mice injected with parental tumor cells. It should be underlined the strong anti-tumor T cell immunity was not accompanied by manifestations of autoimmunity, suggesting tumor-specific and not self-antigens were the target of the observed antitumor response. The subversion of the tumor microenvironment affected also the number CD4+/CD25+ regulatory T cells (Tregs) in draining lymp nodes. It is generally accepted that Tregs play an important role in regulating the activity of CD4+ TH cells. In tumor-bearing, hosts is often observed an increase in number and corresponding function of Tregs (40). In our tumor model, we found an increase in draining lymph nodes of parental tumor-bearing mice not paralleled, however, by a functional increase in suppressive function in vitro and in vivo (41). On



the other hand in CIITA-tumor vaccinated mice, the number of Tregs was clearly reduced and comparable to the number of naïve animals (33). This led us to conclude that vaccination with CIITA-tumor cells affected also a crucial component of the regulatory circuit, the Tregs, by preventing their increase in number in the tumor microenvironment and in so doing facilitating the triggering and persistence of anti-tumor CD4+ TH cells (36).

# CIITA-DRIVEN MHC-II EXPRESSING TUMOR CELLS ARE THE MAJOR APC IN VIVO

Cumulatively, the above described studies clearly demonstrated that CIITA-driven MHC-II expressing tumor cells are strongly recognized *in vivo* and trigger tumor specific CD4+ TH cell responses that are protective against subsequent rechallenge with parental tumors. Nevertheless, they did not formally prove that CIITA-tumor cell could function as classical APC in triggering the priming of naïve tumor antigen-specific TH cells. The possibility remained that priming of naïve TH cells could be still mediated by professional APC capturing of MHC-IIpeptide complexes derived from dying CIITA-tumor cells or from cellular debris.

The final demonstration that CIITA-mediated MHC-II expressing tumor cells could indeed function as classical APC came recently by using a transgenic mouse model, in which professional APC can be transiently deleted. These transgenic C57BL/6 H-2<sup>b</sup> mice, designated CD11c.DTR, carry the diphteria

toxin receptor under the control of the CD11c promoter, which is strongly expressed in DC. Thus, in these animals dendritic cells can be conditionally deleted by administration of diphteria toxin (42). Two highly tumorigenic MHC-II-negative C57BL/6 H-2<sup>b</sup> tumor cell lines, MC38 colon carcinoma and LLC Lewis lung carcinoma, were stably transfected with CIITA and selected for expression of MHC class II molecules. When injected *in vivo* in CD11c.DTR mice both these CIITA-tumors were rejected or strongly retarded in their growth. Importantly the same behavior was observed after treatment with diphtheria toxin to eliminate DC (43).

The mice rejecting the tumor were immune to MHC-II-negative parental tumors and their CD4+ TH cells protected naïve H-2<sup>b</sup> C57Bl/6 mice in adoptive cell transfer experiments. To exclude that additional professional APC like macrophages, in absence of DC could serve as main subpopulation to prime tumor-specific naïve CD4T cells, CD11c.DTR transgenic mice were treated with liposomal Clodronate, a compound that is selectively engulphed by macrophages. Upon phagocytosis, liposomal Clodronate kills the cells by apoptosis (44). Interestingly, in the spleen liposomal Clodronate is engulphed by and kill quite selectively the marginal zone and the metallophilic macrophages considered the predominant APCs (45). Even after treatment with liposomal Clodronate, mice injected with CIITA-tumor cells could reject or strongly retard tumor growth with a behavior very similar to the one observed in liposomal Clodronate-untreated mice (43). Thus, CIITA-driven MHC-II positive tumor cells can perform not only antigen processing and presenting function in vitro at least for primed T cells of either human (29) or mouse (32) but, more importantly, they can prime *in vivo* naïve CD4+ TH cells and thus serve as *bona fide* APC to generate a strong adaptive immune response capable to protect against the tumor (43, 46).

Of relevance, recent work indicated that the MHC class II-positive H-2<sup>d</sup> A20 B cell lymphoma cells expressing GFP (A20-GFP), but not the MHC class II-negative H-2<sup>d</sup> 4T1-GFP mammary carcinoma cells, can indeed prime directly and be killed *in vitro* by syngeneic CD8 T cells specific for GFP, although in this particular system *in vivo* cross-priming by dendritic cells may also be required (47). These experiments underline the importance of MHC class II expression on tumors to elicit optimal antigen priming, although *in vivo* they may not apply to all tumor histotypes.

Collectively, our findings have not only practical but also conceptual consequences because they challenge the widely accepted view of the exquisite supremacy of DC and, to lesser extent, macrophages to serve as sole APC for priming antigenspecific naïve CD4+ TH cells (9). Whether CIITA-driven MHC class II expressing tumor cells may also spontaneously acquire or be endowed in part with phagocytotic function and thus eat the other dead tumor cells and cross-present their tumor antigen to the naïve lymphocytes just like human immature DCs, remains to be investigated.

Another interesting consideration derived from the above results relates to the genetic characteristics of C57BL/6 H- $2^{b}$  and their transgenic derivative CD11c.DTR mice. These mice express only one subclass of MHC class II molecule, the I-A molecules because of a defect of the E $\alpha$  gene (48). Thus, not only tumor cells of distinct genetic background and distinct histotype origin can become immunogenic when expressing CIITA-driven MHC class II molecules (31, 43) but they can also do so by presenting relevant and sufficient tumor derived-peptides within a single MHC-II restricting element, the IA molecule. Very similar results were obtained by other investigators in a pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma model of C57BL/6 H- $2^{b}$  (49).

The capacity of CIITA-dependent MHC class II expressing tumor cells to serve as APC in vivo raises the question of whether these cells possess or acquire the expression of costimulatory molecules, such as B7.1 (CD80) and B7.2 (CD86) that may serve as "signal 2" in triggering antigen-specific naïve TH cells upon interaction with CD28 (50), as previous studies of another group has shown that prevention of tumor growth in vivo of CIITA-modified tumor cells in a distinct model of mammary carcinoma in H-2<sup>q</sup> model required also expression of CD80 (51). We found that MC38 and LLC tumor cells do not express CD80 and CD86 costimulatory molecules and this phenotype is not modified by CIITA expression. Thus, either CIITA-tumors do not need necessarily accessory molecules to perform their APC function in vivo, or other accessory molecules are involved to provide the second signal, or tumorspecific, and possibly organ-specific constraints limit the immune stimulating function of CIITA-driven MHC class II expressing tumor cells.

This important issue should certainly deserve detailed investigation in the future.

As outlined earlier and in relation to the peculiar modification of the tumor microenvironment generated by CIITA-driven MHC class II positive tumor cells, our studies raise another relevant question related to the anatomical location in which the anti-tumor immune response against CIITA-modified cancer cells takes place. It is generally assumed that TH cell priming mediated by professional APC, namely DC, takes place in the lymph nodes, where DC that have captured and processed the antigens in the periphery migrate and present antigenic peptides within the context of MHC-II molecules (12). As the tumor microenvironment was drastically modified in presence of CIITA-tumor cells, with a profound change both in number and compartmentalization of the leukocyte infiltration (32) we may speculated that it could be the ideal site for the formation of ectopic lymphoid-like structures or tertiary lymphoid organs (TLO), neoformations that are often detected in chronic inflamed tissues and in tumor tissues (36, 52). TLO share many characteristics with lymph nodes associated with the generation of an adaptive immune response (53). If this will be confirmed in future studies, tumors cells expressing MHC class II molecules not only act as APC for priming naïve tumor-specific CD4+ T cells but also perform APC activity ectopically with respect to the canonical site represented by the lymph nodes.

## FROM THE BENCH TO THE BEDSIDE: THE CONSTRUCTION OF AN OPTIMAL ANTI-TUMOR THERAPEUTIC VACCINE... AND BEYOND

A major corollary of the studies related to the high *in vivo* immunogenicity of CIITA-driven MHC-II expressing tumors is that MHC class II molecules should be loaded with sufficient quantity of tumor specific peptides, derived from either overexpressed or mutated genes, to generate an efficient functional triggering of tumor-specific CD4+ T cells, an event that we have defined as Adequate Antigen Availability (AAA) (54). Thus, these cells can be instrumental to identify the key tumor antigens which may serve to develop new generation anti-tumor vaccines (**Figure 2**).

This strategy has indeed been applied recently by a European Consortium of nine institutions, including our laboratory (the Hepavac Consortium, www.hepavac.eu), as part of the construction of an innovative vaccine against human hepatocarcinomas (HCC). HCC was selected because ranks sixth in terms of incidence but fourth in term of deaths/year worldwide (GLOBOCAN 2018, http://gco.iarc.fr/). Given the current lack of available effective treatments, the overall prognosis for patients with HCC is poor with a dismail 5-year survival of <25%, making the disease a highly important and relevant target for the development of innovative therapies (55).

By using a well-established experimental protocol and purification platform (56), the relevant MHC II-bound tumor specific peptides were selected from CIITA-driven MHC-II expressing human HCC cells. These peptides, along with a number of highly specific HCC MHC-I-bound tumor peptides, contributed to the formation of a peptide cocktail to be used



MHC-II-negative tumor cells to be presented within the context of their MHC-II. As a consequence DC cannot efficiently prime tumor-specific TH cell clones and tumor takes off and grows (Upper part).

as the first multi-epitope, multi-target, and multi-allele cancer vaccine against HCC aimed at stimulating both CD4+ and CD8+ T cells. This vaccine is, at present, in a phase I/II clinical trial whose results on safety, tolerability, and immunogenicity (primary endpoints) and possibly overall survival (secondary endpoint) are expected by the end of 2019.

In studying patient's HCC tumor tissues as well as normal liver tissues, we observed two important features that bear relevance not only for applying profitable vaccination approaches as the one described here but also to better understand old and recent observations on the immunologically tolerant environment of the liver (57, 58). The first important observation was related to the expression of MHC-I and MHC-II in liver cells. While both these molecules were virtually absent in normal liver cells, MHC-I cell surface molecules were expressed at very high level in HCC cells (59). This of course was relevant to purify the MHC-I tumor peptidome and select the appropriate peptides for the vaccine compositions. The second important observation was that MHC-II expression, instead, remained silent in HCC cells both in vivo and in patients' derived tumor cell lines. Importantly MHC-II expression could not be rescued even by treatment with IFNy, the most potent inflammatory cytokine that induces MHC-II expression indirectly via the primary transcriptional activation of CIITA (19). In depth analysis of the molecular mechanism responsible of this finding demonstrated that the CIITA promoter IV, the specific promoter activated by the IFNy (60), was silenced by hypermethylation of its sequence and thus rendered developmentally unresponsive in liver cells (59). This finding may have important effects on the interpretation of the tolerogenic environment of the liver, because the impossibility to express MHC-II molecules by liver cells, continuously in contact with massive concentrations of antigenic materials derived from the digestive tract, would prevent accidental co-participation of these cells to APC function and activation of immune system against potential food antigens as well as other antigens including self antigens.

Thus, as it was the case for the discovery of the surrogate APC function of CIITA-driven MHC-II expressing tumor cells, we also believe that unveiling the tissue constraints at the basis of CIITA-driven MHC class II expression or non-expression may serve to better understand important aspects of basic immunology.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

GF and RA conceived and wrote the paper. All authors revised and approved the final manuscript.

## **FUNDING**

This research was supported by University of Insubria FAR 2016 and 2017 (to RA and GF); by The Institutional Grant 2017, University of Insubria, to RA; in part by European Community FP7 Grant no. 602893 Cancer Vaccine Development for Hepatocellular Carcinoma-HepaVAC http://www.hepavac.eu (to RA and GF).

# REFERENCES

- 1. Boon T, Cerottini JC, Van den Eynde B, Van der Bruggen P, Van Pel A. Tumor antigens recognized by T lymphocytes. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (1994) 12:337–65. doi: 10.1146/annurev.iy.12.040194.002005
- Daar AS, Fuggle SV, Fabre JW, Ting A, Morris PJ. The detailed distribution of MHC Class II antigens in normal human organs. *Transplantation*. (1984) 38:293–8. doi: 10.1097/00007890-198409000-00019
- Garcia-Lora A, Algarra I, Garrido F. MHC class I antigens, immune surveillance, and tumor immune escape. J Cell Physiol. (2003) 195:346–55. doi: 10.1002/jcp.10290
- Rock KL, Reits E, Neefjes J. Present yourself! By MHC class I and MHC class II molecules. *Trends Immunol.* (2016) 37:724–37. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.08.010
- Kelly A, Trowsdale J. Genetics of antigen processing and presentation. Immunogenetics. (2018) 71:161-70. doi: 10.1007/s00251-018-1082-2
- Kageshita T, Hirai S, Ono T, Hicklin DJ, Ferrone S. Down-regulation of HLA class I antigen-processing molecules in malignant melanoma: association with disease progression. *Am J Pathol.* (1999) 154:745–54. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)65321-7
- Rosenberg SA, Yang JC, Restifo NP. Cancer immunotherapy: moving beyond current vaccines. *Nat Med.* (2004) 10:909–15. doi: 10.1038/nm1100
- Garrido F, Algarra I, García-Lora AM. The escape of cancer from T lymphocytes: immunoselection of MHC class I loss variants harboring structural-irreversible "hard" lesions. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2010) 59:1601–6. doi: 10.1007/s00262-010-0893-2
- 9. Chen DS, Mellman I. Oncology meets immunology: the cancer-immunity cycle. *Immunity*. (2013) 39:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.07.012
- Germain RN, Margulies DH. The biochemistry and cellular biology of antigen processing and presentation. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (1993) 11:403–50. doi: 10.1146/annurev.iy.11.040193.002155
- Accolla RS, Tosi G. Optimal MHC-II-restricted tumor antigen presentation to CD4+ T helper cells: the key issue for development of anti-tumor vaccines. J Transl Med. (2012) 10:154. doi: 10.1186/1479-5876-10-154
- Steinman RM. Dendritic cells: versatile controllers of the immune system. Nat Med. (2007) 13:1155–9. doi: 10.1038/nm1643
- Melief CJM, van Hall T, Arens R, Ossendorp F, van der Burg SH. Therapeutic cancer vaccines. J Clin Invest. (2015) 125:3401–12. doi: 10.1172/JCI80009
- Rudensky A, Preston-Hurlburt P, Hong SC, Barlow A, Janeway CAJ. Sequence analysis of peptides bound to MHC class II molecules. *Nature*. (1991) 353:622– 7. doi: 10.1038/353622a0
- Schimd D, Pypaert M, Munz C. Antigen-loading compartments for major histocompatibility class II molecules continuously receive input from autophagosomes. *Immunity*. (2007) 26:79–92. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2006.10.018
- Kremer AN, van der Meijden ED, Honders MW, Goeman JJ, Wiertz EJHJ, Falkenburg JHF, et al. Endogenous HLA class II epitopes that are immunogenic *in vivo* show distinct behavior toward HLA-DM and its natural inhibitor HLA-DO. *Blood.* (2012) 120:3246–55. doi: 10.1182/blood-2011-12-399311
- Jaraquemada D, Marti M, Long EO. An endogenous processing pathway in vaccinia virus-infected cells for presentation of cytosolic antigens to MHC class II-restricted T cells. J Exp Med. (1990) 172:947–54. doi: 10.1084/jem.172.3.947
- Chicz RM, Urban RG, Gorga JC, Vignali DA, Lane WS, Strominger JL. Specificity and promiscuity among naturally processed peptides bound to HLA-DR alleles. J Exp Med. (1993) 178:27–47. doi: 10.1084/jem.178.1.27
- Accolla RS, De Lerma Barbaro A, Mazza S, Casoli C, De Maria A, Tosi G. The MHC class II transactivator: prey and hunter in infectious diseases. *Trends Immunol.* (2001) 22:560–3. doi: 10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02003-8
- Accolla RS. Human B cell variants immunoselected against a single Ia subset have lost expression of several Ia antigen subsets. J Exp Med. (1983) 157:1053–8. doi: 10.1084/jem.157.3.1053
- Accolla RS, Scarpellino L, Carra G, Guardiola J. Trans-acting element(s) operating across species barriers positively regulate the expression of major histocompatibility complex class II genes. J Exp Med. (1985) 162:1117–33. doi: 10.1084/jem.162.4.1117

- Accolla RS, Jotterand-Bellomo M, Scarpellino L, Maffei A, Carra G, Guardiola J. Air-1, a newly found locus on mouse chromosome 16 encoding a transacting activator factor for MHC class II gene expression. *J Exp Med.* (1986) 164:369–74. doi: 10.1084/jem.164.1.369
- Guardiola J, Scarpellino L, Carra G, Accolla RS. Stable integration of mouse DNA into Ia-negative human B-lymphoma cells causes reexpression of the human Ia-positive phenotype. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1986) 83:7415–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.83.19.7415
- Steimle V, Otten LA, Zufferey M, Mach B. Complementation cloning of an MHC class II transactivator mutated in hereditary MHC class II deficiency (or bare lymphocyte syndrome). *Cell.* (1993) 75:135–46. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(05)80090-X
- Accolla RS, Carra G, Buchegger F, Carrel S, Mach JP. The human Iaassociated invariant chain is synthesized in Ia-negative B cell variants and is not expressed on the cell surface of both Ia-negative and Ia-positive parental cells. J Immunol. (1985) 134:3265–71.
- Viville S, Neefjes J, Lotteau V, Dierich A, Lemeur M, Ploegh H, et al. Mice lacking the MHC class II-associated invariant chain. *Cell.* (1993) 72:635–48. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)90081-Z
- Harton JA, Ting JP. Class II transactivator: mastering the art of major histocompatibility complex expression. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2000) 20:6185–94. doi: 10.1128/MCB.20.17.6185-6194.2000
- Neefjes J, Jongsma MLM, Paul P, Bakke O. Towards a systems understanding of MHC class I and MHC class II antigen presentation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2011) 11:823–36. doi: 10.1038/nri3084
- Sartoris S, Valle MT, Barbaro ADL, Tosi G, Cestari T, D'Agostino A, et al. HLA class II expression in uninducible hepatocarcinoma cells after transfection of AIR-1 gene product CIITA: acquisition of antigen processing and presentation capacity. J Immunol. (1998) 161:814–20.
- Meazza R, Comes A, Orengo AM, Ferrini S, Accolla RS. Tumor rejection by gene transfer of the MHC class II transactivator in murine mammary adenocarcinoma cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2003) 33:1183–92. doi: 10.1002/eji.200323712
- Frangione V, Mortara L, Castellani P, De Lerma Barbaro A, Accolla RS. CIITA-driven MHC-II positive tumor cells: preventive vaccines and superior generators of antitumor CD4+ T lymphocytes for immunotherapy. *Int J Cancer.* (2010) 127:1614–24. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25183
- 32. Mortara L, Castellani P, Meazza R, Tosi G, De Lerma Barbaro A, Procopio FA, et al. CIITA-induced MHC class II expression in mammary adenocarcinoma leads to a Th1 polarization of the tumor microenvironment, tumor rejection, and specific antitumor memory. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2006) 12:3435–43. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-0165
- 33. Mortara L, Frangione V, Castellani P, De Lerma Barbaro A, Accolla RS. Irradiated CIITA-positive mammary adenocarcinoma cells act as a potent anti-tumor-preventive vaccine by inducing tumor-specific CD4+ T cell priming and CD8+ T cell effector functions. *Int Immunol.* (2009) 21:655–65. doi: 10.1093/intimm/dxp034
- Armstrong TD, Clements VK, Martin BK, Ting JP, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Major histocompatibility complex class II-transfected tumor cells present endogenous antigen and are potent inducers of tumor-specific immunity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:6886–91. doi: 10.1073/pnas.94.13.6886
- Dolan BP, Gibbs KD, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Tumor-specific CD4+ T cells are activated by "cross-dressed" dendritic cells presenting peptide-MHC class II complexes acquired from cell-based cancer vaccines. *J Immunol.* (2006) 176:1447–55. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.176.3.1447
- 36. Accolla RS, Lombardo L, Abdallah R, Raval G, Forlani G, Tosi G. Boosting the MHC class II-restricted tumor antigen presentation to CD4+ T helper cells: a critical issue for triggering protective immunity and re-orienting the tumor microenvironment toward an anti-tumor state. *Front Oncol.* (2014) 4:32. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2014.00032
- Bikoff EK, Huang LY, Episkopou V, van Meerwijk J, Germain RN, Robertson EJ. Defective major histocompatibility complex class II assembly, transport, peptide acquisition, and CD4+ T cell selection in mice lacking invariant chain expression. J Exp Med. (1993) 177:1699–712. doi: 10.1084/jem.177.6.1699
- Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. *Nature*. (2017) 541:321–30. doi: 10.1038/nature21349

- Gujar S, Pol JG, Kroemer G. Heating it up: oncolytic viruses make tumors 'hot' and suitable for checkpoint blockade immunotherapies. *Oncoimmunology*. (2018) 7:e1442169. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1442169
- Sakaguchi S. Naturally arising CD4+ regulatory T cells for immunologic selftolerance and negative control of the immune response. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2004) 22:531–62. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141122
- Mortara L, Balza E, Sassi F, Castellani P, Carnemolla B, De Lerma Barbaro A, et al. Therapy-induced antitumor vaccination by targeting tumor necrosis factor-a to tumor vessels in combination with melphalan *Eur J Immunol.* (2007) 37:3381–92. doi: 10.1002/eji.200737450
- Hochweller K, Striegler J, Hammerling GJ, Garbi N. A novel CD11c.DTR transgenic mouse for depletion of dendritic cells reveals their requirement for homeostatic proliferation of natural killer cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2008) 38:2776–83. doi: 10.1002/eji.200838659
- 43. Bou Nasser Eddine F, Forlani G, Lombardo L, Tedeschi A, Tosi G, Accolla RS. CIITA-driven MHC class II expressing tumor cells can efficiently prime naive CD4(+) TH cells *in vivo* and vaccinate the host against parental MHC-II-negative tumor cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2016) 6:e1261777. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1261777
- Van Rooijen N, Sanders A. Liposome mediated depletion of macrophages: mechanism of action, preparation of liposomes and applications. *J Immunol Methods*. (1994) 174:83–93. doi: 10.1016/0022-1759(94)90012-4
- Seiler P, Aichele PB, Odermatt B, Hengartner H, Zinkernagel RM, Schwendener RA. Crucial role of marginal zone macrophages and marginal zone metallophils in the clearance of lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infection. *Eur J Immunol.* (1997) 27:2626–33. doi: 10.1002/eji.1830271023
- Bou Nasser Eddine F, Ramia E, Tosi G, Forlani G, Accolla RS. Tumor immunology meets...immunology: modified cancer cells as professional APC for priming naïve tumor-specific CD4+ T cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2017) 6:e1356149. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1356149
- Hammerich L, Marron TU, Upadhyay R, Svensson-Arvelund J, Dhainaut M, Hussein S, et al. Systemic clinical tumor regressions and potentiation of PD1 blockade with *in situ* vaccination. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:814–24. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0410-x
- Mathis DJ, Benoist C, Williams VE II, Kanter M, McDevitt HO. Several mechanisms can account for defective E alpha gene expression in different mouse haplotypes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1983) 80:273–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.80.1.273
- Ekkirala CR, Cappello P, Accolla RS, Giovarelli M, Romero I, Garrido C, et al. Class II transactivator-induced MHC class II expression in pancreatic cancer cells leads to tumor rejection and a specific antitumor memory response. *Pancreas*. (2014) 43:1066–72. doi: 10.1097/MPA.000000000000160
- 50. Greenwald RJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. The B7 Rev family revisited. Annu Immunol. (2005)23:515-48. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115611

- Jabrane-Ferrat N, Campbell MJ, Esserman LJ, Peterlin BM. Challenge with mammary tumor cells expressing MHC class II and CD80 prevents the development of spontaneously arising tumors in MMTV-neu transgenic mice. *Cancer Gene Ther.* (2006) 13:1002–10. doi: 10.1038/sj.cgt.770 0974
- Aloisi F, Pujol-Borrell R. Lymphoid neogenesis in chronic inflammatory diseases. Nat Rev Immunol. (2006) 6:205–17. doi: 10.1038/nri1786
- Dieu-Nosjean M-C, Goc J, Giraldo NA, Sautès-Fridman C, Fridman WH. Tertiary lymphoid structures in cancer and beyond. *Trends Immunol.* (2014) 35:571–80. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2014.09.006
- Accolla RS, Tosi G. Adequate antigen availability: a key issue for novel approaches to tumor vaccination and tumor immunotherapy. J Neuroimmune Pharmacol. (2013) 8:28–36. doi: 10.1007/s11481-012-9423-7
- Ulahannan SV, Duffy AG, McNeel TS, Kish JK, Dickie LA, Rahma OE, et al. Earlier presentation and application of curative treatments in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatology*. (2014) 60:1637–44. doi: 10.1002/hep.27288
- Singh-Jasuja H, Emmerich N, Rammensee H. The Tübingen approach: identification, selection, and validation of tumor-associated HLA peptides for cancer therapy. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2004) 53:187–95. doi: 10.1007/s00262-003-0480-x
- Crispe IN. Hepatic T cells and liver tolerance. Nat Rev Immunol. (2003) 3:51–62. doi: 10.1038/nri981
- Makarova-Rusher OV, Medina-Echeverz J, Duffy AG, Greten TF. The yin and yang of evasion and immune activation in HCC. J Hepatol. (2015) 62:1420–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2015.02.038
- Ramia E, Chiaravalli AM, Bou Nasser Eddine F, Tedeschi A, Sessa F, Accolla RS, et al. CIITA-related block of HLA class II expression, upregulation of HLA class I, and heterogeneous expression of immune checkpoints in hepatocarcinomas: implications for new therapeutic approaches. *OncoImmunology.* (2019) 8:1548243. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1548243
- Steimle V, Siegrist C, Mottet A, Lisowska-Grospierre B, Mach B. Regulation of MHC class II expression by interferon-gamma mediated by the transactivator gene CIITA. *Science*. (1994) 265:106–9. doi: 10.1126/science.8016643

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Accolla, Ramia, Tedeschi and Forlani. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Development of a Human Cytomegalovirus (HCMV)-Based Therapeutic Cancer Vaccine Uncovers a Previously Unsuspected Viral Block of MHC Class I Antigen Presentation

Mohammed O. Abdelaziz<sup>1</sup>, Sophia Ossmann<sup>2</sup>, Andreas M. Kaufmann<sup>2</sup>, Judith Leitner<sup>3</sup>, Peter Steinberger<sup>3</sup>, Gerald Willimsky<sup>4,5,6</sup>, Martin J. Raftery<sup>1</sup> and Günther Schönrich<sup>1\*</sup>

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Roberto S. Accolla, University of Insubria, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

lan Frazer, University of Queensland, Australia Esther M. Lafuente, Complutense University of Madrid, Spain

#### \*Correspondence:

Günther Schönrich guenther.schoenrich@charite.de

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vaccines and Molecular Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> **Received:** 15 April 2019 **Accepted:** 15 July 2019 **Published:** 30 July 2019

#### Citation:

Abdelaziz MO, Ossmann S, Kaufmann AM, Leitner J, Steinberger P, Willimsky G, Raftery MJ and Schönrich G (2019) Development of a Human Cytomegalovirus (HCMV)-Based Therapeutic Cancer Vaccine Uncovers a Previously Unsuspected Viral Block of MHC Class I Antigen Presentation. Front. Immunol. 10:1776. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01776 <sup>1</sup> Institute of Virology, Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Corporate Member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, and Berlin Institute of Health, Berlin, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Clinic for Gynecology, Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Corporate Member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin Institute of Health, Berlin, Germany, <sup>3</sup> Division of Immune Receptors and T Cell Activation, Institute of Immunology, Medical University of Vienna, Vienna, Austria, <sup>4</sup> Institute of Immunology, Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Corporate Member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin Institute of Health, Berlin, Germany, <sup>5</sup> German Cancer Research Center, Heidelberg, Germany, <sup>6</sup> German Cancer Consortium, Partner Site Berlin, Berlin, Germany

Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) induces a uniquely high frequency of virus-specific effector/memory CD8+ T-cells, a phenomenon termed "memory inflation". Thus, HCMV-based vaccines are particularly interesting in order to stimulate a sustained and strong cellular immune response against cancer. Glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) is the most aggressive primary brain tumor with high lethality and inevitable relapse. The current standard treatment does not significantly improve the desperate situation underlining the urgent need to develop novel approaches. Although HCMV is highly fastidious with regard to species and cell type, GBM cell lines are susceptible to HCMV. In order to generate HCMV-based therapeutic vaccine candidates, we deleted all HCMV-encoded proteins (immunoevasins) that interfere with MHC class I presentation. The aim being to use the viral vector as an adjuvant for presentation of endogenous tumor antigens, the presentation of high levels of vector-encoded neoantigens and finally the repurposing of bystander HCMV-specific CD8+ T cells to fight the tumor. As neoantigen, we exemplarily used the E6 and E7 proteins of human papillomavirus type 16 (HPV-16) as a non-transforming fusion protein (E6/E7) that covers all relevant antigenic peptides. Surprisingly, GBM cells infected with E6/E7-expressing HCMV-vectors failed to stimulate E6-specific T cells despite high level expression of E6/E7 protein. Further experiments revealed that MHC class I presentation of E6/E7 is impaired by the HCMV-vector although it lacks all known immunoevasins. We also generated HCMV-based vectors that express E6-derived peptide fused to HCMV proteins. GBM cells infected with these vectors efficiently

99

stimulated E6-specific T cells. Thus, fusion of antigenic sequences to HCMV proteins is required for efficient presentation via MHC class I molecules during infection. Taken together, these results provide the preclinical basis for development of HCMV-based vaccines and also reveal a novel HCMV-encoded block of MHC class I presentation.

Keywords: human cytomegalovirus, therapeutic cancer vaccine, glioblastoma, cancer immunotherapy, viral immune evasion

### INTRODUCTION

Glioblastoma multiforme (GBM) is one of the most frequent and devastating brain tumors (1, 2). In fact, GBM is incurable and has a bad prognosis even after aggressive standard treatment that combines radiation, surgery and chemotherapy (3). Accordingly, there is a need to develop novel therapeutic strategies to combat this deadly disease.

Different forms of immunotherapy have been implemented or explored in a variety of human malignancies including GBM (4). Adoptive transfer of genetically modified T cells may be an option in treatment of GBM (5–8). In recent clinical trials, checkpoint inhibitors have failed to prolong the overall survival of patients with recurrent GBM (9–11). As a neoadjuvant therapy, however, PD-1 monoclonal antibody blockade improves local and systemic antitumor T cell responses (12). Therapeutic cancer vaccines stimulating tumor-reactive CD8+ T cells represent another form of immunotherapy that has also been tested in GBM patients (4, 13).

Successful tumor immunotherapy requires preexisting CD8+ T cells in the tumor microenvironment (TME) (14, 15) and genetic mutations that generate tumor neoantigens (16, 17). GBM, however, provides a "cold" TME with low numbers of infiltrating immune cells (15, 18) and scarce somatic mutations (19, 20). In situ vaccination with viral vectors can turn "cold" TME into "warm" through the adjuvant effect resulting from triggering multiple pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) (21-25). This inflammatory response may increase TME infiltration with immune cells. A large fraction of tumor-infiltrating immune cells are in fact memory CD8+ T lymphocytes specific for common viruses such as human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) (26-29). These cells are neither tolerized nor exhausted by continuous stimulation and can be repurposed for tumor immunosurveillance (27).

Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) inflates memory by intermittent reactivation from latency or reinfections (30–32). In HCMV-infected humans, on average 10% of the circulating T cells with an effector-memory phenotype are in fact HCMVspecific (33, 34). Thus, HCMV-based vectors represent a very promising novel platform for therapeutic vaccination (35, 36). HCMV persists in immunocompetent individuals without causing disease (37). Intriguingly, HCMV infects GBM cells *in vitro* (38). Moreover, HCMV is detected in GBM tumor tissue but not in the surrounding normal brain tissue (39). Thus, immunotherapy may leverage HCMV-encoded tumor antigens to induce elimination of tumor cells by cytotoxic CD8+ T cells (40–42). Several strategies to achieve this goal have been explored including adoptive transfer of *in vitro*-expanded HCMV-specific T cells and vaccination with autologous dendritic cells (DCs) stimulating HCMV-specific T cells *in vivo* (39).

In this study, we designed novel HCMV-based therapeutic viral vaccines to exploit the patient's own immune system for elimination of tumor cells. We increased the immunostimulatory capacity of the HCMV-based vector by deleting important viral immune evasion genes. Moreover, we expressed a well-characterized epitope from human papillomavirus (HPV) that functions as a neo-epitope after infection of GBM cells. Finally, we tested whether genetically altered T cells specific for HCMV-encoded epitope or neo-epitope are stimulated by GBM cells infected with the HCMV-based vaccines.

### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Ethics Statement

Buffy coat preparations were purchased from German Red Cross (Dresden, Germany). Blood samples were taken with the approval of the ethics committee of the Charité– Universitätsmedizin Berlin. Written informed consent was obtained from all donors.

#### Cells

The GBM cell lines U343 and LN18 were kindly provided by the Department of Neurosurgery, Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany. The GBM cell line U251 was a kind gift of L. Wiebusch from the Children's Hospital, Laboratory for Molecular Biology, Charité-Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany. Human embryonic lung fibroblasts (Fi301) and GBM cell lines were cultured in Eagle's minimum essential medium (EMEM) from Lonza supplemented with 1 mM sodium pyruvate, 2 mM L-alanyl-L-glutamine, non-essential amino acids, 50  $\mu$ g/ml gentamicin, and 10% heat inactivated FBS (hiFBS) (HyClone). PBMCs and reporter Jurkat cell lines were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium (Gibco) supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine, 25 mM HEPES Buffer, 50  $\mu$ g/ml gentamicin, and 10% hiFBS.

### Flow Cytometry of Surface Molecules

Cells were harvested, washed and stained as previously described (43). Cell surface expression of HLA-A2 molecules was detected by using PE-conjugated anti-HLA-A2 antibody BB7.2 (BioLegend). For quantifying fluorescence of labeled cells, a FACSCalibur<sup>®</sup> (BD Biosciences) was used. Results were evaluated with the software programs CellQuestPro<sup>®</sup> (BD Biosciences) and FlowJo V10 (Tree Star, Inc).

# Viruses

HCMV strain TB40/E and the corresponding bacterial artificial chromosome TB40/E-BAC (clone 4) as well as RV-TB40-BAC<sub>KL7</sub>-SE-EGFP, an enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP)-expressing virus derived from TB40/E (44), were kindly provided by Christian Sinzger, University of Ulm, Ulm, Germany. The advantages of TB40/E are high titer growth in cell culture similar to lab strains and cell tropism resembling recent clinical isolates (45). TB40/E and the mutants derived from TB40/E-BAC were propagated in Fi301 cells. For generation of virus stocks, cells and medium were collected at various times after infection, after which cells were disrupted by three freeze-thaw cycles and cell debris was pelleted by centrifugation.

## **Generation of Recombinant Viruses**

As a neoantigen for expression in TB40/E-BAC derived vectors, we used human papillomavirus type 16 (HPV-16) consensus E6/E7 fusion protein (ConE6E7, GenBank accession number: FJ229356) (46). In addition, the HLA-A2-binding peptide E629-38 (TIHDIILECV) derived from the E6 protein of HPV-16 (47) was fused with an AA-linker (AATIHDIILECV) to the C-terminus of HCMV IE1 (E6peptideIE1) or HCMV UL83 (E6peptideUL83). The corresponding sequences were synthesized and verified by Integrated DNA Technologies (IDT). The synthesized E6/E7 encoding sequence was digested with EcoRI and Kpn-I and cloned into the expression vectors pEF6/V5-His A and pcDNA<sup>TM</sup>3.1 (+). These constructs were named pEF6E6/E7EcoRI and pcDNAE6/E7Kpn-I, respectively. Recombinant HCMV was generated using BAC technology as previously described (48). All recombinant BAC clones were confirmed by PCR and DNA-sequencing of the target area. Viruses were reconstituted from BACs by electroporation of 1  $\times$  10<sup>6</sup> Fi301 cells using program A24 of the Nucleofector II (Amaxa) and a basic Nucleofector kit (Lonza), according the manufacturer's instructions.

# Virus Titration and Growth Kinetics

Virus titers of virus stocks and multi-step growth kinetics were quantified by 50% tissue culture infectious dose (TCID50) assay on Fi301 cells. The TCID50 values were calculated using the method of Reed and Muench (49).

# **Stable Transfection of U251**

U251 cells were stably transfected with pcDNAE6/E7Kpn-I by electroporation as previously described (50). Transfected cells were selected by G418 for neomycin resistance and different clones were isolated and separately cultured for E6 and E7 expression assays.

# **Detection of HPV-16 E7 Protein**

For detection of E6/E7 fusion protein,  $1 \times 10^6$  cells were trypsinized and aliquots covering a range of different cell numbers were prepared ( $7 \times 10^2$  to  $16 \times 10^4$  cells). In these aliquots, the E6/E7 fusion protein was detected by using recomWell HPV 16/18/45 ELISA Kit (Mikrogen GmbH, Neuried, Germany) according to manufacturer's instructions. The optical density was measured at 450 nm in a microplate photometer (Multiskan FC, Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). The absorbance detected for experimental probes was expressed relative to the absorbance measured for the same number of CaSki cells, an E6- and E7-expressing cervical carcinoma cells that served as positive control.

# **Generation of TCR Expression Vectors**

For HLA-A2-restricted HPV  $E6_{29-36}$ -specific TCR (51) transgene cassettes were codon-optimized for human expression and synthesized by GeneArt/Life Technologies. TCR- $\alpha/\beta$  chains with human TCR constant regions replaced by their murine counterparts were linked via 2A "self-cleaving" peptide sequence from *Porcine teschovirus-1* (P2A) and cloned in the configuration TCR $\beta$ -P2A-TCR $\alpha$  into pMP71-PRE using *Not*I and *Eco*RI restriction sites as described recently (52). The HCMV-specific TCR (NLV3) detecting a HLA-A2-restricted epitope derived from pp65 (NLVPMVATV; aa 495-503) was used in its original configuration as described by Schub et al. (53).

# **TCR Gene Transfer**

TCR gene transfer was carried out as described (54) with minor modifications. In brief, HEK-293 cells stably expressing GALVenv and MLV-gag/pol were grown to ~80% confluence and transfected with 3 µg of pMP71-TCR vectors in the presence of 10 µg Lipofectamine2000 (Life Technologies). At 48 and 72 h after transfection, 3 ml of retrovirus containing supernatant were harvested.  $1 \times 10^6$  human PBMCs, that had been frozen after isolation from healthy donors by ficoll gradient centrifugation, were thawed and stimulated with  $5 \mu g/ml$  anti-CD3 (OKT3) and 1 µg/ml anti-CD28 (CD28.2) (Biolegend) coated plates in the presence of 300 U/ml recombinant human interleukin 2 (hIL-2) (Peprotech). Transductions at 48 and 72 h after stimulation were performed by addition of retrovirus containing supernatant and  $4 \mu g/ml$  protamine sulfate followed by spinoculation for 90 min at 800 g and 32°C (1st transduction). For second transduction, retrovirus was preloaded onto retronectin (Takara)-coated plates followed by spinoculation for 30 min at 800 g and 32°C. Transduced PBMCs were maintained in the presence of 300 U/ml hIL-2 for a total of 2 weeks. At least 2 days prior to use in experiments, transduced PBMCs were cultured in the presence of 30 U/ml hIL-2.

# Functional Assays With TCR-Transduced T Cells

IFN- $\gamma$  production was measured by ELISA after 16 h coculture of  $1 \times 10^5$  TCR-transduced T cells with  $1 \times 10^5$  target cells (HCMV-vector infected or HCMV-vector infected and pulsed with the corresponding peptide). As a negative control,  $1 \times 10^5$  TCR-transduced T cells were cocultured with  $1 \times 10^5$  target cells that had been left uninfected. Stimulation with phorbol myristate acetate and ionomycin (P+I) was used as a positive control.

## **Reporter Cell Lines**

For detection of NFAT activation, a previously described cellular platform for analysis of TCRs was used (55, 56). In the human T cell lymphoma cell line Jurkat 76 (J76), the response elements of transcription factor nuclear factor of activated T-cells (NFAT)

drive the expression of EGFP (55). The J76 cell line is a subline of cell line Jurkat E6.1 (JE6.1), which lacks expression of the TCR alpha and beta chains (57). The J76 cell line was transduced with a retroviral vector encoding HLA-A2-restricted HPV  $E6_{29-36}$ -specific TCR (51). Moreover, J76 cells were co-transduced to express a HLA-A2-restricted HCMV pp65-specific TCR (NLVPMVATV; aa 495-503) and CD8 (56).

For measuring of nuclear factor 'kappa-light-chain-enhancer' of activated B-cells (NF- $\kappa$ B) activation a single T cell reporter cell line was used, in which the responsive element for NF- $\kappa$ B controls EGFP expression (58). This single reporter cell line was transduced with retroviral vector encoding HLA-A2-restricted HPV E6<sub>29–36</sub>-specific TCR (51) or with retroviral vector encoding the HCMV-specific TCR (NLV3), which recognizes a HLA-A2-restricted epitope derived from pp65 (NLVPMVATV; aa 495-503) (53).

## Antigen Presentation Assays Using Reporter Cell Lines

For stimulation of reporter cell lines  $5 \times 10^4$  GBM cells (LN18, U343, or U251 cells) were infected with HCMV-based vaccines (MOI of 5). After 2 days and 4 days, respectively, infected cells were co-cultured with HPV E6-specific reporter cells and HCMV pp65-specific reporter cells, respectively, for 24 h at a ratio 2:1. Subsequently, EGFP expression of reporter cells was determined by FACS analysis.

U251 cells stably transfected with pcDNAE6/E7Kpn-I (U251-E6/E7 cells) were used to assess the impact of HCMV infection on MHC class I presentation of the E6/E7 fusion protein. For this purpose, U251 cells were left uninfected or infected with RVTB40∆US11 for 3-24 h at different MOIs. RVTB40∆US11 lacks all known HCMV-encoded immunoevasins (US2, US3, US6, and US11) that target MHC class I presentation and does not downregulate MHC class I molecules. On uninfected and infected U251-E6/E7 cells, the existing peptide-MHC class I complexes on U251 cells were removed by acid wash as previously described (59). Briefly,  $1 \times 10^6$  cells were harvested, washed with PBS and subsequently washed with ice-cold citric acid buffer (pH 3) for 2-3 min. Afterwards, stripped U251-E6/E7 cells were pelleted, washed twice with EMEM, resuspended in RPMI 1640 medium and subsequently co-cultured for 18 h with the HPV E629-36-specific reporter cell line, in which the responsive element for NF-kB controls EGFP expression (58). Finally, EGFP expression of reporter cells was determined by FACS analysis. In parallel, the maximal peptide stimulation was always determined by pulsing a cell aliquot with the E6 peptide  $(1 \mu g/ml)$  during coculture with the E6-specific reporter cell line.

## **Peptide Synthesis**

The peptides used for pulsing antigen-presenting cells  $(1 \mu g/ml)$  were synthesized by peptides & elephants GmbH (Hennigsdorf, Germany).

## **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical significance was determined by one-way ANOVA analysis or unpaired *t*-test. *P* values below 0.05 (95% confidence)

were considered to be significant. Prism 6 software (GraphPad) was used for statistical analysis.

# RESULTS

# Susceptibility of GBM Cells to HCMV Infection

In order to construct therapeutic vaccines targeting GBM we first investigated whether GBM cells are susceptible to HCMV infection. For this purpose, we used RV-TB40-BAC<sub>KL7</sub>-SE-EGFP. This EGFP-expressing virus is derived from low-passage HCMV strain TB40/E and contains an intact US-gene region encoding all immunoevasins (US2, US3, US6, and US11) that downregulate MHC class I presentation (44). We infected the GBM cell lines LN18, U343, and U251 with RV-TB40-BACKL7-SE-EGFP at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 0.3. At different time points of infection, we determined the percentage of EGFP-expressing GBM cells (Figure 1, left graphs). In addition, we analyzed the presence of virus in the supernatant of infected GBM cell cultures (Figure 1, right graphs). Although all GBM cell lines tested were susceptible to HCMV, infection the virus remained mostly cellassociated during the observation period of 12 days. Thus, LN18, U343, and U251 cells are susceptible to HCMV infection as previously reported for other GBM cell lines (38, 60). Taken together, these experiments indicate that HCMV-based vectors can be used to mark GBM cells for attack by CD8+ T cells.

# Construction of HCMV-Based Therapeutic Vaccines

Next, we generated HCMV-based vectors that lack immunoevasins (US2, US3, US6, and US11) and efficiently stimulate CD8+ T cells. We used a bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) clone of the HCMV strain TB40/E (TB40-BAC4), which lacks the *US1-US6* region due to insertion of the BAC (45). We obtained RVTB40 $\Delta$ US11 from TB40-BAC4 by deleting *US11*. RVTB40 $\Delta$ US11 does not downregulate MHC class I molecules as recently described (**Figure 2A**) (61).

We now pursued two strategies to equip RVTB40△US11 with neo-epitopes. Firstly, we used a consensus sequence encoding the E6 and E7 protein of human papillomavirus type 16 (HPV-16) as a fusion protein (E6/E7). E6/E7 covers all relevant antigenic peptides but is non-transforming (46). Vaccination of mice with a plasmid encoding E6/E7 induces a strong CD8+ T cell response and prevents growth of E6/E7 tumors (46). In accordance, we observed that E6/E7-expressing clones derived from stably transfected U251 cells (U251 cells) stimulate reporter T cells that recognize a HLA-A2-restricted peptide (E6<sub>29-38</sub>: TIHDIILECV) (47) (Figure 2B). Thus, we inserted the E6/E7 sequence into the RVTB40∆US11 at different locations ensuring that endogenous or exogenous promotors control E6/E7 expression (Figure 3). The E6/E7 expression level in cells infected with E6/E7-expressing HCMV-based vaccines was in the same order of magnitude as observed for U251 cell transfected with an E6/E7-expressing plasmid (Figure 2C).

Secondly, we fused a single neo-epitope flanked by an Alanine spacer to the C-terminus of a viral protein as



FIGURE 1 | Susceptibility of GBM cells to HCMV infection. The GBM cell lines LN18, U343, and U251 were infected with RV-TB40-BAC<sub>KL7</sub>-SE-EGFP (MOI of 0.3). At different time points cells were tested for cell-associated virus by FACS analysis of EGFP expression (Left graphs). For detection of cell-free HCMV (Right graphs) supernatants from infected GBM cell lines were collected at different time points. Subsequently, Fi301 cells were infected with the supernatants and tested for EGFP expression by FACS 2 days after infection. Results are derived from three technical replicates; error bars represent the mean ± SEM.

recently reported for murine cytomegalovirus (MCMV) (62, 63) (Figure 4). We used HPV-16 E6<sub>29-38</sub> as CD8+ T cells specific for this peptide recognize and kill HLA-A2+ tumor cells expressing E6 despite tumor-associated immune evasion mechanisms (64). This E6 peptide was fused to C-Terminus of IE1 (RVTB40∆US11\_E6peptideIE1) the (RVTB40 $\Delta$ US11\_E6peptideUL83). We or UL83 also generated a mutant virus with both the full E6/E7 sequence inserted into UL83 and the E6 peptide linked to IE1 (RVTB40∆US11\_E6/E7intoUL83\_E6peptideIE1). All generated HCMV-based vaccines showed growth kinetics similar to WT TB40/E and control virus (RVTB40 $\Delta$ US11) (Figure 5A). The relevant features of the different HCMV-based vaccines are summarized in Figure 5B.

## HCMV-Based Vaccines Expressing E6 Peptide Fused to Viral Protein but Not E6/E7 Expressing HCMV-Based Vaccines Stimulate E6-Specific T Cells

Now we investigated whether the different HCMV-based therapeutic vaccines could stimulate antigen-specific T cells after infection of GBM cells. To this end, we used a recently developed T cell reporter platform, in which the response elements for NFAT control EGFP expression (55, 56). These cells were transduced either with a retroviral vector encoding a HPV-specific TCR recognizing the HLA-A2-restricted peptide HPV  $E6_{29-36}$  (51) or with a retroviral vector encoding HCMV-specific TCR detecting the HLA-A2-restricted HCMV epitope



E6/E7 fusion protein. (A) Prevention of virus-induced MHC class I downregulation in cells infected with HCMV-based vectors lacking US2, US3, US6, and US11. Fi301 cells were infected with WT TB40/E or RVTB40∆US11 at MOI of 0.5. After 2 days, cells were stained with HLA-A2-specific antibody or isotype control and analyzed by flow cytometry. The results shown are representative of three experiments. (B) Stimulation of specific reporter T cells by U251 cells expressing E6/E7. Clones of U251 cells stably transfected with E6/E7 expressing plasmid were incubated with E6 peptide-specific reporter cell line, in which EGFP expression is driven by the responsive elements of NF-kB. Stimulation of reporter cells is given as percentage of maximal peptide stimulation, i.e., stimulation of reporter cells incubated with peptide pulsed cells. (C) Detection of E6/E7 in cells infected with HCMV-based vectors driving E6/E7 expression under control of endogenous or exogenous promotors. For guantification of the E6/E7 fusion protein expressed by different HCMV-based vectors (blue bars) an ELISA detecting the HPV-16 E7 protein was used. For each experimental group  $6\times10^4$  cells were used. RVTB40 $\Delta US11$  served as a negative control. The absorbances detected for experimental probes were expressed relative to the absorbance measured for  $6 \times 10^4$  CaSki cells, a well-characterized E6- and E7-expressing cervical carcinoma cell line (Positive control, white bars). We also included U251 cells stably transfected with E6/E7 encoding plasmid in our analysis (green bar).

pp65<sub>495-503</sub> (53) together with CD8. In addition, we used another set of reporter cell lines with the same TCR specificities, in which EGFP expression is driven by the responsive elements of NF- $\kappa$ B (65). These reporter cell lines were incubated with HLA-A2+ LN18, U343, and U251 cells that had been infected with the different HCMV-based therapeutic vaccines for 2 or 4 days, respectively. Surprisingly, GBM cells infected with E6/E7expressing vectors stimulated neither NFAT (**Figure 6**, left side, blue columns) nor NF- $\kappa$ B (**Figure 7**, left side, blue columns) in E6-specific reporter T cell lines. In stark contrast, all GBM cells infected with an HCMV-based vector expressing the E6 peptide



fused with an Alanine-linker to the C-terminus of HCMV IE1 (E6peptideIE1) nicely activated NFAT (**Figure 6**, left side, red columns) and NF- $\kappa$ B (**Figure 7**, left side, red columns) in E6-specific T cells. Although to a lesser extent stimulation of reporter cell lines was also observed with all GBM cells that had been

TR

Α





111 122

U.

С RVTB40AUS11 E6/E7intoUL83 E6peptidelE1



FIGURE 4 | Construction of HCMV-based vaccines expressing E6 peptide fused to the C-terminus of HCMV IE1 or HCMV UL83. The HLA-A2-binding peptide E6<sub>29-38</sub> (TIHDIILECV) derived from the E6 protein of HPV-16 was fused with an AA-linker (AATIHDIILECV) to the C-terminus of (A) HCMV UL123 (IE1) (RVTB40AUS11\_E6peptideIE1) or (B) HCMV UL83 (RVTB40AUS11\_E6peptideUL83). (C) In addition, a recombinant virus expressing both the E6/E7 fusion protein inserted into UL83 and the E6-peptide fused to the C-terminus of HCMV IE1 was generated (RVTB40AUS11\_E6/E7intoUL83\_E6peptideUL83).

infected with a HCMV-based vector expressing the E6 peptide fused with an Alanine-linker to the C-terminus of HCMV UL83 (Figures 6 and 7, left side, red columns). As expected, all HCMVbased therapeutic vaccines with the exception of those deficient of pp65 (UL83) could stimulate pp65-specific reporter cell lines to a similar extent after infection of GBM cells (Figures 6 and 7, right side). Taken together, E6 peptide fused to the Cterminus of HCMV proteins but not the complete E6/E7 fusion protein expressed separately from HCMV proteins stimulated E6 peptide-specific T cells.



FIGURE 5 | Features of HCMV-based therapeutic vaccines used in this study. (A) Growth curve kinetics of E6/E7 expressing vaccines (blue) and E6 peptide-expressing vaccines (red). Fi301 cells were infected at MOI of 0.01. Supernatant was collected at different time points after infection and titrated on Fi301 cells to calculate the TCID50. WT TB40/E and RVTB40∆US11 served as a control. Results are derived from three experiments; error bars represent the mean  $\pm$  SEM. (B) Summary of all HCMV-based vectors used in this study.

# A Novel HCMV-Encoded Block of MHC **Class I Presentation**

The finding that GBM cells infected with HCMV vaccines failed to stimulate E6-specific T cells despite abundant E6/E7 protein expression was surprising. It suggested that MHC class I presentation of E6/E7 is impaired by the HCMV-vector although RVTB40∆US11 lacks all known immunoevasins (US2, US3, US6, US11). To address this issue, aliquots of transfected U251 cells, which stably express the E6/E7 protein, were left uninfected or infected at different MOIs with the HCMV-vector. Thereafter, cells were acid washed as described previously (59) to remove all existing peptide-MHC class I complexes from the cell surface. Subsequently, cells were co-cultured for 18 h with HPV E629-36-specific reporter cells, which express EGFP under the control of NF-κB responsive elements (58). Maximal peptide stimulation was assessed in parallel by pulsing cells with E6 peptide during coculture with the reporter cells. Figure 8A shows that U251-E6/E7 cells (Positive control) but not untransfected U251 cells (Negative control) stimulated E6 peptide-specific reporter cells. Strikingly, acid washed U251-E6/E7 cells that had been infected with different MOIs of the HCMV-vector showed a significantly reduced capacity to stimulate E6-specific reporter cells as compared to acid washed uninfected U251-E6/E7 cells (Figure 8A). After additional pulsing with exogenous










E6 peptide, however, acid washed infected U251-E6/E7 cells stimulated E6-specific reporter cells to a similar extent as acid washed uninfected U251-E6/E7 cells (**Figure 8B**). In fact, the block of MHC class I antigen presentation induced by the HCMV-vector was more than 50% (**Figure 8C**). Taken together, we discovered a previously unsuspected HCMV-encoded block of MHC class I presentation.

# Genetically Altered Human T Cells Secrete IFN-γ in Response to E6 Peptide but Not E6/E7 Expressing HCMV-Based Vaccines

HCMV-based vaccines enabling presentation of a neo-epitope by tumor cells could be combined with adoptive transfer of genetically modified T cells specific for the vectored neo-epitope.



**FIGURE 9** | Release of IFN- $\gamma$  by TCR transduced PBMCs after stimulation with infected cells. 1  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> human PBMCs, transduced with HPV E6-specific TCR and HCMV pp65-specific TCR), respectively, or non-transduced (Background), were co-cultured for 16 h with 1  $\times$  10<sup>5</sup> fibroblasts that had been infected for 48 h with HCMV-based vaccines. PBMCs as described above were also co-cultured with infected fibroblasts that had been additionally pulsed with the corresponding peptide (maximal peptide stimulation). Subsequently, IFN- $\gamma$  production was measured by ELISA. Release of IFN- $\gamma$  is shown as percentage of maximal peptide stimulation after subtraction of the background. Uninfected cells (Mock) and cells infected with RVTB40 $\Delta$ US11 (Control) were also included in this type of analysis. Results are derived from three experiments; error bars represent the mean  $\pm$  SEM; n.d., not detectable.

In order to test this option and verify our results obtained with the reporter cell lines, we transduced human PBMCs with either retroviral vector encoding E6-specific TCR or retroviral vector encoding pp65-specific TCR. Subsequently, we co-cultured these cells for 16 h with vaccine-infected fibroblasts that express HLA-A2. Untransduced PBMCs were included as a negative control and treated in the same way. After co-culture the release of IFN- $\gamma$  was measured as a read out of T cell function.

Moreover, we pulsed aliquots of the vaccine-infected fibroblasts with the corresponding E6-derived and pp65-derived peptides, respectively. These cells were also co-cultured with transduced PBMCs to assess the maximal peptide-stimulated IFN- $\gamma$  release. In Figure 9, the specific IFN- $\gamma$  release induced by vaccineinfected fibroblasts is given as a percentage of IFN-y release after stimulation with cells that had been additionally pulsed with exogenous peptide (maximal peptide stimulation). As observed for reporter cell lines, cells infected with HCMV-based vaccines expressing E6/E7 protein did not stimulate PBMCs transduced with E6 peptide-specific TCR (Figure 9, upper graph, blue columns). In contrast, cells infected with HCMV-based vaccines expressing the E6 peptide fused to the C-terminus of HCMV IE1 or HCMV UL83 induced IFN-y release by E6-specific PBMCs (Figure 9, upper graph, red columns). Moreover, all HCMVbased vaccines with intact UL83 (pp65) were able to activate PBMCs transduced with pp65-specific TCR (Figure 9, lower graph). Taken together, PBMCs transduced with E6-specific TCR could be used for adoptive transfer to detect tumor cells targeted by E6 peptide-expressing HCMV-based therapeutic vaccines.

# DISCUSSION

In this study, we generated HCMV-based therapeutic vaccines that lack immunoevasins for in situ vaccination of GBM patients. We pursued two different strategies to channel a defined vectorencoded neo-epitope into the processing machinery of antigenpresenting cells. In one set of HCMV-based vaccines, we expressed the consensus sequence encoding an immunogenic but non-transforming E6/E7 fusion protein under the control of endogenous or exogenous promoters. In another set, we fused a single E6-epitope to the C-terminus of HCMV IE1 or HCMV UL83. Surprisingly, GBM cells transfected with an E6/E7 expression plasmid but not cells infected with the E6/E7 expressing HCMV-vectors were recognized by E6-specific T cells despite comparable E6/E7 expression. In contrast, cells infected with HCMV-based vaccines expressing an E6epitope fused to HCMV proteins by an Alanine linker nicely stimulated E6 peptide-specific T cells. Subsequent analysis demonstrated a previously unnoticed HCMV-encoded block of MHC class I presentation that could explain the failure of E6/E7-expressing vaccines.

The central nervous system is subjected to continuous immunosurveillance through special gateways that allow exchange of immune cells and antigens with the periphery (66). As outlined in a recent review (67), antigens in the CNS are transported to cervical lymph nodes either in a soluble form or via APCs that take up antigen in the meningeal linings. After priming in the CNS-draining lymph nodes, antigen-specific T cells home back to the CNS to kill their target. Thus, *in situ* vaccination with a HCMV-based therapeutic vaccine in the brain can activate specific cytotoxic T cells in the CNS to eliminate tumor cells. We found that LN18, U343, and U251 cells are susceptible to HCMV infection as previously reported for other GBM cell lines (38, 60). Moreover, it has been recently

shown that HCMV targets Glioma stem-like cells (GSCs) (60, 68). GSCs are radioresistant and chemoresistant and play a crucial role in progression and recurrence of tumor cells. Accordingly, they represent attractive targets for novel GBM therapies (69). HCMV-based therapeutic vaccines expressing E6 peptide as a neo-epitope and lacking immunoevasins could render these tumor-driving cells vulnerable to cytotoxic attack by E6-specific CD8+ T cells. After killing of GSCs release of apoptotic debris containing further tumor-specific antigens could be phagocytosed by resident microglia or brain endothelial cells, which efficiently cross prime CD8+T cells (70, 71). In addition, many viruses including HCMV can trigger bystander activation of antiviral memory CD8+ T cells as part of an early line of antiviral defense (72-77). Thus, therapeutic HCMV-based vaccines as described in this study could amplify the anti-tumor response in GBM patients by several distinct mechanisms.

HCMV-based vaccines expressing the E6-epitope fused to the C-terminus of HCMV IE1 or HCMV UL83 could easily activate E6-specific T cells. In accordance, MCMV-vector expressing a HPV E7-derived peptide at the C-terminus of MCMV IE2 protein could efficiently protect mice from lethal tumor challenge (62, 78). In contrast, cells infected with HCMV-based vaccines expressing the E6/E7 protein separately from viral proteins did not stimulate E6-specific reporter cell lines or E6-TCR transduced PBMCs despite strong E6/E7 expression. The fusion protein E6/E7, however, was not *per se* resistant to processing. Uninfected U251 cells stably transfected with pcDNA-E6/E7 (U251-E6/E7 cells) expressed E6/E7 at the same order of magnitude and stimulated E6-TCR expressing reporter cells. Thus, the E6 epitope is naturally processed and presented by HLA-A2 in the absence of HCMV.

After infection of U251-E6/E7 cells with HCMV, however, the MHC class I presentation of the E6 peptide derived from the E6/E7 fusion protein was impaired. This was not due to known HCMV-encoded immunoevasins as we used RVTB40∆US11 as a vector. This mutant HCMV lacks US2, US3, US6, and US11, the known immunoevasins. It is well-described that cytosolic and nuclear proteasomes have to degrade viral proteins to generate the viral peptides that are presented by MHC class I molecules on the cell surface (79). On the other hand, viral pathogens such as herpes simplex viruses and HCMV highjack and relocalize the proteasomal machinery of the host cells to facilitate their own replication (80-82). Thus, these pathogens may diminish the proteasomal activity for processing of antigens thereby reducing the presentation of peptides by MHC class I molecules. The precise mechanism underlying this novel virus-induced block of MHC class I presentation remains to be elucidated.

We observed that GBM cells infected with HCMV-based therapeutic vaccines stimulate IFN- $\gamma$  release by pp65-sepcific T cells. In fact, pp65 is the most abundant HCMV-encoded protein (83) and represents a major target for the CD8+ T cell responses in infected human individuals (84, 85). It may be a useful target for immunotherapeutic interventions in GBM patients as pp65-specific cytotoxic T cells lyse HCMV-infected GBM cell lines *in vitro* (86, 87). Thus, PBMCs derived from GBM patients could be transduced *in vitro* with retroviral vectors encoding pp65-TCR and adoptively transferred back to

eliminate GBM cells. Experiments with rhesus CMV in rhesus macaques, an animal model for HCMV infection of humans, have demonstrated that pp65-specific T cell responses are important for limiting viral dissemination during primary infection (88). This result implies that simultaneous application of pp65-specifc T cells with in situ vaccination of HCMV-based therapeutic vaccines prevents unwanted side effects due to virus spread. Thus, although pp65 helps HCMV to subvert host defense (89-93) and is not required for viral replication (94) it should not be eliminated from a HCMV-based therapeutic vaccine. On the other hand, it is important to use HCMV-based vectors, which do not express cmvIL-10 (UL111A) for several reasons. Firstly, cmvIL-10 dampens the antiviral immune response (95-100). Secondly, cmvIL-10 produced by HCMV-infected GSCs can induce immunosuppressive macrophages and microglia, which subsequently support tumor growth (42, 101).

Autologous DC vaccines generated *ex vivo* from peripheral blood monocytes represent another promising novel approach in immunotherapy of GBM patients (40, 41, 102–104). They can complement adoptive T cell transfer and *in situ* vaccination and play a role in adjuvant treatment of cancer including GBM (105). HCMV-based vectors may be useful for generation of DC vaccines because HCMV infects DCs (43, 106). However, cmvIL-10 confers an immunosuppressive function upon HCMV-infected DCs (95–100, 107). Thus, HCMV-based vaccines lacking cmvIL-10 may be suitable for generation of autologous DCs that stimulate pp65-specific T cells and neo-epitopes expressed by the HCMV-based vector.

Besides GBM cells HCMV also infects cells from other malignant human tumors including colorectal carcinoma and

## REFERENCES

- Sturm D, Bender S, Jones D T, Lichter P, Grill J, Becher O, et al. Paediatric and adult glioblastoma: multiform (epi)genomic culprits emerge. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2014) 14:92–107. doi: 10.1038/nrc3655
- Wen PY, Kesari S. Malignant gliomas in adults. N Engl J Med. (2008) 359:492–507. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0708126
- Stupp R, Mason W P, van den Bent MJ, Weller M, Fisher B, Taphoorn MJ, et al. Radiotherapy plus concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide for glioblastoma. N Engl J Med. (2005) 352:987–96. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043330
- Lim M, Xia Y, Bettegowda C, Weller M. Current state of immunotherapy for glioblastoma. Nat Rev Clin Oncol. (2018) 15:422–42. doi: 10.1038/s41571-018-0003-5
- Ahmed N, Brawley V, Hegde M, Bielamowicz K, Kalra M, Landi D, et al. HER2-specific chimeric antigen receptor-modified virus-specific T cells for progressive glioblastoma: a phase 1 dose-escalation trial. *JAMA Oncol.* (2017) 3:1094–101. doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2017. 0184
- Brown CE, Alizadeh D, Starr R, Weng L, Wagner JR, Naranjo A, et al. Regression of Glioblastoma after chimeric antigen receptor T-cell therapy. *N Engl J Med.* (2016) 375:2561–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1610497
- Johnson LA, Scholler J, Ohkuri T, Kosaka A, Patel PR, McGettigan SE, et al. Rational development and characterization of humanized anti-EGFR variant III chimeric antigen receptor T cells for glioblastoma. *Sci Transl Med.* (2015) 7:275ra22. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aaa4963
- Pule MA, Savoldo B, Myers GD, Rossig C, Russell HV, Dotti G, et al. Virusspecific T cells engineered to coexpress tumor-specific receptors: persistence and antitumor activity in individuals with neuroblastoma. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:1264–70. doi: 10.1038/nm.1882

prostate cancer (108–110). Accordingly, patients with these malignancies could also benefit from vaccination with HCMV-based therapeutic vaccines expressing neo-epitopes.

## DATA AVAILABILITY

All datasets generated for this study are included in the manuscript and/or the supplementary files.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MA designed research, performed experiments, analyzed data, and contributed to figure preparation. SO performed experiments. AK designed experiments and provided intellectual input. JL and PS contributed new reagents, analytic tools. GW contributed new reagents, analytic tools, designed experiments, analyzed data, and provided intellectual input. MR designed research, analyzed data, provided intellectual input and contributed to manuscript writing. GS was involved in experiment conception, wrote the paper, analyzed data, provided intellectual input and prepared figures.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge support from the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the Open Access Publication Fund of Charité— Universitätsmedizin Berlin. We thank C. Priemer and Sabrina Horn for technical assistance. This work was supported by a stipend from the FAZIT foundation and the EU-METALIC program to MA.

- 9. Filley C, Henriquez M, Dey M. Recurrent glioma clinical trial, CheckMate-143: the game is not over yet. *Oncotarget.* (2017) 8:91779–94. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.21586
- Vlahovic OG, Lim M, Sahebjam S, Baehring J, Cloughesy T, Voloschin A, et al. Nivolumab with or without ipilimumab in patients with recurrent glioblastoma: results from exploratory phase I cohorts of CheckMate 143. *Neuro Oncol.* (2018) 20:674–86. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nox208
- Reardon DA, Lassman AB, van den Bent M, Kumthekar P, Merrell R, Scott AM, et al. Efficacy and safety results of ABT-414 in combination with radiation and temozolomide in newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *Neuro Oncol.* (2017) 19:965–75. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/now257
- Cloughesy TF, Mochizuki AY, Orpilla JR, Hugo W, Lee AH, Davidson TB, et al. Neoadjuvant anti-PD-1 immunotherapy promotes a survival benefit with intratumoral and systemic immune responses in recurrent glioblastoma. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:477–86. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0337-7
- van der Burg SH, Arens R, Ossendorp F, van Hall T, Melief CJ. Vaccines for established cancer: overcoming the challenges posed by immune evasion. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2016) 16:219–33. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2016.16
- Galluzzi L, Chan TA, Kroemer G, Wolchok JD, Lopez-Soto A. The hallmarks of successful anticancer immunotherapy. *Sci Transl Med.* (2018) 10:eaat7807. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aat7807
- Tumeh PC, Harview CL, Yearley JH, Shintaku IP, Taylor EJ, Robert L, et al. PD-1 blockade induces responses by inhibiting adaptive immune resistance. *Nature*. (2014) 515:568–71. doi: 10.1038/nature13954
- Le DT, Uram JN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Kemberling H, Eyring AD, et al. PD-1 blockade in tumors with mismatch-repair deficiency. *N Engl J Med.* (2015) 372:2509–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1500596
- 17. Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunology. Mutational landscape determines sensitivity to

PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. Science. (2015) 348:124-8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa1348

- Zhao J, Chen AX, Gartrell RD, Silverman AM, Aparicio L, Chu T, et al. Immune and genomic correlates of response to anti-PD-1 immunotherapy in glioblastoma. (2019) Nat Med. 25:462–9. doi: 10.1038/s41591-019-0349-y
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. *Nature*. (2013) 500:415–21. doi: 10.1038/nature12477
- Alexandrov LB, Stratton MR. Mutational signatures: the patterns of somatic mutations hidden in cancer genomes. *Curr Opin Genet Dev.* (2014) 24:52– 60. doi: 10.1016/j.gde.2013.11.014
- Brown MC, Holl EK, Boczkowski D, Dobrikova E, Mosaheb M, Chandramohan V, et al. Cancer immunotherapy with recombinant poliovirus induces IFN-dominant activation of dendritic cells and tumor antigen-specific CTLs. *Sci Transl Med.* (2017) 9:eaan4220. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aan4220
- Desjardins GM, Herndon JE, Beaubier N, Bolognesi DP, Friedman AH, Friedman HS, et al. Recurrent glioblastoma treated with recombinant poliovirus. N Engl J Med. (2018) 379:150–61. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1716435
- Locy H, de Mey S, de Mey W, De Ridder M, Thielemans K, Maenhout SK. Immunomodulation of the tumor microenvironment: turn foe into friend. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2909. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02909
- Martikainen M, Essand M. Virus-based immunotherapy of glioblastoma. Cancers. (2019) 11:E186. doi: 10.3390/cancers11020186
- Overwijk WW. Cancer vaccines in the era of checkpoint blockade: the magic is in the adjuvant. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2017) 47:103– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2017.07.015
- Duhen T, Duhen R, Montler R, Moses J, Moudgil T, de Miranda NF, et al. Co-expression of CD39 and CD103 identifies tumorreactive CD8T cells in human solid tumors. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:2724. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-05072-0
- Rosato PC, Wijeyesinghe S, Stolley JM, Nelson CE, Davis RL, Manlove LS, et al. Virus-specific memory T cells populate tumors and can be repurposed for tumor immunotherapy. *Nat Commun.* (2019) 10:567. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-08534-1
- Scheper W, Kelderman S, Fanchi LF, Linnemann C, Bendle G, de Rooij MAJ, et al. Low and variable tumor reactivity of the intratumoral TCR repertoire in human cancers. *Nat Med.* (2019) 25:89–94. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0266-5
- Simoni Y, Becht E, Fehlings M, Loh C Y, Koo S L, Teng KWW, et al. Bystander CD8(+) T cells are abundant and phenotypically distinct in human tumour infiltrates. *Nature*. (2018) 557:575–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0130-2
- Gorzer KH, Redlberger-Fritz M, Puchhammer-Stockl E. Human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) genotype populations in immunocompetent individuals during primary HCMV infection. J Clin Virol. (2010) 48:100–3. doi: 10.1016/j.jcv.2010.03.005
- Klenerman P. The (gradual) rise of memory inflation. *Immunol Rev.* (2018) 283:99–112. doi: 10.1111/imr.12653
- Trgovcich KM, Thomas A, Griessl M, Zimmerman P, Dwivedi V, Bergdall V, et al. Cytomegalovirus reinfections stimulate CD8 T-memory inflation. *PLoS* ONE. (2016) 11:e0167097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0167097
- Pardieck IN, Beyrend G, Redeker A and Arens R. Cytomegalovirus infection and progressive differentiation of effector-memory T cells [version 1; peer review: 3 approved]. *F1000Res.* (2018) 7:1554. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.15753.1
- 34. Sylwester W, Mitchell BL, Edgar JB, Taormina C, Pelte C, Ruchti F, et al. Broadly targeted human cytomegalovirus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ T cells dominate the memory compartments of exposed subjects. *J Exp Med.* (2005) 202:673–85. doi: 10.1084/jem.20050882
- Fruh K, Picker L. CD8+ T cell programming by cytomegalovirus vectors: applications in prophylactic and therapeutic vaccination. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2017) 47:52–6. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2017.06.010
- Luo XH, Meng Q, Rao M, Liu Z, Paraschoudi G, Dodoo E, et al. The impact of inflationary cytomegalovirus-specific memory T cells on antitumour immune responses in patients with cancer. *Immunology*. (2018) 155:294–308. doi: 10.1111/imm.12991
- Mocarski ES, Shenk T, Griffiths PD, Pass RF. Cytomegaloviruses. In: Knipe DM, Howley PM, Griffin DE, Lamb RA, Martin MA, Roizman B, editors.

Fields Virology. Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins (2013). p. 1960-2014.

- Dos Santos J, Ferreira Castro FL, de Aguiar RB, Menezes IG, Santos AC, Paulus C, et al. Impact of human cytomegalovirus on glioblastoma cell viability and chemotherapy treatment. J Gen Virol. (2018) 99:1274– 85. doi: 10.1099/jgv.0.001118
- Rahman M, Dastmalchi F, Karachi A, Mitchell D. The role of CMV in glioblastoma and implications for immunotherapeutic strategies. *Oncoimmunology*. (2019) 8:e1514921. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2018.1514921
- Mitchell A, Batich KA, Gunn MD, Huang MN, Sanchez-Perez L, Nair SK, et al. Tetanus toxoid and CCL3 improve dendritic cell vaccines in mice and glioblastoma patients. *Nature*. (2015) 519:366–9. doi: 10.1038/nature14320
- Prins RM, Cloughesy TF, Liau LM. Cytomegalovirus immunity after vaccination with autologous glioblastoma lysate. N Engl J Med. (2008) 359:539–41. doi: 10.1056/NEJMc0804818
- Sampson H, Mitchell DA. Is cytomegalovirus a therapeutic target in glioblastoma? *Clin Cancer Res.* (2011) 17:4619– 21. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0992
- Raftery J, Schwab M, Eibert SM, Samstag Y, Walczak H, Schonrich G. Targeting the function of mature dendritic cells by human cytomegalovirus: a multilayered viral defense strategy. *Immunity*. (2001) 15:997–1009. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00239-4
- Sampaio L, Weyell A, Subramanian N, Wu Z, Sinzger C. A TB40/E-derived human cytomegalovirus genome with an intact US-gene region and a selfexcisable BAC cassette for immunological research. *Biotechniques*. (2017) 63:205–14. doi: 10.2144/000114606
- Sinzger HG, Digel M, Katona R, Sampaio KL, Messerle M, Hengel H, et al. Cloning and sequencing of a highly productive, endotheliotropic virus strain derived from human cytomegalovirus TB40/E. J Gen Virol. (2008) 89(Pt 2):359–68. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.83286-0
- 46. Yan J, Reichenbach DK, Corbitt N, Hokey DA, Ramanathan MP, McKinney KA, et al. Induction of antitumor immunity *in vivo* following delivery of a novel HPV-16 DNA vaccine encoding an E6/E7 fusion antigen. *Vaccine*. (2009) 27:431–40. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.10.078
- 47. Ressing E, Sette A, Brandt RM, Ruppert J, Wentworth PA, Hartman M, et al. Human CTL epitopes encoded by human papillomavirus type 16 E6 and E7 identified through *in vivo* and *in vitro* immunogenicity studies of HLA-A\*0201-binding peptides. *J Immunol.* (1995) 154:5934–43.
- Tischer BK, Smith GA, Osterrieder N. En passant mutagenesis: a two step markerless red recombination system. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2010) 634:421– 30. doi: 10.1007/978-1-60761-652-8\_30
- Reed JMH. A simple method of estimating fifty per cent endpoints. Am J Hyg. (1938) 27:493–7. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.aje.a118408
- Potter H. Transfection by electroporation. *Curr Protoc Cell Biol.* (2003) Chapter 20, Unit 20–5. doi: 10.1002/0471143030.cb2005s19
- Draper M, Kwong ML, Gros A, Stevanovic S, Tran E, Kerkar S, et al. Targeting of HPV-16+ epithelial cancer cells by TCR gene engineered T cells directed against E6. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2015) 21:4431– 9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-14-3341
- Leisegang EB, Meyerhuber P, Kieback E, Sommermeyer D, Xue SA, Reuss S, et al. Enhanced functionality of T cell receptor-redirected T cells is defined by the transgene cassette. J Mol Med. (2008) 86:573– 83. doi: 10.1007/s00109-008-0317-3
- Schub SIG, Hammerschmidt W, Moosmann A. CMV-specific TCRtransgenic T cells for immunotherapy. J Immunol. (2009) 183:6819– 30. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0902233
- Engels CH, Schuler T, Indraccolo S, Gladow M, Baum C, Blankenstein T, et al. Retroviral vectors for high-level transgene expression in T lymphocytes. *Hum Gene Ther*. (2003) 14:1155–68. doi: 10.1089/104303403322167993
- Jutz S, Leitner J, Schmetterer K, Doel-Perez I, Majdic O, Grabmeier-Pfistershammer K, et al. Assessment of costimulation and coinhibition in a triple parameter T cell reporter line: simultaneous measurement of NF-kappaB, NFAT and AP-1. J Immunol Methods. (2016) 430:10– 20. doi: 10.1016/j.jim.2016.01.007
- Rosskopf S, Leitner J, Paster W, Morton LT, Hagedoorn RS, Steinberger P, et al. A Jurkat 76 based triple parameter reporter system to evaluate TCR functions and adoptive T cell strategies. *Oncotarget.* (2018) 9:17608– 19. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.24807

- 57. Heemskerk H, Hoogeboom M, de Paus RA, Kester MG, van der Hoorn MA, Goulmy E, et al. Redirection of antileukemic reactivity of peripheral T lymphocytes using gene transfer of minor histocompatibility antigen HA-2-specific T-cell receptor complexes expressing a conserved alpha joining region. *Blood.* (2003) 102:3530–40. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-05-1524
- Jutz S, Hennig A, Paster W, Asrak O, Dijanovic D, Kellner F, et al. A cellular platform for the evaluation of immune checkpoint molecules. *Oncotarget*. (2017) 8:64892–906. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.17615
- 59. Sugawara S, Abo T, Kumagai K. A simple method to eliminate the antigenicity of surface class I MHC molecules from the membrane of viable cells by acid treatment at pH 3. *J Immunol Methods*. (1987) 100:83–90. doi: 10.1016/0022-1759(87)90175-X
- Fiallos JJ, Matlaf L, Prichard M, Dittmer D, Cobbs C, Soroceanu L. Human cytomegalovirus gene expression in long-term infected glioma stem cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e116178. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0116178
- Schempp S, Topp M, Kessler T, Sampaio KL, Dennehy KM, Einsele H, et al. Deletion mutant of human cytomegalovirus lacking US2-US6 and US11 maintains MHC class I expression and antigen presentation by infected dendritic cells. *Virus Res.* (2011) 155:446–54. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2010.11.014
- 62. Dekhtiarenko RRB, Blatnik R, Lee LN, Fischer S, Borkner L, Oduro JD, et al. Peptide processing is critical for T-cell memory inflation and may be optimized to improve immune protection by CMV-based vaccine vectors. *PLoS Pathog.* (2016) 12:e1006072. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006072
- Del Val M, Schlicht HJ, Ruppert T, Reddehase MJ, Koszinowski UH. Efficient processing of an antigenic sequence for presentation by MHC class I molecules depends on its neighboring residues in the protein. *Cell.* (1991) 66:1145–53. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(91)90037-Y
- Thomas J, Smith KL, Youde SJ, Evans M, Fiander AN, Borysiewicz LK, et al. HPV16 E6 29–38-specific T cells kill cervical carcinoma cells despite partial evasion of T-cell effector function. *Int J Cancer*. (2008) 122:2791– 9. doi: 10.1002/ijc.23475
- Ratzinger HH, Poeppl W, Hoermann G, Kovarik JJ, Jutz S, Steinberger P, et al. Azithromycin suppresses CD4(+) T-cell activation by direct modulation of mTOR activity. *Sci Rep.* (2014) 4:7438. doi: 10.1038/srep07438
- Louveau A, Smirnov I, Keyes TJ, Eccles JD, Rouhani SJ, Peske JD, et al. Structural and functional features of central nervous system lymphatic vessels. *Nature*. (2015) 523:337–41. doi: 10.1038/nature14432
- Korn T, Kallies A. T cell responses in the central nervous system. Nat Rev Immunol. (2017) 17:179–94. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.144
- Soroceanu L, Matlaf L, Khan S, Akhavan A, Singer E, Bezrookove V, et al. Cytomegalovirus immediate-early proteins promote stemness properties in glioblastoma. *Cancer Res.* (2015) 75:3065–76. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-3307
- Shah K. Stem cell-based therapies for tumors in the brain: are we there yet? Neuro Oncol. (2016) 18:1066–78. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/now096
- Howland SW, Poh CM, Renia L. Activated brain endothelial cells cross-present malaria antigen. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1004963. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004963
- Jarry U, Jeannin P, Pineau L, Donnou S, Delneste Y, Couez D. Efficiently stimulated adult microglia cross-prime naive CD8+ T cells injected in the brain. *Eur J Immunol.* (2013) 43:1173–84. doi: 10.1002/eji.2012 43040
- Chu T, Tyznik AJ, Roepke S, Berkley AM, Woodward-Davis A, Pattacini L, et al. Bystander-activated memory CD8 T cells control early pathogen load in an innate-like, NKG2D-dependent manner. *Cell Rep.* (2013) 3:701–8. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2013.02.020
- Doisne JM, Urrutia A, Lacabaratz-Porret C, Goujard C, Meyer L, Chaix ML, et al. CD8+ T cells specific for EBV, cytomegalovirus, and influenza virus are activated during primary HIV infection. *J Immunol.* (2004) 173:2410– 8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.4.2410
- Lauvau G, Boutet M, Williams TM, Chin SS, Chorro L. Memory CD8(+) T cells: innate-like sensors and orchestrators of protection. *Trends Immunol*. (2016) 37:375–85. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2016.04.001
- Raftery J, Abdelaziz M O, Hofmann J, Schonrich G. Hantavirus-driven PD-L1/PD-L2 upregulation: an imperfect viral immune evasion mechanism. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2560. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02560

- Sandalova E, Laccabue D, Boni C, Tan AT, Fink K, Ooi EE, et al. Contribution of herpesvirus specific CD8 T cells to anti-viral T cell response in humans. *PLoS Pathog.* (2010) 6:e1001051. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1001051
- 77. Sckisel GD, Tietze JK, Zamora AE, Hsiao HH, Priest SO, Wilkins DE, et al. Influenza infection results in local expansion of memory CD8(+) T cells with antigen non-specific phenotype and function. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2014) 175:79–91. doi: 10.1111/cei.12186
- Beyranvand Nejad E, Ratts RB, Panagioti E, Meyer C, Oduro JD, Cicin-Sain L, et al. Demarcated thresholds of tumor-specific CD8 T cells elicited by MCMV-based vaccine vectors provide robust correlates of protection. J Immunother Cancer. (2019) 7:25. doi: 10.1186/s40425-019-0500-9
- Neefjes J, Jongsma ML, Paul P, Bakke O. Towards a systems understanding of MHC class I and MHC class II antigen presentation. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2011) 11:823–36. doi: 10.1038/nri3084
- Schneider SM, Pritchard SM, Wudiri GA, Trammell CE, Nicola AV. Early steps in herpes simplex virus infection blocked by a proteasome inhibitor. *MBio.* (2019) 10:e00732-19. doi: 10.1128/mBio.00732-19
- Strang BL. Viral and cellular subnuclear structures in human cytomegalovirus-infected cells. J Gen Virol. (2015) 96(Pt 2):239–53. doi: 10.1099/vir.0.071084-0
- Tran K, Mahr JA, Spector DH. Proteasome subunits relocalize during human cytomegalovirus infection, and proteasome activity is necessary for efficient viral gene transcription. *J Virol.* (2010) 84:3079–93. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02236-09
- Varnum SM, Streblow DN, Monroe ME, Smith P, Auberry KJ, Pasa-Tolic L, et al. Identification of proteins in human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) particles: the HCMV proteome. J Virol. (2004) 78:10960– 6. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.20.10960-10966.2004
- Kern F, Bunde T, Faulhaber N, Kiecker F, Khatamzas E, Rudawski IM, et al. Cytomegalovirus (CMV) phosphoprotein 65 makes a large contribution to shaping the T cell repertoire in CMV-exposed individuals. *J Infect Dis.* (2002) 185:1709–16. doi: 10.1086/340637
- Wills R, Carmichael AJ, Mynard K, Jin X, Weekes MP, Plachter B, et al. The human cytotoxic T-lymphocyte (CTL) response to cytomegalovirus is dominated by structural protein pp65: frequency, specificity, and T-cell receptor usage of pp65-specific CT. J Virol. (1996) 70:7569–79.
- Lucas G, Bao L, Bruggeman R, Dunham K, Specht C. The detection of CMV pp65 and IE1 in glioblastoma multiforme. J Neurooncol. (2011) 103:231– 8. doi: 10.1007/s11060-010-0383-6
- Nair SK, De Leon G, Boczkowski D, Schmittling R, Xie W, Staats J, et al. Recognition and killing of autologous, primary glioblastoma tumor cells by human cytomegalovirus pp65-specific cytotoxic T cells. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:2684–94. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-3268
- Malouli D, Hansen SG, Nakayasu ES, Marshall EE, Hughes CM, Ventura A B, et al. Cytomegalovirus pp65 limits dissemination but is dispensable for persistence. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:1928–44. doi: 10.1172/JCI67420
- Abate DA, Watanabe S, Mocarski ES. Major human cytomegalovirus structural protein pp65 (ppUL83) prevents interferon response factor 3 activation in the interferon response. J Virol. (2004) 78:10995– 1006. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.20.10995-11006.2004
- Arnon TI, Achdout H, Levi O, Markel G, Saleh N, Katz G, et al. Inhibition of the NKp30 activating receptor by pp65 of human cytomegalovirus. *Nat Immunol.* (2005) 6:515–23. doi: 10.1038/ni1190
- Browne EP, Shenk T. Human cytomegalovirus UL83-coded pp65 virion protein inhibits antiviral gene expression in infected cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2003) 100:11439–44. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1534570100
- Gilbert J, Riddell SR, Plachter B, Greenberg PD. Cytomegalovirus selectively blocks antigen processing and presentation of its immediate-early gene product. *Nature*. (1996) 383:720–2. doi: 10.1038/383720a0
- 93. Odeberg J, Plachter B, Branden L, Soderberg-Naucler C. Human cytomegalovirus protein pp65 mediates accumulation of HLA-DR in lysosomes and destruction of the HLA-DR alpha-chain. Blood. (2003) 101:4870–7. doi: 10.1182/blood-2002-05-1504
- Schmolke S, Kern HF, Drescher P, Jahn G, Plachter B. The dominant phosphoprotein pp65 (UL83) of human cytomegalovirus is dispensable for growth in cell culture. *J Virol.* (1995) 69:5959–68.

- Avdic S, McSharry BP, Slobedman B. Modulation of dendritic cell functions by viral IL-10 encoded by human cytomegalovirus. *Front Microbiol.* (2014) 5:337. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2014.00337
- Kotenko SV, Saccani S, Izotova LS, Mirochnitchenko OV, Pestka S. Human cytomegalovirus harbors its own unique IL-10 homolog (cmvIL-10). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2000) 97:1695–700. doi: 10.1073/pnas.97.4.1695
- Lockridge KM, Zhou SS, Kravitz RH, Johnson JL, Sawai ET, Blewett EL, et al. Primate cytomegaloviruses encode and express an IL-10-like protein. *Virology*. (2000) 268:272–80. doi: 10.1006/viro.2000.0195
- Raftery J, Hitzler M, Winau F, Giese T, Plachter B, Kaufmann SH, et al. Inhibition of CD1 antigen presentation by human cytomegalovirus. *J Virol.* (2008) 82:4308–19. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01447-07
- Raftery J, Wieland D, Gronewald S, Kraus AA, Giese T, Schonrich G. Shaping phenotype, function, and survival of dendritic cells by cytomegalovirus-encoded IL-10. *J Immunol.* (2004) 173:3383–91. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.173.5.3383
- 100. Schonrich G, Abdelaziz MO, Raftery MJ. Herpesviral capture of immunomodulatory host genes. Virus Genes. (2017) 53:762– 73. doi: 10.1007/s11262-017-1460-0
- 101. Dziurzynski K, Wei J, Qiao W, Hatiboglu MA, Kong LY, Wu A, et al. Glioma-associated cytomegalovirus mediates subversion of the monocyte lineage to a tumor propagating phenotype. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2011) 17:4642– 9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-0414
- 102. Dasari V, Smith C, Schuessler A, Zhong J, Khanna R. Induction of innate immune signatures following polyepitope protein-glycoprotein B-TLR4&9 agonist immunization generates multifunctional CMV-specific cellular and humoral immunity. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2014) 10:1064– 77. doi: 10.4161/hv.27675
- 103. Polyzoidis S, Tuazon J, Brazil L, Beaney R, Al-Sarraj ST, Doey L, et al. Active dendritic cell immunotherapy for glioblastoma: current status and challenges. Br J Neurosurg. (2015) 29:197–205. doi: 10.3109/02688697.2014.994473
- 104. Reap EA, Suryadevara CM, Batich KA, Sanchez-Perez L, Archer G E, Schmittling RJ, et al. Dendritic cells enhance polyfunctionality of adoptively

transferred T cells that target cytomegalovirus in glioblastoma. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:256–64. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-0469

- 105. van Willigen WW, Bloemendal M, Gerritsen WR, Schreibelt G, de Vries IJM, Bol KF. Dendritic cell cancer therapy: vaccinating the right patient at the right time. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2265. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02265
- 106. Riegler S, Hebart H, Einsele H, Brossart P, Jahn G, Sinzger C. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells are permissive to the complete replicative cycle of human cytomegalovirus. *J Gen Virol.* (2000) 81(Pt 2):393– 9. doi: 10.1099/0022-1317-81-2-393
- 107. Chang WL, Baumgarth N, Yu D, Barry PA. Human cytomegalovirusencoded interleukin-10 homolog inhibits maturation of dendritic cells and alters their functionality. J Virol. (2004) 78:8720– 31. doi: 10.1128/JVI.78.16.8720-8731.2004
- Cobbs CS, Harkins L, Samanta M, Gillespie GY, Bharara S, King P H, et al. Human cytomegalovirus infection and expression in human malignant glioma. *Cancer Res.* (2002) 62:3347–50.
- 109. Harkins L, Volk AL, Samanta M, Mikolaenko I, Britt WJ, Bland KI, et al. Specific localisation of human cytomegalovirus nucleic acids and proteins in human colorectal cancer. *Lancet.* (2002) 360:1557–63. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11524-8
- Soroceanu L, Cobbs CS. Is HCMV a tumor promoter? Virus Res. (2011) 157:193–203. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2010.10.026

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Abdelaziz, Ossmann, Kaufmann, Leitner, Steinberger, Willimsky, Raftery and Schönrich. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Immune Conversion of Tumor Microenvironment by Oncolytic Viruses: The Protoparvovirus H-1PV Case Study

Antonio Marchini<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Laurent Daeffler<sup>3,4</sup>, Vitaly I. Pozdeev<sup>1†</sup>, Assia Angelova<sup>5</sup> and Jean Rommelaere<sup>5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratory of Oncolytic Virus Immuno-Therapeutics, Luxembourg Institute of Health, Luxembourg, Luxembourg, <sup>2</sup> Laboratory of Oncolytic Virus Immuno-Therapeutics, German Cancer Research Center, Heidelberg, Germany, <sup>3</sup> Université de Strasbourg, IPHC, Strasbourg, France, <sup>4</sup> CNRS, UMR7178, Strasbourg, France, <sup>5</sup> Infection, Inflammation and Cancer Program, German Cancer Research Center, Heidelberg, Germany

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Roberto S. Accolla, University of Insubria, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Cristina Maccalli, Sidra Medical and Research Center, Qatar Adel Samson, University of Leeds, United Kingdom

#### \*Correspondence:

Antonio Marchini antonio.marchini@dkfz-heidelberg.de

#### <sup>†</sup>Present address:

Vitaly I. Pozdeev, Molecular Disease Mechanisms Group, Life Sciences Research Unit, University of Luxembourg, Belvaux, Luxembourg

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vaccines and Molecular Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 15 March 2019 Accepted: 23 July 2019 Published: 07 August 2019

#### Citation:

Marchini A, Daeffler L, Pozdeev VI, Angelova A and Rommelaere J (2019) Immune Conversion of Tumor Microenvironment by Oncolytic Viruses: The Protoparvovirus H-1PV Case Study. Front. Immunol. 10:1848. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01848 Cancer cells utilize multiple mechanisms to evade and suppress anticancer immune responses creating a "cold" immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment. Oncolytic virotherapy is emerging as a promising approach to revert tumor immunosuppression and enhance the efficacy of other forms of immunotherapy. Growing evidence indicates that oncolytic viruses (OVs) act in a multimodal fashion, inducing immunogenic cell death and thereby eliciting robust anticancer immune responses. In this review, we summarize information about OV-mediated immune conversion of the tumor microenvironment. As a case study we focus on the rodent protoparvovirus H-1PV and its dual role as an oncolytic and immune modulatory agent. Potential strategies to improve H-1PV anticancer efficacy are also discussed.

Keywords: oncolytic viruses, H-1PV, immunotherapy, immunogenic cell death, combination therapy, tumor microenvironment, checkpoint blockade

## INTRODUCTION

After the market approval of Imlygic<sup>®</sup> (Talimogene laherparepvec, T-Vec, Amgen, Thousand Oaks, CA, USA) (1), oncolytic viruses (OVs) are gaining tangible momentum as a new class of anticancer agents. This is apparent from the fact that more than 40 OVs belonging to at least ten viral families are currently undergoing clinical trials against various malignancies, as monotherapy or in combination with other anticancer modalities (2). Most likely, other OVs will soon be approved for use as novel therapeutics for cancer patients.

OVs selectively replicate in and kill tumor cells in a multimodal fashion while sparing normal tissues. Productive virus infection ends with the lysis of the cancer cell and the release of progeny viral particles. In this way, OVs have the ability to multiply and spread throughout the tumor bed. Importantly, OV-mediated cell death is often immunogenic and accompanied by the activation of anticancer immune responses (3). The relevance of this immunological facet of oncolytic virotherapy is further emphasized by the limited OV propagation observed in cancer patients (4).

In this review we provide a brief introduction of the tumor microenvironment, its immune components and the different strategies developed by tumors to avoid attack from the immune system, before focusing on the ability of OVs to act as immune adjuvants and contribute to the induction of systemic antitumor immunity. We also discuss possible ways to enhance the anticancer activity of OVs by combining them with

other anticancer treatments and in particular with other forms of immunotherapy (e.g., checkpoint blockade). We use the protoparvovirus H-1PV, one of the OVs presently under evaluation in the clinic, as a case study.

# THE TUMOR MICROENVIRONMENT

Solid malignant tumors comprise not only a heterogeneous population of neoplastic cells but also a multitude of resident and infiltrating non-transformed cells, secreted factors and extracellular matrix (ECM) proteins, which altogether constitute the tumor microenvironment (TME) (5). The non-transformed cells of the TME consist in particular of cancer-associated fibroblasts (CAFs), adipocytes, stromal, and vascular endothelial cells, pericytes, lymphatic endothelial cells, and recruited cells of the immune system. Tumor-infiltrating immune cells include T-lymphocytes [CD8<sup>+</sup> cytotoxic (memory) T-cells, CD4<sup>+</sup> helper (Th1, Th2) T-cells, and regulatory T-cells (Tregs)], B lymphocytes (B-cells), tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs), tumor-associated neutrophils (TANs), myeloid-derived suppressor cells (MDSCs), dendritic cells (DCs), and natural killer (NK) cells (5, 6).

Non-neoplastic cells may account for more than 50% of the total tumor mass, and their composition varies between different tumors. Like cancer cells, non-malignant cells produce, and release cytokines, chemokines, growth factors, matrix remodeling enzymes, vesicles, and other soluble factors into the tumor mass, often supporting tumor growth (5). Metabolic interactions between cancer and non-malignant cells influence all stages of carcinogenesis.

The ECM network, an important TME component, consists of a flexible deposit of collagen and fibronectin fibrils associated with glycoproteins, proteoglycans, and polysaccharides within and around tumor areas (7). The ECM not only serves as a physical scaffold for all cells of the TME, but also provides biochemical signals by hosting growth factors and chemokines modulating tumor cell growth, migration, and metastasis (7, 8). Although the formation of the ECM is primarily the responsibility of CAFs, cancer cells also contribute. Cancer development and progression are associated with increased ECM deposition (7).

Recent findings from whole-genome sequencing and microRNA expression profiling studies (9, 10) have further highlighted the key role of non-malignant cells and other TME components in influencing tumor growth, immune tolerance, metastasis, and therapeutic resistance (11, 12). It follows that targeting these "normal" elements may represent a new approach to complement conventional therapies and develop innovative and more efficient treatments against cancer.

# ANTI-TUMOR IMMUNE RESPONSE

Among the non-transformed cells of the TME, immune cells have attracted the most attention in the past decade and have become the subject of intense preclinical and clinical research. In a healthy body, the immune system is able to detect and eliminate malignant cells (13), a phenomenon referred to as immune surveillance against tumors. The two main components of this surveillance are activated cytotoxic  $CD8^+$  T cells (13, 14) (also called cytotoxic T lymphocytes, CTLs) and NK cells (15) which belong, respectively, to the adaptive and innate arms of the immune system.

- (i) In order to exert their tumoricidal activity, CTLs have to recognize tumor-associated antigen (TAAs) motifs presented by major histocompatibility complex class I molecules (MHC-I) on tumor cells. To become activated, naïve CTL need to be previously primed by professional, antigenpresenting cells (APCs) which expose TAA motifs through MHC-I molecules to T-cell receptors on CTLs. CD28 molecules expressed at the surface of CTLs bind to CD80 or CD86 polypeptides exposed on APCs (DCs or macrophages), providing a co-stimulatory signal for CTL killing activation. CTL tumoricidal activity is carried out both directly through the release of cytotoxic granules containing perforin and granzymes, and indirectly through the secretion of cytokines such as interferon- $\gamma$  (IFN- $\gamma$ ), tumor necrosis factor- $\alpha$  (TNF- $\alpha$ ), and IL-2. These cytokines induce apoptosis of tumor cells and/or activation of anticancer immune responses (16). CD4<sup>+</sup> T helper cells also contribute to the cytotoxic anticancer immune response mediated by CTLs, by stimulating CTL priming through the release of cytokines, particularly IFN- $\gamma$  (17).
- (ii) In contrast to CTLs, NK cells do not require specific TAA recognition to interact with tumor cells nor MHC-dependent cross-priming. A repertoire of inhibitory and activating receptors on these cells, makes their activity dependent on the down- or up-modulation of various ligands exposed on tumor cells, respectively. Similarly to CTL, NK cells are able to kill neoplastic cells directly by releasing perforin and granzymes as well as indirectly by secreting death receptor ligands (FasL and TRAIL) and cytokines [IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and granulocyte macrophage-colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF)] (15). NK cell functions can be activated or exacerbated in presence of cytokines released by DCs and monocytes (IL-12 and IL-15) as well as T-cells or NK cells themselves (IL-2) (18).

In conclusion, the immune system appears to play a major pleiotropic role in the surveillance against tumors.

# TUMOR STRATEGIES OF IMMUNE EVASION

As mentioned above, CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cells, NK cells, and monocytes populate TMEs. The presence of these cells was found to correlate with a better prognosis and treatment responsiveness of various tumors including brain, hepatocellular, lung, breast, renal, colorectal cancers, and melanoma (19, 20). TMEs containing these immune cell populations are called inflamed. Unfortunately, the immunosuppressive ecosystem prevailing in many TMEs suppresses NK and CTL cytotoxic activities, thereby precluding long-standing protective immunity. In addition,

the TME often inhibits T-cell proliferation, promotes Tcell apoptosis, down-regulates expression of MHC molecules and antigen processing machinery components on most cells within tumors (in particular neoplastic cells, DCs, and CD4<sup>+</sup> T helper cells) and corrupts TAMs toward an M2 immunosuppressive phenotype, thereby allowing tumor cells to escape attack from the immune system. For a comprehensive discussion of the strategies developed by cancer cells to escape immune surveillance, we redirect readers to excellent recent reviews by Muhn and Bronte (21) and Fearon (22). Briefly, a main mechanism by which tumors prevent attack from the immune system consists in the release within TMEs of immunosuppressive molecules such as growth factors [e.g., transforming growth factor (TGF)-\beta], cytokines [e.g., interleukin-10 (IL-10)], chemokines, inflammatory, and matrixremodeling enzymes as well as metabolites. These molecules contribute to establish complex and dynamic communication networks between all the cells composing a tumor in order to promote its survival, development, and metastasis. These molecules are produced not only by tumor cells, but also by non-malignant cells of the TME including CAFs (23, 24), adipocytes (25), and infiltrating immune cells such as Tregs (26, 27), Bregs (28, 29), MDSCs (30, 31), and TAMs (32). Thus, diverse cell subtypes depending on their activation state by producing and secreting these molecules simultaneously participate in establishing an immune-suppressive TME via multiple mechanisms [e.g., Tregs through the production of IL-10 and TGF-β inhibit CTL and NK cytolytic activity, promote Treg survival, and expansion and modulate the activity of other immunosuppressive cells within the TME such as Bregs, MDSCs, TAMs and CAF, which in their turn concur to augment immunosuppression (26, 27)]. The activity of these cells may change from tumor to tumor and during the different phases of tumorigenesis and even between different regions within the same tumor.

A second immune-inhibitory mechanism relies on a natural process developed by the immune system to regulate the amplitude and the quality of the T-cell response. This mechanism is triggered to prevent the immune response from getting overactivated and causing autoimmune reactions that could damage healthy tissues. The factors involved in this inhibitory process are collectively referred to as immune checkpoint molecules (ICs) and are expressed at the surface of several cell populations of TME. The mechanism is triggered upon interaction of ICs acting as receptors and located on tumor-infiltrating effector T-cells, B-cells and NK cells, with specific ICs behaving as ligands and often expressed at the surface of APCs, Tregs, TAMs, and MDSCs. Interestingly, ICs ligands are overexpressed in many tumor cells. Well-known examples of IC-receptors include the CTL-associated antigen 4 (CTLA-4/CD152), the programmed death receptor 1 (PD-1/CD279), and the molecules lymphocyte activation gene-3 (LAG-3), T cell immunoglobulin, and mucin domain containing protein 3 (TIM-3), and T-cell immunoreceptor with Ig and ITIM domains (TIGIT) (33-35). The corresponding ligands are CD80 and CD86 for CTLA-4, and programmed death receptor ligand 1 and 2 (PD-L1/CD274, PD-L2/CD273) for PD-1. These IC receptor-ligand interactions play a critical role in blocking anticancer immune responses mediated by cytotoxic T-cells and NK cells in TMEs (35). The underlying molecular mechanisms involved in these inhibitory signaling pathways are complex and beyond the scope of this review (36–38). Within the TME, tumor cells and myeloid cells are considered to be the main cell types responsible for T-cell suppression through the expression of PD-1 ligands (39).

## **CANCER IMMUNOTHERAPY**

To overcome tumor-driven immune evasion and suppression, a new appealing therapeutic strategy, namely cancer immunotherapy, emerged, and was recognized as the breakthrough of the year 2013 (40). Presently, the field is rapidly expanding, yielding continuously growing evidence of clinical efficiency in patients with various types of solid and hematological tumors. Cancer immunotherapy is generally based on two approaches. Passive immunotherapy aims at enhancing an already existing antitumor immune response; active immunotherapy attempts to trigger the latter de novo. Administration of immunomodulating antibodies (e.g., immune checkpoint inhibitors, ICIs) and the adoptive transfer of tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes or chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) T-cells represent the passive immunotherapy approach, while the active one is exemplified by anticancer vaccination [discussed in this issue by Fennemann et al. (41)]. Current cancer immunotherapeutic strategies, their molecular bases, challenges, and future directions and prospects are extensively reviewed in various recent publications to which the reader is redirected (41-44). Special attention is paid in the present review to immune checkpoint blockade using ICIs, given its relevance to the oncolytic virotherapy approaches discussed below.

## IMMUNE CHECKPOINT BLOCKADE

The discovery of the aforementioned immunosuppressive pathways represented a breakthrough for oncology, as illustrated by the 2018 Nobel Prize in Physiology or Medicine jointly awarded to Allison and Honjo for their contribution to novel cancer therapy approaches based on the inhibition of negative immune regulation. Indeed, these findings have paved the way for the development of innovative treatments that aim to restore or boost anticancer immune responses in TMEs through alleviation of the immunosuppressive signals inhibiting the cytotoxic activities of CTL and NK cells (35). Like other promising cancer immunotherapies using DC-based vaccines (45) and CAR T-cell therapy (46), the application of immune checkpoint inhibitors is currently the subject of intense efforts worldwide to harness the power of the immune system against cancers.

While small-molecule immune checkpoint inhibitors are under development (47), immune checkpoint blockade (ICB) has been successfully achieved using monoclonal antibodies that interfere with the interactions between checkpoint receptors and cognate ligands by targeting either of these molecules (48). Examples of ICB include nivolumab and pembrolizumab directed against PD-1; ipilimumab specific for CTLA-4; and atezolizumab, durvalumab, and avelumab developed against PD-L1. These market-approved antibodies, alone or in combination, showed impressive results against several types of cancer including melanoma and lung carcinomas (48, 49), with some patients experiencing a durable and complete anticancer response. New antibodies targeting the more recently discovered immune checkpoint molecules Tim-3 (50) and LAG-3 (33) have shown pre-clinical efficacy and are now entering clinical trials (51, 52).

Despite these successes, it should be stated that only a fraction (10–40%) of treated patients responds positively to checkpoint blockade with PD-1 or PD-L1 specific antibodies (53). In addition treatment resistance is common (54, 55) influenced at least in part by patient HLA class I genotype (56). Furthermore, the appearance of severe immune-related adverse events due to an exacerbated activation of the global immune system (57, 58) hampers (combinatorial) treatments with checkpoint blocking antibodies.

The clinical outcome of checkpoint blockade is thought to depend on the neoantigen load of tumors as well as the size and composition of the immune cell population present in the tumor bed. Inflamed tumors (also referred to as hot tumors) that contain CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T-cells, monocytes and proinflammatory cytokines, show the best response rate to ICB (59). Indeed, the immune landscape of inflamed tumors is indicative of a pre-existing antitumor immune response that has been silenced by the tumor-bed suppressive environment, as revealed by prominent Treg and MDSC infiltration, production of antiinflammatory cytokines or T cell exhaustion. Another common feature of inflamed tumors is the elevated expression of PD-L1 by neoplastic or immune cells. A PD-1/PD-L1 signature in tumors generally correlates with a positive response to anti-PD-1 therapy (19), although PD-L1 expression is not a prerequisite for successful checkpoint therapy.

In contrast, immune-excluded or deserted tumors (cold tumors) are characterized by poor or almost no T-cell infiltration in the stroma, and they respond poorly to ICB (20, 60). Therefore, it is clear that the development of new strategies to convert a cold TME into a hot one, is essential for improving the clinical outcome of ICB and increasing the proportion of patients who benefit from this treatments. One of the most promising strategies in this respect is the use of OVs.

# **ONCOLYTIC VIRUSES**

In recent years, OVs have attracted significant attention as anticancer agents because they preferably replicate in, and eventually lyse, tumor cells while sparing normal counterparts. Tumor cells offer a favorable environment for the lytic replication of many OVs that exploit various physiological alterations occurring in cancer cells. These tumor cell defects are often associated with: (i) rapid proliferation and dysregulated metabolism (61); (ii) impairment of antiviral immune responses (62); (iii) production of immune suppressive factors in the TME (63, 64), (iv) intracellular signaling pathway alterations that promote survival under stress conditions (65, 66). Besides directly killing tumor cells through activation of different cytocidal programs ranging from apoptosis, pyroptosis, and necroptosis to autophagy and lysosome-dependent cell death, OVs proved able to convert a cold TME into an inflamed one, thereby reawakening antitumor immune responses. Due to their multimodal activity, OVs have become a major focus of interest in cancer therapy research. As a result of their oncosuppressive activities, more than forty OVs are presently in clinical testing against various malignancies and a number of OVs are undergoing phase III clinical trials (67).

This list of OVs under investigation includes herpes simplex virus (HSV), adenoviruses (Ad), vaccinia virus (VV), measles virus (MV), coxsackie virus, poliovirus, protoparvovirus, reovirus, Newcastle disease virus, vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), and Seneca Valley virus. Some of the OVs undergoing clinical trials are based on human pathogens (e.g., Ad, HSV, MV, poliovirus) and are engineered to reduce their toxicity and compel their lytic multiplication in response to factors and/or pathways specifically active in tumor cells.

The therapeutic potential of OVs can be best exemplified by the clinical benefit of the prototypical drug in this class, the genetically modified type 1 HSV designated talimogene laherparepvec (T-Vec). For a recent T-Vec review, the reader is referred to Conry et al. (68). Based on encouraging clinical results, T-Vec became the first oncolytic virus to receive regulatory approval by FDA in 2015 with an indication for advanced melanoma (1). This virus was engineered to prevent production of both its neurovirulence protein ICP34.5 required for lytic infection of normal cells (in particular neurons), and its ICP47 protein that reduces MHC class I expression and virus/tumor antigen presentation by infected cells. These changes also brought the viral US11 gene under control of an early/intermediate promoter, partially reinvigorating the virus lytic activity in tumor cells. Furthermore, two copies of the human granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) gene were introduced into the virus genome to enhance it immunogenicity, knowing that GM-CSF production by cancer cells attracts DCs in the tumor niche and enhances their antigen presentation function. T-Vec propagates preferentially in neoplastic cells in which the malignant transformation process has impaired the PKR (e.g., through oncogenic Ras activation) and/or type I IFN pathways, features characterizing in particular many melanoma cells.

In a phase III randomized clinical trial (OPTiM) conducted in 436 patients with stage IIIB to IV melanoma, intralesional injection of T-Vec resulted in significantly better durable and overall response rates compared with subcutaneous administration of GM-CSF alone, with superior overall survival for patients with stage III or IV M1a disease. The virus treatment proved also to be beneficial against non-injected lesions, demonstrating its ability to stimulate an anticancer immune response. In T-Vec-treated patients with cutaneous melanoma arising in the head and neck, a complete response rate of 30% was achieved, and 73% of responses persisted longer than 1 year. Based on these results, phase IB/II and IB/III clinical trials combining T-Vec with the immune checkpoint inhibitors ipilimumab (anti-CTLA-4) or pembrolizumab (anti-PD-1), respectively, were undertaken in patients with advanced melanoma (see below section Strategies to improve OVs and optimize their immune stimulatory activities).

Another promising candidate for clinical applications is the oncolytic poliovirus PVSRIPO in which the internal ribosomal entry site of poliovirus is replaced with that of human rhinovirus type 2, to ablate neurovirulence. PVSRIPO uses for its entry the poliovirus receptor CD155, which is highly expressed on the surface of neoplastic cells and in other cells of the TME. There is preclinical and clinical evidence that this OV has strong ability to activate DCs and promote formation of tumor-specific CTLs (69). The results of a clinical trial in which 61 patients with grade IV malignant glioma were treated with PVSRIPO, showed increased survival rate (at 24 and 36 months) in 21% of patients in comparison with historical controls (70).

Other OVs are endowed with an intrinsic oncotropism, which can be traced back to their elevated sensitivity to the antiviral innate immune responses developed by normal human cells but often deficient in their neoplastic derivatives (e.g., VSV) and/or to the depending of their lytic multiplication on oncogenic pathways [e.g., activated Ras signaling for reovirus (66)]. The group of genuinely oncotropic OVs also includes non-human animal viruses (e.g., Newcastle disease virus or protoparvovirus whose natural hosts are avian or rodent species, respectively). One advantage of animal OVs lies in the lack of pre-existing antiviral immunity in contrast to human pathogen-based OVs against which patients may have developed neutralizing antibodies prior to virotherapy. For a complete list of OVs undergoing clinical testing we redirect the reader to these recent reviews (4, 71).

It is worth noting that no champion has emerged yet among the various OVs under investigation. Each OV has indeed its own peculiar modes of replication, action, and tumor specificity. This variation justifies the continued development and optimization of these ground-breaking anticancer agents.

## ONCOLYTIC VIRUSES AS TOOLS TO HEAT UP TUMORS

OVs evoke anticancer immune responses through different mechanisms. In addition to releasing progeny virions into the TME, virus-mediated tumor cell lysis disseminate a wide repertoire of both cellular tumor-associated antigens/neo-antigens (TAAs/TANs), danger-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and viral pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) which lead to an inflammatory immune response. In an ideal scenario, TAAs and TANs are captured and processed by infiltrating APCs, in particular DCs. DCs loaded with antigens migrate to draining lymph nodes where they mature and acquire the capacity to prime T-cells, thus leading to a cancer-specific T-cell response potentially directed against a wide spectrum of tumor antigens.

PAMPs consist of viral RNA, DNA, or proteins that are sensed by pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) expressed by DCs. PRRs include Toll-like receptors, RIG-like receptors, NOD-like receptors, and cGAS (72–74). As a consequence of PRR engagement, DCs produce pro-inflammatory (e.g., TNF- $\alpha$  and

IL-12) and antiviral [type I IFNs (IFN- $\alpha$  and IFN- $\beta$ )] cytokines (75). These cytokines contribute to TAA/TAN cross-presentation and priming of CTL, among other effects (76). It is noteworthy that the cGAS-Sting pathway in tumor-infiltrating DCs can also sense tumor-derived genomic DNA, leading to IFN- $\beta$  production and eventually CTL activation (77), highlighting the relevance of this antiviral pathway in cancer development and therapy (78).

Interestingly, OV-infected cancer cells may sense PAMPs and contribute in a direct way to the production and release of pro-inflammatory cytokines into the TMEs. This is exemplified by the type I IFN response. Neoplastic transformation is often associated with defects in antiviral innate immunity, with cancer cells unable to produce type I IFN and/or to respond to these cytokines. However, in the context of heterogeneous tumors, a fraction of cancer cells may still be able to detect viral PAMPs through their PRRs and sustain significant type I IFN production. The virus-induced type I IFN response is pleiotropic and comprises facets which are undesirable (antiviral effects) and desirable (anticancer effects) in the context of oncolytic virotherapy. Type I IFNs thus act as a double-edged sword: on the one hand, they are directed against the virus by blocking its multiplication and inducing its neutralization and elimination and on the other hand, they have anticancer properties. The oncosuppressive potential of type I IFNs relies in part on their ability to arrest tumor cell proliferation and exert anti-angiogenic effects (79-81). Furthermore, type I IFNs may promote the activation of anti-tumor immune reactions (76). It is welldocumented that type I IFNs are important regulators of NK cell and CTL functions. In particular, type I IFNs stimulate NK cell cytotoxic activity and NK cell-mediated production and secretion of IFN- $\gamma$  (82, 83). Besides inhibiting angiogenesis and inducing cell cycle arrest and apoptosis of tumor cells (84), IFN- $\gamma$  is a strong immune stimulant. In particular, INF- $\gamma$  induces the expression of MHC class II molecules on DCs, activates and increases the phagocytic activity of macrophages, and promotes antigen-specific Th1 and CTL responses (84). Type I IFNs also have a crucial role in mediating the interplay between innate and adaptive immunity. Type I IFNs induce maturation of DCs, in particular upregulating the surface expression of MHC class I and co-stimulatory CD40 and CD86 molecules, which are essential for CTL activation (85). Type I IFNs support CTL differentiation and expansion (86, 87). Accordingly, virus-induced type I IFNs directly stimulate the cross-priming of CTLs by DCs (88), and are essential for the protection of activated T cells from NK cell cytotoxicity (89). Notably, IFN- $\alpha$  enhances the induction and maintenance of a Th1 response through its direct action on Th-cells (90).

OVs differ markedly in the ability to trigger production of type I IFNs. The type I IFN response is, for instance a main determinant of whether melanoma cells are resistant or sensitive to oncolytic MV (91). Whereas, NDV is a strong inducer of type I IFNs, human cells infected with protoparvovirus H-1PV produce very little of these antiviral cytokines (65, 92). The Seneca Valley virus actively inhibits the production of type I IFN by cleaving adaptor proteins necessary for this process (93). Nevertheless, these various OVs all show promising oncosuppressive activity in preclinical and clinical studies, indicating that type I IFNs represent one of several factors that OVs can mobilize to heat up TMEs and activate immune responses against cancer cells.

In addition to the type I IFN induction resulting from some OV/tumor cell interactions, the way by which OVs kill cancer cells can stimulate an antitumor immune response before or during cancer cell lysis. Indeed, OVs (alone or in combination with cytotoxic agents) provoke various intracellular disturbances at the expense of cell organelles in particular mitochondria, lysosomes, endoplasmic reticulum and Golgi apparatus, which eventually results in the lysis of the cancer cell and the release of progenv viruses (94). Several OVs have been reported to induce oxidative stress with the production of ROS and reactive nitrogen species (RNS) and ER stress accompanied by Ca2+ release from ER with consequent Ca2+ dyshomeostasis and unfolded protein response (94). ROS/RNS may themselves induce ER stress with consequent Ca2+ release, while Ca2+ potentiates oxidative stress with enhanced production and release of ROS/RNS, thereby generating a positive amplification loop that results in the induction of apoptosis or other modes of cell death (95). Remarkably, OV-mediated cancer cell death is often immunogenic and associated with the expression, release, and/or exposure of DAMPs including ATP, high mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), and calreticulin (CRT). In particular, extracellular ATP acts as a "find me" signal promoting the recruitment of DCs (96), while HMGB1 functions as a danger signal ligand for Toll-like receptor 4 and can directly activate DCs (97). CRT exposure on the cell surface acts as an "eat me" signal neutralizing CD47 on tumor cells and promoting phagocytosis (98). DAMPs attract APCs, in particular DCs, into the TME and induce them to secrete inflammatory cytokines, present TAAs, and prime cytotoxic T-cells. The temporally concomitant release of type I IFNs and DAMPs from OV-infected tumor cells leads to the consideration of type I IFNs as DAMPs, because they trigger similar immunogenic effects and also because the expression of some DAMPs can most likely be activated by IFNs. While ATP, CRT, and HMGB1 represent the classical hallmarks of immunogenic cell death, other molecules behave as DAMPs, for instance annexin A1 (ANXA1) and cancer cell-derived nucleic acid (99). It would be interesting to analyze these molecules in the context of OV-induced cell death. Furthermore, it is most likely that other DAMPs involved in the completion of immunogenic cell death remain to be identified. Information about OVmediated (immunogenic) tumor cell death is often incomplete and fragmentary (99) warranting further studies of this essential parameter of virotherapy. These studies will not only improve our understanding of the mode of action of OVs, but also provide clues to improve the efficacy of OV-based treatments.

It should also be stated that in addition to the abovementioned effects on tumor and immune cells, some OVs are able to infect and replicate in endothelial cells. By causing disruption of tumor vessels, these OVs can thus contribute to the necrosis of tumor cells irrespective of their infection, through oxygen and nutrients deprivation (100–104). Furthermore, these OVs may also promote in this way the infiltration of immune cells into the TME.

In summary, the great interest raised by OVs in the field of cancer therapy relies on their abilities (i) to specifically replicate, multiply, and spread in a lytic manner in tumor cells (oncolysis), (ii) to trigger the release of PAMPs and TAAs/TANs from dying tumor cells, leading to the activation of innate as well as adaptive immune responses, (iii) to directly induce the expression of pro-inflammatory and immuno-stimulatory cytokines, in particular type I IFNs, in some tumor and immune cells, and (iv) to kill tumor cells via immunogenic mechanisms (immunogenic cell death) involving the production of DAMPs that are able to further stimulate immune cells, and (v) for some OVs, to break-down tumor vasculature, causing tumor cell starvation and facilitating immune cell infiltration. Based on these considerations, OVs are attractive candidates to activate innate and adaptive immune responses in TMEs and turn immune-excluded or immune-deserted tumors into inflamed ones (**Figure 1**).

## STRATEGIES TO IMPROVE OVS AND OPTIMIZE THEIR IMMUNE STIMULATORY ACTIVITIES

Despite promising results obtained at the preclinical level, only a small proportion of cancer patients seems to benefit from OV-mediated therapy in clinical studies. A number of reasons account for these disappointing results. OVs, especially when delivered systemically, need to overcome several physiological and physical barriers to reach the tumor target and be effective [reviewed in Marchini et al. (105)]. For instance, sequestration, and neutralization by the mononuclear phagocyte system can dramatically restrict the systemic delivery of OVs. The presence of specific neutralizing antibodies (NAb), can also severely hamper OV systemic delivery and effectiveness, especially in the case of OVs based on human pathogens to which patients may have been previously exposed. For instance, seroprevalence is high against Ad type 5 (60 and 70% in Europe and USA) (106) and HSV (50-80% worldwide) (107), two viruses commonly used as OVs. NAb recognize and coat the virus particles, signaling them for destruction by competent cells. Virus clearance can occur very rapidly, eliminating the virus before its anticancer potential is expressed. Optimal use of these OVs therefore requires consideration of the counteracting effect of pre-existing anti-viral immunity. However, recent results obtained with reovirus (against which about 80% of the human population has developed immunity) indicate that the presence of anti-viral NAb is not always a negative event and paradoxically, can even enhance the delivery of systemically administrated reovirus into the tumor bed. Indeed, NAb-reovirus complexes were found to be taken up and delivered to the tumor by the monocytes present in the blood (108, 109). In most cases, NAb still limit OV activity, as exemplified by a phase I trial demonstrating the greater efficiency of MV in myeloma patients devoid of pre-existing NAbs (110). Several strategies have been developed to overcome anti-viral host immune responses and improve delivery, e.g., virus capsid engineering (111), chemical modification of virus capsid [e.g., PEGylation (112)] and use of cell carriers (e.g., DCs) (113). For instance, Ad vector PEGylation was shown to reduce liver uptake,



**FIGURE 1** Induction of immune conversion of tumor microenvironment by OVs. The left panel depicts a cold tumor microenvironment (TME). In addition to tumor cells, some other components of the TME are shown, i.e., blood vessel with endothelial cells, CAFs, ECM, and few infiltrating immune cells. These immune cells (mainly Treg, MDSC, and TAM having a M2 immunosuppressive status), together with other cells of TME (e.g., CAF and tumor cells themselves), produce and secrete chemo/cytokines, growth factors, and other molecules which contribute to create an immunosuppressive TME. This "cold" TME supports tumor development and metastasis, and confers resistance to (immuno) therapies. The right panel depicts an inflamed TME after intravenous OV treatment. OVs reach the tumor through the blood stream and act in a multimodal fashion to eliminate cancer cells. OVs specifically replicate in and kill cancer cells by inducing immunogenic cell death. Virus-induced cancer cell lysis is associated with the release of progeny virus particles, TAAs, DAMPs, PAMPs, and pro-inflammatory/immunostimulatory cytokines which contribute to recruiting immune cells in the TME and inducing maturation of DCs, thereby triggering innate as well as adaptive immune responses (inset a). DCs migrate to the draining lymph nodes where they cross-present TAAs to T cells (inset b). After expansion, T cells infiltrate the TME and participate in the destruction of cancer cells together with other effector cells such as NK cells and M1-converted macrophages (inset d).

prevent NAb binding, and thereby improve Ad half-life in blood and infection of tumors (112).

Potentiation of OVs can be achieved by inserting (a) therapeutic transgene(s) into the viral genome. Notable examples are OVs armed with payloads that have immune stimulatory activity, such as pro-inflammatory cytokine (e.g., GM-CSF, IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2, IL-12, or IL-15) or chemokine (e.g., CCL2, CCL5, CCL19, CXCL11) transgenes. OV arming with cytokine and chemokine genes is aimed at providing additional stimuli for turning immune-excluded and deserted tumors into hot inflamed ones by induction of immune cell migration and activation. The impact of different arming strategies on tumor heating up has been recently reviewed by de Graaf et al. (114). The success of this approach is exemplified by the HSV-based T-Vec recombinant expressing GM-CSF, a cytokine that stimulates DC migration

and maturation, thereby conferring the virus with enhanced capacity for inducing antigen presentation and T-cell priming (68). Intratumoral administration of T-Vec was found to induce the regression of not only injected tumors but also of non-injected distant tumors, including visceral metastases, indicating virus ability to trigger a systemic antitumor immune response (68, 115, 116). Furthermore, treated mice were protected from re-challenging with the same tumor cells, which indicate a durable antitumor memory response (117). However, it should be stated that cytokine arming, in the context of OV therapy, needs to be carefully evaluated on a case-by-case basis, considering that OVs are replication-competent and transgene expression may thus get amplified. Cytokine overexpression can be deleterious, as illustrated by the severe side effects and hepatic toxicity associated with high dose regimes of recombinant IL-2.

Another promising approach makes use of OVs expressing bi-specific T-cell engagers (BiTEs). BiTEs represent a new class of immunotherapeutic molecules which consist of two single-chain variable fragments (scFv) connected by a flexible linker. One scFv recognizes a T-cell-specific molecule, e.g., CD3, while the second scFv is directed against a TAA expressed on the surface of tumor cells. In this way, BiTEs lead T-cells to target tumor cells, ultimately stimulating Tcell activation, tumor cell killing, and cytokine production. In addition to exert their intrinsic anticancer activity, OVs expressing BITEs are thus able to mobilize T-cells at tumor sites, resulting in an increased oncosuppressive potential (118, 119).

Important improvements of anticancer efficacy have been achieved by inserting genes encoding for scFv targeting immune checkpoint molecules (e.g., PD-1 or CTLA-4) into the viral genome. This approach has been applied successfully with myxoma virus, Ad, MV, and VV (120-123). By achieving intra-tumoral delivery and expression of checkpoint blockade, these recombinant OVs alleviate the risk of systemic unspecific side effects often encountered when the antibody blockers are administered by intravenous infusion. As the PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint control may be triggered by tumor cells, i.e., at the site of action of OVs, the synergism between the latter and PD-1/PD-L1 checkpoint blockade is expected to be most efficient for this particular immune checkpoint. Indeed, the oncosuppressive activity of MV was found to be reinforced to a greater extent by anti-PD-1/PD-L1 than anti-CTLA-4 transgenes (122). However, intratumorally produced CTLA-4-specific antibodies may still enhance the adaptive antitumor response triggered by OV-activated APCs by getting transported to draining lymph nodes or intratumoral tertiary lymphoid structures where priming takes place. Indeed, growing evidence supports the assumption that local delivery of CTLA-4 blockade can trigger T-cell priming in the periphery (124) and release local effector cells by depleting intratumoral Tregs (125).

Combining multiple OVs also opens up interesting prospects, as demonstrated by a recent study in which Ad treatment was followed by VV administration in a Syrian hamster model. The first line OV treatment was found to protect the second virus from the attack of the immune system, enlarging its therapeutic window, and enhancing efficacy (126). An especially intriguing approach consists in a prime-boost protocol involving the sequential application of two distinct oncolytic viruses (vectors): a first one for priming the immunesystem to recognize TAAs and a second one for boosting this response through virus-mediated TAA expression after systemic OV administration [reviewed in (127, 128)]. Also in this case, the use of a different virus vector in the priming phase may reduce the insurgence of NAb against the second virus used during the boosting phase. This strategy has also the potential to sensitize tumors to checkpoint blockade (129).

OV therapy is also compatible with other anticancer modalities, and investigation of OV-based combination

treatments is actively being pursued with all OVs under clinical development.

- (i) For the sake of expediting clinical translation, OV administration has been combined with conventional chemotherapy and radiotherapy, resulting in a number of cases in synergistic anticancer effects at the preclinical level (67, 130, 131). Some of these combinations are currently being tested in clinical studies.
- (ii) In addition to combining with standard treatments, OVs are being tested together with immunomodulators, including drugs that induce immunogenic cell death [reviewed in (94)] or dampen the antiviral innate response (3).
- (iii) A particularly promising area of active research involves the combination of OVs with adoptive immune cell therapy. In particular, OV can improve the efficacy of CAR-modified T cell transfer therapy [as recently reviewed in (3, 132)].
- (iv) Owing to their ability to induce immune conversion of TMEs, a number of OVs have been clinically tested in combination with checkpoint blockade against a broad range of malignancies [for a recent review see (133)]. The joint application of these therapies is anticipated to improve the clinical outcome in cancer patients by eliciting more robust anticancer immune responses. This concept is supported by multiple preclinical evidence showing that OV treatment sensitizes tumors to checkpoint blockade, resulting in synergistic anticancer activity in animal models (122, 134-139). Recent studies by Samson et al. (138) provided further appealing clinical evidence of OV ability to convert a cold tumor previously resistant to immune checkpoint blockade therapy, into a hot tumor sensitive to immune therapy. This conversion may be due in part to the OVinduced local expression of type I IFNs and type II IFN- $\gamma$  resulting in the up-regulation of inhibitory ligands (PD-L1 and PD-L2) on tumor cells (140) and thereby making "cold" tumors susceptible to immune checkpoint blockade. Upon intravenous treatment with reovirus, patients with high-grade glioma, or brain metastases, showed increased intratumoral leukocyte infiltration and type I and II IFNdependent induction of PD-L1 expression (138).

OV-mediated potentiation checkpoint blockade of immunotherapy was also demonstrated in clinical studies using T-Vec in combination with ipilimumab (anti CTLA-4) or pembrolizumab (anti PD-1) (68). In particular, in a randomized open-label phase II trial involving 198 patients with advanced melanoma, ipilimubab/T-Vec co-treatment produced higher objective response rates (ORR) (39 vs. 18%), with 89% of all co-treated patients experiencing durable responses at a median follow up time of 16 months. Furthermore, 52% of patients presented reduced visceral lesions, providing evidence that T-Vec enhanced systemic antitumor immune responses (141). Promising results were also obtained by combining T-Vec with pembrolizumab in a trial's phase Ib arm involving 21 patients with advanced melanoma. In this trial, co-treated patients showed a higher ORR (62%), compared with patients treated with pembrolizumab (34%) or T-Vec (26%) alone. Immune conversion of the TME was observed in co-treated patients, including CD8+ T cell infiltration and both elevated PD-L1 protein expression levels and IFN- $\gamma$  production in tumor cells (142). It should also be stated that co-treatment was not associated with additional toxicity. Extension of this trial is ongoing and involves a total of 660 patients receiving either combination treatment or pembrolizumab alone (68).

The pros and cons of oncolytic virotherapy and the current attempts at improving this strategy will be exemplified in the following section with one of the OVs in clinical development, the rodent protoparvovirus H-1PV.

## THE RAT PROTOPARVOVIRUS H-1PV

## The Virus

The oncolytic protoparvovirus (PV) H-1PV is a non-enveloped single-stranded DNA virus (143, 144). With an icosahedral capsid of 25 nm, H-1PV is the smallest OV presently under clinical development. H-1PV belongs to the *Parvoviridae* family, genus *Protoparvovirus*, species *Rodent protoparvovirus* 1. The *Parvoviridae* family also includes adeno-associated viruses (AAV) that are commonly used in gene therapy for the delivery of therapeutic transgenes (143, 144). However, in contrast to AAVs which need a helper virus for their replication, H-1PV as other protoparvovirus 1 also includes the Kiham rat virus, LuIII virus, mouse parvovirus, minute virus of mice (MVM), tumor virus X, and rat minute virus. Some of these viruses are under evaluation at the preclinical level as oncolytic agents.

The H-1PV genome comprises ~5,100 nucleotides. Small deletions and point mutations can naturally occur in the parvoviral genome, reflecting genetic adaptation to the molecular characteristics of the host cell. The genome consists of two transcription units, termed NS and VP, whose expression is controlled by the early (P4) and late (P38) promoters, respectively. The NS gene unit encodes the non-structural proteins NS1, NS2, and NS3 while the VP unit encodes the VP1, VP2/VP3 capsid proteins and the non-structural SAT protein.

The natural host of H-1PV is the rat; the virus is not pathogenic to humans. H-1PV is unable to replicate in normal tissues, but it can productively infect and kill a broad range of human cancer cell lines from different origins including glioma, breast cancer, hepatoma, pancreatic carcinoma, melanoma, colorectal carcinoma, nasopharyngeal carcinoma, and lymphoma (143). H-1PV oncosuppression has been demonstrated in a number of preclinical animal models (143).

The reasons for H-1PV intrinsic oncotropism and tumor selectivity have been elucidated only in part and are discussed in detail elsewhere (143–146). In brief, the virus has the ability to exploit some of the molecular features that distinguish the cancer cell, such as (i) fast proliferation associated with the overexpression and/or activation of specific cellular factors needed for virus DNA replication and gene transcription belonging to the E2F, ATF/CREB, ETS, NFY families and cyclin A, and (ii) altered signaling pathways accompanied by upregulation of factors controlling viral functions (e.g., the PDK1/PKB/PKC pathway involved in the phosphorylation of the oncotoxic viral protein NS1); (iii) impairment of the innate antiviral immune response in many tumor cells, although the sensitivity of rodent PVs to type I IFN is presently a matter of controversy (92, 144, 147–150).

# H-1PV, an Oncolytic Virus Case in Point

Although underlying mechanisms may be at least partly different, H-1PV, and various other OVs share a number of properties that illustrate well the pros and cons of cancer virotherapy. Pros comprise safety, oncotropism, oncosuppressive ability resulting from both oncolytic and immune adjuvant properties, and the possibility of systemic administration. Cons include limited tumor capacity for virus production in cancer patients, and inter/intratumoral heterogeneity of cancer cell permissiveness for virus infection. H-1PV can thus be used to exemplify the prospects and drawbacks of oncolytic virotherapy. PVs still have a number of unique properties distinguishing them from several other OVs [for a review, see Geletneky et al. (151)]. On the one hand, their lack of natural infectiousness and pathogenicity for humans, and the synthetic oncotoxicity of the viral protein NS1 are worth mentioning. On the other hand, PVs are taken up by most normal cells, which leads to typically harmless abortive infections, but results in the sequestration of a major fraction of administered/produced virions in normal tissues. This trapping limits the capacity of H-1PV to work at a distance from the inoculation site, making viral remote activity especially dependent on a bystander immune adjuvant effect, which is the focus of the present review.

## H-1PV Oncolytic Activity

Besides being the key regulator of H-1PV replication, the NS1 protein is the major effector of virus oncotoxicity. The molecular mechanisms underlying H-1PV-mediated cell death are not fully understood. It was demonstrated that through NS1, H-1PV has the ability to induce oxidative stress associated with elevated levels of intracellular ROS, RNS, and DNA damage resulting in the activation of the intrinsic pathway of apoptosis (152).

In addition to apoptosis, the virus can activate a range of other cell death programs, including necrosis and cathepsinmediated cell death in glioma cells (143). The latter mechanism involves relocation of active cathepsins from lysosomes into the cytoplasm accompanied by the downregulation of cystatin B and C, two cathepsin inhibitors (153). In support of the capacity of H-1PV to induce lysosomal-mediated necrosis in glioma cells, we recently obtained evidence of the occurrence of lysosomal membrane permeabilization and ER stress after infection of these cells (Marchini et al. unpublished results). The SAT protein may have a role in H-1PV-mediated ER stress as observed for porcine parvovirus (PPV). A PPV mutant with a deletion in the SAT region had less lytic activity than the wild-type virus and consequently less spreading (154). It is therefore possible that SAT together with NS1 participates in H-1PV-mediated cell death, in agreement with recent results from our laboratory (Bretscher et al. unpublished results).

Depending on the characteristics of the target tumor and on the amount of virus penetrating the tumor cell (i.e., input virus dose), it is possible that multiple cell death pathways are activated in parallel. It is important to point out that some forms of cell death may be more immunogenic than others and may therefore influence the outcome of H-1PV-based therapies by engaging the immune system at different levels. This needs to be carefully considered in the design of therapeutic protocols (e.g., effective viral dose and treatment fractionation), especially in the context of combination regimens.

The extent of H-1PV-induced oxidative stress may account in part for the capacity of the virus to induce different types of cell death. Indeed, it has been demonstrated that intracellular ROS/RNS levels are pivotal for the determination of cell fate by fine-tuning cell stress responses. While physiological levels of ROS promote cell proliferation, excess production/accumulation of these toxic compounds has been associated with DNA damage and major disturbances such as activation of the inflammasome, induction of TNF-mediated inflammatory pathways, lipid peroxidation, lysosomal dysfunction, ER stress, and calcium and iron dyshomeostasis. Depending on the genetic background of the cell, different ROS/RNS levels can activate distinct forms of cell death, such as apoptosis, pyroptosis, necroptosis, ferroptosis, authophagy, and necrosis (95, 99). Some cancer cells may have more efficient antioxidant mechanisms to counteract H-1PVinduced oxidative stress and therefore be less susceptible to virus oncotoxicity. However, through its ability to activate different cell death pathways, H-1PV may compensate for cancer cell resistance to apoptotic stimuli or DNA damage-inducing agents by engaging the immune system to act against the tumor. Indeed, as briefly summarized in the next section, there is accumulating evidence supporting a role for H-1PV as an activator of immunemediated anticancer responses.

## H-1PV-Mediated Immune Modulation

Preclinical studies of H-1PV demonstrated the involvement of multiple immune cell populations in the anti-neoplastic activity of this virus. Distinct immune cells proved to be activated by H-1PV as a result of both their direct infection with the virus and their exposure to virus-induced tumor cell lysates.

H-1PV can infect a wide panel of human immune cells, namely DCs, macrophages, NK cells, and T-lymphocytes. Infection is abortive and does not result in the production of progeny viral particles. More importantly, no or little direct toxicity of H-1PV for human immunocytes has been observed, while the induced release of cytokines may cause cytopathic effects under *in vitro* conditions (155, 156). H-1PV has been shown to be harmless for rat immune cells as well. Rats treated with repeated high doses of H-1PV showed normal activity of B-cells and developed NAbs against H-1PV. Serum concentrations of IL-6 and TNF- $\alpha$  were normal in these animals, and isolated PBMCs showed proliferative response similar to control (157).

H-1PV infection of human PMBCs results in their maturation and activation, which are associated with the release of IFN- $\gamma$ and TNF- $\alpha$ . Furthermore, a type I IFN production mediated at least in part by TLR-9 was observed and assigned to infected plasmacytoid DCs (156). Interestingly, H-1PV infection proved able to stimulate CD4+ T-cells, as revealed by the enhanced expression of activation markers (CD69 and CD30) and release of both Th1 and Th2 cytokines (IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , and IL-4) (158). In addition to its direct impact on human immune cells, H-1PV indirectly causes major immune stimulatory effects which are apparently induced by infected cancer cells. Indeed, while failing to induce type I IFN in these cells, H-1PV can indirectly upregulate both innate and adaptive immune responses through its effects on tumor cells.

On the innate side, H-1PV infection of human pancreas and colon carcinoma cells was shown to enhance their ability to stimulate NK cells, as a result of the downregulation of MHC-I molecules and upregulation of NK-activating ligands on the surface of infected tumor cells. This stimulation is reflected in an increase of both the release of cyto/chemokines (IFN- $\gamma$ , TNF- $\alpha$ , and MIP-1), and the killing of tumor cells by NK cells (159).

On the adaptive side, effector Th cells (with a Th1 bias) were found to be stimulated in the presence of H-1PV-infected tumor cells, at least in part through the enhanced capacity of the latter for activating APCs. Infection of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) cells with H-1PV leads to the release of HMGB1 but apparently not CRT or ATP (160). As mentioned above, HMGB1 interacts with TLR4 and can directly activate DCs. Furthermore, infection of human melanoma cells with H-1PV induces them to release HSP72. Extracellular HSP72 has potent adjuvant properties and can induce migration and activation of DCs as well as activation of NK cells (155, 161). H-1PV-infected melanoma cell lysates are indeed able to induce maturation of DCs, as revealed by the upregulation of co-stimulatory molecules (CD86) and the production of proinflammatory cytokines (TNF- $\alpha$  and IL-6) (162). The maturation of DCs resulting from their incubation with H-1PV-induced melanoma cell lysates correlates with the up-regulation of TLR3 and TLR9 expression and the activation of the NFkB signaling pathway (163). DCs pulsed with lysates of H-1PV-infected tumor cells not only mature and produce pro-inflammatory cytokines, but also show the ability to cross-present TAAs to specific CTLs, linking the stimulation of innate immunity to the activation of an adaptive immune response (164).

H-1PV requires functional adaptive immunity to fully express its therapeutic potential. CD8+ cells are essential to suppress metastases of Morris hepatoma cells in rats treated with a therapeutic vaccine based on H-1PV-infected autologous tumor cells (165). Similarly, antibody depletion of CD8+ cells in an immunocompetent rat model of glioma, strongly diminished H-1PV oncosuppressive activity (166). Immune reconstitution of NOD SCID mice bearing human PDAC transplants with autologous DC and T-cells primed ex vivo with H-1PV-induced tumor cell lysates resulted in a strong suppression of tumor development (167). These data directly demonstrate the adjuvant effect of H-1PV on the efficacy of a cancer vaccine. It is noteworthy that the vaccination potential of H-1PV can be further improved by combination therapy with IFN- $\gamma$  (168). The involvement of CTLs in H-1PV anti-cancer activity was further demonstrated in a rat syngeneic bilateral PDAC model. Rats engrafted with tumors in both flanks and injected with virus in only one site, experienced significant reduction in tumor size at both the injected and the distal uninjected sites, arguing for an involvement of the immune system in the regression of untreated lesions. H-1PV particles were not detected in uninjected tumors which instead showed increased expression of IFN- $\gamma$ , granzyme B and perforin (169). As additional proof of the role of CTLs in the therapeutic activity of H-1PV, adoptive transfer of splenocytes from H-1PV-treated donors into naïve recipients was shown to significantly prolong survival of animals harboring PDAC (167).

## H-1PV Clinical Development

H-1PV is one of the OVs that have successfully transitioned from preclinical studies into clinical development. Two clinical trials, in brain and gastrointestinal (pancreatic) tumor patients, have been conducted recently.

## Glioblastoma

Glioblastoma is recognized as one of the tumors with the "coldest" TME. Infiltration of immune cells into the glioblastoma bed is generally very limited (170). Furthermore, mutational signature studies in glioblastoma have revealed the presence of only 30-50 non-synonymous mutations (171). As mentioned above, the success of antigen-specific immunotherapies, such as checkpoint blockade, largely depends on tumor mutational load and the presence and phenotype of tumor-infiltrating immune cells. The benefit of this approach for patients with glioblastoma is therefore presently insufficient and badly predictable. In contrast to this intrinsically low responsiveness to checkpoint blockade seen in the majority of glioblastoma patients, H-1PV treatment of the latter is unlikely to be compromised by the "cold" TME. Moreover, H-1PV-induced tumor cell killing, DAMP/PAMP release and increased neoantigen exposure [recently reviewed in Angelova and Rommelaere (150)] may contribute to TME "warming up" and not only trigger antitumor immune responses per se, but also alleviate glioblastoma resistance to checkpoint inhibition. Based on the above, H-1PV deserves consideration also as partner drug in combinatorial immune checkpoint blockade treatments directed against glioblastoma and other tumors with low mutational load.

Similar concerns apply to the applicability of CAR T-cell therapy in glioblastoma. Currently, three CAR T-cell trials have been published which reported promising signs of efficacy in selected glioblastoma patients (172). However, also here the immunosuppressive glioblastoma TME presents obstacles and poses barriers to CAR T-cell proliferation and responses. Whether administered as preceding treatment or simultaneously, in combination with CAR T-cells, H-1PV-mediated TME immune stimulation holds the promise for synergizing with CAR T-cell efficiency. H-1PV-based combinatorial approaches which have yielded encouraging evidence of preclinical and clinical efficacy were recently reviewed in Bretscher and Marchini (144) and are briefly listed below (see Future perspectives in PV therapeutic development).

Yet another advantage of H-1PV as anticancer immunomodulator lies in the gentle way in which the virus reshapes the TME and boosts the immune system. Contrary to immune checkpoint blockade- and CAR T-cell therapy-associated organ toxicities and immune-related adverse events, H-1PV administration to glioblastoma patients is not accompanied by any signs of immune system overstimulation and does not exert any negative impact on laboratory safety parameters. Furthermore, no dose-limiting toxicity could be reached in the first parvovirus glioblastoma clinical trial, as described in more detail below.

The preclinical proof of concept for H-1PV-based virotherapy of brain tumors was provided by in vivo experimental evidence demonstrating efficient H-1PV-induced suppression of both rat and human gliomas in syngeneic or immunodeficient animal models, respectively (173). Progressive reduction of tumor size, complete remission in 50% of the responding animals and significant survival prolongation were observed, while no H-1PV treatment-associated side effects could be detected. These data paved the way for the launch of the first-in-man PV clinical trial (ParvOryx01), a phase I/IIa study in patients with recurrent glioblastoma (174). Notably, ParvOryx01 was also the first OV trial in Germany (175). Within the frame of the trial, 18 patients with a history of one previous glioblastoma resection were treated with escalating H-1PV (GMP-grade, ParvOryx) doses. Half of the corresponding dose was applied either intratumorally or intravenously before tumor resection. After tumor resection, at day 10 after treatment, the second half of the planned virus dose was injected into the wall of the resection cavity. The primary trial endpoints were safety, tolerability, pharmacokinetics, and maximum tolerated dose (MTD) estimation. In addition, tumor tissue samples were acquired during resection, allowing for the analysis of markers of intratumoral virus expression and TME immunological landscape. ParvOryx01 convincingly proved H-1PV safety and tolerability (176). MTD could not be reached. Risk assessment ruled out virus transmission from study patients to third persons, since no infectious H-1PV particles were found in fecal and urine samples. Analysis of post-treatment tumor tissues detected virus expression in a subset of glioblastoma cells and remarkably, also in those patients who received systemic ParvOryx treatment. This was in line with preclinical reports showing H-1PV ability to cross the blood-brain/tumor barrier after intravenous administration. Furthermore, TME immune conversion was observed (176). ParvOryx treatment promoted tumor infiltration with immune cells. Most of the infiltrate consisted of Th cells and perforin- and granzyme B-expressing CTLs. Of note, only scarce Treg cells were seen scattered within the tumor. Activation of glioblastoma-associated microglia/macrophages and detection of pro-inflammatory cytokine production in treated tumors hinted at the induction of an inflamed microenvironment and increased immunological visibility of the tumor. Interestingly, in some of the study patients, formation of not only virus-specific but also glioma-specific T-cell responses was demonstrated, raising the hope that H-1PV treatment may contribute to the circumvention of tumor immune evasion mechanisms in glioblastoma and other poorly immunogenic human tumors.

## Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma (PDAC)

The second H-1PV clinical trial (ParvOryx02) was launched in 2015 in patients with metastatic inoperable pancreatic cancer (177). ParvOryx02 was recently successfully completed and clinical and research findings are currently awaiting publication.

# Future Perspectives in PV Therapeutic Development

The first clinical evidence of H-1PV capacity to induce an inflamed TME in glioblastoma patients together with favorable survival data (176, 178), prompted further efforts to develop strategies to increase the efficiency of PV-based cancer viro(immuno)therapy. Several approaches hold particular promise and are currently under investigation.

H-1PV-based combinatorial treatments have been evaluated in both preclinical and clinical settings (144). H-1PV combinations with chemotherapeutics (160, 179), histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitors such as valproic acid (VPA) (180) and immune checkpoint blockade (181) have been demonstrated to synergistically potentiate the double-faceted anticancer activity of the virus by both inducing enhanced virus replication, oxidative stress and tumor cell lysis (180), and exerting immune stimulatory effects (160, 181) in tumor cell and animal models. Notably, some H-1PV-based combinatorial approaches have also been tested in the clinic. The ParvOryx02 trial combined systemic and intramethastatic H-1PV administration with gemcitabine, the gold standard first-line therapy for PDAC patients. Within the frame of a compassionate use program, favorable response was achieved in glioblastoma patients treated with H-1PV and bevacizumab, an anti-angiogenic agent with still underappreciated immunomodulating properties (182). Some of the patients were also co-treated with the PD-1 inhibitor nivolumab and based on the positive results obtained at the preclinical level, with VPA. This multimodal treatment resulted in partial or complete objective responses in 7 of 9 cases (183, 184). These encouraging results strongly support further (pre)clinical development of PV-based viro(immuno)/chemotherapies for glioblastoma and other cancers treatment.

## H-1PV Genetic Engineering

Another intriguing approach to PV efficacy potentiation is arming the PV genome with immunostimulatory CpG motifs (185) or therapeutic transgenes encoding for angiostatic/immunostimulatory molecules (186). However, in the latter example, due to the limited packaging capacity of H-1PV, the therapeutic transgene replaces part of the viral

## REFERENCES

- 1. Ledford H. Cancer-fighting viruses win approval. *Nature*. (2015) 526:622–3. doi: 10.1038/526622a
- Kaufman HL, Kohlhapp FJ, and Zloza A, Oncolytic viruses: a new class of immunotherapy drugs. *Nat Rev Drug Discov.* (2015) 14:642–62. doi: 10.1038/nrd4663
- Achard C, Surendran A, Wedge ME, Ungerechts G, Bell J, Ilkow CS. Lighting a fire in the tumor microenvironment using oncolytic immunotherapy. *EBioMed.* (2018) 31:17–24. doi: 10.1016/j.ebiom.2018.04.020
- Martinez-Quintanilla J, Seah I, Chua M, Shah K. Oncolytic viruses: overcoming translational challenges. J Clin Invest. (2019) 130:1407–18. doi: 10.1172/JCI122287
- Balkwill FR, Capasso M, Hagemann T. The tumor microenvironment at a glance. J Cell Sci. (2012) 125:5591–6. doi: 10.1242/jcs.116392

genomic region encoding for the capsid proteins, rendering the virus replication deficient. Production of these recombinant PVs requires the use of helper plasmids (187, 188).

The limited packaging capacity of H-1PV can be overcome through an original strategy proposed by El-Andaloussi et al. (189). An engineered H-1PV genome is inserted into the genome of a replication-defective Ad5 vector. The resulting chimera not only allows H-1PV genome delivery to cancer cells with subsequent production and release of infectious replicationcompetent viral particles but, importantly, also offers new prospects for reinforcing the anticancer activity of H-1PV by inserting a therapeutic gene into the adenovirus component of the Ad-PV hybrid genome. This chimera provides a unique platform to carry out, by means of a single agent, cancer gene therapy (through the replication-deficient transgene-armed adenovirus carrier) and oncolytic virotherapy (through the released replication-competent H-1PV particles).

As for every OV under investigation and more generally for any other anticancer agents, further development of H-1PV-based therapies would certainly benefit from the establishment of novel models (e.g., use of patient-derived spheroids/organoids, syngeneic, or humanized animal models) that more closely recapitulate human disease and better predict the outcome of the novel therapies once transferred to the clinic.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AM, LD, VP, AA, and JR have contributed in the writing of the manuscript, read and approved the final manuscript. AM designed the figure.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was partially supported by research grants from Luxembourg Cancer Foundation and Télévie to AM and from Oryx GmbH to AM, AA, and JR. Oryx GmbH had no involvement in the writing of the manuscript and in the decision to submit it for publication. We would like to thank Clemens Bretscher for art work and Caroline Hadley (INLEXIO), for critical reading and editing.

- Najafi M, Goradel NH, Farhood B, Salehi E, Solhjoo S, Toolee H, et al. Tumor microenvironment: interactions and therapy. J Cell Physiol. (2019) 234:5700–21. doi: 10.1002/jcp.27425
- Poltavets V, Kochetkova M, Pitson SM, Samuel MS. The role of the extracellular matrix and its molecular and cellular regulators in cancer cell plasticity. *Front Oncol.* (2018) 8:431. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00431
- Simi AK, Pang FM, Nelson CM. Extracellular matrix stiffness exists in a feedback loop that drives tumor progression. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* (2018) 1092:57–67. doi: 10.1007/978-3-319-95294-9\_4
- Rossing M, Sørensen CS, Ejlertsen B, Nielsen FC. Whole genome sequencing of breast cancer. APMIS. (2019) 127:303–15. doi: 10.1111/apm.12920
- Kondou R, Iizuka A, Nonomura C, Miyata H, Ashizawa T, Nagashima T, et al. Classification of tumor microenvironment immune types based on immune response-associated gene expression. *Int J Oncol.* (2019) 54:219–28. doi: 10.3892/ijo.2018.4617

- De Palma M, Biziato D, Petrova TV. Microenvironmental regulation of tumour angiogenesis. Nat Rev Cancer. (2017) 17:457–74. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2017.51
- Becker JC, Andersen MH, Schrama D, Thor Straten P. Immune-suppressive properties of the tumor microenvironment. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2013) 62:1137–48. doi: 10.1007/s00262-013-1434-6
- Durgeau A, Virk Y, Corgnac S, Mami-Chouaib F. Recent advances in targeting CD8 T-cell immunity for more effective cancer immunotherapy. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:14. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00014
- Molodtsov A, Turk MJ. Tissue resident CD8 memory T cell responses in cancer and autoimmunity. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2810. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02810
- Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Cursons J, Huntington ND. The emergence of natural killer cells as a major target in cancer immunotherapy. *Trends Immunol.* (2019) 40:142–58. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2018.12.003
- Shen J, Xiao Z, Zhao Q, Li M, Wu X, Zhang L, et al. Anti-cancer therapy with TNFα and IFNγ: a comprehensive review. *Cell Proliferation*. (2018) 51:e12441. doi: 10.1111/cpr.12441
- O'Higgins C, Ward FJ, Abu Eid R. Deciphering the role of regulatory CD4 T cells in oral and oropharyngeal cancer: a systematic review. *Front Oncol.* (2018) 8:442. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2018.00442
- Conlon KC, Miljkovic MD, Waldmann TA. Cytokines in the treatment of cancer. J Interfer Cytok Res. (2019) 39:6–21. doi: 10.1089/jir.2018.0019
- Taube JM, Klein A, Brahmer JR, Xu H, Pan X, Kim JH, et al. Association of PD-1, PD-1 ligands, and other features of the tumor immune microenvironment with response to anti-PD-1 therapy. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2014) 20:5064–74. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-13-3271
- Herbst RS, Soria JC, Kowanetz M, Fine GD, Hamid O, Gordon MS, et al. Predictive correlates of response to the anti-PD-L1 antibody MPDL3280A in cancer patients. *Nature*. (2014) 515:563–7. doi: 10.1038/nature14011
- Munn DH, Bronte V. Immune suppressive mechanisms in the tumor microenvironment. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2016) 39:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2015.10.009
- Fearon DT. Immune-suppressing cellular elements of the tumor microenvironment. Ann Rev Cancer Biol. (2017) 1:241–55. doi: 10.1146/annurev-cancerbio-050216-034359
- Liu T, Zhou L, Li D, Andl T, Zhang Y. Cancer-associated fibroblasts build and secure the tumor microenvironment. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* (2019) 7:60. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2019.00060
- Lakins MA, Ghorani E, Munir H, Martins CP, Shields JD. Cancer-associated fibroblasts induce antigen-specific deletion of CD8 (+) T Cells to protect tumour cells. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:948. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03347-0
- Correa LH, Correa R, Farinasso CM, de Sant'Ana Dourado LP, Magalhaes KG. Adipocytes and macrophages interplay in the orchestration of tumor microenvironment: new implications in cancer progression. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1129. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01129
- 26. Saleh R, Elkord E. Treg-mediated acquired resistance to immune checkpoint inhibitors. *Cancer Lett.* (2019) 457:168–79. doi: 10.1016/j.canlet.2019.05.003
- Yano H, Andrews LP, Workman CJ, Vignali DAA. Intratumoral regulatory T cells: markers, subsets and their impact on anti-tumor immunity. *Immunology*. (2019) 157:232–47. doi: 10.1111/imm.13067
- Rosser EC, Mauri C. Regulatory B cells: origin, phenotype, and function. Immunity. (2015) 42:607–12. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.04.005
- Sarvaria A, Madrigal JA, Saudemont A. B cell regulation in cancer and anti-tumor immunity. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2017) 14:662–74. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2017.35
- Consonni FM, Porta C, Marino A, Pandolfo C, Mola S, Bleve A, et al. Myeloid-derived suppressor cells: ductile targets in disease. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:949. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00949
- Gabrilovich DI, Ostrand-Rosenberg S, Bronte V. Coordinated regulation of myeloid cells by tumours. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2012) 12:253–68. doi: 10.1038/nri3175
- Cheng H, Wang Z, Fu L, Xu T. Macrophage polarization in the development and progression of ovarian cancers: an overview. *Front Oncol.* (2019) 9:421. doi: 10.3389/fonc.2019.00421
- Visan I. New ligand for LAG-3. Nat Immunol. (2019) 20:111. doi: 10.1038/s41590-018-0307-8

- Anderson AC, Joller N, Kuchroo VK. Lag-3, Tim-3, and TIGIT: Coinhibitory receptors with specialized functions in immune regulation. *Immunity*. (2016) 44:989–1004. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.05.001
- 35. Pardoll DM. The blockade of immune checkpoints in cancer immunotherapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2012) 12:252–64. doi: 10.1038/nrc3239
- Dyck L, Mills KHG. Immune checkpoints and their inhibition in cancer and infectious diseases. *Eur J Immunol.* (2017) 47:765–79. doi: 10.1002/eji.201646875
- Wennerberg E, Vanpouille-Box C, Bornstein S, Yamazaki T, Demaria S, Galluzzi L. Immune recognition of irradiated cancer cells. *Immunol Rev.* (2017) 280:220–30. doi: 10.1111/imr.12568
- Wei SC, Duffy CR, Allison JP. Fundamental mechanisms of immune checkpoint blockade therapy. *Cancer Discov.* (2018) 8:1069–86. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-0367
- Dyck L, Mills KHG. Immune checkpoints and their inhibition in cancer and infectious diseases. *Eur J Immunol.* (2017) 47:765–79.
- Couzin-Frankel J. Breakthrough of the year 2013. Cancer Immunother Sci. (2013) 342:1432–3. doi: 10.1126/science.342.6165.1432
- Fennemann FL, de Vries IJM, Figdor CG, Verdoes M. Attacking tumors from all sides: personalized multiplex vaccines to tackle intratumor heterogeneity. *Front Immunol.* (2019) 10:824. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00824
- 42. Zhang H, Chen J. Current status and future directions of cancer immunotherapy. J Cancer. (2018) 9:1773–81. doi: 10.7150/jca.24577
- Koury J, Lucero M, Cato C, Chang L, Geiger J, Henry D, et al. Immunotherapies: exploiting the immune system for cancer treatment. J Immunol Res. (2018) 2018:9585614. doi: 10.1155/2018/9585614
- D'Errico G, Machado HL, Sainz B. A current perspective on cancer immune therapy: step-by-step approach to constructing the magic bullet. *Clin Transl Med.* (2017) 6:3. doi: 10.1186/s40169-016-0130-5
- Sabado RL, Balan S, Bhardwaj N. Dendritic cell-based immunotherapy. Cell Res. (2017) 27:74–95. doi: 10.1038/cr.2016.157
- Ajina A, Maher J. Prospects for combined use of oncolytic viruses and CAR T-cells. J Immunother Cancer. (2017) 5:90. doi: 10.1186/s40425-017-0294-6
- Yang J, Hu L. Immunomodulators targeting the PD-1/PD-L1 protein-protein interaction: From antibodies to small molecules. *Med Res Rev.* (2019) 39:265–301. doi: 10.1002/med.21530
- Sharma P, Allison JP. The future of immune checkpoint therapy. Science. (2015) 348:56–61. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa8172
- Sharma P, Allison JP. Immune checkpoint targeting in cancer therapy: toward combination strategies with curative potential. *Cell.* (2015) 161:205– 14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.03.030
- Sakuishi K, Apetoh L, Sullivan JM, Blazar BR, Kuchroo VK, Anderson AC. Targeting Tim-3 and PD-1 pathways to reverse T cell exhaustion and restore anti-tumor immunity. *J Exp Med.* (2010) 207:2187–94. doi: 10.1084/jem.20100643
- Long L, Zhang X, Chen F, Pan Q, Phiphatwatchara P, Zeng Y, et al. The promising immune checkpoint LAG-3: from tumor microenvironment to cancer immunotherapy. *Genes Cancer*. (2018) 9:176–89. doi: 10.18632/genesandcancer.180
- Brown NF, Carter TJ, Ottaviani D, Mulholland P. Harnessing the immune system in glioblastoma. Br J Cancer. (2018) 119:1171. doi: 10.1038/s41416-018-0258-8
- Chen DS, Mellman I. Elements of cancer immunity and the cancer-immune set point. *Nature*. (2017) 541:321–30. doi: 10.1038/nature21349
- Zaretsky JM, Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Escuin-Ordinas H, Hugo W, Hu-Lieskovan S, et al. Mutations associated with acquired resistance to PD-1 blockade in melanoma. N Engl J Med. (2016) 375:819–29. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1604958
- Gao J, Shi LZ, Zhao H, Chen J, Xiong L, He Q, et al. Loss of IFN-γ pathway genes in tumor cells as a mechanism of resistance to Anti-CTLA-4 therapy. *Cell.* (2016) 167:397–404 e9. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.08.069
- Chowell D, Morris LGT, Grigg CM, Weber JK, Samstein RM, Makarov V, et al. Patient HLA class I genotype influences cancer response to checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. *Science.* (2018) 359:582–7. doi: 10.1126/science.aao4572
- Murakami N, Motwani S, Riella LV. Renal complications of immune checkpoint blockade. *Curr Problems Cancer.* (2017) 41:100–10. doi: 10.1016/j.currproblcancer.2016.12.004

- Delaunay M, Caron P, Sibaud V, Godillot C, Collot S, Milia J, et al. [Toxicity of immune checkpoints inhibitors]. *Revue Mal Respir.* (2018) 35:1028–38. doi: 10.1016/j.rmr.2017.08.006
- Sharma P. Immune checkpoint therapy and the search for predictive biomarkers. Cancer J. (2016) 22:68–72. doi: 10.1097/PPO.00000000000185
- Joyce JA, Fearon DT. T cell exclusion, immune privilege, and the tumor microenvironment. Science. (2015) 348:74–80. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa6204
- Fritz V, Fajas L. Metabolism and proliferation share common regulatory pathways in cancer cells. Oncogene. (2010) 29:4369–77. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.182
- Bell JC, Stojdl DF, Lichty B, Knowles S, Marius R, Atkins H, et al. Exploiting tumor-specific defects in the interferon pathway with a previously unknown oncolytic virus. *Nat Med.* (2000) 6:821–5. doi: 10.1038/77558
- Rabinovich GA, Gabrilovich D, Sotomayor EM. Immunosuppressive strategies that are mediated by tumor cells. Ann Rev Immunol. (2007) 25:267–96. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141609
- Ilkow CS, Marguerie M, Batenchuk C, Mayer J, Ben Neriah D, Cousineau S, et al. Reciprocal cellular cross-talk within the tumor microenvironment promotes oncolytic virus activity. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:530–6. doi: 10.1038/nm.3848
- Mansour M, Palese P, Zamarin D. Oncolytic specificity of newcastle disease virus is mediated by selectivity for apoptosis-resistant cells. J Virol. (2011) 85:6015–23. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01537-10
- Strong JE, Coffey MC, Tang D, Sabinin P, Lee PWK. The molecular basis of viral oncolysis: usurpation of the Ras signaling pathway by reovirus. *EMBO* J. (1998) 17:3351–62. doi: 10.1093/emboj/17.12.3351
- Chiocca EA, Rabkin SD. Oncolytic viruses and their application to cancer immunotherapy. *Cancer Immunol Res.* (2014) 2:295–300. doi: 10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-14-0015
- Conry RM, Westbrook B, McKee S, Norwood TG. Talimogene laherparepvec: first in class oncolytic virotherapy. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2018) 14:839–46. doi: 10.1080/21645515.2017.1412896
- 69. Brown MC, Holl EK, Boczkowski D, Dobrikova E, Mosaheb M, Chandramohan V, et al. Cancer immunotherapy with recombinant poliovirus induces IFN-dominant activation of dendritic cells and tumor antigen-specific CTLs. *Sci Transl Med.* (2017) 9:eaan4220. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aan4220
- Desjardins A, Gromeier M, Herndon JE II, Beaubier N, Bolognesi DP, Friedman AH, et al. Recurrent glioblastoma treated with recombinant poliovirus. N Engl J Med. (2018) 379:150–61. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1716435
- Eissa IR, Bustos-Villalobos I, Ichinose T, Matsumura S, Naoe Y, Miyajima N, et al. The current status and future prospects of oncolytic viruses in clinical trials against melanoma, glioma, pancreatic, and breast cancers. *Cancers*. (2018) 10:E356. doi: 10.3390/cancers10100356
- Abe T, Marutani Y, Shoji I. Cytosolic DNA-sensing immune response and viral infection. *Microbiol Immunol.* (2019) 63:51–64. doi: 10.1111/1348-0421.12669
- Chow KT, Gale M, Loo YM. RIG-I and other RNA sensors in antiviral immunity. Ann Rev Immunol. (2018) 36:667–94. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-042617-053309
- Said EA, Tremblay N, Al-Balushi MS, Al-Jabri AA, Lamarre D. Viruses seen by our cells: the role of viral RNA sensors. *J Immunol Res.* (2018) 2018:9480497. doi: 10.1155/2018/9480497
- Stanford MM, Breitbach CJ, Bell JC, McFadden G. Innate immunity, tumor microenvironment and oncolytic virus therapy: friends or foes? *Curr Opin Molecul Therapeut*. (2008) 10:32–7.
- Zitvogel L, Galluzzi L, Kepp O, Smyth MJ, Kroemer G. Type I interferons in anticancer immunity. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2015) 15:405–14. doi: 10.1038/nri3845
- Corrales L, McWhirter SM, Dubensky TW, Gajewski TF. The host STING pathway at the interface of cancer and immunity. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:2404–11. doi: 10.1172/JCI86892
- Khoo LT, Chen LY. Role of the cGAS-STING pathway in cancer development and oncotherapeutic approaches. *EMBO Rep.* (2018) 19:e46935. doi: 10.15252/embr.201846935
- Sadler AJ, Williams BRG. Interferon-inducible antiviral effectors. Nat Rev Immunol. (2008) 8:559–68. doi: 10.1038/nri2314

- Hobeika AC, Subramaniam PS, Johnson HM. IFNα induces the expression of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21 in human prostate cancer cells. Oncogene. (1997) 14:1165–70. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1200939
- 81. Maeda S, Wada H, Naito Y, Nagano H, Simmons S, Kagawa Y, et al. Interferon- $\alpha$  acts on the S/G2/M phases to induce apoptosis in the G1 phase of an IFNAR2-expressing hepatocellular carcinoma cell line. *J Biol Chem.* (2014) 289:23786–95. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M114.551879
- Nguyen KB, Salazar-Mather TP, Dalod MY, Van Deusen JB, Wei XQ, Liew FY, et al. Coordinated and distinct roles for IFN-, IL-12, and IL-15 regulation of NK cell responses to viral infection. *J Immunol.* (2002) 169:4279–87. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.169.8.4279
- Gidlund M, Örn A, Wigzell H, Senik A, Gresser I. Enhanced NK cell activity in mice injected with interferon and interferon inducers. *Nature*. (1978) 273:759–61. doi: 10.1038/273759a0
- Castro F, Cardoso AP, Gonçalves RM, Serre K, Oliveira MJ. Interferongamma at the crossroads of tumor immune surveillance or evasion. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:847. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00847
- Montoya M, Schiavoni G, Mattel F, Gresser I, Belardelli F, Borrow P, et al. Type I interferons produced by dendritic cells promote their phenotypic and functional activation. *Blood.* (2002) 99:3263–71. doi: 10.1182/blood.V99.9.3263
- Curtsinger JM, Valenzuela JO, Agarwal P, Lins D, Mescher MF. Cutting edge: type I IFNs provide a third signal to CD8 T cells to stimulate clonal expansion and differentiation. *J Immunol.* (2005) 174:4465–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.8.4465
- Marrack P, Kappler J, Mitchell T. Type I interferons keep activated T cells alive. J Exp Med. (1999) 189:521–9. doi: 10.1084/jem.189.3.521
- Le Bon A, Tough DF. Type I interferon as a stimulus for cross-priming. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2008) 19:33–40. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2007.10.007
- Müller L, Aigner P, Stoiber D. Type I interferons and natural killer cell regulation in cancer. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:304. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00304
- 90. Brinkmann V, Geiger T, Alkan S, Heusser CH. Interferon  $\alpha$  increases the frequency of interferon y-producing human CD4 + T cells. J Exp Med. (1993) 178:1655–63. doi: 10.1084/jem.178.5.1655
- Allagui F, Achard C, Panterne C, Combredet C, Labarrière N, Dréno B, et al. Modulation of the Type I interferon response defines the sensitivity of human melanoma cells to oncolytic measles virus. *Curr Gene Ther.* (2017) 16:419–28. doi: 10.2174/1566523217666170102110502
- Paglino JC, Andres W, van den Pol AN. Autonomous parvoviruses neither stimulate nor are inhibited by the type I interferon response in human normal or cancer cells. J Virol. (2014) 88:4932–42. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03508-13
- 93. Qian S, Fan W, Liu T, Wu M, Zhang H, Cui X, et al. Seneca valley virus suppresses host Type I interferon production by targeting adaptor proteins MAVS, TRIF, and TANK for Cleavage. J Virol. (2017) 91:e00823–17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00823-17
- Workenhe ST, Mossman KL. Oncolytic virotherapy and immunogenic cancer cell death: sharpening the sword for improved cancer treatment strategies. *Mol Ther.* (2014) 22:251–6. doi: 10.1038/mt.2013.220
- Redza-Dutordoir M, Averill-Bates DA. Activation of apoptosis signalling pathways by reactive oxygen species. *Biochim Biophys Acta.* (2016) 1863:2977–92. doi: 10.1016/j.bbamcr.2016.09.012
- Elliott MR, Chekeni FB, Trampont PC, Lazarowski ER, Kadl A, Walk SF, et al. Nucleotides released by apoptotic cells act as a find-me signal. *Nature*. (2010) 461:282–6. doi: 10.1038/nature08296
- Ibrahim ZA, Armour CL, Phipps S, Sukkar MB. RAGE and TLRs: relatives, friends or neighbours? *Mol Immunol.* (2013) 56:739–44. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2013.07.008
- Gardai SJ, McPhillips KA, Frasch SC, Janssen WJ, Starefeldt A, Murphy-Ullrich JE, et al. Cell-surface calreticulin initiates clearance of viable or apoptotic cells through trans-activation of LRP on the phagocyte. *Cell*. (2005) 123:321–34. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2005.08.032
- Galluzzi L, Vitale I, Aaronson SA, Abrams JM, Adam D, Agostinis P, et al. Molecular mechanisms of cell death: recommendations of the Nomenclature Committee on Cell Death 2018. *Cell Death Differ*. (2018) 25:486–541. doi: 10.1038/s41418-018-0102-y

- Breitbach CJ, Burke J, Jonker D, Stephenson J, Haas AR, Chow LQ, et al. Intravenous delivery of a multi-mechanistic cancer-targeted oncolytic poxvirus in humans. *Nature*. (2011) 477:99–102. doi: 10.1038/nature10358
- 101. Breitbach CJ, Arulanandam R, De Silva N, Thorne SH, Patt R, Daneshmand M, et al. Oncolytic vaccinia virus disrupts tumorassociated vasculature in humans. *Cancer Res.* (2013) 73:1265–75. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-12-2687
- 102. Arulanandam R, Batenchuk C, Angarita FA, Ottolino-Perry K, Cousineau S, Mottashed A, et al. VEGF-mediated induction of PRD1-BF1/Blimp1 expression sensitizes tumor vasculature to oncolytic virus infection. *Cancer Cell.* (2015) 28:210–24. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2015. 06.009
- 103. Benencia F, Courreges MC, Conejo-Garcia JR, Buckanovich RJ, Zhang L, Carroll RH, et al. Oncolytic HSV exerts direct antiangiogenic activity in ovarian carcinoma. *Hum Gene Ther.* (2005) 16:765–78. doi: 10.1089/hum.2005.16.765
- Cinatl J Jr, Michaelis M, Driever PH, Cinatl J, Hrabeta J, Suhan T, et al. Multimutated herpes simplex virus g207 is a potent inhibitor of angiogenesis. *Neoplasia*. (2004) 6:725–35. doi: 10.1593/neo.04265
- Marchini A, Scott EM, Rommelaere J. Overcoming barriers in oncolytic virotherapy with HDAC inhibitors and immune checkpoint blockade. *Viruses.* (2016) 8:9. doi: 10.3390/v8010009
- 106. Kostense S, Koudstaal W, Sprangers M, Weverling GJ, Penders G, Helmus N, et al. Adenovirus types 5 and 35 seroprevalence in AIDS risk groups supports type 35 as a vaccine vector. *AIDS*. (2004) 18:1213–16. doi: 10.1097/00002030-200405210-00019
- Whitley RJ, Herpesviruses. In: Baron S, editor. *Medical Microbiology*. Galveston, TX: University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston (1996).
- 108. Adair RA, Roulstone V, Scott KJ, Morgan R, Nuovo GJ, Fuller M, et al. Cell carriage, delivery, and selective replication of an oncolytic virus in tumor in patients. *Sci Transl Med.* (2012) 4:138ra77. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3003578
- 109. Ilett E, Kottke T, Donnelly O, Thompson J, Willmon C, Diaz R, et al. Cytokine conditioning enhances systemic delivery and therapy of an oncolytic virus. *Mol Ther.* (2014) 22:1851–63. doi: 10.1038/mt.2014.118
- Russell SJ, Federspiel MJ, Peng KW, Tong C, Dingli D, Morice WG, et al. Remission of disseminated cancer after systemic oncolytic virotherapy. *Mayo Clin Proc.* (2014) 89:926–33. doi: 10.1016/j.mayocp.2014.04.003
- Hagedorn C, Kreppel F. Capsid engineering of adenovirus vectors: overcoming early vector-host interactions for therapy. *Hum Gene Ther.* (2017) 28:820–32. doi: 10.1089/hum.2017.139
- 112. Wonganan P, Croyle MA. PEGylated adenoviruses: from mice to monkeys. *Viruses.* (2010) 2:468–502. doi: 10.3390/v2020468
- Kim Y, Clements DR, Sterea AM, Jang HW, Gujar SA, Lee PW. Dendritic cells in oncolytic virus-based anti-cancer therapy. *Viruses*. (2015) 7:6506–25. doi: 10.3390/v7122953
- de Graaf JF, de Vor L, Fouchier RAM, van den Hoogen BG. Armed oncolytic viruses: a kick-start for anti-tumor immunity. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2018) 41:28–39. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2018.03.006
- 115. Senzer NN, Kaufman HL, Amatruda T, Nemunaitis M, Reid T, Daniels G, et al. Phase II clinical trial of a granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor-encoding, second-generation oncolytic herpesvirus in patients with unresectable metastatic melanoma. J Clin Oncol. (2009) 27:5763–71. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.24.3675
- 116. Andtbacka RH, Kaufman HL, Collichio F, Amatruda T, Senzer N, Chesney J, et al. Talimogene laherparepvec improves durable response rate in patients with advanced melanoma. J Clin Oncol. (2015) 33:2780–8. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2014.58.3377
- 117. Liu BL, Robinson M, Han ZQ, Branston RH, English C, Reay P, et al. ICP34.5 deleted herpes simplex virus with enhanced oncolytic, immune stimulating, and anti-tumour properties. *Gene Ther.* (2003) 10:292–303. doi: 10.1038/sj.gt.3301885
- 118. Fajardo CA, Guedan S, Rojas LA, Moreno R, Arias-Badia M, de Sostoa J, et al. Oncolytic adenoviral delivery of an EGFR-targeting tcell engager improves antitumor efficacy. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:2052–63. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1708
- 119. Freedman JD, Duffy MR, Lei-Rossmann J, Muntzer A, Scott EM, Hagel J, et al. An oncolytic virus expressing a t-cell engager simultaneously targets

cancer and immunosuppressive stromal cells. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:6852–65. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-18-1750

- 120. Bartee MY, Dunlap KM, Bartee E. Tumor-localized secretion of soluble PD1 enhances oncolytic virotherapy. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:2952–63. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-16-1638
- 121. Dias JD, Hemminki O, Diaconu I, Hirvinen M, Bonetti A, Guse K, et al. Targeted cancer immunotherapy with oncolytic adenovirus coding for a fully human monoclonal antibody specific for CTLA-4. *Gene Ther.* (2012) 19:988–98. doi: 10.1038/gt.2011.176
- 122. Engeland CE, Grossardt C, Veinalde R, Bossow S, Lutz D, Kaufmann JK, et al. CTLA-4 and PD-L1 checkpoint blockade enhances oncolytic measles virus therapy. *Mol Ther*. (2014) 22:1949–59. doi: 10.1038/mt.2014.160
- 123. Kleinpeter P, Fend L, Thioudellet C, Geist M, Sfrontato N, Koerper V, et al. Vectorization in an oncolytic vaccinia virus of an antibody, a Fab and a scFv against programmed cell death-1 (PD-1) allows their intratumoral delivery and an improved tumor-growth inhibition. *Oncoimmunology.* (2016) 5:e1220467. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2016.1220467
- 124. Kvistborg P, Philips D, Kelderman S, Hageman L, Ottensmeier C, Joseph-Pietras D, et al. Anti-CTLA-4 therapy broadens the melanomareactive CD8+ T cell response. *Sci Transl Med.* (2014) 6:254ra128. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3008918
- 125. Simpson TR, Li F, Montalvo-Ortiz W, Sepulveda MA, Bergerhoff K, Arce F, et al. Fc-dependent depletion of tumor-infiltrating regulatory T cells co-defines the efficacy of anti-CTLA-4 therapy against melanoma. *J Exp Med.* (2013) 210:1695–710. doi: 10.1084/jem.20130579
- 126. Tysome JR, Li X, Wang S, Wang P, Gao D, Du P, et al. A novel therapeutic regimen to eradicate established solid tumors with an effective induction of tumor-specific immunity. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2012) 18:6679–89. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-12-0979
- Aitken AS, Roy DG, Bourgeois-Daigneault MC. Taking a stab at cancer; oncolytic virus-mediated anti-cancer vaccination strategies. *Biomedicines*. (2017) 5:E3. doi: 10.3390/biomedicines5010003
- Pol JG, Atherton MJ, Bridle BW, Stephenson KB, Le Boeuf F, Hummel JL, et al. Development and applications of oncolytic Maraba virus vaccines. *Oncolytic Virother*. (2018) 7:117–28. doi: 10.2147/OV.S154494
- 129. Ilett E, Kottke T, Thompson J, Rajani K, Zaidi S, Evgin L, et al. Primeboost using separate oncolytic viruses in combination with checkpoint blockade improves anti-tumour therapy. *Gene Ther.* (2017) 24:21–30. doi: 10.1038/gt.2016.70
- Ottolino-Perry K, Diallo JS, Lichty BD, Bell JC, McCart JA. Intelligent design: combination therapy with oncolytic viruses. *Mol Ther.* (2010) 18:251–63. doi: 10.1038/mt.2009.283
- Wennier ST, Liu J, McFadden G. Bugs and drugs: oncolytic virotherapy in combination with chemotherapy. *Curr Pharm Biotechnol.* (2012) 13:1817– 33. doi: 10.2174/138920112800958850
- Guedan S, Alemany R. CAR-T cells and oncolytic viruses: joining forces to overcome the solid tumor challenge. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2460. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02460
- LaRocca CJ, Warner SG. Oncolytic viruses and checkpoint inhibitors: combination therapy in clinical trials. *Clin Transl Med.* (2018) 7:35. doi: 10.1186/s40169-018-0214-5
- 134. Zamarin D, Holmgaard RB, Subudhi SK, Park JS, Mansour M, Palese P, et al. Localized oncolytic virotherapy overcomes systemic tumor resistance to immune checkpoint blockade immunotherapy. *Sci Transl Med.* (2014) 6:226ra32. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3008095
- Durham NM, Mulgrew K, McGlinchey K, Monks NR, Ji H, Herbst R, et al. Oncolytic VSV primes differential responses to immuno-oncology therapy. *Mol Ther.* (2017) 25:1917–32. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.05.006
- 136. Liu Z, Ravindranathan R, Kalinski P, Guo ZS, Bartlett DL. Rational combination of oncolytic vaccinia virus and PD-L1 blockade works synergistically to enhance therapeutic efficacy. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:14754. doi: 10.1038/ncomms14754
- 137. Woller N, Gurlevik E, Fleischmann-Mundt B, Schumacher A, Knocke S, Kloos AM, et al. Viral Infection of Tumors Overcomes Resistance to PD-1immunotherapy by Broadening Neoantigenome-directed T-cell Responses. *Mol Ther.* (2015) 23:1630–40. doi: 10.1038/mt.2015.115
- 138. Samson A, Scott KJ, Taggart D, West EJ, Wilson E, Nuovo GJ, et al. Intravenous delivery of oncolytic reovirus to brain tumor patients

immunologically primes for subsequent checkpoint blockade. *Sci Transl Med.* (2018) 10:eaam7577. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aam7577

- 139. Bourgeois-Daigneault MC, Roy DG, Aitken AS, El Sayes N, Martin NT, Varette O, et al. Neoadjuvant oncolytic virotherapy before surgery sensitizes triple-negative breast cancer to immune checkpoint therapy. *Sci Transl Med.* (2018) 10:eaao1641. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aao1641
- 140. Garcia-Diaz A, Shin DS, Moreno BH, Saco J, Escuin-Ordinas H, Rodriguez GA, et al. Interferon receptor signaling pathways regulating PD-L1 and PD-L2 expression. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 19:1189–201. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.04.031
- 141. Chesney J, Puzanov I, Collichio F, Singh P, Milhem MM, Glaspy J, et al. Randomized, open-label phase II study evaluating the efficacy and safety of talimogene laherparepvec in combination with ipilimumab versus ipilimumab alone in patients with advanced, unresectable melanoma. *J Clin Oncol.* (2018) 36:1658–67. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.73.7379
- 142. Ribas A, Dummer R, Puzanov I, VanderWalde A, Andtbacka RHI, Michielin O, et al. Oncolytic virotherapy promotes intratumoral T cell infiltration and improves anti-PD-1 immunotherapy. *Cell.* (2017) 170:1109–19.e10. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.08.027
- Marchini A, Bonifati S, Scott EM, Angelova AL, Rommelaere J. Oncolytic parvoviruses: from basic virology to clinical applications. *Virol J.* (2015) 12:6. doi: 10.1186/s12985-014-0223-y
- 144. Bretscher C, Marchini A. H-1 parvovirus as a cancer-killing agent: past, present, and future. *Viruses.* (2019) 11:E562. doi: 10.3390/v11060562
- 145. Nuesch JP, Lacroix J, Marchini A, Rommelaere J. Molecular pathways: rodent parvoviruses-mechanisms of oncolysis and prospects for clinical cancer treatment. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2012) 18:3516–23. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-11-2325
- Angelova AL, Geletneky K, Nüesch JPF, Rommelaere J. Tumor selectivity of oncolytic parvoviruses: from in vitro and animal models to cancer patients. *Front Bioeng Biotechnol.* (2015) 3:55. doi: 10.3389/fbioe.2015.00055
- 147. Grekova S, Aprahamian M, Giese N, Schmitt S, Giese T, Falk CS, et al. Immune cells participate in the oncosuppressive activity of parvovirus H-1PV and are activated as a result of their abortive infection with this agent. *Cancer Biol Ther.* (2010) 10:1280–9. doi: 10.4161/cbt.10.12.13455
- Mattei LM, Cotmore SF, Tattersall P, Iwasaki A. Parvovirus evades interferondependent viral control in primary mouse embryonic fibroblasts. *Virology*. (2013) 442:20–7. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2013.03.020
- 149. Schlehofer JR, Rentrop M, Mannel DN. Parvoviruses are inefficient in inducing interferon-β, tumor necrosis factor-α, or interleukin-6 in mammalian cells. *Med Microbiol Immunol.* (1992) 181:153–64. doi: 10.1007/BF00202055
- 150. Angelova A, Rommelaere J. Immune adjuvant capacities of oncolytic rodent protoparvoviruses. *Viruses*. (2019) 11:415. doi: 10.3390/v11050415
- Geletneky K, Nuesch JP, Angelova A, Kiprianova I, Rommelaere J. Doublefaceted mechanism of parvoviral oncosuppression. *Curr Opin Virol.* (2015) 13:17–24. doi: 10.1016/j.coviro.2015.03.008
- 152. Hristov G, Krämer M, Li J, El-Andaloussi N, Mora R, Daeffler L, et al. Through its nonstructural protein NS1, parvovirus H-1 induces apoptosis via accumulation of reactive oxygen species. J Virol. (2010) 84:5909–22. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01797-09
- 153. Di Piazza M, Mader C, Geletneky K, Herrero Calle M, Weber E, Schlehofer J, et al. Cytosolic activation of cathepsins mediates parvovirus H-1-induced killing of cisplatin and TRAIL-resistant glioma cells. *J Virol.* (2007) 81:4186–98. doi: 10.1128/JVI.02601-06
- 154. Mészáros I, Tóth R, Olasz F, Tijssen P, Zádori Z. The SAT protein of porcine parvovirus accelerates viral spreading through induction of irreversible endoplasmic reticulum stress. J Virol. (2017) 91:e00627-17. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00627-17
- 155. Moehler M, Zeidler M, Schede J, Rommelaere J, Galle PR, Cornelis JJ, et al. Oncolytic parvovirus H1 induces release of heat-shock protein HSP72 in susceptible human tumor cells but may not affect primary immune cells. *Cancer Gene Ther.* (2003) 10:477–80. doi: 10.1038/sj.cgt.7700591
- 156. Raykov Z, Grekova SP, Hörlein R, Leuchs B, Giese T, Giese NA, et al. TLR-9 Contributes to the antiviral innate immune sensing of rodent parvoviruses MVMp and H-1PV by normal human immune cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e55086. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0055086

- 157. Geletneky K, Leoni AL, Pohlmeyer-Esch G, Loebhard S, Baetz A, Leuchs B, et al. Pathology, organ distribution, and immune response after single and repeated intravenous injection of rats with clinical-grade parvovirus H1. *Compar Med.* (2015) 65:23–35.
- 158. Moralès O, Richard A, Martin N, Mrizak D, Sénéchal M, Miroux C, et al. Activation of a helper and not regulatory human CD4+ T cell response by oncolytic H-1 parvovirus. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e32197. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032197
- Bhat R, Dempe S, Dinsart C, Rommelaere J. Enhancement of NK cell antitumor responses using an oncolytic parvovirus. *Int J Cancer.* (2011) 128:908–19. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25415
- 160. Angelova AL, Grekova SP, Heller A, Kuhlmann O, Soyka E, Giese T, et al. Complementary induction of immunogenic cell death by oncolytic parvovirus H-1PV and gemcitabine in pancreatic cancer. J Virol. (2014) 88:5263–76. doi: 10.1128/JVI.03688-13
- 161. Asea A. Initiation of the immune response by extracellular Hsp72: chaperokine activity of Hsp72. *Curr. Immunol. Rev.* (2006) 2:209–15.
- 162. Moehler M, Sieben M, Roth S, Springsguth F, Leuchs B, Zeidler M, et al. Activation of the human immune system by chemotherapeutic or targeted agents combined with the oncolytic parvovirus H-1. BMC Cancer. (2011) 11:464. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-11-464
- 163. Sieben M, Schäfer P, Dinsart C, Galle PR, Moehler M. Activation of the human immune system via toll-like receptors by the oncolytic parvovirus H-1. *Int J Cancer*. (2013) 132:2548–56. doi: 10.1002/ijc.27938
- 164. Moehler MH, Zeidler M, Wilsberg V, Cornelis JJ, Woelfel T, Rommelaere J, et al. Parvovirus H-1-induced tumor cell death enhances human immune response *in vitro* via increased phagocytosis, maturation, and crosspresentation by dendritic cells. *Human Gene Therapy.* (2005) 16:996–1005. doi: 10.1089/hum.2005.16.996
- 165. Raykov Z, Grekova S, Galabov AS, Balboni G, Koch U, Aprahamian M, et al. Combined oncolytic and vaccination activities of parvovirus H-1 in a metastatic tumor model. *Oncol Rep.* (2007) 17:1493–9. doi: 10.3892/or.17.6.1493
- 166. Geletneky K, Kiprianova I, Ayache A, Koch R, Herrero M, Calle Y, et al. Regression of advanced rat and human gliomas by local or systemic treatment with oncolytic parvovirus H-1 in rat models. *Neuro-Oncology*. (2010) 12:804–14. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noq023
- 167. Grekova S, Zawatzky R, Horlein R, Cziepluch C, Mincberg M, Davis C, et al. Activation of an antiviral response in normal but not transformed mouse cells: a new determinant of minute virus of mice oncotropism. *J Virol.* (2010) 84:516–31. doi: 10.1128/JVI.01618-09
- 168. Grekova SP, Aprahamian M, Daeffler L, Leuchs B, Angelova A, Giese T, et al. Interferon γ improves the vaccination potential of oncolytic parvovirus H-1PV for the treatment of peritoneal carcinomatosis in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Biol Ther.* (2011) 12:888–95. doi: 10.4161/cbt.12.10. 17678
- Rommelaere J, Geletneky K, Angelova AL, Daeffler L, Dinsart C, Kiprianova I, et al. Oncolytic parvoviruses as cancer therapeutics. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2010) 21:185–95. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2010.02.011
- Quail DF, Joyce JA. The microenvironmental landscape of brain tumors. Cancer Cell. (2017) 31:326–341. doi: 10.1016/j.ccell.2017.02.009
- 171. Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. *Nature*. (2013) 500:415–21. doi: 10.1038/nature12477
- Bagley SJ, Desai AS, Linette GP, June CH, O'Rourke DM. CAR T-cell therapy for glioblastoma: recent clinical advances and future challenges. *Neuro Oncol.* (2018) 20:1429–38. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noy032
- 173. Geletneky K, Kiprianova I, Ayache A, Koch R, Herrero YCM, Deleu L, et al. Regression of advanced rat and human gliomas by local or systemic treatment with oncolytic parvovirus H-1 in rat models. *Neuro Oncol.* (2010) 12:804–14.
- 174. Geletneky K, Huesing J, Rommelaere J, Schlehofer JR, Leuchs B, Dahm M, et al. Phase I/IIa study of intratumoral/intracerebral or intravenous/intracerebral administration of Parvovirus H-1 (ParvOryx) in patients with progressive primary or recurrent glioblastoma multiforme: ParvOryx01 protocol. *BMC Cancer.* (2012) 12:99. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-12-99

- Ungerechts G, Engeland CE, Buchholz CJ, Eberle J, Fechner H, Geletneky K, et al. Virotherapy research in germany: from engineering to translation. *Hum Gene Ther.* (2017) 28:800–19. doi: 10.1089/hum.2017.138
- 176. Geletneky K, Hajda J, Angelova AL, Leuchs B, Capper D, Bartsch AJ, et al. Oncolytic H-1 parvovirus shows safety and signs of immunogenic activity in a first phase I/IIa glioblastoma trial. *Mol Ther.* (2017) 25:2620–34. doi: 10.1016/j.ymthe.2017.08.016
- 177. Hajda J, Lehmann M, Krebs O, Kieser M, Geletneky K, Jager D, et al. A non-controlled, single arm, open label, phase II study of intravenous and intratumoral administration of ParvOryx in patients with metastatic, inoperable pancreatic cancer: ParvOryx02 protocol. *BMC Cancer*. (2017) 17:576. doi: 10.1186/s12885-017-3604-y
- 178. Angelova AL, Barf M, Geletneky K, Unterberg A, Rommelaere J. Immunotherapeutic potential of oncolytic H-1 parvovirus: hints of glioblastoma microenvironment conversion towards immunogenicity. *Viruses.* (2017) 9:E382. doi: 10.3390/v9120382
- 179. Angelova AL, Aprahamian M, Grekova SP, Hajri A, Leuchs B, Giese NA, et al. Improvement of gemcitabine-based therapy of pancreatic carcinoma by means of oncolytic parvovirus H-1PV. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2009) 15:511–9. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-08-1088
- 180. Li J, Bonifati S, Hristov G, Marttila T, Valmary-Degano S, Stanzel S, et al. Synergistic combination of valproic acid and oncolytic parvovirus H-1PV as a potential therapy against cervical and pancreatic carcinomas. *EMBO Mol Med.* (2013) 5:1537–55. doi: 10.1002/emmm.201302796
- 181. Heinrich B, Goepfert K, Delic M, Galle PR, Moehler M.Influence of the oncolytic parvovirus H-1, CTLA-4 antibody tremelimumab and cytostatic drugs on the human immune system in a human *in vitro* model of colorectal cancer cells. Onco Targets Ther. (2013) 6:1119–27. doi: 10.2147/OTT.S49371
- 182. Geletneky K, Angelova A, Leuchs B, Bartsch A, Capper D, Hajda J, et al. ATNT-07. Favorable response of patients with glioblastoma at second or third recurrence to repeated injection of oncolytic parvovirus H-1 in combination with Bevacicumab. *Neuro Oncol.* (2015) 17(Suppl 5): v11. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/nov205.07
- 183. Geletneky K, Bartsch A, Weiss C, Bernhard H, Marchini A, Rommelaere J. ATIM-40. High rate of objective anti.tumor response in 9 patients with glioblastoma after viro-immunotherapy with oncolytic parvovirus H-1 in combination with bavacicumab and PD-1 checkpoint blockade. *Neuro-Oncology*. (2018) 20:vi10. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/noy148.035
- 184. Karsten G, Weiss C, Bernhard H, Capper D, Leuchs B, Marchini A, et al. ATIM-29. First clinical observation of improved anti-tumor

effects of viro-immunotherapy with oncolytic parvovirus H-1 in combination with PD-1 checkpoint blockade and bevacicumab in patients with recurrent glioblastoma. *Neuro-Oncology.* (2016) 18:Pages vi24. doi: 10.1093/neuonc/now212.094

- 185. Grekova SP, Aprahamian M, Giese NA, Bour G, Giese T, Grewenig A, et al. Genomic CpG enrichment of oncolytic parvoviruses as a potent anticancer vaccination strategy for the treatment of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. J Vaccines Vaccin. (2014) 5:2. doi: 10.4172/2157-7560. 1000227
- 186. Lavie M, Struyf S, Stroh-Dege A, Rommelaere J, Van Damme J, Dinsart C. Capacity of wild-type and chemokine-armed parvovirus H-1PV for inhibiting neo-angiogenesis. *Virology*. (2013) 447:221–32. doi: 10.1016/j.virol.2013.09.019
- 187. El-Andaloussi N, Endele M, Leuchs B, Bonifati S, Kleinschmidt J, Rommelaere J, et al. Novel adenovirus-based helper system to support production of recombinant parvovirus. *Cancer Gene Ther.* (2011) 18:240–9. doi: 10.1038/cgt.2010.73
- El-Andaloussi N, Barbara L, Serena B, Rommelaere J, Marchini A. Efficient recombinant parvovirus production with the help of adenovirus- derived systems. J Vis Exp. (2011) 2012:e3518. doi: 10.3791/3518
- 189. El-Andaloussi N, Bonifati S, Kaufmann JK, Mailly L, Daeffler L, Deryckere F, et al. Generation of an adenovirus-parvovirus chimera with enhanced oncolytic potential. *J Virol.* (2012) 86:10418–31. doi: 10.1128/JVI.00 848-12

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** AM, LD, AA, and JR are inventors in several H-1PV-related patents/patent applications.

The remaining author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Marchini, Daeffler, Pozdeev, Angelova and Rommelaere. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Denise Doolan, James Cook University, Australia

#### Reviewed by: Said Dermime.

National Center for Cancer Care and Research, Qatar Estrella Mariel Levy, National Council for Scientific and Technical Research (CONICET), Argentina

#### \*Correspondence:

Michal Bassani-Sternberg michal.bassani@chuv.ch Lana E. Kandalaft lana.kandalaft@chuv.ch

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Vaccines and Molecular Therapeutics, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 29 April 2019 Accepted: 19 July 2019 Published: 08 August 2019

#### Citation:

Bassani-Sternberg M, Digklia A, Huber F, Wagner D, Sempoux C, Stevenson BJ, Thierry A-C, Michaux J, Pak H, Racle J, Boudousquie C, Balint K, Coukos G, Gfeller D, Martin Lluesma S, Harari A, Demartines N and Kandalaft LE (2019) A Phase Ib Study of the Combination of Personalized Autologous Dendritic Cell Vaccine, Aspirin, and Standard of Care Adjuvant Chemotherapy Followed by Nivolumab for Resected Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma – A Proof of Antigen Discovery Feasibility in Three Patients. Front. Immunol. 10:1832. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.01832 A Phase Ib Study of the Combination of Personalized Autologous Dendritic Cell Vaccine, Aspirin, and Standard of Care Adjuvant Chemotherapy Followed by Nivolumab for Resected Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma—A Proof of Antigen Discovery Feasibility in Three Patients

Michal Bassani-Sternberg<sup>1,2\*†</sup>, Antonia Digklia<sup>2†</sup>, Florian Huber<sup>1,2</sup>, Dorothea Wagner<sup>2</sup>, Christine Sempoux<sup>3</sup>, Brian J. Stevenson<sup>4</sup>, Anne-Christine Thierry<sup>2</sup>, Justine Michaux<sup>1,2</sup>, HuiSong Pak<sup>1,2</sup>, Julien Racle<sup>1,4</sup>, Caroline Boudousquie<sup>2</sup>, Klara Balint<sup>1,2</sup>, George Coukos<sup>1,2</sup>, David Gfeller<sup>1,4</sup>, Silvia Martin Lluesma<sup>1,2</sup>, Alexandre Harari<sup>1,2</sup>, Nicolas Demartines<sup>5</sup> and Lana E. Kandalaft<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland, <sup>2</sup> Department of Oncology, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland, <sup>3</sup> Institute of Pathology, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland, <sup>4</sup> SIB Swiss Institute of Bioinformatics, Lausanne, Switzerland, <sup>5</sup> Department of Visceral Surgery, Centre Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland

Despite the promising therapeutic effects of immune checkpoint blockade (ICB), most patients with solid tumors treated with anti-PD-1/PD-L1 monotherapy do not achieve objective responses, with most tumor regressions being partial rather than complete. It is hypothesized that the absence of pre-existing antitumor immunity and/or the presence of additional tumor immune suppressive factors at the tumor microenvironment are responsible for such therapeutic failures. It is therefore clear that in order to fully exploit the potential of PD-1 blockade therapy, antitumor immune response should be amplified, while tumor immune suppression should be further attenuated. Cancer vaccines may prime patients for treatments with ICB by inducing effective anti-tumor immunity, especially in patients lacking tumor-infiltrating T-cells. These "non-inflamed" non-permissive tumors that are resistant to ICB could be rendered sensitive and transformed into "inflamed" tumor by vaccination. In this article we describe a clinical study where we use pancreatic cancer as a model, and we hypothesize that effective vaccination in pancreatic cancer patients, along with interventions that can reprogram important immunosuppressive factors in the tumor microenvironment, can enhance tumor immune recognition, thus enhancing response to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. We incorporate into the schedule of standard of care (SOC) chemotherapy adjuvant setting a vaccine platform comprised of autologous dendritic cells loaded with personalized neoantigen peptides (PEP-DC) identified through our own proteo-genomics antigen discovery pipeline. Furthermore, we add nivolumab, an antibody against PD-1, to boost and maintain the vaccine's effect.

We also demonstrate the feasibility of identifying personalized neoantigens in three pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) patients, and we describe their optimal incorporation into long peptides for manufacturing into vaccine products. We finally discuss the advantages as well as the scientific and logistic challenges of such an exploratory vaccine clinical trial, and we highlight its novelty.

Keywords: pancreatic adenocarcinoma, dendritic cell vaccine, antigen discovery, neoantigen, cancer immunotherapy

## INTRODUCTION

Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC) is the seventh leading cause of cancer-related death in the world in 2018 (1), with an overall 5-year survival rate of  $\sim$ 5% (2). Approximately 70% of deaths are due to widespread metastasis and the remaining cases have limited metastasis but extensive primary tumors which eventually lead to mortality (3). Surgery is the only potential hope of cure for PDAC, but tumors are resectable only in 20% of patients at the time of diagnosis. Therapeutic research efforts have mainly focused on improvements in radio/chemo treatments and to date, there are only a few chemotherapeutic agents that have shown to be effective against advanced pancreatic cancer, including gemcitabine with or without abraxane (4). At present, it is difficult to conclude that there is a definite SOC adjuvant chemotherapy for all patients with PDAC. However, multiagent adjuvant therapy (modified folforinox) has been demonstrated to be more effective than gemcitabine alone in the adjuvant setting, but its use is limited only to patients with excellent performance status (5). Recently it has suggested that gemcitabine plus capecitabine is a valid option for these patients since it has been shown that it is more efficient than gemcitabine alone (6).

One of the most promising new cancer treatment approaches is immunotherapy. Recent studies have shown that PDAC is an immunogenic tumor. Antigens expressed on pancreatic tumor cells able to induce specific B and T cells comprise (7): Wilms' tumor gene 1 (WT1) (75%) (8), mucin 1 (MUC1) (over 85%) (9), human telomerase reverse transcriptase (hTERT) (88%) (10), mutated K-RAS (nearly 100%), survivin (77%), carcinoembryonic antigen (CEA) (over 90%) (11), HER-2/neu (over 60%) (12), p53 (over 65%) (13), and α-enolase (ENO1) (14). Several studies have reported that dysfunction of the immune system is one of the key contributors for the development of PDAC (15, 16). Moreover, PDAC is known to have an immunosuppressive tumor microenvironment characterized by (i) the absence of intratumoral effector T-cells (17, 18), (ii) the presence of an inflammatory tumor microenvironment led by the RAS oncogene (19), and (iii) massive infiltration of immunosuppressive leukocytes into the tumor microenvironment, which predicts poor survival (18, 20, 21). Additionally, the analysis of immune infiltrates in human tumors has demonstrated a positive correlation between prognosis and the presence of humoral response to pancreatic antigens (MUC-1 and mesothelin) (22, 23) or of tumor-infiltrating T cells (20, 24). Therefore, cancer immunotherapy can be a promising alternative treatment for PDAC patients.

A major mechanism of immune resistance engaged by tumors is the enforcement of immune checkpoint pathways, aiming to shutdown T cells specific for tumor antigens. An important immune checkpoint is mediated by the programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) expressed on the surface of activated T cells during initial activation (25, 26). The major role of PD-1 is to limit the activity of T cells in peripheral tissues at the time of an inflammatory response to infection and to restrict autoimmunity (27, 28). Cancer immunotherapy targeting anti-PD-1 (e.g., nivolumab, pembrolizumab), as well as anti-cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated antigen 4 (anti-CTLA-4, ipilimumab), has changed the treatment landscape of several tumors (29). Yet the success of immunotherapy has not been proven effective for the treatment of metastatic pancreatic cancer patients (30), who have been shown unresponsive except for the population with mismatch-repair deficiency which comprises only 0.8% (31). A broad array of clinical trials in pancreatic cancer have been completed or are ongoing using different combinations with ICB (32, 33). However, the most adequate combination for PDAC patients is not clear so far.

Dendritic cell (DC)-based vaccines for cancer immunotherapy have been studied and tested for more than a decade and proven clinically safe and efficient to induce tumor-specific immune responses, however only limited efficacy was observed in patients with advanced recurrent disease after DC vaccination (34, 35). Several groups have attempted to test safety and efficacy of DC-based vaccines against pancreatic cancer in early phase clinical trials, loading DCs with tumor associated antigens (TAAs) ex vivo, and subsequently re-infusing them in patients, yet with low clinical benefit so far (36-39). One possible reason for reduced vaccine efficacy could be that most cancer vaccines tested to date were targeted against defined non-mutated self-antigens. Tumors express two major kinds of antigens that can be recognized by T cells: non-mutated self-antigens and mutated neoantigens, generated in tumor cells due to their inherent genetic instability (40). Tumor cells usually harbor between 10 and few thousands private somatic mutations, as identified by deep sequencing analysis, and even among tumors of the same histotype, most mutations are different (41, 42). Thus, neoantigens are mostly "private" and patient-specific (43) and trigger a higher more robust T-cell response. Indeed, increasing evidence associates clinical benefit from immunotherapy with specific responses to private tumor epitopes (44-48), leading to increased interest in neoantigen vaccination (40).

Several clinical trials describing vaccines designed to harness neoantigen-specific immunity have been recently reported

mainly in melanoma patients: The first study reported the feasibility, safety and efficacy of a DC vaccine pulsed with neoantigen peptides (49). Another phase I study has evaluated a peptide vaccine targeting up to 20 predicted personal tumor neoantigens and demonstrated an expansion of the repertoire of neoantigen-specific T cells which correlated with clinical benefit (50). A second group performed a phase I study using RNA vaccines that contained up to 10 mutations per patient and demonstrated that these vaccines can mobilize specific anti-tumor immunity against these cancers (51). These studies provide proof-of-principle that a personalized vaccine can be produced and administered to a patient to generate highly specific immune responses against that individual's tumor, showing that a personalized neoantigen vaccine broadens the repertoire of neoantigen-specific T cells substantially beyond what is induced by existing immunotherapeutics.

To determine whether targetable mutations and neoantigens exist in PDAC, several studies have been performed using genomic profiles of PDAC tumor samples. A whole-genome sequencing and copy number variation (CNV) analysis was performed on 100 pancreatic ductal adenocarcinomas (PDACs) and found in total 11,868 somatic structural variants at an average of 119 per individual (range 15-558) (52). Furthermore, the genomic profile of 221 PDAC tumors were analyzed and the findings revealed that nearly all PDAC samples harbor potentially targetable neoantigens (53). To define the importance of neoantigens in PDAC, one study compared stage-matched cohorts of treatment-naive, surgically resected, rare long-term survivors to short-term survivors with a more typical poor outcome. The authors detected a median of 38 predicted neoantigens per tumor, and showed that the association of higher neoantigen quantity and CD8<sup>+</sup> T-cell infiltrate with survival was independent of adjuvant chemotherapy, suggesting that neoantigen quality, and not purely quantity, correlates with survival (54).

We hypothesize that effective vaccination in PDAC patients along with interventions that can reprogram important immunosuppressive factors in the tumor microenvironment can enhance tumor immune recognition, thus enhancing response to PD-1/PD-L1 blockade. To this end, we designed a phase 1b trial where we incorporated a vaccination schedule of a novel autologous DC pulsed with personalized neoantigen peptides (PEP-DC) identified through our own proteo-genomics antigen discovery pipeline in the SOC chemotherapy adjuvant setting followed by nivolumab. We hereby set the objectives and design of our study, and we demonstrate the feasibility of identifying personalized neoantigens in three PDAC patients, and their optimal incorporation into long peptides for manufacturing into vaccine products.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Clinical Study Design**

This is a phase Ib trial (CHUV-DO-0017\_PC-PEPDC\_2017) to evaluate the feasibility, safety, immunogenicity, and efficacy of subcutaneous DC vaccine loaded with personalized peptides (PEP-DC), in combination with SOC chemotherapy (gemcitabine/capecitabine) and enteric-coated aspirin, followed by the anti-PD-1 antibody nivolumab to boost and maintain the vaccine's effect in patients with surgically resected PDAC. The components of the vaccine to be investigated in this study include agents for which safety has been previously demonstrated to be acceptable. This trial has been approved by Swissmedic and the competent Ethics Committee. Before any study-specific procedure is performed, a signed and dated informed consent is obtained. In order to be eligible, patients must present: (a) histologically confirmed resected adenocarcinoma of the pancreas (T1–T4, N 0–1, minimum 2 cm–AJCC 8th ed.) and (b) appropriate amount of tumoral tissue collected from the cytoreductive surgery, allowing the identification of top 10 personalized peptides (PEP) for preparation of PEP-DC vaccine.

## Objectives

The primary objectives of the trial are to determine: (1) the feasibility of producing and administering PEP-DC vaccine in the indicated patient population; (2) the safety and tolerability of the study treatment vaccine and aspirin given together with SOC chemotherapy, and followed by nivolumab; (3) the immunogenicity by measuring acquired T cell mediated immune activation events post vaccination. This study has also a secondary objective, which is to evaluate relapse free survival at 6, 12, 18, 24, and 36 months and overall survival in the indicated population of patients.

## Statistical Methods

We hypothesize that the delivery of the PEP-DC vaccine through the subcutaneous route in combination with aspirin, nivolumab, and adjuvant chemotherapy in advanced pancreatic cancer patients is feasible, safe without additional toxicity, and immunogenic. Based on study feasibility and anticipated accrual rate, a total of 12 evaluable patients is expected to enter this Phase Ib study if treatment limiting toxicities (TLTs) are in the acceptable range.

The feasibility hypothesis for PEP-DC vaccine will be assessed by (a) the number of patients in which vaccine production is successful (at least 6 doses are manufactured and released), and (b) the number of patients who receive at least one dose of PEP-DC vaccine (since the mainstay of the therapeutic approach here is PEP-DC) and the corresponding percentages in the ITT population (i.e., all registered patients). Exact binomial confidence intervals for the corresponding rates will be estimated.

The safety and tolerability of the PEP-DC vaccine in combination with other protocol drugs will be evaluated by the occurrence of TLTs and adverse events (AEs) in both the "TLT evaluation" and the safety population. The severity of toxicities will be classified according to the NCI CTCAE Version 4.03 and will be presented in tabular as well as graphical format. For each patient, each AE will be presented considering the highest (worst) grade of toxicity observed over the whole treatment period according to CTCAE version 4.03. Although the safety of the vaccination backbone has been already established, a continuous monitoring rule will be followed, to allow for early termination of the study. Any patient who receives at least one vaccination will be included in the toxicity (safety) analysis. A Bayesian rule will be employed to monitor TLTs after groups of 4 patients have been treated and complete the final TLT evaluation.

As only 5 weeks are allocated for target prioritization, assessment of pre-vaccination immune responses against the predicted neoantigens will not be performed to assist their selection. Therefore, the selection of long peptides is done *in silico* by the NeoDisc pipeline. The immunogenicity of PEP-DC vaccine will be assessed (based on ITT population as well as the safety population) by measuring acquired, T cell-mediated immune activating events post vaccination compared to pre-vaccination levels. Descriptive statistics of absolute and relative differences will be calculated overall and for subgroups of interest.

### Regimen

The study was designed so that eligible subjects with PDAC who undertook cytoreductive surgery followed by chemotherapy may plan to enroll in the vaccine study. Should the subject wishes, and upon informed consent, tissue can be harvested at the time of surgery for identification of personalized targets for vaccination. Screening of patients may be completed after the collection of tumor was performed during the surgery. Upon registration for the trial, all patients would receive 8 cycles of 21 day cycle of gemcitabine/capecitabine. Eligible patients will undergo apheresis during the last week of the third cycle of gemcitabine/capecitabine to collect peripheral blood mononuclear cells for DC vaccine production. Patients will receive at least six PEP-DC vaccinations starting concomitant with the 5th cycle of chemotherapy. PEP-DC vaccine of 5–10  $\times$ 10<sup>6</sup> autologous DC in 1 ml volume/treatment will be delivered subcutaneously every 3 weeks. Patients will receive oral entericcoated aspirin daily for the duration of the study starting from the day of first vaccination until the end of study. Nivolumab will be administered starting 3 weeks after last chemotherapy cycle and will be given during the vaccination period until the last vaccine dose. Afterwards, it will be given as a maintenance therapy until appearance of new lesion(s) or unacceptable toxicity for maximum 2 years.

To verify that the combination of PEP-DC vaccine and enteric-coated aspirin during and following standard adjuvant chemotherapy, followed by nivolumab, will significantly enhance tumor immunogenicity, and allow tumor response, the translational objectives of the study are the following: (a) to deeply characterize the tumor microenvironment of pancreatic adenocarcinoma patients; (b) to assess the overall effects of the combined PEP-DC vaccine during and following standard adjuvant chemotherapy, followed by nivolumab on peripheral blood and plasma; (c) to determine tumor antigens against which the treatment elicits a response.

# Identification of Personalized Targets for Vaccination With NeoDisc

# Processing of Patients' Material for PEP-DC Vaccine Preparation

Informed consent of the participants was obtained following requirements of the institutional review board (Ethics Commission, CHUV). The translational research has been approved by the CHUV ethics committee (protocols 2017-00305).

## **DNA Extraction and Sequencing**

DNA was extracted for HLA typing and exome sequencing with the commercially available DNeasy Blood & Tissue Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany), following manufacturers' protocols. Five hundred nanograms of gDNA were used to amplify HLA genes by PCR. High resolution 4-digit HLA typing was performed with the TruSight HLA v2 Sequencing Panel from Illumina on a MiniSeq instrument (Illumina) (**Supplementary Table 1**). Sequencing data were analyzed with the Assign TruSight HLA v2.1 software (Illumina). For exome sequencing, SureSelect Exome V5 library type (Sureselect v5 capture, Agilent Technologies, Santa Clara, CA, USA), and paired end reads were chosen, with at least 100x coverage for the tumor and PBMCs.

## LC-MS/MS Analyses of Eluted HLA Peptides

For immunoaffinity purification of HLA peptides from tissues, we applied a previously published protocol (55, 56). Briefly, anti-HLA-I and anti-HLA-II monoclonal antibodies were purified from the supernatant of HB95 (ATCC<sup>®</sup> HB-95<sup>TM</sup>) and HB145 cells (ATCC<sup>®</sup> HB-145<sup>TM</sup>) using protein-A sepharose 4B beads (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, California), and cross-linked to the beads. Snap-frozen PDAC tissue samples were homogenized in lysis buffer on ice in 3-5 short intervals of 5s each using an Ultra Turrax homogenizer (IKA, T10 standard, Staufen, Germany) at maximum speed, as previously described (55, 56). Lysates were cleared by centrifugation at 25,000 rpm (Beckman Coulter, JSS15314, Nyon, Switzerland) at 4°C for 50 min. The Waters Positive Pressure-96 Processor (Waters, Milford, Massachusetts) was used with 96-well,  $3 \mu m$  glass fiber and  $10 \mu m$  polypropylene membranes micro-plates (Seahorse Bioscience, North Billerica, Massachusetts). A depletion step of endogenous antibodies was performed with plates containing Protein-A beads, and then the lysates were passed through a plate containing beads crosslinked to anti-HLA-I, and then sequentially through a plate with the anti-HLA-II cross-linked beads. After washing with varying concentrations of salts, the beads were washed twice 2 mL of 20 mM Tris-HCl pH 8. HLA complexes and the bound peptides were eluted directly into pre-conditioned Sep-Pak tC18 100 mg plates (ref number: 186002321, Waters) with 1% TFA. After washing the C18 wells with 2 mL of 0.1% TFA, HLA-I peptides were eluted with 28% ACN in 0.1% TFA, and HLA-II peptides were eluted from the class II C18 plate with 500 µL of 32% ACN in 0.1% TFA. HLA-I, and HLA-II peptide samples were dried using vacuum centrifugation (Concentrator plus Eppendorf) and stored at  $-20^{\circ}$ C.

We measured the peptides with LC-MS/MS system consisting of an Easy-nLC 1200 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany) and the Q Exactive HF-X mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Bremen, Germany). Peptides were separated on a 450 mm analytical column of 75  $\mu$ m inner diameter for 120 min using a gradient of H2O/FA 99.9/0.1% (A) and ACN/FA 80/0.1% (B). The gradient was run as follows: 0 min 2% B, then to 5% B at 5 min, 35% B at 85 min, 60% B at 100 min, and 95% B at 105 min at a flow rate of 250 nL/min.

MS spectra were acquired in the Orbitrap from m/z = 300-1,650 with a resolution of 60,000 (m/z = 200), ion accumulation time of 80 ms. The AGC was set to 3e6 ions. MS/MS spectra were acquired in a data-dependent manner, and 10 most abundant precursor ions were selected for fragmentation, with a resolution of 15,000 (m/z = 200), ion accumulation time of 120 ms and an isolation window of 1.2 m/z. The AGC was set to 2e5 ions, dynamic exclusion to 20 s, and a normalized collision energy (NCE) of 27 was used for fragmentation.

### **NeoDisc Pipeline**

### Alignment

Exome sequence reads were aligned to the Genome Reference Consortium Human Build 37 assembly (GRCh37) with BWA-MEM version 0.7.17 (57). The resulting SAM format was sorted by chromosomal coordinate and converted into a BAM file, then PCR duplicates were flagged, using the AddOrReplaceReadGroups Picard and MarkDuplicates utilities, respectively (from http://broadinstitute.github.io/ picard). Various quality metrics were assessed with the Picard MarkDuplicates, CollectAlignmentSummaryMetrics, and CalculateHsMetrics utilities. Following GATK best practices, GATK BaseRecalibrator (within GATK v3.7-0) was used to recalibrate base quality scores (BSQR) prior to variant calling (58, 59). BQSR corrects base quality scores based on an estimation of empirical error frequencies in the alignments. The recalibrated tumor and germline BAM files were then used as input for each of three variant callers: GATK HaplotypeCaller; MuTect v1; and VarScan 2.

### Caller 1: GATK HaplotypeCaller

The GATK HaplotypeCaller algorithm improves variant calling by incorporating *de-novo* assembly of haplotypes in variable regions, thus reducing the overall false-positive variant call rate (58, 59). HaplotypeCaller was run in GVCF mode on each tumor and germline recalibrated BAM file to detect SNV and Indel variants. The resultant gVCF files were combined using GATK GenotypeGVCF to produce raw variant calls for tumor and germline within in a single VCF. Subsequent variant quality score recalibration, following GATK best practices, was performed separately for SNVs and Indels (insertions/deletions) using the GATK variant Recalibrator tool to identify high-confidence calls. Variant quality was assessed by the GATK VariantEval tool. Patient-specific SNPs were defined as variants present in both tumor and germline, while variants present only in tumor were defined as somatic mutations.

### Caller2: MuTect v1

The MuTect variant calling algorithm predicts somatic mutations based on log odds scores of two Bayesian classifiers (from https:// github.com/broadinstitute/mutect). The first classifier identifies non-reference variants in the tumor sample while the second detects whether those variants are tumor specific. Candidate somatic mutations are then filtered based on read support, for example by ensuring that supporting reads map to both DNA strands, in order to reduce next-generation sequencing artifacts. Identified somatic mutations are exported in VCF format.

### Caller3: VarScan 2

The VarScan2 algorithm, unlike GATK and MuTect, relies on hard filtering of calls rather than Bayesian statistics (60). This has the advantage of being less sensitive to bias such as extreme read coverage and sample contamination. VarScan 2 filters reads based on parameters such as read quality, strand bias, minimum coverage, and variant frequency. The multisample pileup file required for VarScan 2 input was generated with SAMtools (61, 62). VarScan 2 was run using default parameters and generated a VCF containing SNVs and Indels for both somatic mutations and SNPs.

### Non-redundant call set

Variant calls from GATK, MuTect v1, and VarScan 2 were combined into a single VCF that contains the union of the variants of all three callers. Ambiguous calls (i.e., different calls at the same genomic coordinate) were resolved by a simple majority rule. If there was no majority, the call was rejected. GATK ReadBackedPhasing was used to retrieve the phasing information of all variants in the combined VCF (58, 59). The functional effect of the variants was annotated by SnpEff which predicts the effects of variants on genes based on reference databases. To maximize variant annotation we used annotations from the hg19 (Refseq) and GRCH37.75 (Ensembl) databases (63–65). This non-redundant, annotated VCF file was used for further genomics and proteogenomics analyses.

### Prediction and Prioritization of Neoantigens

For the identification of neoantigens, only "high confidence" calls were selected, defined as the set of variants containing all somatic mutations plus linked SNPs (i.e., those SNPs present on the same allele as the somatic mutation) detected by MuTect v1 alone or by a combination of at least two of the three variant callers described above. The novel amino acid generated by each single nucleotide somatic mutation was placed at the center of a 31mer peptide that also included any amino acid changes resulting from non-synonymous linked SNPs. In the case of a somatic indel mutation, the entire polypeptide encoded by the new open-reading frame plus the upstream 24 amino acids could be subjected to HLA ligand prediction. However, for the described three PDAC samples this option was disabled.

HLA-I and HLA-II ligands were predicted by the MixMHCpred.v2.0.2 and MixMHC2pred.v1 algorithms, respectively (66–68). Both algorithms have been trained on naturally presented peptides and compute the likelihood of a peptide to bind to one of a given set of HLA alleles. Mutant peptides of sizes ranging from 9 to 12 and 12 to 19 amino acids, derived from the 31mer were supplied as input for HLA-I and HLA-II predictions, respectively, using patient-specific allotypes as determined by HLA typing (**Supplementary Table 1**).

Tissue-specific gene expression data was downloaded from The Genotype-Tissue Expression (GTEx) project, a public resource that contains data from 53 non-diseased tissues across nearly 1,000 individuals (69). We used a custom R script to retrieve gene expression values, based on GTEx v7 publicly available data. The 90th percentile expression of the wild type gene in the tissue-derived tumor was reported from GTEx data, and mutations in genes not expressed (TPM < 1) in pancreas were excluded.

Due to the intrinsic content and properties of protein sequences, HLA ligands are not distributed equally along proteins and tend to cluster in hotspots. We captured this information across dozens of cell types in our ipMSDB database (70). The overlap of the wild-type-form of a mutant peptide with a hotspot in ipMSDB was calculated, as well as the level of presentation of the source protein. Any mutant peptide matching any wild-type sequence in SwissProt (71) or found in the reference GRCh37 (64) proteome was filtered out.

Finally, we used a custom python script to design the best long peptide(s) for every mutation, encompassing the highest possible number of HLA-I and HLA-II binding peptides (MixMHCpred and MixMHC2pred %Rank < 5% or found in ipMSDB). Long peptides were ranked by the minimum *p*-value of the predicted HLA-I neoantigens, and the top 10 long peptides were selected.

### **Proteogenomics**

For every sample, we created a reference fasta file where residue mutation information was added to the header of the affected translated transcripts, in a format compatible with MaxQuant v1.5.9.4i as previously reported (72). We used the GENCODE v24 (73) (GRCh37 human reference assembly, downloaded from https://www.gencodegenes.org/human/release\_24lift37.html) as the standard reference dataset (89,543 entries). We parsed the GENCODE comprehensive gene annotation file, in GFF3 format, to extract genomic coordinate information for every exon. These coordinates were compared with sample-specific variant coordinates to derive non-synonymous amino acid changes within each protein.

For every patient, we searched the immunopeptidomics MS data against the patient-specific customized reference database, including a list of 247 frequently observed contaminants. The enzyme specificity was set as unspecific, and peptides with a length between 8 and 25 AA were allowed. The second peptide identification option in Andromeda was enabled. A false discovery rate (FDR) of 5% was required for peptides and no protein FDR was set. The initial allowed mass deviation of the precursor ion was set to 6 ppm and the maximum fragment mass deviation were set as variable modifications.

## **PEP-DC Manufacturing**

The PEP-DC vaccine is composed of autologous monocytederived DC pulsed with personalized peptides (PEP). Monocytes are enriched from a fresh leukapheresis using CD14<sup>+</sup> cells selection on the CliniMACS Prodigy (Miltenyi). This process is GMP compliant and allows for a fast and reliable monocyte selection in a closed system. Purified monocytes are differentiated into immature monocyte-derived DC (iDC) by a 5 days culture in the presence of IL-4 and GM-CSF. On day 6, iDC are then loaded overnight with 10 long peptides and matured/activated for 6-8 h using a maturation cocktail composed of MPLA and IFN $\gamma$ . Cells are finally harvested and cryopreserved as vaccine doses (5– $10 \times 10^6$  cells per dose). For each injection of PEP-DC vaccine, one dose is thawed, washed and resuspended in NaCl 0.9% supplemented with 1% human albumin before being transferred into syringes and stored at 2–8°C until administration.

# Immunogenicity Assessment of PEP-DC Candidates Pre-immunization

The immunogenicity the long peptides was evaluated in cryopreserved peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) from the three subjects as described (74). PBMC were thawed, rested overnight in RPMI 10% FBS with Penicillin/Streptomycin. For the in vitro stimulation (IVS), cells were plated in 24- to 96well plates at 2  $\times$  10<sup>6</sup> cells per well in RPMI, 8% human serum supplemented with Penicillin/Streptomycin, 50  $\mu$ M betamercaptoethanol and recombinant human IL-2 at a final concentration of 100 UI/ml. The cells were stimulated with peptide pools containing 1 µg/ml of each candidate peptide. At day 12, intracellular cytokine stainings (ICS) were performed. Each individual well was splitted in two identical fractions and one fraction only was re-challenged with 1 µg/ml of the corresponding peptide for 16-18h at 37°C and 5% CO2 in presence of 1 µg of brefeldin A (Golgiplug, BD). As a positive control, cells stimulated with staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB) at a concentration of 0.25 ng/ml. After 16-18 h of restimulation with individual long peptides, cells were harvested and stained with anti-CD3, anti-CD8, anti-CD4, anti-IL-2, anti-TNF- $\alpha$ , anti-IFN- $\gamma$  (BD biosciences), and with viability dve (Life technologies). Flow cytometry was performed using a four-lasers Fortessa (BD biosciences) and analyzed with FlowJo v10 (TreeStar).

## RESULTS

We here present a novel study were a vaccination schedule is incorporated in the SOC chemotherapy adjuvant setting in patients with non-metastatic resectable pancreatic adenocarcinoma followed by nivolumab (an antibody against PD-1), to boost and maintain the vaccine's effect (**Figure 1**). The study was optimally designed to offer innovative cancer vaccines for a PDAC patient population that on one hand would fit the course of standard of care, and on the other hand will be feasible in terms of the time required for the process of antigen discovery and the manufacturing of the vaccine.

It has been correctly pointed out that putting a mutanomebased individualized treatment concept into practice requires both highly interdisciplinary research and an innovative drug development process (75). To fit the tight schedule of the clinical trial, a period of 5 weeks was dedicated for antigen discovery. Upon reception of a pair of tumor tissue sample and matched PBMCs, DNA extraction is performed for whole exome sequencing and HLA typing, and the tumor tissue sample is processed for purification of HLA-I and HLA-II peptides for MS analyses. Within the 2 weeks required for sequencing the DNA samples, HLA typing and MS analyses are completed. The following 2 weeks are dedicated for executing the NeoDisc



pipeline, for data mining and for manual inspection of the data and results, leading to the selection of 10 long optimally designed neoantigens. Finally, the production needs to be "on demand," cost-effective, rapid, and compliant with Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP).

# NeoDisc Pipeline for Neoantigen Discovery in PDAC

We here tested the feasibility of prioritizing neoantigens in PDAC as targets for our PEP-DC vaccine in three PDAC patients, 14JQ, 154H, and 16AY. The NeoDisc pipeline integrates multiple types of data input from next generation sequencing data, MS immunopeptidomics datasets, and publicly available resources (Figure 2). First, the NeoDisc pipeline requires a list of non-synonymous somatic mutations that affect proteincoding regions as identified by three different mutation-calling algorithms: MuTect, VarScan2, and GATK. A combined VCF file is generated and annotated with amino acid changes and transcript information. To increase accuracy, only "high confidence" calls were selected, defined as the set of somatic mutations detected by MuTect alone or by a combination of at least two of the three variant callers described above. As expected, the mutational load in the three PDAC patients was low, with 60, 39, and 23, non-synonymous somatic mutations in 14JQ, 154H, and 16AY, respectively, which is within the range previously reported (53). Among them, we detected mutations in predicted driver genes, the MLLT4 (Ser1708Ala) and PTPN12 (Gly532Glu) (76-78). We then attempted to identify personalized neoantigens using two different approaches; direct identification with mass spectrometry and by prediction of HLA ligands encompassing any of these mutations.

We first performed MS immunopeptidomics analyses on exactly the same tumor tissue used for the genomics analysis from the three PDAC patients, and applied a proteogenomics pipeline as previously described (72) in order to identify neoantigens naturally presented in the PDAC tissues. We have identified 11,437, 4,437, and 6,158 HLA-I and 1,569, 448, and 3,319 HLA-II peptides, from the 14JQ, 154H, and 16AY tumor tissues, respectively (Supplementary Table 2). However, no neoantigens could be identified by MS. Either many of the potential neoantigens remain undetected in the MS-based analyses because of the lack of sensitivity, or they might not be naturally presented. The likelihood of detecting neoantigens by discovery MS increases with the overall depth of ligandomic data available and with the mutational load. Here, both aspects were not sufficient to successfully detect neoantigens.

Additional tumor-associated antigen (TAAs) derived HLA ligands are frequently identified by MS, such as "normal" (wild-type) proteins overexpressed or restricted to tumors (e.g., MelanA, Tyrosinase, PMEL in melanoma; NY-ESO in multiple cancer types). Such targets have been exploited in innovative personalized vaccines and T cell based therapies (79, 80). We have identified multiple TAAs in the immunopeptidome for each of the three PDAC patients, including the testisspecific protein bromodomain testis-specific protein (BRDT), L-lactate dehydrogenase C chain (LDHC), outer dense fiber protein 2 (ODF2), coiled-coil domain-containing protein 110 (CCDC110), tumor associated antigens mesothelin (MSLN), mucin-1 (MUC1), prolyl endopeptidase FAP (FAP), and the cellular tumor antigen p53 (TP53) (**Supplementary Table 2**). Nevertheless, after thorough data mining, we estimated that these



ligands were unlikely to be immunogenic and therefore have decided not to include them in the vaccine.

# Prioritization of Neoantigens and Design of Long Peptides

Consequently, in the three PDAC patients, the selection of targets was based exclusively on prediction of neoantigens. To increase accuracy, the "high confidence" calls were selected, and a list of 31 mer peptides with mutation in the middle position was then generated and subjected to binding predictions of HLA class I (9-12 mers) and class II (12-19 mers) with the MixMHCpred.v2.0.2 and MixMHC2pred.v1 algorithms, respectively (66, 68, 81). Both algorithms have been trained on naturally presented peptides and compute the likelihood of a peptide to bind to one of the given set of the patient HLA alleles. We have previously showed that large scale immunopeptidomics dataset may help in prioritizing predicted neoantigens (70, 82). Therefore, we mapped the list of predicted neoantigens on our ipMSDB ligandomic database that contains a million of HLA-I and HLA-II ligands. The overlap between the predicted neoantigen and the wild-type (WT) form present in ipMSDB was determined, as well as the level of presentation of the source genes. These values were considered for prioritization; neoantigens matching exactly WT counterparts in ipMSDB were prioritized (Table 1). Mutated source genes that were underrepresented in ipMSDB were excluded. In addition, we excluded predicted neoantigens that are identical to other WT sequences in the human proteome (GRCh37 Genome assembly and UniProt database) and all predicted neoantigens derived from highly mutated genes, which are likely to be false positives. Finally, we excluded genes that are known not to be expressed in pancreas (TPM < 1 in GTEx). For each mutation, we designed a few long peptides covering as many predicted HLA-I and HLA-II neoantigens as possible. We ranked the mutations in the format of long peptides according to the best predicted binding affinity to HLA-I alleles (%Rank  $\leq$  5% MixMHCpred.v2.0.2), the number of HLA-I and HLA-II predicted neoantigens harboring the mutation, and the number of represented HLA alleles. Finally, for each mutation we selected the shortest long peptide covering as many predicted HLA-I and HLA-II neoantigens (**Figure 3**) and completed the list of ten long peptides (PEP).

# **DC Vaccine Production**

The DC-vaccine used in this study is a frozen suspension of patient-specific, ex vivo cultured autologous monocyte derived DCs loaded with synthetic neoantigen (personalized) peptides. The proprietary name for the biological product comprising this substance is PEP-DC, which refers to Personalized Peptides loaded onto autologous DCs. Manufacturing of PEP-DC consists of five main steps described in Figure 4, starting with peptides identification and manufacturing. We have tested and validated this production process with healthy donor leukapheresis and peptides mixes of up to 9 peptides. Indeed, because of the peptide length, some synthesis failure should be expected even after sequence optimization and careful peptide selection. Based on three experimental batches, we can evaluate that PEP-DC process leads to the production of 2.8  $\pm$  2.1  $\times$  10<sup>8</sup> PEP-DC cells, corresponding to 56  $\pm$  41 PEP-DC cryopreserved vaccine doses (based on  $5.0 \times 10^6$  cells per dose) per manufacturing run. Specifications of the final product ensure safety (sterility, mycoplasma, endotoxin), viability (Trypan blue exclusion), identity (phenotype), and functionality (IL12p70 secretion upon maturation) of the PEP-DC vaccine (Table 2). For each vaccine injection, a PEP-DC dose is thawed, washed and reconstituted NaCl-Albumin before injection. Viability is checked on each reconstituted dose with a target of  $\geq 60.0\%$  viable cells. All

Bassani-Sternberg et al.

TABLE 1 | Basic clinical information and detailed information about the 10 optimally designed long peptides for each patient.

Rank	Chromosome Ger position	pai (	oression in ncreas, GTEx TPM]	n Mutation	Gene driver and mutation status	Long peptide sequence	ipMSDB HLA-I	ipMSDB HLA-II	Lowest HLA-I binding pval	Lowest HLA-II binding pval	# predicted peptides	# HLA-I alleles	# HLA-I alleles
14JQ	, PDAC, 60 NON-S	YNONYMO	ous so	MATIC MUTA	TIONS								
1	16_8994451 USF	⊃7 1	1.509	p.Tyr749Asp		LYEEVKPNLTERIQDDVSLDKALDE	EXACT		0.002	0.01209	31	4	3
2	7_27169740 HO	XA4	1.06	p.Ala205Thr		VVYPWMKKIHVSTVNPSYNGGEPKRSRT	EXACT	EXACT	0.004	0.0005	58	3	7
3	9_33797978 PRS	SS3 1	3983	p.Val175lle		TLDNDILLIKLSSPAIINSRVSAISLPT	EXACT	INCLUDED	0.02	0.00096	39	4	7
4	14_105415346 AHN	NAK2 1	1.162	p.Thr2148Ala		AHLQGDLTLANKDLTAKDSRFKM	EXACT	PARTIAL	0.002	0.00914	31	3	2
5	1_17083776 MS	T1L 3	34.35	p.Arg674Leu		ARSRWPAVFTLVSVFVDWIHKVMRLG			0.0001	0.00578	54	3	6
6	6_168366581 MLL	LT4 1	1.744	p.Ser1708Ala	Driver	LPRDYEPPSPAPAPGAPPPPPQRNAS			0.0001	0.00054	80	3	3
7	8_52732961 PCN	MTD1 1	6.471	p.Pro342Thr		EPPQNLLREKIMKLTLPESLKAYLT	PARTIAL	PARTIAL	0.0008	0.00098	66	4	3
8	6_150001239 LAT	S1 3	3.182	p.Asp789Asn		KDNLYFVMDYIPGGNMMSLLIRMGIFPE	PARTIAL		0.0009	0.00126	58	3	7
9	3_123419461 MYL	LK 3	3.273	p.Asp952Asn	Passenger	RKVHSPQQVNFRSVLAKKGTSKT			0.001	0.01599	24	4	3
10	1_155697428 DAF	P3 1	2.728	p.Leu168Phe		IPDAHLWVKNCRDFLQSSYNKQRFD			0.002	0.00521	45	4	2
154H	, PDAC, 39 NON-S	YNONYMO	ous so	MATIC MUTA	TIONS								
1	2_85576579 RET	ISAT 1	7.724	p.Arg309Trp		IAFHTIPVIQWAGGAVLTKATVQSVL	EXACT	EXACT	0.0004	0.00026	65	5	4
2	12_51453191 LET	MD1 1	4.494	p.Asn367Asp		AELSLLLHNVVLLSTDYLGTRR	EXACT	EXACT	0.006	0.00298	50	4	4
3	20_34457413 PHF	F20	2.4	p.Arg288Gly		NSQTLQPITLELRRGKISKGCEVPL		EXACT	0.02	0.03246	19	4	2
4	3_57908703 SLN	MAP 3	3.553	p.Lys783Gln		KQSITDELQQCKNNLKLLREK			0.0007	0.00357	40	3	2
5	2_241700220 KIF1	1A 1	1.548	p.Ser769Phe		KKVQFQFVLLTDTLY <mark>F</mark> PLPPDLLPPEAA			0.0008	0.00201	72	5	5
6	2_238253286 COL	L6A3 1	6.075	p.Arg2459Trp		VAVVTYNNEVTTEIWFADSKRKSVLLDK			0.0009	0.00133	61	5	5
7	13_96592287 UG0	GT2 3	3.986	p.Val579Gly		KKDQNILTVDNVKSGLQNTF			0.002	0.01697	24	6	3
8	7_77256591 PTP	PN12 1	2.375	p.Gly532Glu	Driver	DRLPLDEKEHVTWSFHGPENAIPI	PARTIAL	PARTIAL	0.003	0.0391	12	6	1
9	18_55352319 ATP	P8B1 1	0.673	p.Asn486Lys		DHRDASQHKHNKIEQVDFSWNTYA			0.003	0.0339	14	5	2
10	8_9627645 TNK	<s< td=""><td>3.91</td><td>p.Gly1257Glu</td><td></td><td>HRQMLFCRVTL<mark>E</mark>KSFLQFSTMKMAHA</td><td>PARTIAL</td><td>PARTIAL</td><td>0.003</td><td>0.00039</td><td>39</td><td>6</td><td>5</td></s<>	3.91	p.Gly1257Glu		HRQMLFCRVTL <mark>E</mark> KSFLQFSTMKMAHA	PARTIAL	PARTIAL	0.003	0.00039	39	6	5
16AY,	PDAC, 23 NON-SY	YNONYMC	OUS SO	MATIC MUTAT	TIONS								
1	17_15134320 PMF	P22 1	1.978	p.Gly133Ser		HPEWHLNSDYSY <mark>S</mark> FAYILAWVAFPLALL	EXACT		0.0004	0.00018	86	4	8
2	X_54014354 PHF	F8 5	5.113	p.Ser621Tyr		LLMSNGSTKRVKSLYKSRRTKIAKKVDK			0.0001	0.0075	48	5	2
3	9_33794809 PRS	SS3 1	3983	p.Ser5Asn		MRETNVFTLKKGRSAPLVF			0.0004	0.00558	10	4	3
4	12_9085452 PHC	C1 9	9.639	p.Gln467Lys		TQQVPPSQSQQ <mark>K</mark> AQTLVVQPMLQSSPL	PARTIAL		0.0004	0.0044	42	5	6
5	19_1037681 CNN	N2 2	0.083	p.Asp259Asn		APGTRRHIYDTKLGTNKCDNSSMSLQMG			0.0008	0.01696	27	5	5
6	20_50704942 ZFP	P64 1	1.539	p.Arg187Leu		YASRNSSQLTVHLLSHTGDTPFQ			0.002	0.00077	40	3	4
7	12_31254897 DD>	X11 5	5.459	p.Arg728His		LRQVHAHWEKGGLLGHLAARKKIFQE			0.003	0.00764	37	3	2
8	11_32954416 QSE	ER1	3.78	p.Asn409Asp		SSNQQEVLSSVTNEDYPAQTRDLSSVSQ	PARTIAL		0.003	0.00478	39	3	4
9	1_27177681 ZDH	HHC18 4	4.114	p.His299Tyr		FFSIWSILGLSGFYTYLVASNLTTNEDI	PARTIAL		0.005	0.00012	106	4	8
10	20_60892518 LAN	MA5 2	3.906	p.Arg2465Gln		AKEELERLAASLDGAQTPLLQRMQT	PARTIAL	PARTIAL	0.008	0.00763	41	5	6

The position of the mutation in the long peptide is indicated in red. ipMSDB HLA-I and ipMSDB HLA-II columns show the matching of the WT counterpart of the predicted neoantigen in the ipMSDB. Prediction of driver genes and mutation status annotations are derived from IntOGen database.





PEP-DC batches prepared in this pilot study met specification for product release as described in **Table 2**. This confirms that our GMP-compliant manufacturing process is suitable for the production PEP-DC.

# Pre-immunization Immunogenicity of PEP Candidates

Even though immune responses against neoantigens prior to vaccination are typically rare, we decided to test if any of the 10 PEP long peptides may be recognized by autologous T cells from peripheral blood. Pre-immunization immunogenicity was tested for the three PDAC patients. Although some of the long peptides failed the synthesis quality control and could not be tested, CD4+ T-cell responses against PEP candidates were detected against at least one long peptide in all three donors, while no CD8+ T cell responses could be detected (**Figure 5**).

# **DISCUSSION AND INNOVATION**

Over the last 10 years immunotherapy has changed the treatment landscape of several tumor types in metastatic setting. Management of patients with non-metastatic cancer relies

Personalized Vaccine for Pancreatic Cancer

on multimodality treatment that includes surgical resection depending on tumor type and peri-operative chemotherapy. In PDAC, despite these aggressive measures, the high propensity of relapse has a detrimental effect on survival. The high metastatic potential is due to the presence of micrometastasis at systemic sites in patients with early-stage pancreatic cancer (83). In this proof of concept trial, our aim is to demonstrate that in such very aggressive diseases, there is a need to act without any delay, and early immunomodulation may be the key response.

TABLE 2   Specification for release for the final product of PEP-DC de	oses.
--	-------

	Test	Analytical procedure	e Specification		
PEP-DC at day 6 (final product)	Sterility	BacTEC (aerobic and anaerobic)	No growth		
	Mycoplasma	MycoSeq	Negative		
	Endotoxin	Endosafe	≤10.0 EU/mL		
	Cell count	Manual cell count by Trypan blue exclusion	$\geq$ 45.0 × 10 <sup>6</sup> viable cells		
	Viability		≥60.0% viability		
	Cell purity/identity	Flow cytometry	$\geq$ 60.0% live HLA-DR <sup>+</sup> CD86 <sup>+</sup> cells $\leq$ 20.0% CD14 <sup>+</sup> cells		
Culture supernatant at day 6 after maturation	Functionality IL-12p70	ELISA	≥50.0 pg/mL		

Although pancreatic cancer patients present high frequencies of functional tumor-reactive T cells in the bone-marrow and blood (84), and show an average mutation burden similar to other solid tumors (85), parsing tumor immune microenvironment (TME) of pancreatic cancer seems to be a challenge. In PDAC, tumor-specific CTLs become "trapped" in the peritumoral tissue and in the tumor stroma, not reaching pancreatic tumor cells in sufficient amounts (86, 87). Additionally, exhaustion of effector CD8+ T-cells by the TME as well as hampered recruitment of cDC1s by downregulating CCL4 signaling upon constitutively active  $\beta$ -catenin signaling may explain the ineffective antitumoral response, which underscores the importance of endogenous DCs for initiating anti-tumor immunity.

# Rationale for Combination Immunotherapy in PDAC

Currently, clinical benefit using different agents in monotherapy is very limited in PDAC. Therefore, combination strategies are required, in order to obtain a synergistic effect on potential efficacy, yet keeping expected adverse events under manageable conditions. Therefore, it is important to establish both the scientific rationale of the proposed combination, as well as the best timing for introducing each component.

Treatment of metastatic cancer essentially relies on cytotoxic drugs that kill tumor cells or hinder their proliferation. Although a primary goal of anti-cancer chemotherapy is the tumor mass reduction, it is now clear that off-target effects, especially directed to the host immune system, may reduce the



FIGURE 5 | T-cell responses in donors 14JQ, 16AY, and 154H against long peptides. The percentage of IFN-γ-producing T cells are shown. Black (unstim) and white (SEB) bars represents negative and positive controls, respectively. Positive peptides are identified in red.

immunosuppressive activity of malignant cells and cooperate for successful tumor eradication (88). Gemcitabine (GEM) is a chemotherapeutic agent acting as a nucleoside analog that also targets ribonucleotide reductase by inactivating the enzyme irreversibly. It is used in various carcinomas such as non-small cell lung cancer, pancreatic cancer, bladder cancer, and breast cancer, and it represents the primary systemic agent for the treatment of pancreatic cancer. On standard dose schedules in patients with pancreatic cancer, the drug is associated with manageable toxicity, and its administration has led to a survival benefit both in the primary and adjuvant settings (89, 90). In advanced pancreatic cancer patients, GEM therapy may decrease memory T-cells, promote naive T-cell activation (91), and induce the proliferation of CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes and CD11c<sup>+</sup> DC (92). GEM is also able to induce apoptotic destruction of tumor cells and potentially load the immune system with large amounts of tumor antigen, but this is not enough to initiate a protective antitumor response and adjuvant immunotherapy is required (93).

A peptide cocktail vaccine OCV-C01 containing epitope peptides [coding for vascular epithelial growth factor receptor (VEGFR1 ad VEGFR2)] was investigated in combination with GEM in the adjuvant treatment for resected pancreatic cancer patients (n = 30) in a single arm multicenter Phase II study. OCV-C01 combined with GEM was tolerable with a median DFS of 15.8 months (and a DFS rate at 18 months of 34.6%), which was favorable compared with previous data for resected pancreatic cancer (94). In another phase I pilot study, a Wilms tumor gene-1 peptide-pulsed DC vaccination was evaluated in combination with GEM as a first-line of treatment in 10 patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. WT1 peptide-pulsed DCGEM is feasible, welltolerated, and effective for inducing anti-tumor T-cell responses (95). Kimura et al. evaluated a DC-based vaccine alone or in combination with lymphokine-activated killer (LAK) cells, along with gemcitabine and/or S-1 in 49 patients with inoperable pancreatic cancer (96). Of these patients, two manifested a complete remission, five a partial remission, and 10 had stable disease. The median survival of these individuals was 360 days, which appeared to be longer than what could be achieved with gemcitabine and/or S-1. Thus, the combination of DCbased immunotherapy and chemotherapy seems well-tolerated by advanced PDAC patients but warrants further investigation through combination with ICB or other immunotherapies. In our study, we build on the gemcitabine/capecitabine backbone for not fit pancreatic cancer population (ECOG PS 1 or 2) and explore the additive benefits of DC-vaccination from the 5th cycle of chemotherapy, followed by nivolumab treatment.

In pancreatic cancer, a possible explanation for the therapeutic failure of PD-1/PD-L1 blockade therapy is the lack of natural infiltration of effector immune cells in most cases (17, 18, 20). Vaccine-based immunotherapy is a potential strategy to activate effector T cell trafficking into the TME. Additionally, it has been shown that the repertoire of clonally expanded tumor antigen-reactive cells within TILs expresses PD-1 (97), either in spontaneous responses or vaccine-mediated. Furthermore, vaccination induces intratumoral PD-L1 expression (98), suggesting a role for PD-1 blockade in enhancing

vaccine efficacy (98, 99). Consistently, in a preclinical model for pancreatic cancer, GVAX administration (a cancer vaccine composed of allogeneic pancreatic tumor cell line engineered to secrete GM-CSF) induced upregulation of PD-L1 expression when compared to untreated human and mouse pancreatic tumors. Combination therapy with GVAX and PD-1/PD-L1 blockade improved survival, and correlated with increased CD8+ T infiltration into pancreatic tumors (100).

Currently very few clinical trials combining cancer vaccines and PD-1/PD-L1 blockade have been reported in the setting of pancreatic cancer. Combination strategies using DC vaccines with ICB should generate an additive effect (98, 99, 101), with low additional toxicity due to DC vaccination (102, 103). Nesselhut et al. demonstrated that the efficacy of DC based therapy can be improved by blockade of PD-L1, enhancing the T-cell specific response (104). Dose and schedule for anti-PD-1 therapy and vaccines have been minimally studied; however, both PD-1 on activated T cells and PD-L1 on tumors appear rapidly following exposure to interferon (105), suggesting that early application of PD-1 blockade may be important. For this reason, we have decided to start nivolumab treatment 3 weeks after the end of SOC treatment, aiming also to avoid potential toxicities due to combined chemo-ICB.

Because Treg may persist despite checkpoint blockade, Treg depletion in conjunction with checkpoint blockade and vaccination may enhance clinical anti-tumor efficacy. Systematic reviews of the results of aspirin in cardiovascular studies have suggested that low-dose aspirin reduces overall cancer incidence and mortality including in pancreatic cancer (106, 107). In terms of its mechanism (108), it has been shown that non-steroidal antiinflammatory drugs may limit carcinogenesis and enhance the immune response by (a) preventing prostaglandin E2 (PGE2)mediated inhibition of DCs and reducing the transition of monocytes to immunosuppressive MDSCs (109); (b) reducing the inhibitory potential of Tregs induced by PGE2 (110); and (c) abrogating the PGE2 induced suppression of effector T-cell proliferation by regulatory T cells (111), therefore contributing to enhanced immune surveillance. Furthermore, PGE2 inhibitors like aspirin can counteract the FasL mediated elimination of activated lymphocytes by the tumor endothelial cells, as well as reduce the immunosuppressive conditions, thus enhancing the immune response against the tumor. We therefore consider that blockade of PGE2 in cancers using aspirin can reverse the endothelial barrier and synergize with vaccination allowing T cell infiltration. Consequently, we will use aspirin all along our study, which we expect to synergize with T cell activation by PD-1/PD-L1 blockade.

# Neoantigen Prediction and Selection for PEP-DC

Identification and selection of targets for neoantigen based vaccines is challenging. Mass spectrometry has been instrumental for the identification of cancer-associated antigens among the endogenously presented peptides. In recent years, dedicated computational pipelines for proteogenomic applications facilitated the direct identification of neoantigens by MS in murine and human cancer cell line models (49, 112–115), B cell lymphomas (116), and melanoma tissues (72) as well as other cryptic peptides resulting from unconventional coding sequences in the genome (117, 118). However, only a handful of neoantigens have been identified by MS in a given sample, and typically in high mutational load tumors such as melanoma (72). Indeed, we could not identify with discovery MS-based immunopeptidomics neoantigens in the three investigated PDAC samples. While several tumor-associated antigens were identified, after literature mining we concluded that these antigens might be poorly immunogenic, and in these three cases we decided to exclude non-mutated targets.

The prioritization and selection of neoantigens for personalized vaccines in low mutational load tumors like PDAC is largely performed with HLA ligand interaction prediction algorithms. The performance of such tools has improved significantly with the incorporation of MS HLA ligand elution data in the training of the algorithms, both for HLA-I (81, 119-121), and more recently for HLA-II (68). Furthermore, interrogation of properties of the thousands of different source-proteins has revealed biological determinants that correlate with presentation, such as level of translation and expression, turnover rate, proteasomal cleavage specificities, hotspots, and biological functions. Integrating such variables into a single predictor further improves prediction of neoantigens (70, 72, 120, 122). Because predictors of immunogenicity are still immature (123) false positives are inevitably included among the predicted neoantigens, which may eventually be included in a vaccine.

A main innovative aspect of our study is the identification of PDAC mutated neoantigens. We have designed NeoDisc, a novel proteogenomics antigen discovery pipeline for identification and selection of neoantigens, and we apply it for the first time in PDAC. NeoDisc integrates multiple state of the art prediction tools, large-scale ligandomic database, and a unique personalized and optimized design of long peptides that maximizes the likelihood that the selected mutations will eventually be presented by the HLA-I and HLA-II complexes on the loaded DCs. While in this PEP-DC study the existence of pre-existing immune responses against the long peptides is not a prerequisite for inclusion in the vaccine, such analysis is performed as part of a large translational program that aims to provide extensive immunogenicity training data that will allow future development to improve the performance of NeoDisc.

This proof of concept study aimed to assess specifically the feasibility of prioritizing immunogenic neoantigens with NeoDisc. Indeed, we were able to confirm for the three patients pre-existing immune responses against in total four long neoantigen peptides with autologous peripheral CD4+ T cells. No CD8+ T cell responses could be detected. This might be related to the low frequency of neoantigen specific CD8+ T cells. Alternative strategies could have been more sensitive to detect CD8+ T-cell responses, such as peptide-MHC multimers screening. However, unfortunately, there were no PBMC left to test this hypothesis. The clinical trial has not started yet, and therefore the investigation of immune responses post-vaccine could not be performed. This trial will give us the opportunity to (1) better understand PDAC TME since we will be able to evaluate the mutational rate in PDAC and predict the presentation of neoantigens; (2) assess the frequency of specific T cells to such mutant epitopes in PDAC patients, before and after treatment with ICB; (3) validate the immunogenicity of neoantigens and their therapeutic effect.

In conclusion, PDAC in early-stage remains a deadly disease with limited treatment options and the development of novel strategies tailored to individual patients is the key. Our approach is focused particularly on patients with a borderline performance status or a comorbidity profile that precludes multiagent adjuvant therapy (type folforinox). In this context, we give the opportunity even in patients with the worst prognosis to have access to innovative therapies.

## DATA AVAILABILITY

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this manuscript will be made available by the authors. To respect patient confidentiality, access to the data will be obtained by formal application to a Data Access Committee that requires researchers to sign a Data Access Agreement (DAA).

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

MB-S is responsible for the development of NeoDisc and for clinical antigen discovery, and wrote the manuscript. BS and FH developed NeoDisc. JM and HP performed Bristol-Myers Squibb (BMS) immunopeptidomics experiments. JR and DG developed MixMHC2perd. CS, DW, and ND provided the pancreatic cancer specimens and reviewed the manuscript. AD, KB, and SM contributed to the clinical trial design and manuscript writing. GC contributed to the clinical trial design. A-CT and AH developed the immunogenicity validation data. CB developed the vaccine clinical grade data. LK developed the clinical grade vaccine, conceived the clinical study, and wrote the manuscript.

# FUNDING

This work was partially supported by the Ludwig Institute for Cancer Research (MB-S, HP, JM, FH, DG, JR, AH, and LK), the ISREC Foundation thanks to a donation from the Biltema Foundation (MB-S, HP, JM, FH, and AH), and institutional support from Center Hospitalier Universitaire Vaudois. The clinical study will be financially supported by Bristol-Myers Squibb (BMS).

# SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.01832/full#supplementary-material

Table S1 | General clinical information and high resolution HLA typing.

 Table S2 | List of HLA-I and HLA-II peptides identified by MS-based

 immunopeptidomics in the three PDAC tumor samples, including MS intensity,

 peptide length and mass, identification score and posterior error probability (PEP),

 source proteins and gene names.
### REFERENCES

- Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. *CA Cancer J Clin.* (2018) 68:394–424. doi: 10.3322/caac.21492
- Huang L, Jansen L, Balavarca Y, Babaei M, van der Geest L, Lemmens V, et al. Stratified survival of resected and overall pancreatic cancer patients in Europe and the USA in the early twenty-first century: a large, international population-based study. *BMC Med.* (2018) 16:125. doi: 10.1186/s12916-018-1120-9
- Cid-Arregui A, Juarez V. Perspectives in the treatment of pancreatic adenocarcinoma. World J Gastroenterol. (2015) 21:9297–316. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v21.i31.9297
- Taieb J, Pointet AL, Van Laethem JL, Laquente B, Pernot S, Lordick F, et al. What treatment in 2017 for inoperable pancreatic cancers? Ann Oncol. (2017) 28:1473–83. doi: 10.1093/annonc/ mdx174
- Conroy T, Hammel P, Hebbar M, Ben Abdelghani M, Chia-chi Wei A, Raoul JL, et al. Unicancer GI PRODIGE 24/CCTG PA.6 trial: A multicenter international randomized phase III trial of adjuvant mFOLFIRINOX versus gemcitabine (gem) in patients with resected pancreatic ductal adenocarcinomas. J Clin Oncol. (2018) 36:LBA4001. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.36.18\_suppl.LBA4001
- Martín AM, Hidalgo M, Alvarez R, Arrazubi V, Martínez-Galán J, Salgado M, et al. From first line to sequential treatment in the management of metastatic pancreatic cancer. J Cancer. (2018) 9:1978–88. doi: 10.7150/jca. 23716
- Amedei A, Niccolai E, Prisco D. Pancreatic cancer: role of the immune system in cancer progression and vaccine-based immunotherapy. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2014) 10:3354–68. doi: 10.4161/hv.34392
- Oji Y, Nakamori S, Fujikawa M, Nakatsuka S, Yokota A, Tatsumi N, et al. Overexpression of the Wilms' tumor gene WT1 in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Cancer Sci.* (2004) 95:583–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2004.tb02490.x
- Ueda M, Miura Y, Kunihiro O, Ishikawa T, Ichikawa Y, Endo I, et al. MUC1 overexpression is the most reliable marker of invasive carcinoma in intraductal papillary-mucinous tumor (IPMT). *Hepatogastroenterology*. (2005) 52:398–403.
- Seki K, Suda T, Aoyagi Y, Sugawara S, Natsui M, Motoyama H, et al. Diagnosis of pancreatic adenocarcinoma by detection of human telomerase reverse transcriptase messenger RNA in pancreatic juice with sample qualification. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2001) 7:1976–81.
- Yamaguchi K, Enjoji M, Tsuneyoshi M. Pancreatoduodenal carcinoma: a clinicopathologic study of 304 patients and immunohistochemical observation for CEA and CA19-9. J Surg Oncol. (1991) 47:148–54. doi: 10.1002/jso.2930470303
- Komoto M, Nakata B, Amano R, Yamada N, Yashiro M, Ohira M, et al. HER2 overexpression correlates with survival after curative resection of pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Sci.* (2009) 100:1243–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1349-7006.2009.01176.x
- Maacke H, Kessler A, Schmiegel W, Roeder C, Vogel I, Deppert W, et al. Overexpression of p53 protein during pancreatitis. Br J Cancer. (1997) 75:1501–4. doi: 10.1038/bjc.1997.256
- Cappello P, Tomaino B, Chiarle R, Ceruti P, Novarino A, Castagnoli C, et al. An integrated humoral and cellular response is elicited in pancreatic cancer by alpha-enolase, a novel pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma-associated antigen. *Int J Cancer.* (2009) 125:639–48. doi: 10.1002/ijc.24355
- Wachsmann MB, Pop LM, Vitetta ES. Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: a review of immunologic aspects. J Invest Med. (2012) 60:643–63. doi: 10.2310/JIM.0b013e31824a4d79
- Foucher ED, Ghigo C, Chouaib S, Galon J, Iovanna J, Olive D. Pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: a strong imbalance of good and bad immunological cops in the tumor microenvironment. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1044. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01044
- von Bernstorff W, Voss M, Freichel S, Schmid A, Vogel I, Johnk C, et al. Systemic and local immunosuppression in pancreatic cancer patients. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2001) 7(3 Suppl.):925s-32s.

- Schmidt J, Mocevicius P, Werner J, Ryschich E. The role of the tumor endothelium in leukocyte recruitment in pancreatic cancer. *Surgery*. (2012) 152(3 Suppl 1.):S89–94. doi: 10.1016/j.surg.2012.05.027
- Guerra C, Collado M, Navas C, Schuhmacher AJ, Hernández-Porras I, Cañamero M, et al. Pancreatitis-induced inflammation contributes to pancreatic cancer by inhibiting oncogene-induced senescence. *Cancer Cell.* (2011) 19:728–39. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2011.05.011
- Ino Y, Yamazaki-Itoh R, Shimada K, Iwasaki M, Kosuge T, Kanai Y, et al. Immune cell infiltration as an indicator of the immune microenvironment of pancreatic cancer. *Br J Cancer*. (2013) 108:914–23. doi: 10.1038/bjc. 2013.32
- 21. Wartenberg M, Zlobec I, Perren A, Koelzer VH, Gloor B, Lugli A, et al. Accumulation of FOXP3+T-cells in the tumor microenvironment is associated with an epithelial-mesenchymal-transition-type tumor budding phenotype and is an independent prognostic factor in surgically resected pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Oncotarget.* (2015) 6:4190–201. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.2775
- 22. Hamanaka Y, Suehiro Y, Fukui M, Shikichi K, Imai K, Hinoda Y. Circulating anti-MUC1 IgG antibodies as a favorable prognostic factor for pancreatic cancer. *Int J Cancer*. (2003) 103:97–100. doi: 10.1002/ijc.10801
- 23. Winter JM, Tang LH, Klimstra DS, Brennan MF, Brody JR, Rocha FG, et al. A novel survival-based tissue microarray of pancreatic cancer validates MUC1 and mesothelin as biomarkers. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e40157. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0040157
- 24. Tewari N, Zaitoun AM, Arora A, Madhusudan S, Ilyas M, Lobo DN. The presence of tumour-associated lymphocytes confers a good prognosis in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: an immunohistochemical study of tissue microarrays. *BMC Cancer*. (2013) 13:436. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-13-436
- Keir ME, Butte MJ, Freeman GJ, Sharpe AH. PD-1 and its ligands in tolerance and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2008) 26:677–704. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607.090331
- Topalian SL, Drake CG, Pardoll DM. Targeting the PD-1/B7-H1(PD-L1) pathway to activate anti-tumor immunity. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2012) 24:207–12. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2011.12.009
- Nishimura H, Nose M, Hiai H, Minato N, Honjo T. Development of lupus-like autoimmune diseases by disruption of the PD-1 gene encoding an ITIM motif-carrying immunoreceptor. *Immunity.* (1999) 11:141–51. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80089-8
- Francisco LM, Salinas VH, Brown KE, Vanguri VK, Freeman GJ, Kuchroo VK, et al. PD-L1 regulates the development, maintenance, and function of induced regulatory T cells. *J Exp Med.* (2009) 206:3015–29. doi: 10.1084/jem.20090847
- Haanen J, Carbonnel F, Robert C, Kerr K, Peters S, Larkin J, et al. Management of toxicities from immunotherapy: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. *Ann Oncol.* (2017) 28(Suppl\_4):iv119–42. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx225
- Torphy RJ, Zhu Y, Schulick RD. Immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer: barriers and breakthroughs. Ann Gastroenterol Surg. (2018) 2:274–81. doi: 10.1002/ags3.12176
- Hu ZI, Shia J, Stadler ZK, Varghese AM, Capanu M, Salo-Mullen E, et al. Evaluating mismatch repair deficiency in pancreatic adenocarcinoma: challenges and recommendations. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2018) 24:1326–36. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-3099
- Thind K, Padrnos LJ, Ramanathan RK, Borad MJ. Immunotherapy in pancreatic cancer treatment: a new frontier. *Therap Adv Gastroenterol.* (2017) 10:168–94. doi: 10.1177/1756283X16667909
- 33. Wainberg, ZAHH, George B. Phase I study of nivolumab (nivo) + nabpaclitaxel (nab-P) ± gemcitabine (Gem) in solid tumors: interim results from the pancreatic cancer (PC) cohorts. *J Clin Oncol.* (2017) 35(Suppl. 4S):412. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.35.4\_suppl.412
- Bol KF, Schreibelt G, Gerritsen WR, de Vries IJ, Figdor CG. Dendritic cellbased immunotherapy: state of the art and beyond. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:1897–906. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1399
- van Willigen WW, Bloemendal M, Gerritsen WR, Schreibelt G, de Vries IJM, Bol KF. Dendritic cell cancer therapy: vaccinating the right patient at the right time. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:2265. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02265
- 36. Morse MA, Nair SK, Boczkowski D, Tyler D, Hurwitz HI, Proia A, et al. The feasibility and safety of immunotherapy with dendritic cells

loaded with CEA mRNA following neoadjuvant chemoradiotherapy and resection of pancreatic cancer. *Int J Gastrointest Cancer.* (2002) 32:1–6. doi: 10.1385/IJGC:32:1:1

- Pecher G, Haring A, Kaiser L, Thiel E. Mucin gene (MUC1) transfected dendritic cells as vaccine: results of a phase I/II clinical trial. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2002) 51:669–73. doi: 10.1007/s00262-002-0317-z
- Lepisto AJ, Moser AJ, Zeh H, Lee K, Bartlett D, McKolanis JR, et al. A phase I/II study of a MUC1 peptide pulsed autologous dendritic cell vaccine as adjuvant therapy in patients with resected pancreatic and biliary tumors. *Cancer Ther.* (2008) 6:955–64.
- 39. Rong Y, Qin X, Jin D, Lou W, Wu L, Wang D, et al. A phase I pilot trial of MUC1-peptide-pulsed dendritic cells in the treatment of advanced pancreatic cancer. *Clin Exp Med.* (2012) 12:173–80. doi: 10.1007/s10238-011-0159-0
- Ophir E, Bobisse S, Coukos G, Harari A, Kandalaft LE. Personalized approaches to active immunotherapy in cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. (2016) 1865:72–82. doi: 10.1016/j.bbcan.2015.07.004
- Alexandrov LB, Nik-Zainal S, Wedge DC, Aparicio SA, Behjati S, Biankin AV, et al. Signatures of mutational processes in human cancer. *Nature*. (2013) 500:415–21. doi: 10.1038/nature12477
- Lawrence MS, Stojanov P, Polak P, Kryukov GV, Cibulskis K, Sivachenko A, et al. Mutational heterogeneity in cancer and the search for new cancerassociated genes. *Nature*. (2013) 499:214–8. doi: 10.1038/nature12213
- Vogelstein B, Papadopoulos N, Velculescu VE, Zhou S, Diaz LA Jr, Kinzler KW. Cancer genome landscapes. *Science*. (2013) 339:1546–58. doi: 10.1126/science.1235122
- 44. van Rooij N, van Buuren MM, Philips D, Velds A, Toebes M, Heemskerk B, et al. Tumor exome analysis reveals neoantigen-specific T-cell reactivity in an ipilimumab-responsive melanoma. J Clin Oncol. (2013) 31:e439–42. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2012.47.7521
- Snyder A, Makarov V, Merghoub T, Yuan J, Zaretsky JM, Desrichard A, et al. Genetic basis for clinical response to CTLA-4 blockade in melanoma. *N Engl J Med.* (2014) 371:2189–99. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1406498
- Lin EI, Tseng LH, Gocke CD, Reil S, Le DT, Azad NS, et al. Mutational profiling of colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability. *Oncotarget*. (2015) 6:42334–44. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.5997
- Rizvi NA, Hellmann MD, Snyder A, Kvistborg P, Makarov V, Havel JJ, et al. Cancer immunobiology. mutational landscape determines sensitivity to PD-1 blockade in non-small cell lung cancer. *Science*. (2015) 348:124–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa1348
- Van Allen EM, Miao D, Schilling B, Shukla SA, Blank C, Zimmer L, et al. Genomic correlates of response to CTLA-4 blockade in metastatic melanoma. *Science*. (2015) 350:207–11. doi: 10.1126/science.aad0095
- Carreno BM, Magrini V, Becker-Hapak M, Kaabinejadian S, Hundal J, Petti AA, et al. A dendritic cell vaccine increases the breadth and diversity of melanoma neoantigen-specific T cells. *Science*. (2015) 348:803–8. doi: 10.1126/science.aaa3828
- Ott PA, Hu Z, Keskin DB, Shukla SA, Sun J, Bozym DJ, et al. An immunogenic personal neoantigen vaccine for patients with melanoma. *Nature*. (2017) 547:217–21. doi: 10.1038/nature22991
- Sahin U, Derhovanessian E, Miller M, Kloke BP, Simon P, Lower M, et al. Personalized RNA mutanome vaccines mobilize poly-specific therapeutic immunity against cancer. *Nature*. (2017) 547:222–6. doi: 10.1038/nature23003
- Waddell N, Pajic M, Patch AM, Chang DK, Kassahn KS, Bailey P, et al. Whole genomes redefine the mutational landscape of pancreatic cancer. *Nature*. (2015) 518:495–501. doi: 10.1038/nature14169
- Bailey P, Chang DK, Forget MA, Lucas FA, Alvarez HA, Haymaker C, et al. Exploiting the neoantigen landscape for immunotherapy of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:35848. doi: 10.1038/srep35848
- Balachandran VP, Luksza M, Zhao JN, Makarov V, Moral JA, Remark R, et al. Identification of unique neoantigen qualities in long-term survivors of pancreatic cancer. *Nature*. (2017) 551:512–6. doi: 10.1038/nature24462
- 55. Chong C, Marino F, Pak H, Racle J, Daniel RT, Muller M, et al. High-throughput and sensitive immunopeptidomics platform reveals profound interferongamma-mediated remodeling of the human leukocyte antigen (HLA) ligandome. *Mol Cell Proteomics*. (2018) 17:533–48. doi: 10.1074/mcp.TIR117.000383

- Marino F, Chong C, Michaux J, Bassani-Sternberg M. High-throughput, fast, and sensitive immunopeptidomics sample processing for mass spectrometry. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2019) 1913:67–79. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4939-8979-9\_5
- Li H, Durbin R. Fast and accurate short read alignment with burrows-wheeler transform. *Bioinformatics*. (2009) 25:1754–60. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp324
- McKenna A, Hanna M, Banks E, Sivachenko A, Cibulskis K, Kernytsky A, et al. The genome analysis toolkit: a mapreduce framework for analyzing next-generation DNA sequencing data. *Genome Res.* (2010) 20:1297–303. doi: 10.1101/gr.107524.110
- DePristo MA, Banks E, Poplin R, Garimella KV, Maguire JR, Hartl C, et al. A framework for variation discovery and genotyping using next-generation DNA sequencing data. *Nat Genet.* (2011) 43:491. doi: 10.1038/ng.806
- Koboldt DC, Zhang Q, Larson DE, Shen D, McLellan MD, Lin L, et al. VarScan 2: somatic mutation and copy number alteration discovery in cancer by exome sequencing. *Genome Res.* (2012) 22:568–76. doi: 10.1101/gr.129684.111
- Li H, Handsaker B, Wysoker A, Fennell T, Ruan J, Homer N, et al. The sequence alignment/map format and SAMtools. *Bioinformatics*. (2009) 25:2078–9. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btp352
- Li H. A statistical framework for SNP calling, mutation discovery, association mapping and population genetical parameter estimation from sequencing data. *Bioinformatics*. (2011) 27:2987–93. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/ btr509
- Pruitt KD, Tatusova T, Maglott DR. NCBI reference sequences (RefSeq): a curated non-redundant sequence database of genomes, transcripts and proteins. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2007) 35:D61–65. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkl842
- Fujita PA, Rhead B, Zweig AS, Hinrichs AS, Karolchik D, Cline MS, et al. The UCSC genome browser database: update 2011. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2011) 39:D876–82. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkq963
- McLaren W, Gil L, Hunt SE, Riat HS, Ritchie GR, Thormann A, et al. The ensembl variant effect predictor. *Genome Biol.* (2016) 17:122. doi: 10.1186/s13059-016-0974-4
- Bassani-Sternberg M, Chong C, Guillaume P, Solleder M, Pak H, Gannon PO, et al. Deciphering HLA-I motifs across HLA peptidomes improves neo-antigen predictions and identifies allostery regulating HLA specificity. *PLoS Comput Biol.* (2017) 13:e1005725. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi. 1005725
- Gfeller D, Guillaume P, Michaux J, Pak HS, Daniel RT, Racle J, et al. The length distribution and multiple specificity of naturally presented HLA-I ligands. J Immunol. (2018) 201:3705–16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1800914
- Racle J, Michaux J, Rockinger GA, Arnaud M, Bobisse S, Chong C, et al. Deep motif deconvolution of HLA-II peptidomes for robust class II epitope predictions. *bioRxiv*. (2019) 539338. doi: 10.1101/539338
- Consortium GT. The genotype-tissue expression (GTEx) project. Nat Genet. (2013) 45:580–5. doi: 10.1038/ng.2653
- Muller M, Gfeller D, Coukos G, Bassani-Sternberg M. 'Hotspots' of antigen presentation revealed by human leukocyte antigen ligandomics for neoantigen prioritization. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1367. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01367
- Bairoch A, Apweiler R. The SWISS-PROT protein sequence database and its supplement TrEMBL in 2000. Nucleic Acids Res. (2000) 28:45–8. doi: 10.1093/nar/28.1.45
- Bassani-Sternberg M, Braunlein E, Klar R, Engleitner T, Sinitcyn P, Audehm S, et al. Direct identification of clinically relevant neoepitopes presented on native human melanoma tissue by mass spectrometry. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:13404. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13404
- Harrow J, Frankish A, Gonzalez JM, Tapanari E, Diekhans M, Kokocinski F, et al. GENCODE: the reference human genome annotation for The ENCODE project. *Genome Res.* (2012) 22:1760–74. doi: 10.1101/gr.135350.111
- 74. Bobisse S, Genolet R, Roberti A, Tanyi JL, Racle J, Stevenson BJ, et al. Sensitive and frequent identification of high avidity neo-epitope specific CD8 (+) T cells in immunotherapy-naive ovarian cancer. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:1092. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-03301-0
- Türeci Ö, Vormehr M, Diken M, Kreiter S, Huber C, Sahin U. Targeting the heterogeneity of cancer with individualized neoepitope vaccines. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2016) 22:1885–96. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-1509

- Gonzalez-Perez A, Perez-Llamas C, Deu-Pons J, Tamborero D, Schroeder MP, Jene-Sanz A, et al. IntOGen-mutations identifies cancer drivers across tumor types. *Nat Methods*. (2013) 10:1081. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.2642
- Nik-Zainal S, Davies H, Staaf J, Ramakrishna M, Glodzik D, Zou X, et al. Landscape of somatic mutations in 560 breast cancer whole-genome sequences. *Nature*. (2016) 534:47–54. doi: 10.1038/nature17676
- Nair A, Chung HC, Sun T, Tyagi S, Dobrolecki LE, Dominguez-Vidana R, et al. Combinatorial inhibition of PTPN12-regulated receptors leads to a broadly effective therapeutic strategy in triple-negative breast cancer. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:505–11. doi: 10.1038/nm.4507
- Reinhardt C, Zdrojowy R, Szczylik C, Ciuleanu T, Brugger W, Oberneder R, et al. Results of a randomized phase II study investigating multipeptide vaccination with IMA901 in advanced renal cell carcinoma (RCC). J Clin Oncol. (2010) 28:4529. doi: 10.1200/jco.2010.28.15\_suppl.4529
- Wick W, Dietrich P-Y, Kuttruff S, Hilf N, Frenzel K, Admon A, et al. GAPVAC-101: first-in-human trial of a highly personalized peptide vaccination approach for patients with newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *J Clin Oncol.* (2018) 36:2000. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.36.15\_suppl.2000
- Bassani-Sternberg M, Gfeller D. Unsupervised HLA peptidome deconvolution improves ligand prediction accuracy and predicts cooperative effects in peptide-HLA interactions. *J Immunol.* (2016) 197:2492–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1600808
- Gfeller D, Bassani-Sternberg M. Predicting antigen presentation-what could we learn from a million peptides? *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:1716. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01716
- Bhagwandin VJ, Bishop JM, Wright WE, Shay JW. The metastatic potential and chemoresistance of human pancreatic cancer stem cells. *PLoS ONE*. (2016) 11:e0148807. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0148807
- Schmitz-Winnenthal FH, Volk C, Z'Graggen K, Galindo L, Nummer D, Ziouta Y, et al. High frequencies of functional tumor-reactive T cells in bone marrow and blood of pancreatic cancer patients. *Cancer Res.* (2005) 65:10079–87. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1098
- 85. Witkiewicz AK, McMillan EA, Balaji U, Baek G, Lin W-C, Mansour J, et al. Whole-exome sequencing of pancreatic cancer defines genetic diversity and therapeutic targets. *Nat Commun.* (2015) 6:6744. doi: 10.1038/ncomms7744
- von Bernstorff W, Voss M, Freichel S, Schmid A, Vogel I, Jöhnk C, et al. Systemic and local immunosuppression in pancreatic cancer patients. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2001) 7:9258–32s.
- Ryschich E, Nötzel T, Hinz U, Autschbach F, Ferguson J, Simon I, et al. Control of T-cell-mediated immune response by HLA class I in human pancreatic carcinoma. *Clin Cancer Res.* (2005) 11:498–504.
- Bracci L, Schiavoni G, Sistigu A, Belardelli F. Immune-based mechanisms of cytotoxic chemotherapy: implications for the design of novel and rationalebased combined treatments against cancer. *Cell Death Differ*. (2014) 21:15– 25. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2013.67
- Burris, HA III, Moore MJ, Andersen J, Green MR, Rothenberg ML, Modiano MR, et al. Improvements in survival and clinical benefit with gemcitabine as first-line therapy for patients with advanced pancreas cancer: a randomized trial. J Clin Oncol. (1997) 15:2403–13. doi: 10.1200/JCO.1997.15.6.2403
- Oettle H, Post S, Neuhaus P, Gellert K, Langrehr J, Ridwelski K, et al. Adjuvant chemotherapy with gemcitabine vs observation in patients undergoing curative-intent resection of pancreatic cancer: a randomized controlled trial. *JAMA*. (2007) 297:267–77. doi: 10.1001/jama.297.3.267
- Plate JM, Plate AE, Shott S, Bograd S, Harris JE. Effect of gemcitabine on immune cells in subjects with adenocarcinoma of the pancreas. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2005) 54:915–25. doi: 10.1007/s00262-004-0638-1
- 92. Soeda A, Morita-Hoshi Y, Makiyama H, Morizane C, Ueno H, Ikeda M, et al. Regular dose of gemcitabine induces an increase in CD14+ monocytes and CD11c+ dendritic cells in patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. *Jpn J Clin Oncol.* (2009) 39:797–806. doi: 10.1093/jjco/hyp112
- Nowak AK, Lake RA, Marzo AL, Scott B, Heath WR, Collins EJ, et al. Induction of tumor cell apoptosis *in vivo* increases tumor antigen cross-presentation, cross-priming rather than cross-tolerizing host tumor-specific CD8 T cells. *J Immunol.* (2003) 170:4905–13. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.170.10.4905
- 94. Miyazawa M, Katsuda M, Maguchi H, Katanuma A, Ishii H, Ozaka M, et al. Phase II clinical trial using novel peptide cocktail vaccine as a postoperative

adjuvant treatment for surgically resected pancreatic cancer patients. *Int J Cancer.* (2017) 140:973–82. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30510

- 95. Mayanagi S, Kitago M, Sakurai T, Matsuda T, Fujita T, Higuchi H, et al. Phase I pilot study of Wilms tumor gene 1 peptide-pulsed dendritic cell vaccination combined with gemcitabine in pancreatic cancer. *Cancer Sci.* (2015) 106:397–406. doi: 10.1111/cas.12621
- 96. Kimura Y, Tsukada J, Tomoda T, Takahashi H, Imai K, Shimamura K, et al. Clinical and immunologic evaluation of dendritic cell-based immunotherapy in combination with gemcitabine and/or S-1 in patients with advanced pancreatic carcinoma. *Pancreas.* (2012) 41:195–205. doi: 10.1097/MPA.0b013e31822398c6
- 97. Gros A, Robbins PF, Yao X, Li YF, Turcotte S, Tran E, et al. PD-1 identifies the patient-specific CD8+ tumor-reactive repertoire infiltrating human tumors. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:2246–59. doi: 10.1172/JCI 73639
- Fu J, Malm I-J, Kadayakkara DK, Levitsky H, Pardoll D, Kim YJ. Preclinical evidence that PD1 blockade cooperates with cancer vaccine TEGVAX to elicit regression of established tumors. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:4042–52. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-13-2685
- 99. Sierro SR, Donda A, Perret R, Guillaume P, Yagita H, Levy F, et al. Combination of lentivector immunization and low-dose chemotherapy or PD-1/PD-L1 blocking primes self-reactive T cells and induces anti-tumor immunity. *Eur J Immunol.* (2011) 41:2217–28. doi: 10.1002/eji.201041235
- 100. Soares KC, Rucki AA, Wu AA, Olino K, Xiao Q, Chai Y, et al. PD-1/PD-L1 blockade together with vaccine therapy facilitates effector Tcell infiltration into pancreatic tumors. *J Immunother*. (2015) 38:1–11. doi: 10.1097/CJI.00000000000062
- Morse MA, Lyerly HK. Checkpoint blockade in combination with cancer vaccines. Vaccine. (2015) 33:7377–85. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.10.057
- 102. Draube A, Klein-Gonzalez N, Mattheus S, Brillant C, Hellmich M, Engert A, et al. Dendritic cell based tumor vaccination in prostate and renal cell cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e18801. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0018801
- 103. Boudewijns S, Westdorp H, Koornstra RHT, Aarntzen EHJG, Schreibelt G, Creemers JHA, et al. Immune-related adverse events of dendritic cell vaccination correlate with immunologic and clinical outcome in stage III and IV melanoma patients. *J Immunother*. (2016) 39:241–8. doi: 10.1097/CJI.00000000000127
- 104. Nesselhut J, Marx D, Lange H, Regalo G, Cillien N, Chang RY, et al. Systemic treatment with anti-PD-1 antibody nivolumab in combination with vaccine therapy in advanced pancreatic cancer. *J Clin Oncol.* 2016 34:3092. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2016.34.15\_suppl.3092
- 105. Simon S, Labarriere N. PD-1 expression on tumor-specific T cells: friend or foe for immunotherapy? Oncoimmunology. (2017) 7:e1364828. doi: 10.1080/2162402X.2017.1364828
- 106. Rothwell PM, Fowkes FG, Belch JF, Ogawa H, Warlow CP, Meade TW. Effect of daily aspirin on long-term risk of death due to cancer: analysis of individual patient data from randomised trials. *Lancet.* (2011) 377:31–41. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(10)62110-1
- 107. Mills EJ, Wu P, Alberton M, Kanters S, Lanas A, Lester R. Low-dose aspirin and cancer mortality: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. *Am J Med.* (2012) 125:560–7. doi: 10.1016/j.amjmed.2012.01.017
- Kalinski P. Regulation of immune responses by prostaglandin E(2). J Immunol. (2012) 188:21–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1101029
- 109. Sinha P, Clements VK, Fulton AM, Ostrand-Rosenberg S. Prostaglandin E2 promotes tumor progression by inducing myeloid-derived suppressor cells. *Cancer Res.* (2007) 67:4507–13. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-4174
- 110. Baratelli F, Lin Y, Zhu L, Yang SC, Heuze-Vourc'h N, Zeng G, et al. Prostaglandin E2 induces FOXP3 gene expression and T regulatory cell function in human CD4+ T cells. J. Immunol. (2005) 175:1483–90. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.175.3.1483
- Walker C, Kristensen F, Bettens F, deWeck AL. Lymphokine regulation of activated (G1) lymphocytes. I. Prostaglandin E2-induced inhibition of interleukin 2 production. *J Immunol.* (1983) 130:1770–3.
- 112. Gubin MM, Zhang X, Schuster H, Caron E, Ward JP, Noguchi T, et al. Checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy targets tumour-specific mutant antigens. *Nature*. (2014) 515:577–81. doi: 10.1038/nature13988

- 113. Yadav M, Jhunjhunwala S, Phung QT, Lupardus P, Tanguay J, Bumbaca S, et al. Predicting immunogenic tumour mutations by combining mass spectrometry and exome sequencing. *Nature*. (2014) 515:572–6. doi: 10.1038/nature14001
- 114. Kalaora S, Barnea E, Merhavi-Shoham E, Qutob N, Teer JK, Shimony N, et al. Use of HLA peptidomics and whole exome sequencing to identify human immunogenic neo-antigens. *Oncotarget.* (2016) 7:5110–7. doi: 10.18632/oncotarget.6960
- 115. Chheda ZS, Kohanbash G, Okada K, Jahan N, Sidney J, Pecoraro M, et al. Novel and shared neoantigen derived from histone 3 variant H3.3K27M mutation for glioma T cell therapy. *J Exp Med.* (2018) 215:141–57. doi: 10.1084/jem.20171046
- 116. Khodadoust MS, Olsson N, Wagar LE, Haabeth OA, Chen B, Swaminathan K, et al. Antigen presentation profiling reveals recognition of lymphoma immunoglobulin neoantigens. *Nature*. (2017) 543:723–7. doi: 10.1038/nature21433
- 117. Laumont CM, Daouda T, Laverdure JP, Bonneil E, Caron-Lizotte O, Hardy MP, et al. Global proteogenomic analysis of human MHC class I-associated peptides derived from non-canonical reading frames. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:10238. doi: 10.1038/ncomms10238
- 118. Laumont CM, Vincent K, Hesnard L, Audemard E, Bonneil E, Laverdure JP, et al. Noncoding regions are the main source of targetable tumor-specific antigens. *Sci Transl Med.* (2018) 10:aau5516. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aau5516
- Andreatta M, Nielsen M. Gapped sequence alignment using artificial neural networks: application to the MHC class I system. *Bioinformatics.* (2015) 32:511–7. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/ btv639

- 120. Abelin JG, Keskin DB, Sarkizova S, Hartigan CR, Zhang W, Sidney J, et al. Mass spectrometry profiling of HLA-associated peptidomes in mono-allelic cells enables more accurate epitope prediction. *Immunity*. (2017) 46:315–26. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.02.007
- 121. Jurtz V, Paul S, Andreatta M, Marcatili P, Peters B, Nielsen M. NetMHCpan-4.0: improved peptide-MHC class I interaction predictions integrating eluted ligand and peptide binding affinity data. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:3360–8. doi: 10.1101/149518
- 122. Pearson H, Daouda T, Granados DP, Durette C, Bonneil E, Courcelles M, et al. MHC class I-associated peptides derive from selective regions of the human genome. J Clin Invest. (2016) 126:4690–701. doi: 10.1172/JCI88590
- 123. Calis JJ, Maybeno M, Greenbaum JA, Weiskopf D, De Silva AD, Sette A, et al. Properties of MHC class I presented peptides that enhance immunogenicity. *PLoS Comput Biol.* (2013) 9:e1003266. doi: 10.1371/journal.pcbi.1003266

**Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Bassani-Sternberg, Digklia, Huber, Wagner, Sempoux, Stevenson, Thierry, Michaux, Pak, Racle, Boudousquie, Balint, Coukos, Gfeller, Martin Lluesma, Harari, Demartines and Kandalaft. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





## A Non-interventional Clinical Trial Assessing Immune Responses After Radiofrequency Ablation of Liver Metastases From Colorectal Cancer

Markus W. Löffler<sup>1,2,3,4,5</sup>, Bianca Nussbaum<sup>1†</sup>, Günter Jäger<sup>6,7†</sup>, Philipp S. Jurmeister<sup>8</sup>, Jan Budczies<sup>8,9</sup>, Philippe L. Pereira<sup>10,11</sup>, Stephan Clasen<sup>10</sup>, Daniel J. Kowalewski<sup>1†</sup>, Lena Mühlenbruch<sup>1,3</sup>, Ingmar Königsrainer<sup>2†</sup>, Stefan Beckert<sup>2†</sup>, Ruth Ladurner<sup>2</sup>, Silvia Wagner<sup>2</sup>, Florian Bullinger<sup>1,12</sup>, Thorben H. Gross<sup>1,12,13</sup>, Christopher Schroeder<sup>6,7</sup>, Bence Sipos<sup>14</sup>, Alfred Königsrainer<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Stefan Stevanović<sup>1,3,4</sup>, Carsten Denkert<sup>8,15</sup>, Hans-Georg Rammensee<sup>1,3,4</sup>, Cécile Gouttefangeas<sup>1,3,4‡</sup> and Sebastian P. Haen<sup>1,3,12,16\*‡</sup>

#### OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Mustafa Diken, Oslo University Hospital, Norway

#### Reviewed by:

Alexandre Corthay, Department of Pathology, Oslo University Hospital, Norway Udo S. Gaipl, University Hospital Erlangen, Germany

> \*Correspondence: Sebastian P. Haen sebastian.haen@uke.de

#### <sup>†</sup>Present address:

Bianca Nussbaum. Roche Diagnostics GmbH, Penzberg, Germanv Günter Jäger, CeGaT GmbH, Tübingen, Germany Daniel J. Kowalewski, Immatics Biotechnologies GmbH, Tübingen, Germany Ingmar Königsrainer, Department of General-, Visceral- and Thoracic Surgery, Feldkirch Academic Hospital, Feldkirch, Austria Stefan Beckert. Department of General and Visceral Surgery, Schwarzwald-Baar Hospital, Villingen-Schwenningen, Germany

> <sup>‡</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cancer Immunity and Immunotherapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 18 March 2019 Accepted: 10 October 2019 Published: 19 November 2019

<sup>1</sup> Department of Immunology, Interfaculty Institute for Cell Biology, University of Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>2</sup> Department of General, Visceral and Transplant Surgery, University Hospital Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>3</sup> German Cancer Consortium (DKTK) and German Cancer Research Center (DKFZ) Partner Site Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>4</sup> Cluster of Excellence iFIT (EXC 2180) "Image-Guided and Functionally Instructed Tumor Therapies", University of Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>6</sup> Department of Clinical Pharmacology, University Hospital Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>6</sup> Institute of Medical Genetics and Applied Genomics, University Hospital Tübingen, Germany, <sup>7</sup> NGS Competence Center Tübingen (NCCT), University of Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>8</sup> Institute of Pathology, Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Berlin, Germany, <sup>9</sup> Institute of Pathology, University Hospital Tübingen, Germany, <sup>10</sup> Department of Diagnostic and Interventional Radiology, University Hospital Tübingen, Germany, <sup>11</sup> Department of Radiology, Minimally Invasive Therapies and Nuclear Medicine, SLK-Hospital Heilbronn GmbH, Heilbronn, Germany, <sup>12</sup> Department of Hematology, Oncology, Clinical Immunology and Rheumatology, University Hospital Tübingen, Germany, <sup>14</sup> Institute of Pathology and Neuropathology, University Hospital Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>14</sup> Institute of Pathology and Neuropathology, University Hospital Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>15</sup> Department Medical Oncology and Pneumology, University Hospital Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>14</sup> Institute of Pathology and Neuropathology, University Hospital Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany, <sup>16</sup> Department of Oncology, Hematology and Bone Marrow Transplantation With Division of Pneumology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany

**Background:** Radiofrequency ablation (RFA) is an established treatment option for malignancies located in the liver. RFA-induced irreversible coagulation necrosis leads to the release of danger signals and cellular content. Hence, RFA may constitute an endogenous *in situ* tumor vaccination, stimulating innate and adaptive immune responses, including tumor-antigen specific T cells. This may explain a phenomenon termed abscopal effect, namely tumor regression in untreated lesions evidenced after distant thermal ablation or irradiation. In this study, we therefore assessed systemic and local immune responses in individual patients treated with RFA.

**Methods:** For this prospective clinical trial, patients with liver metastasis from colorectal carcinoma (mCRC) receiving RFA and undergoing metachronous liver surgery for another lesion were recruited (n = 9) during a 5-year period. Tumor and non-malignant liver tissue samples from six patients were investigated by whole transcriptome sequencing and tandem-mass spectrometry, characterizing naturally presented HLA ligands. Tumor antigen-derived HLA-restricted peptides were selected by different predefined approaches. Further, candidate HLA ligands were manually curated. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells were stimulated *in vitro* with epitope candidate peptides, and functional T cell responses were assessed by intracellular cytokine staining.

Immunohistochemical markers were additionally investigated in surgically resected mCRC from patients treated with (n = 9) or without RFA (n = 7).

**Results:** In all six investigated patients, either induced immune responses and/or pre-existing T cell immunity against the selected targets were observed. Multi-cytokine responses were *inter alia* directed against known tumor antigens such as cyclin D1 but also against a (predicted) mutation contained in ERBB3. Immunohistochemistry did not show a relevant influx of immune cells into distant malignant lesions after RFA treatment (n = 9) as compared to the surgery only mCRC group (n = 7).

**Conclusions:** Using an individualized approach for target selection, RFA induced and/or boosted T cell responses specific for individual tumor antigens were more frequently detectable as compared to previously published observations with well-characterized tumor antigens. However, the witnessed modest RFA-induced immunological effects alone may not be sufficient for the rejection of established tumors. Therefore, these findings warrant further clinical investigation including the assessment of RFA combination therapies e.g., with immune stimulatory agents, cancer vaccination, and/or immune checkpoint inhibitors.

Keywords: colorectal cancer, radiofrequency ablation, liver metastasis, HLA ligandome, T cells, tumor-associated antigens, neoepitopes, abscopal effect

#### INTRODUCTION

Percutaneous radiofrequency ablation (RFA) has initially been established as a therapeutic modality enabling the physical destruction of malignant tissue by heat. During RFA, an alternating electric current is generated within the tissue leading to ion agitation and frictional heat, resulting in coagulative necrosis of cells due to local heating of tissues (>60°C) (1, 2). This minimally invasive technique is an additional therapeutic option or alternative to surgical treatment, mainly applied for patients for whom a complete surgical tumor resection cannot be achieved or who do not qualify for surgery due to other reasons.

Besides various other malignancies, RFA is frequently used to reach tumor control in colorectal cancers (CRC) metastasized to the liver (mCRC), where it has been established as a safe and effective procedure (3, 4). Since recurrence rates surpass 50% for patients undergoing potentially curative liver resection for mCRC (5), RFA may not only constitute a promising adjunct treatment approach, but also have beneficial effects beyond local tumor control. Nevertheless, the definite benefit of RFA treatment in mCRC of the liver remains to be established (6), and respective randomized controlled trials are still ongoing (7).

It has only been appreciated recently that RFA treatment may also have profound immunological implications and that there are effects occurring beyond mere local tumor destruction (8). Like radiotherapy and cryoablation, RFA may also induce socalled abscopal effects, where subsequent to the treatment of one malignant lesion, another untreated distant lesion responds to treatment. The phenomenon is still insufficiently understood (9) and even in mouse models no robust effects are observed (10). However, particularly in mouse models there is convincing evidence that the involvement of the immune system represents the most plausible mode of action, since RFA and comparable treatment approaches may constitute a form of in situ whole cell vaccination comparable to lysates from tumor cells. Such tumor cell lysates have been proposed to contribute a wide array of immunogens that may induce tumor rejection (11-13). Abscopal effects have been ascribed to the stimulation of tumor-specific T cells recognizing tumor antigen-derived HLArestricted peptides. Interestingly, these effects were shown to occur with disproportionally high frequency in malignancies considered as immunogenic such as malignant melanoma, renal cell carcinoma, and lymphomas (12) but they still remain rare and cannot be regularly reproduced (14-16). In this context, it can be assumed that single T cell targets such as mutated HLA ligands bear great potential for tumor rejection and may even hold the key for patient cure, in case they can be specifically

Abbreviations: APC, allophycocyanin; BSC, best supportive care; BV, brilliant violet; CD, cluster of differentiation; CID, collision-induced dissociation; CPM, counts per million mapped reads; CRC, colorectal cancer; DMSO, dimethylsulfoxide; ERBB3, human epidermal growth factor receptor 3; FCS, fetal calf serum; FFPE, formalin-fixed, paraffin embedded; FN1, fibronectin 1; FSC, forward scatter; H&E, hematoxylin and eosin; HLA, human leucocyte antigen; HSP, heat shock protein; ICI, immune checkpoint inhibition; ICS, intracellular cytokine staining; IFI6, interferon alpha-inducible protein 6; IFN, interferon; IL, interleukin; IRISS, Interventional Radiology, Immunology, Surgery Study; LC, liquid chromatography; LTQ, linear trap quadrupole; mAB, monoclonal antibody; mCRC, metastasized colorectal cancer (to the liver; unless stated otherwise); mRNA, messenger ribonucleic acid; MHC, major histocompatibility complex; MS, mass spectrometry; MS/MS, tandem mass spectrometry; MSI, microsatellite instable; NML, non-malignant liver; NMT, non-malignant tissue; PGCA, aggrecan core protein; PCR, polymerase chain reaction; PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cell; PE, phycoerythrin; PMA, phorbol myristate acetate; RFA, radiofrequency ablation; RNA, ribonucleic acid; TCR, T cell receptor; TNF, tumor necrosis factor; uHPLC, ultra-high-performance liquid chromatography; WTS, whole transcriptome sequencing.

exploited for therapy (17). Nonetheless, based on the current state-of-the-art in characterizing HLA-presented ligands by mass spectrometry (MS), mutated HLA ligands are probably very rare. This aspect is of particular relevance for malignancies with very few mutations (18). Only a small fraction of predicted mutated gene products was detectable by MS on tumors (19) or shown as immunogenic and may therefore mediate tumor rejection (20), a notion that may also help to explain the sporadic nature of abscopal effects.

In CRC for instance, highly mutated (e.g., microsatellite instable) cancers were shown to respond to immune checkpoint inhibition (ICI) immunotherapies, whereas sporadic CRC with low mutation rates did not (21). Further, it is becoming clearer, that not only mutated HLA ligands may drive the immune response against cancers, but also alterations beyond exomederived mutations may prove relevant for the rejection of malignant cells, such as (non-mutated) neoantigens, originating from tumor-specific alterations, protein modifications, RNA-editing and alterations in non-coding regions (22–25). Excluding some exceptions, most of these alterations are patient-individual. In addition, there have been recent reports that ICI in combination with radiotherapy can increase the occurrence of clinically significant abscopal effects (26).

In a previous study, we have shown that tumor antigenspecific antibodies and T cells can be induced in a fraction (<10%) of patients following RFA treatment (27). In this study, we aimed at studying patient-individual anti-tumor T cell responses occurring in the context of RFA in patients with metastasized colorectal cancer (mCRC), as well as assessing immune infiltrates that may arise in distant metastases following RFA treatment.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Ethics Approval and Informed Consent**

This trial using the acronym IRISS (Interventional Radiology, Immunology, Surgery Study) was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the local institutional review board of the University Hospital Tübingen (Reference No. 169/2005V and 638/2014BO2). All participants provided written informed consent before study inclusion.

#### **Study Design and Patients**

Sixteen patients were recruited for this study. Patient characteristics are provided in **Supplementary Table 1**. The first group (**Figure 1**) included all consenting patients with metastases from CRC in different liver segments, scheduled for treatment with RFA and subsequent liver surgery at Tübingen University Hospital, recruited in the course of a 5-year period (n = 9). This RFA + surgery group [all men; mean age 64 years (range, 45–79 years) at initial diagnosis] included six patients with sufficient sample materials for in-depth analyses (mCRC and non-malignant liver (NML) tissues, as well as PBMCs for immunological evaluation). Patients in this group were treated with one session of RFA for one of the tumor lesions, followed by subsequent surgical resection (on average 4 weeks

after RFA; range 1–8 weeks) of the non-RFA-pretreated, distant liver metastases.

A corresponding control group included patients (n = 7) with liver metastases of mCRC scheduled for surgery only (five males; mean age 58 years (range, 45–77 years) at initial diagnosis). Of note, no fresh frozen tumor/NML tissue or PBMCs was available for this group and only paraffin embedded tumor tissue was accessible for immunohistochemical evaluation.

All patients were treated with curative intent according to institutional standards and presented with a median number of two mCRC lesions (min. – max.: 1–7).

#### Sample Materials

For patients included in the RFA + surgery group and evaluated in immunological experiments (n = 6), blood samples were collected before RFA treatment, at surgery ( $\sim$ 1 month later), and at several follow-up visits thereafter, at intervals of 1–4 months (**Figure 1**). Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated by density gradient centrifugation and cryopreserved in freezing medium [fetal calf serum (FCS) with 10% dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO)] until subsequent analysis.

Additionally, during elective liver surgery for mCRC, scheduled after RFA treatment, resected tissue was obtained from both mCRC as well as NML tissue. Tissue samples without diagnostic relevance were divided and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen or else stored in RNA later (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) and kept at  $-80^{\circ}$ C for long-term cryopreservation until analysis.

For all patients from both groups (n = 16), mCRC tissue samples were paraffin embedded, and diagnosis was confirmed by expert pathologist review. Paraffin embedded tissue was used for immunohistochemical evaluation.

### **HLA Typing**

For the patients included in the RFA + surgery group (n = 6), high-resolution HLA typing from peripheral blood (LUMINEX and sequence-based typing according to implemented validated institutional clinical routines) was performed for HLA-A and HLA-B (**Table 1**).

# Isolation of HLA Ligands From Surgical Specimens

Immunoaffinity purification was used for parallel isolation of HLA class I and II molecules from tissue lysates, employing the pan HLA class I monoclonal antibody W6/32 (28) as well as the HLA-DR monoclonal antibody L243 (29) together with the pan HLA class II monoclonal antibody Tü39 (30) (all produced in-house at the Department of Immunology, University of Tübingen, Germany) as previously described (31). HLA class I and II-bound peptides were separately eluted using 0.2% trifluoroacetic acid.

#### Analysis of HLA Ligands by LC-MS/MS

Purified HLA-bound peptides from HLA class I and II immunoprecipitates were analyzed in up to six technical replicates of each sample, as previously described (32). Briefly,



purified peptides were separated by nanoflow ultra-highperformance liquid chromatography (uHPLC; UltiMate 3000 RSLCnano System, ThermoFisher) using a 50  $\mu$ m × 25 cm column (PepMap RSLC, ThermoFisher) and an acetonitrile gradient ranging from 2.4 to 32.0% over the course of 90 min. uHPLC eluting peptides were analyzed in an online coupled linear trap quadrupole (LTQ) Orbitrap XL mass spectrometer (ThermoFisher), equipped with a nanoelectron spray ion source employing a top 5 collision-induced dissociation (CID) fragmentation method.

#### **Database Search and Spectral Annotation**

The Mascot search engine (Mascot 2.2.04, Matrix Science, Boston, MA) was used to search the human proteome contained in the Swiss-Prot database (20,279 reviewed protein sequences, as of September 2013) without any enzymatic restriction (required Mascot ion score  $\geq$ 20; search engine rank: 1). As a dynamic modification oxidized methionine was allowed. The false discovery rate was estimated with the Percolator algorithm (33) and set to 5%. Peptide lengths for HLA class I-eluted peptides were limited from 8 to 12 amino acids (required charge state: 2–3) and for HLA class II-eluted peptides from 9 to 25

amino acids (required charge state: 2–5). Protein inference was disabled, allowing for multiple protein annotations of peptides. HLA class I annotation was performed using SYFPEITHI (34), and NetMHC (vers. 3.4) (35).

# Whole Transcriptome Sequencing (WTS) and Data Analysis

Whole transcriptome sequencing (WTS) was performed after isolation of mRNA from the patient's tissue samples (mCRC vs. NML) using 100 ng of total RNA and the TruSeq Stranded mRNA Kit (Illumina, San Diego, CA) with 14 cycles of PCR. Tissue sample from patient IRISS06 were processed using 40 ng of total RNA and the TruSeq RNA Access Kit (Illumina) with 15 cycles of amplification. All samples were sequenced on a HiSeq 2500 device (Illumina) as paired-end sequencing. Sequencing depth was 20–40 million cluster/ sample with 68 cycles per read.

#### Data Preprocessing

Adapters were trimmed using SeqPurge [v. 0.1 (36), https:// github.com/marc-sturm/ngs-bits]. Trimmed reads were mapped to hg19 using STAR (v. 2.4.2a). Duplicates were removed

TABLE 1 | Patient characteristics and results of HLA ligandomics performed by tandem mass spectrometry.

UPN	Diagnosis	HLA-A*		HLA-B*		Tissue	Sample weight	HLA class I			HLA class II	RIN
							[mg]	Peptides (n=)	Binders (n=)	Binders [%]	Peptides (n=)	
IRISS01	mCRC	24	66	27	44	Tumor	160	1,785	1,508	84.5	850	7.2
						NMT	710	1,917	1,507	78.6	1490	7.1
IRISS05	mCRC	01	02	08	18	Tumor	46	260	198	76.2	556	8.4
						NMT	290	922	820	88.9	803	7.1
IRISS06	mCRC	02	24	15	35	Tumor	54	711	666	93.7	n.d.	7.4
						NMT	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	3.3
IRISS08	mCRC	02	33	14	18	Tumor	24	231	175	75.8	220	8.6
						NMT	280	1101	923	83.8	631	7.5
IRISS09	mCRC	01	08	Tumor	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.	n.d.		
						NMT	130	560	341	60.9	445	8.3
IRISS12	mCRC	01	02	08	27	Tumor	920	1887	1714	90.8	1461	6.9
						NMT	840	1372	1244	90.7	1307	8.3

CRC, colorectal cancer; HLA, human leukocyte antigen; m, metastasized; n.d., not determined; NMT, non-malignant tissue; RIN, RNA integrity number; RNA, ribonucleic acid; UPN, uniform patient number. Binders were defined as HLA-eluted peptides predicted to bind to the respective HLA alleles of the patient above the thresholds given in Materials and Methods determined by suitable software.

by picard tools (MarkDuplicates v. 1.85, http://broadinstitute. github.io/picard/).

Expression Analysis: Read counts were calculated using the HTSeq count based method implemented in STAR and Ensembl gene annotations (GRCh37 v. 75). Read counts were normalized using CPM (counts per million mapped reads) and  $\log_2$  fold-changes (FC) were calculated to filter genes with high expression differences.

Variant Calling: Strelka (v. 1.0.11; in matched tumor/normal mode) was used for variant calling and called variants were annotated based on several different databases including among others dbSNP, ExAC, COSMIC, ClinVar and HGMD. SNPeff, Sift, MetaLR, and Polyphen were used to predict effects on gene function. For detection of gene fusions deFuse (v. 0.6.1) was used.

#### **Peptide Selection**

## Selection of HLA Class I-Restricted Tumor-Specific Peptide Candidates

For the six patients of the RFA + surgery group, the multi-step selection approach used included the reassessment of MS/MS detected HLA class I-eluted peptides (a representative example for this approach is provided in Figure 2 for patient IRISS12) regarding their HLA binding affinity by dedicated software [SYFPEITHI >50% max. score (34) and NetMHC v. 3.4 (IC50 <500 nM) (37)]-step 1 (see binders in Table 1 and counts in Supplementary Table 3), subtraction of HLA ligands eluted from non-malignant liver tissue (NML) from those of corresponding mCRC tissue-step 2, as well as the subtraction of all HLA ligands identified on all available non-malignant colon tissue (NMT) samples from the mCRC cohort (32)-step 3. Since the target pool remained extensive at this stage, the strategy was extended to filter out HLA-eluted peptides from non-malignant colon samples available from previous studies-step 4, and subsequently expanded to all HLA class I ligands included in an in-house database comprising 132 non-malignant human tissues from different organs, as already used previously in CRC (32)—step 5. To avoid the selection of peptides presented on HLA class II, any HLA class I-eluted peptides presumably representing shorter length variants of longer HLA class II ligands were discarded—step 6. Finally, to enhance the stringency of selection, HLA class I-eluted peptides were only retained when surpassing a relative SYFPEITHI score of >60% of the maximal allelic score—step 7. For patient IRISS06, step 2 was omitted, because autologous NML tissue was not available. In addition, for patient IRISS09, the HLA-peptide elution resulted unsuccessful for tumor tissue.

#### Selection of HLA Class II-Restricted Tumor-Specific Peptide Candidates

For HLA class II (Figure 3, Supplementary Table 4), peptides eluted from mCRC were initially compared to the peptides characterized by MS/MS on corresponding NML, discarding the overlap-step 1. Subsequently, all HLA class II-eluted peptides of NMT of the entire mCRC cohort were deducted-step 2, as well as all HLA class II-eluted peptides detected in non-malignant colon tissue from previous studies-step 3, then all HLA class II ligands included in an in-house HLA class II peptide database comprising 82 non-malignant human tissues from different organs (32) were eliminated-step 4. Finally, for stringency, all HLA class I peptides comprised in a comprehensive database of benign tissues (n = 132) and in the NML tissue from the mCRC cohort were subtracted-step 5. A representative HLA class II selection approach (for patient IRISS12) is provided in Figure 3. For patient IRISS06, step 1 was omitted because autologous NML tissue was not available. Again, for patient IRISS09, the HLA-peptide elution remained unsuccessful for mCRC.

#### Selection of (Predicted) Mutated HLA Ligands

For prediction of mutation-derived HLA ligands, only nonsynonymous somatic variants [single nucleotide variants (SNVs)



**FIGURE 2** | uHPLC tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS). Spectra were annotated using the MASCOT search engine. All peptides eluted were evaluated for their HLA binding affinity using SYFPEITHI and NetMHC version 4.0 (step 1, n = 1,714 and n=1,244 from malignant and non-malignant tissues, respectively). For further selection, only peptides were included with appropriate HLA class I binding motifs (step 2, n = 886). In the following step, the peptides were excluded that were also present on corresponding NML in all included RFA patients (step 3, n = 799), 35 non-malignant colon tissues (NMT; step 4, n = 485) or on any of 132 non-malignant tissues of different origins (step 5, n = 400), as previously reported in Löffler et al. (32). Peptides were further cross-matched with all HLA class II-restricted peptides eluted from NML samples from all included RFA patients (step 6, n = 399). As a final step, only peptides which exhibited a SYFPEITHI binding score >60% of the respective maximal allelic score were considered suitable candidate antigens for further manual curation (step 7, n = 293). Specific data for all analyzed samples are provided in **Supplementary Table 3**.

and Insertion/Deletions (InDels)] were selected, when being sequenced with >25 reads in mCRC and simultaneously remaining undetectable in corresponding NML. Additionally, all ambiguous gene transcripts mapping to more than one genetic locus were discarded. Gene fusions were chosen in case >10 splitreads were detectable in mCRC with a probability value >0.8%. Only known driver mutations and variants affecting genes with established relevance for malignant development were selected. For gene fusions the latter was required for at least one of the involved genes.

Non-synonymous somatic variants and gene fusions were translated into the corresponding protein containing the amino acid altered by mutation. The protein sequence flanking the altered amino acid sequence was then disaggregated and screened for HLA class I peptide sequences with a SYFPEITHI score >60% of the maximal allelic score. Mutation containing peptides predicted to bind to the respective patient's HLA class I alleles were extended at the N- and C-terminus to produce a 15 mer peptide, covering both the predicted binding HLA class I peptide sequence as well as peptide sequences showing HLA class II binding properties. Finally, two predicted potential mutated neoantigens were selected, a mutated sequence in the ERRB3 protein for IRISS06 (mERBB3) and a fusion-derived peptide between the two proteins Malic enzyme 2 and SMAD family member 4 (MAOM-SMADA4) for patient IRISS12.

None of the predicted mutation-derived HLA ligands could be confirmed in MS/MS data of HLA ligands eluted from respective mCRC tissue.

## Selection of Candidate Peptides for Immunological Analyses

Candidate tumor antigen-derived peptides were collated and manually curated for each patient, selecting a manageable set of short and/or long peptides for immunological testing. Criteria for non-mutated peptide selection included increased expression of the source antigen in the tumor as compared to autologous normal tissue [fold change (log<sub>2</sub>); FC], frequency of identification among RFA and CRC (32) cohorts (for HLA class II ligands, length variants were considered), tumor association (e.g., involvement of the source protein in cancerogenesis according to the literature, representation in tumor-associated pathways...). Representation in cancer-associated pathways (**Supplementary Table 2**) was established by literature research (www.pubmed.gov), as well as through the human protein atlas (www.proteinatlas.org).

The two mentioned predicted mutated peptides were prioritized. Altogether, a ranking list of peptides to be tested was established for each individual patient, and the final number of peptides tested was adjusted to the numbers of available PBMCs (between 6 and 9 peptides/patient, **Supplementary Table 2**).

#### Peptide and HLA-Peptide Monomer Synthesis

Peptides required for Т cell stimulation assays synthesized (Supplementary Table 2) were in house (Department of Immunology, University of Tübingen, Germany) by solid-phase synthesis with the 9-fluorenylmethyloxycarbonyl/tert-butyl (Fmoc/tBu) strategy (38) in an automated peptide synthesizer (EPS 221, Abimed; ABI 433A, Applied Biosystems). Lyophilized peptides were diluted at 1 mg/ml in distilled water with 10% DMSO and stored at  $-80^{\circ}$ C.

# *In vitro* Stimulation of T Cells and Functional Assays

PBMCs from six patients (RFA + surgery group) were thawed, washed and seeded at  $\sim$ 3–6 × 10<sup>6</sup> cells per well in a 48-well-plate in IMDM (Lonza, Verviers, Belgium) with 10% heat-inactivated human serum containing 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO) and 50  $\mu$ M  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol (Roth, Karlsruhe, Germany) (culture medium). After overnight resting, pooled synthetic peptides were added at 2.5 or 5  $\mu$ g/ml, for HLA class I and HLA class II peptide stimulations, respectively. Cell culture was performed for 12 days and medium supplemented with recombinant IL-2 (2 ng/ml, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) on days 3, 5, 7, and 9.

Peptide-specific T cells were quantified by intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) for both CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> cells. Directly after 12-day pre-sensitization, cultivated cells were washed and stimulated with the relevant individual peptides (10 µg/ml; in pools or individually) and pre-incubated for 1 h (37°C; 7.5% CO<sub>2</sub>) in the presence of the monoclonal antibody (mAb) CD107a-FITC (clone H4A3, BD Biosciences, Heidelberg, Germany). Phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) (5 ng/ml) plus ionomycin  $(1 \mu M)$  (both Sigma-Aldrich) served as positive control and 10% DMSO was used as negative control. Subsequently, secretion of intracellularly produced cytokines was prevented by adding GolgiSTOP (BD Biosciences) and Brefeldin A (10 µg/ml, Sigma-Aldrich). After a 12h stimulation period, cells were washed and stained as previously described (39) with mAbs CD3-BV711 (clone OKT3, Biolegend, San Diego, CA), CD8-PE-Cy7 (clone SFCI21Thy2D3, Beckman Coulter, Brea, CA), CD4-APC-Cy7 (clone RPA-T4, BD Biosciences), anti-IFNy-BV421



**FIGURE 3** *[in silico* selection strategy for candidate HLA class II-presented antigens (exemplified for patient IRISS12). HLA class II-restricted peptides were eluted from mCRC tissue (n = 1,461) and corresponding non-malignant liver (NML) tissue (n = 1,307) by HLA immunoprecipitation using suitable antibodies followed by tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS). HLA-eluted peptides were compared between corresponding mCRC and autologous NML tissue and only peptides exclusively found on mCRC were included (step 1, n = 764). Further, peptides which were presented on NML of any of the other RFA patients were excluded (step 2, remaining peptides n = 610). In the next step, cross-evaluation with a database of 20 non-malignant colon tissues (NMT) (32) could not restrict peptides further (step 3, n = 610). Peptides were additionally compared to peptides eluted from 82 non-malignant tissue samples of different origins (32) (step 4, n = 513). Before manual assessment, further peptides were excluded in **Supplementary Table 4**.

(clone 4S.B3, Biolegend), anti-TNF-BV605 (clone Mab11, Biolegend), anti-IL-2-PE and anti-CD154-APC (clone MQ1-17H12 and clone TRAP1, respectively, both BD Biosciences). LIVE/DEAD<sup>®</sup> Fixable Aqua Dead Cell Stain Kit (ThermoFisher)

was included in the stainings. Samples were acquired on a flow cytometer (LSR Fortessa, BD Biosciences) equipped with the DIVA software and analyzed with FlowJo software (TreeStar, Ashland, OR).

The following gating strategy was applied: time gate (histogram)/singlet cells (FSC-H/FSC-A), living cells (FSC-A/ Live/Dead<sup>®</sup> Fixable Aqua), lymphocytes (FSC-A/SSC-A), CD3<sup>+</sup> (FSC-A/CD3) CD4<sup>neg</sup> and CD8<sup>neg</sup> cells (CD4/CD8); T cell activation (cytokine production, CD107a and CD154 of CD8<sup>+</sup>/CD4<sup>+</sup> subsets was assessed within the CD4<sup>neg</sup> and CD8<sup>neg</sup> lymphocytes, respectively). Results are expressed as % of marker-positive cells within CD4<sup>+</sup> or CD8<sup>+</sup> subsets.

Immune responses were considered positive if (I.) the percentage of cytokine producing cells within the sample was 2-fold above the percentage of cytokine producing cells within the corresponding negative control (10% DMSO; no stimulation, as described above), (II.) the number of cytokine producing cells within the sample was  $\geq$ 20 cells after subtraction of the number of cytokine producing cells within the corresponding negative control (10% DMSO; no stimulation), and (III.) at least two of the five investigated parameters (IFN $\gamma$ , TNF, IL-2 cytokine production or CD107a, CD154 upregulation) were positive according to the criteria under (I.) and (II.). All dot-plots were audited.

#### Immunohistochemistry

Formalin-fixed, paraffin embedded (FFPE) tissue from all 16 patients of both groups was cut in 3-5 µm-thick sections and stained with haematoxylin and eosin (H&E). Immunohistochemistry was performed by an automated immunostainer (Roche Ventana Medical Systems, Tucson, AZ) according to the manufacturer's instructions for open procedures with slight modifications. Samples were stained with antibodies against CD4 (clone SP35, Zytomed Systems, Berlin, Germany), CD8 (clone C8/144B, DAKO, Glostrup, Denmark), CD14 (clone EPR3653, MEDAC Diagnostika, Wedel, Germany), CD19 (clone LE-CD19, Zytomed), CD45RO (clone UCH-L1, Abcam, Cambridge, UK), CD68 (clone KP1, DAKO), Granzyme B (clone 11F1, Novocastra, Wetzlar, Germany), HLA class I (polyclonal, Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Dallas, TX), HLA-DR, -DP, and -DQ (clone CR3-43, DAKO), HSP70 (clone W27, Santa Cruz Biotechnology), IL-10 (polyclonal, Abcam), and LAMP3 (polyclonal, Sigma-Aldrich). Appropriate positive and negative controls were employed to confirm the adequacy of the staining.

Stained slides were digitalized using a Hamamatsu NanoZoomer (C9600-12) using NDP.scan (v. 2.5.88) and NPD.view (v. 2.6.13) software (all from Hamamatsu Photonics, Hamamatsu City, Japan).

Slides were first counted using automated digital slide analysis. For each marker, five representative high-power fields (HPF) were captured using a 200-fold magnification. The number of positive cells was enumerated and the mean for every case was calculated. CD4, CD8, CD19, and CD68 stainings were evaluated using the CD4Quantifier software, which is part of the CognitionMaster Professional Suite (VMscope GmbH, Germany) (40). CD14, CD45RO, HLA-DR, HSP70, IL-10, HLA class I and LAMP3 were evaluated manually. For CD14 and CD45RO, the mean number of positive cells per five HPF was assessed by manual counting. Concerning HLA-DR, we calculated the percentage of positive tumor cells (41). For HSP70, IL-10, and MHC I, we used the immunoreactive score (IRS) (42). In brief, the IRS is calculated by multiplying the number of positive cells (0 = 0%, 1 = 1-10%, 2 = 11-50%, 3 = 51-80%, 4 = >80%) with the staining intensity (0 = no staining, 1 = weak staining, 2 = moderate staining, 3 = strong staining), resulting in a score ranging from 0 to 12.

Slides were also counted manually using the count tool of Adobe Photoshop (v. CC 2018, Adobe Systems, San José, CA). Areas for manual counting were defined as follows: invasive margins were defined as 500  $\mu$ m in both directions of the tumor border (inwards/outwards) (43). Counting areas were selected using the hot-spot method (good pathological practice) and were defined as areas with subjective/visually most positive stained cells [3 × 0.2 mm<sup>2</sup> (radius: 252  $\mu$ m) for each area] (43).

Both automated and manual counting was performed in a blinded fashion by expert pathologists and group assignment was only unblinded to the evaluating pathologists after completion of statistical evaluation.

#### **Evaluation of Microsatellite Instability (MSI)**

Genomic DNA was extracted from macrodissected paraffin sections using the Maxwell<sup>®</sup> RSC FFPE Plus DNA Purification Kit and the Maxwell<sup>®</sup> 16 Instrument (Promega, Madison, WI), according to the manufacturer's instructions. Microsatellite PCR in duplicates was performed using genomic DNA and AmpliTaq Gold DNA Polymerase (ThermoFisher) as wellfluorescent labeled primers (Sigma-Aldrich). For GeneScan analysis PCR products were mixed with sample loading solution (Beckman Coulter). The products were separated by capillary electrophoresis on the GenomeLab GeXP Genetic Analysis System and analyzed by the GenomeLab GeXP software 10.2 (Beckman Coulter).

#### **Statistical Analyses**

Mann Whitney *U*-Tests were performed using GraphPad Prism Version 6.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA). Kaplan Meyer, COX regression and log rank analyses were performed using SPSS Version 24 (IBM, Armonk, NY). Significance levels were set to p < 0.05 and respective values considered as statistically significant.

#### RESULTS

#### Study Design

We recruited two groups of patients with liver metastasis from colorectal carcinoma (mCRC). One group with mCRC was treated merely with surgical resection for their liver lesions (n = 7), and another group received RFA first and subsequently a surgical resection (n = 9) for the remaining metastases not treated by RFA (**Figure 1**, **Supplementary Table 1**). We obtained blood samples from RFA-treated patients before intervention (i.e., RFA treatment followed by surgery) as well as in the course of clinical follow-up (n = 6) to obtain peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) for immunomonitoring. Further, we obtained tissue samples, encompassing mCRC as well as NML, enabling mRNA analysis by whole transcriptome sequencing (WTS) and the immunoprecipitation and characterization of naturally presented HLA ligands using tandem mass

spectrometry (MS/MS). The mean sample weight was 340 mg (range 24–920 mg), yielding on average 835 peptides identified by MS/MS for mCRC and 1,174 peptides for NML (**Table 1**). On average >75% of HLA class I-eluted peptides from the included samples showed HLA binding properties as corroborated with dedicated software; RNA integrity (RIN) was >6.5 in all cases, except for NML of IRISS06 (RIN = 3.3), which was processed with a high fidelity kit for this reason, to enable the generation of suitable data. Samples with insufficient yields were excluded from downstream analyses.

#### Selection of Individual Candidate Antigens

A key challenge for our study was the choice of relevant candidate antigens for testing of T cell recognition. In principle, RFA resembles a whole cell *in situ* vaccination approach, whereby both the priming of novel target-specific T cells as well as boosting of pre-existing T cell responses may occur. Therefore, an extensive spectrum of potential targets prevails that may comprise tumorspecific targets, such as mutated HLA ligands, but also tumorassociated antigens (TAA), a class of tumor antigens that was already previously tested in this setting (27, 44).

In this study, we aimed at a patient-individual selection strategy for candidate HLA class I and II ligands, including MS/MS detected natural HLA ligands exclusive to each patient's own malignant tumor tissue by incorporating information from HLA ligandome as well as from WTS. The approach was complemented by complementary information available from our in house HLA ligand database, which contains an array of natural HLA ligands presented on various different tumor entities (including CRCs) and benign tissues (n = 132 and n = 82 for HLA class I and HLA class II ligands, respectively, including NML and NMT).

Hence, we used a comprehensive HLA ligand-based multistep selection strategy (strategies are described in the Materials and Methods section and visualized exemplarily in **Figures 2**, **3**), which was followed for each patient when feasible, aiming at the identification of natural HLA ligands presented by the individual patient's mCRC, ideally derived from tumor-specific proteins, and including both non-mutated as well as selecting mutated peptides, when available. Of note, upon testing all mCRC included in the study were tested as non-MSI high tumors.

An example of the target selection procedure (patient IRISS12) is presented for HLA class I binding candidate peptides in **Figure 2**, resulting in a decrease of the initial target peptide pool by 84%. The selection procedure for HLA class II binding candidate peptides for the same patient is provided in **Figure 3**. Respective data for the other included mCRCs disaggregated according to the described steps is presented for HLA class I and class II in **Supplementary Tables 3**, **4**, respectively. The remaining candidate peptides (ranging between 3 and 293 HLA-eluted peptides) encompassed between 1 and 16% of the initially available peptide pool.

High confidence somatic variants identified by WTS were used to predict mutated HLA ligands, selecting only peptides with the required patient-specific HLA class I binding properties. Peptide sequences were elongated to 15 mers, aiming to increase TABLE 2 | Overview of T cell reactivity measured by ICS.

Patient (UPN)	Pre-RFA (d0)	Post-RFA	Effector cells
IRISS01	CCND1 <sup>198-212</sup>	CCND1 <sup>198–212</sup> (1 M, 4 M) [not enhanced]	CD4+
IRISS05	Pool: AREG <sup>93-106</sup> , FN1 <sup>1789-1804</sup> , CCND1 <sup>198-212</sup>	Pool: AREG <sup>93-106</sup> , FN1 <sup>1789-1804</sup> , CCND1 <sup>198-212</sup> (1 M) [not enhanced]	CD4 <sup>+</sup>
IRISS06		mERBB3 <sup>96–110</sup> (4 M, 7 M)	CD4 <sup>+</sup>
IRISS08	IFI6 <sup>106-114</sup>	<b>[induced]</b> IFI6 <sup>106–114</sup> (6 M) [not enhanced]	CD8+
	CCND1 <sup>198-212</sup>	CCND1 <sup>198–212</sup> (1 M, 4 M, 6 M) <b>[enhanced]</b>	CD4 <sup>+</sup>
IRISS09	GPA33 <sup>52-67</sup>	GPA33 <sup>52–67</sup> (12.5 M) [not enhanced]	CD4 <sup>+</sup>
IRISS12		FN1 <sup>1797-1811</sup> (1.5 M) <b>[induced]</b>	CD4 <sup>+</sup>

AREG, amphiregulin; CCND1, cyclin D1; d0, before RFA; FN1, fibronectin 1; GPA33, Glycoprotein A33; IFI6, interferon alpha inducible protein 6; ICS, intracellular cytokine staining; M, month post-RFA; mERBB, (mutated) human epidermal growth factor receptor 3; RFA, radiofrequency ablation; UPN, uniform patient number.

chances for the verification of CD8<sup>+</sup> and/ or CD4<sup>+</sup> mediated T cell responses.

Peptides identified through these different procedures were merged and manually curated individually for each patient, selecting a manageable set of short and/or long peptides for immunological testing (6–9 peptides per patient, **Supplementary Table 2**). Peptides predicted from gene fusions or mutations were preferentially selected, when available (n = 2).

#### **RFA Induces Tumor-Specific T Cell** Reactivity

We were able to detect immune responses against various individually selected candidate peptides involving all patients of our small test cohort (n = 6); most of these T cell reactivities were directed at long candidate epitopes (presumably HLA class II-restricted). Preexisting antigen-specific T cell responses were confirmed in 4/6 patients, and one of them was assessed as enhanced after RFA treatment (patient IRISS08, CCND1<sup>198–212</sup>). Additionally, *de novo* priming of tumor-specific T cells was observed in two patients, including one immune response against a mutated peptide. These findings can be most probably ascribed to RFA, since the T cell responses could not be measured before treatment in the respective patients (**Table 2**).

In one patient (IRISS06), a CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell response was induced after RFA, which was directed against one predicted

mutated peptide derived from the human epidermal growth factor receptor 3 (mERBB3) containing an amino acid exchange from valine to leucine at position 104 (TLPLPNLRLVRGTQV). The induced T cell reactivity to mERBB3 was polyfunctional (**Figure 4A**; encompassing CD154, interferon  $\gamma$  (IFN $\gamma$ ), tumor necrosis factor (TNF) and interleukin (IL)-2, but not CD107a) with robust responses (~1.4% of the CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell subset) at 7 months post-RFA treatment (**Figure 4B**). Importantly, further experiments demonstrated that the corresponding wildtype peptide (wtERBB3: TLPLPNLRVVRGTQV) induced strongly attenuated cytokine responses in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, as compared to the mERBB3 peptide (**Figure 4C**). The other tested peptides (**Figure 4A**) derived from amphiregulin (AREG) as well as epithelial cell adhesion molecule (EpCAM) did not elicit any detectable T cell responses.

Another patient (IRISS08) showed an enhancement of a pre-existing immune response directed against the long cyclin D1-derived peptide (CCND1) NPPSMVAAGSVVAAV (Supplementary Table 2). This CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell response was evidenced before as well as 1, 4, and 6 months after RFA with increased functionality after RFA (encompassing positivity for CD154 and cytokines IFNy, TNF, and IL-2), which peaked at 4 and 6 months but was no longer measurable subsequently (at 17 months post-RFA) (Figures 5A,B). In the same patient, CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell reactivity against an interferon alpha-inducible protein 6-derived peptide (IFI6: VVIGNIGAL; HLA-A\*02) was detected before and also after RFA treatment, stimulating IFNy, TNF and CD107a in ICS, however this response was not boosted (Supplementary Figure 1) and the aggrecan core protein (PGCA)-derived peptide DEFPGVRTY tested simultaneously showed no reactivity.

In addition to these findings, several pre-existing immune responses could be detected, among them CD4<sup>+</sup> cells responding to the long CCND1-derived peptide previously mentioned, which were not found enhanced after RFA treatment at this time (patient IRISS01) but remained detectable after 1 and 4 months following RFA, encompassing positivity for CD154 as well as positive staining for IFNy, TNF, IL-2 in ICS (Supplementary Figure 2A). One further patient (IRISS05) was shown to respond to a three peptide pool of long peptides containing the same CCND1-derived peptide NPPSMVAAGSVVAAV as well as a long FN1- (VSVYALKDTLTSRPA) and an AREGderived peptide (IPGYIVDDSVRVEQ) before as well as 1 month subsequent to RFA with CD4<sup>+</sup> cells positive for CD107a, CD154 as well as cytokines IFNy, TNF, and IL-2 (Supplementary Figure 2B). In this case, due to limited sample material, it was impossible to distinguish, which of the peptides was ultimately responsible for the  $CD4^+$  T cell response. Patient IRISS09 showed a preexisting CD4<sup>+</sup> T cell response detectable prior to RFA, triggered by the cell surface A33 antigen (GPA33) peptide REGLIQWDKLLLTHTE, which persisted for over 12 months post-RFA (Supplementary Figure 2C). Regrettably, from this patient individual data (transcriptome and HLA ligandome) were lacking, which is why peptides identified in other patients of the study cohort matching to the HLA alleles of interest were selected for evaluation in this case.

Further, we detected an immune response against a long fibronectin peptide (FN1<sup>1797–1811</sup>; patient IRISS12), which proved negative before RFA but showed induction of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells staining positive for IFN $\gamma$ , TNF, IL-2 in ICS as well as for CD154, 6 weeks after treatment (**Supplementary Figures 2D,E**). Whereas, analyses of a predicted peptide derived from a MAOM-SMADA4 fusion (**Supplementary Table 2**) remained negative.

#### Immune Cell Infiltration in Distant Metastases Is Not Increased After RFA

To determine whether RFA impacts immune cell infiltration into distant, non-ablated, tumor lesions, we assessed our expanded mCRC patent cohort, consisting of patients that received RFA first and a liver resection for additional malignant lesions subsequently (n = 9 patients; mCRC lesions were surgically removed  $\sim$ 4 weeks following RFA), as well as a control group of mCRC patients that merely received surgery for their liver metastases (n = 7). FFPE tissue was stained by immunohistochemistry for different markers (comprising CD4, CD8, CD14, CD19, CD45RO, CD68, granzyme B, HLA class I, HLA-DR, HLA-DP and HLA-DQ, HSP70, IL-10, and LAMP3). Results were compared between both groups. Overall, no drastic change in the immune cell infiltrate into distant tumor lesions was observed in RFA-pretreated patients, as exemplified by stainings with CD45RO (activated lymphocytes) and granzyme B (cytotoxic lymphocyte effectors) (Figures 6A,B). CD8<sup>+</sup> cells (potentially cytotoxic T lymphocytes) in the tumor center were generally scarce (<100 cells/HPF) and did not show significant differences between both patient groups neither at the invasive margin nor the tumor center (Figures 6C,D). However, numbers of CD8<sup>+</sup> cells appeared to be slightly decreased at the invasive margin (Figure 6C). In addition, for patients pre-treated with RFA, we observed significantly decreased numbers of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells (including cell subsets such as effector T<sub>H</sub>, T<sub>regs</sub>, and possibly also macrophages) both within the tumors and at the invasive margin, when compared to the resection only group (Supplementary Figures 3A,B). Further, HSP70 expression [indicating an inflammatory environment (45)] showed significantly decreased staining in the patients treated with RFA, in contrast to those that only received surgery (Supplementary Figures 3C,D). All other assessed markers, including the expression of HLA molecules, were not found to be significantly different.

Altogether, these findings suggest that no significant influx of immune effector cells was observed 4 weeks after RFA in non-ablated tumor lesions. It should be noted however, that we assessed only lesions that were not treated directly by RFA but distant and resected at later time points ( $\sim$ 4 weeks) following RFA treatment.

#### **Clinical Course of Study Patients**

For clinical follow-up (data from individual patients are provided in **Supplementary Table 1**), the date of surgery was defined as day 0 (d0) for both the RFA + surgery and the surgery only (control) groups for reasons of comparability. Patients were followed in median for 43 months (range, 3–124 months). The clinical course of each patient is depicted in **Figure 7A**. After RFA and surgery, all patients reached complete disease remission



**FIGURE 4** | with AREG, mutated ERBB3 (mERBB3) and EpCAM peptides. Patient individual PBMCs obtained before RFA (black bars), as well as 4 months (gray bars) and 7 months (hatched bars) after RFA were assessed. Activation of mERRB3-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is reflected by expression of CD154, as well as production of IFN<sub>Y</sub>, TNF, and IL-2. (**B**) Examples of ICS dot plots (7 month sample) after stimulation with the mERBB3 peptide (TLPLPNLR**L**VRGTQV) after 12 day-prestimulation. Activation of antigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is reflected by positivity for CD154, as well as cytokine production, including IFN<sub>Y</sub>, TNF, and IL-2. (**C**) Based on the data presented in (**B**), a new experiment was performed where PBMCs were tested for reactivity against the mutated and wildtype ERBB3 peptides (TLPLPNLR**L**VRGTQV) and TLPLPNLRVVRGTQV, respectively). Activation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells was detected by secretion of IFN<sub>Y</sub>, TNF, and IL-2, as well as expression of CD154.

(CR) as confirmed by abdominal computed tomography (CT) or magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) scans without signs of active disease.

Median progression free survival (PFS) was 9.6 and 11.3 months for RFA + surgery and surgery only groups, respectively (p = 0.814, Figure 7B, left panel). Cumulative incidence of tumor recurrence was 75 and 60% at 12 months for patients undergoing RFA + surgery or surgery only, respectively (p = 0.969, hazard ratio 0.978). Sites of recurrence comprised the liver (n = 8), the liver and the lung (n = 2), as well as the lung, the brain or the abdominal wall and retroperitoneal lymph nodes (n = 1 each). Altogether, during follow-up 62% of patients showed tumor recurrence within the liver, whereas in only one of the nine patients treated with RFA (~10%) recurrence was confirmed at the ablation site (for details see **Supplementary Table 1**).

Upon disease recurrence, patients received standard palliative therapies including repeated local treatment, chemotherapy and best supportive care (BSC), according to local institutional standards. The median overall survival (OS) was comparable for both groups (with 43.1 and 41.9 months in the RFA + surgery vs. surgery only group; p = 0.886, Figure 7B, right panel). At the end of follow-up, in the RFA + surgery group three of nine patients remained alive, two with active disease and one in CR. In the surgery only group, two of seven patients remained alive, one with active disease and one in CR. Cause of death was disease recurrence in all cases (n = 11).

#### DISCUSSION

We and others have previously observed that RFA leads to the induction and release of heat shock proteins (45-47) and is able to induce antigen-specific T cell responses against known tumorantigens, such as MAGE-A-derived peptides in humans (8, 27). However, so far, these immune responses were only verified at very low frequencies in patients (<5%). Although the patient collective assessed for this study was very limited (n = 6), we found T cell responses that were either induced or boosted after RFA (after 1.5-4 months) in 50% of them. Hence, T cell responses were more frequently detected as compared to our previous study (27), which is likely due to the patient-individual strategy of selecting peptides to be assessed as T cell targets. Here we show systemic changes in the immune cell repertoire, encompassing both CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, responding to long as well as short peptides, fulfilling the characteristics required for HLA presentation.

Using a fully individualized selection strategy, based on patient-specific mCRC HLA ligand profiles as well as

whole transcriptome sequencing (WTS), complemented with comprehensive knowledge regarding the HLA ligand repertoire in the context of CRC from previous work (32) and from additional benign and malignant tissues, the broad range of candidate peptides could be substantially minimized for each patient. A multistep selection approach was employed to reduce the amount of candidate peptides to numbers manageable for manual curation. We combined different lines of evidence, including both candidate HLA class I and HLA class II-presented peptides as well as complementary predicted mutated HLA ligands. We thereof selected an individual set of target peptides for each RFA patient for immunological testing. We are aware of the limitations of such an approach that introduces potential -in our view limited- bias, precluding full reproducibility, but it was essential to cope with the challenge of an extensive target pool. Of note, this approach proved effective for the successful identification of targets and for enriching an existing T cell repertoire, validated by the numerous antigen-specific T cell responses evidenced. The obtained results indeed suggest that immunomodulation is a rather frequent feature in the context of RFA, whereas without any obvious clinical effects. These findings are generally in line with reports from previous research in humans, where clinical manifestations of induced immune responses triggered by interventional techniques remain anecdotal (48). This notion is also supported by results from animal testing, where such immune responses are observed but do not appear to be robust or consistent (10). In mouse RFA models for instance, it has been shown that although in situ tumor ablation does create a suitable antigen source for generating anti-tumor immunity, the induced T cell responses are usually weak and offer protection from malignancy only in a small subset of animals (11). Of note, in those experiments, performed more than a decade ago, it could already be shown that ICI may potentially augment the occurrence of RFA-induced immune responses.

In our study, mainly non-mutated tumor-antigens were evaluated. The antigenic repertoire of tumor cells comprises a vast array of potential targets, which is partly invisible to confirmatory tools like tandem mass spectrometry (MS/MS), due to specific technical limitations. *In silico*, an excessive quantity of potential HLA-restricted targets can be predicted based on NGS data. Numbers of confirmed HLA ligands are substantially lower than expectable by these predictions, which is likely the reason why MS/MS-confirmed mutated neoantigens remain rather anecdotal at present (18, 19, 49, 50), and suggests that the sole prediction of HLA class I ligands yields an array of false positives (51). Nevertheless, it can be stated that responses to ICI based on tumor mutational burden (TMB) or predicted load of mutated neoantigens may indicate which cancers are more likely



**FIGURE 5** | Analysis of antigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells in patient IRISS08. Reactivity of antigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells against selected individual tumor-associated peptides was evaluated by flow cytometry. **(A)** Summary of intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) experiments after 12 day prestimulation followed by restimulation with AREG, CCND1, and EpCAM peptides over time. Patient individual PBMCs obtained before RFA (black bars), as well as 1 month (gray bars), 4 months (hatched bars), 7 months (light gray bars), and 17 months (dotted bars) after RFA were evaluated. Activation of antigen-specific T cells is reflected by expression of CD154, as well as by cytokine production (IFNγ, TNF, and IL-2). **(B)** Examples of ICS dot plots (6 month sample) after stimulation with the HLA class II-restricted CCND1 peptide (NPPSMVAAGSVVAAV) after 12 days prestimulation. Activation of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is reflected by expression of CD154, as well as cytokine production (IFNγ, TNF, and IL-2).



(Continued)

**FIGURE 6** | granzyme B (**B**) positive cells, while infiltration of CD8<sup>+</sup> cells (**C**,**D**) was diminished in the invasive margin (**C**) but not in the tumor center (**D**) in patients who underwent RFA before surgery as compared to patients who solely underwent surgery. Staining of cells was automatically calculated (left) in digitalized slides. Numbers represent absolute cell counts with specific staining per high power field (HPF) by automated counting. Exemplary immunohistochemistry stainings are provided in the middle (patients after surgical resection) and right (patients after both RFA and surgical resection) columns (20-fold magnification). Differences were assessed using the Mann Whitney *U*-Test with p < 0.05 considered as significant.

to present respective mutated neoantigens on HLA. The reasons for this are indeed multifactorial. We have recently shown that fundamental differences exist between high and low mutated tumors, suggesting this may be of relevance for the probability of presentation of mutated HLA ligands (18). Further, cancerrelated pathways may influence the HLA-presented ligandome (32). These alterations may give rise to tumor-specific HLA ligands with wildtype sequence. When sufficiently vetted these targets may prove as a valid alternative to mutations (44, 52) and might further warrant both *in vitro* and *in vivo* investigations as performed in our study.

Descriptions of abscopal effects in mCRC with liver metastasis however are particularly rare even after radiotherapy (53), since the liver is considered inherently tolerogenic and does not favor the induction of immune responses (54).

Furthermore, clinically relevant RFA-induced immunity apparent by distinct clinically recognizable effects in humans is hardly known and most insights in this regard have been derived from animal research. It may be indeed relevant how RFA is precisely performed for the generation of immune responses, since immunological effects may result more effective in malignant tissue that is only treated with subtotal RFA, which has been shown to enable induction of tumor-specific CD8<sup>+</sup> and CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells as well as tumor regression in mice (55).

Further, putative influencing factors are inter alia the properties of the ablated tumor tissue and numbers and quality of immunogenic epitopes (56). It is easily conceivable that these properties might influence tumor recognition by the immune system, something that has been impressively shown for CRC treated with ICI, where highly mutated cancers responded, whereas sporadic CRCs with low mutation rates did not (21). Here, we observed immune responses to various antigens, among these established tumor-antigens such as cyclin D1 used already in different vaccination approaches (57, 58), but also in one case the recognition of a predicted mutation-derived peptide. The mutation, which was recognized by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, was directed against ERBB3 and could be shown to induce multi-cytokine responses (strongly attenuated for the respective wildtype peptide). Further, this immune response was induced only after RFA and shown as generally increased 7 months after treatment. Of note, a mutation in ERBB2 interacting protein, also recognized by CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, exhibiting a T<sub>H</sub>1 profile, has been shown effective for mediating tumor regression in a patient with metastatic cholangiocarcinoma treated by adoptive cell transfer (17).

However, in our study immune infiltrates in non-ablated mCRC liver lesions resected after RFA proved generally scarce by immunohistochemistry. Comparing these non-ablated malignant liver lesions removed after RFA to lesions from mCRC

patients with surgery only, significantly lower CD4<sup>+</sup> cell counts in the tumor center as well as decreased numbers of CD8<sup>+</sup> and  $CD4^+$  cells at the tumor border were observed for the RFA + surgery group. These findings support the notion that clinically relevant abscopal effects are rare and not clinically robust. It should be noted though, we do only provide a very limited patient cohort and the analyses only give an impression of the effects observed about 4 weeks after RFA in liver lesions. Further, for instance potential dynamics over time remain unknown. Also, in RFA-treated hepatocellular carcinoma, significantly increased responsiveness to tumor antigens and elevated frequencies of circulating tumor antigen-specific T cells were reported, whereas these effects showed insufficient for tumor control (59). Hence, we may conclude that although immunomodulatory effects in the context of RFA seem to constitute rather the norm than an exception, they may still prove largely ineffective for the induction of robust clinical effects.

Concerning the clinical course of our patients, the combined RFA and surgical treatment, proved comparable to the surgery only group assessed in parallel both with regard to progression free survival (PFS) and overall survival (OS). Some patients in both groups even showed long-term survival. That in mCRC metastasized to the liver, both RFA and surgery and surgical treatment alone may yield similar OS results has recently been concluded from a meta-analysis (60). It is important to realize that patients with several CRC liver metastases are usually considered to be in a palliative stage but may still benefit from a combination of RFA and surgery, as also our survival data suggest. Against this background, larger clinical trials to evaluate the combination of both treatment modalities seem warranted.

In summary, our data show that thermal ablation of metastases induced or boosted tumor-antigen specific T cell responses in half of the mCRC patients evaluated by us. These T cell reactivities can be detected on an individual level, supporting the hypothesis that tumor-directed immunity might include mutated neoantigens and tumor-associated antigens with wildtype sequence that are "selected by nature itself" and that most successful immunotherapies remain limited to strategies strictly confined to individualized approaches (61-64). Since ICI unleash T cell-mediated immune responses non-specifically but rely on natural T cell responses that are individual for each patient (65-67), approaches such as RFA for modulating T cell immunity are anticipated to prove beneficial in this context. There is no doubt to us that T cell responses triggered by thermal ablation generate very limited clinical activity [reviewed in (8)], which is also supported by the data presented in this study. However, our data suggest that RFA-induced immune responses are very frequent and might be boosted by adequate combination



**FIGURE 7** | initial CRC diagnosis and last follow-up. Light gray parts of the arrows indicate variable time spans not fitted to scale. Numbers shown indicate durations of follow-up after surgical resection. In line, respective time spans are normalized to the date of surgery (for comparability with the control group; here defined as day 0). Time points on the x-axis are relative to the time of surgery. Black triangles indicate disease recurrence before (left of y-axis) and after (right of y-axis) study inclusion. Patients with recurrence before RFA and/or surgery represent individuals with metachronous metastasis, while patients without recurrence before RFA and/or surgery had synchronous metastases. Red circles indicate time points of RFA. Crosses indicate passing of patients. (**B**) Progression free (left; PFS) and overall survival (OS) of the complete patient cohort was estimated using Kaplan Meier Regression analysis (n = 16). Survival data are presented for patients undergoing RFA followed by surgical resection (green dashed lines, n = 9) and for patients with surgical resection only (blue lines, n = 7). Differences were assessed by log rank with p < 0.05 considered as significant.

treatments. This needs to be investigated in future trials, combining thermal ablation with established (e.g. immune checkpoint inhibitors) and/or novel adjuvants in order to induce more potent –and presumably clinically relevant-immune responses.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The manuscript datasets, generated, and analyzed during this study have been deposited to the ProteomeXchange Consortium (http://proteomecentral.proteomexchange.org) via the PRoteomics IDEntifications (PRIDE) database partner repository (68) with the dataset identifier PXD015947.

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

This study was conducted in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the local institutional review board of the University Hospital Tübingen (Reference No. 169/2005V and 638/2014BO2). All participants provided written informed consent before study inclusion.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

ML performed in vitro experiments, analyzed and interpreted data, wrote the article, supervised the study, and obtained funding. BN performed in vitro experiments, analyzed and interpreted data, and wrote the article. DK and LM performed mass spectrometry analyses, analyzed, and interpreted data. GJ and CS performed transcriptome sequencing, analyzed, and interpreted data. PJ, JB, FB, BS, and CD performed analyses of immunohistochemical slides analyzed and interpreted the data. SC, IK, SB, and RL performed patient treatment, managed the clinical part of the study, analyzed, and interpreted the data. SW provided sample material, managed the clinical part of the study, analyzed, and interpreted the data. PP and AK designed the study, performed patient treatment, analyzed, and interpreted the data. TG analyzed and interpreted the data. SS analyzed and interpreted the data and supervised the study. H-GR and CG designed the study, wrote the study protocol, performed in vitro experiments, analyzed and interpreted the data, wrote the article, supervised the study, and overall responsibility. SH designed the study, wrote the study protocol, performed in vitro experiments, analyzed and interpreted the data, wrote the article, supervised the study, obtained funding, and overall responsibility. All authors revised the article and approved the final version.

### FUNDING

This project was supported by the European Research Council (ERC AdG 339842 MUTAEDITING) to H-GR, the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG, SFB 685) to CG (project Z05), AK and IK (project C12) and H-GR, and the Program Angewandte Klinische Forschung (AKF) of the Medical Faculty of the Eberhard Karls Universität Tübingen (Project No. 325-0-0) granted to SH and ML.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank Claudia Falkenburger, Patricia Hrstic, Nicole Bauer, Elisa Rusch, and Beate Pömmerl for production of peptides and monoclonal antibodies, as well as excellent technical support. We also thank Dorothee Wernet and Barbara Schmidt-Horch from the Department of Transfusion Medicine Tübingen for HLA typing and providing sample materials from healthy donors, as well as the nurses and staff of the Department of Diagnostic and Interventional Radiology such as the staff of the study center of the Department of General, Visceral and Transplant Surgery for provision of samples and support in patient care as well as all the participating patients. Further, we would like to express our gratitude to Falko Fend, Irina Bonzheim, and Dennis Thiele (Institute of Pathology and Neuropathology, University of Tübingen) for the provision of sample material and for immunohistochemical stainings. The authors also would like to thank Barbara Schörg and Jonathan Disselhorst (Department of Preclinical Imaging and Radiopharmacy and Werner Siemens Imaging Center, University Hospital Tübingen) for support in digitalizing immunohistochemical slides and Sven Poths (Institute of Medical Genetics and Applied Genomics, University of Tübingen) for outstanding technical support with regard to RNA-Seq.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.02526/full#supplementary-material

 $\label{eq:superior} \begin{array}{l} \mbox{Supplementary Figure 1} \mbox{ | Analysis of antigen-specific CD8^+ T cells in patient IRISS08. Reactivity of antigen-specific CD8^+ T cells against selected individual \\ \end{array}$ 

tumor-associated peptides was evaluated by ICS over time before RFA **(A)** and after 6 months **(B)**. T cells were prestimulated for 12 days and restimulated with peptides derived from interferon alpha-inducible protein 6 (IFI6) and aggrecan core protein (PGCA). As positive control, PMA and ionomycin were used. As negative control, 10% DMSO was employed. Positivity criteria used throughout this article are provided in the materials and methods section. Activation of CD8<sup>+</sup> T cells is reflected by expression of CD107a, as well as cytokine production of IFN<sub>Y</sub> and TNF.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Analysis of antigen-specific T cells in patients
IRISS01, IRISS05, IRISS09, and IRISS12. Reactivity of antigen-specific CD4<sup>+</sup>
T cells against selected individual tumor-associated peptides was evaluated by
ICS over time. Respective time points of sample obtainment for individual patients are indicated. Patients PBMCs were presensitized for 12 days, restimulated with denoted peptides, and tested in ICS as detailed in Material and Methods.
(A–D) Expression of CD154, IFN-γ, TNF, and IL-2 in the CD4<sup>+</sup> subset. For
IRISS05 and IRISS12, cell numbers were limited before RFA treatment (day 0).
Therefore, peptide pools were used. (E) Dot-plots corresponding with tests shown in (D) showing FN1-reactive CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells 1.5M after RFA. Positive responses were defined as detailed in Material and Methods. Additional negative test results are omitted.

Supplementary Figure 3 | Immunohistochemical evaluation of CD4 and HSP70 in distant CRC liver metastases resected after RFA. (A,B) Infiltration of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells

#### REFERENCES

- Rhim H, Goldberg SN, Dodd GD III, Solbiati L, Lim HK, Tonolini M, et al. Essential techniques for successful radio-frequency thermal ablation of malignant hepatic tumors. *Radiographics*. (2001) 21:S17–35. doi: 10.1148/radiographics.21.suppl\_1.g01oc11s17
- 2. Chu KF, Dupuy DE. Thermal ablation of tumours: biological mechanisms and advances in therapy. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2014) 14:199–208. doi: 10.1038/nrc3672
- Gillams AR, Lees WR. Five-year survival in 309 patients with colorectal liver metastases treated with radiofrequency ablation. *Eur Radiol.* (2009) 19:1206–13. doi: 10.1007/s00330-008-1258-5
- Lyons NJ, Pathak S, Daniels IR, Spiers A, Smart NJ. Percutaneous management of pulmonary metastases arising from colorectal cancer; a systematic review. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* (2015) 41:1447–55. doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2015.07.018
- de Jong MC, Pulitano C, Ribero D, Strub J, Mentha G, Schulick RD, et al. Rates and patterns of recurrence following curative intent surgery for colorectal liver metastasis: an international multi-institutional analysis of 1669 patients. *Ann Surg.* (2009) 250:440–8. doi: 10.1097/SLA.0b013e3181b4539b
- Wong SL, Mangu PB, Choti MA, Crocenzi TS, Dodd GD III, Dorfman GS, et al. American Society of Clinical Oncology 2009 clinical evidence review on radiofrequency ablation of hepatic metastases from colorectal cancer. J Clin Oncol. (2010) 28:493–508. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.2 3.4450
- Puijk RS, Ruarus AH, Vroomen LGPH, van Tilborg AAJM, Scheffer HJ, Nielsen K, et al. Colorectal liver metastases: surgery versus thermal ablation (COLLISION) - a phase III single-blind prospective randomized controlled trial. *BMC Cancer*. (2018) 18:821. doi: 10.1186/s12885-018-4 716-8
- Haen SP, Pereira PL, Salih HR, Rammensee HG, Gouttefangeas C. More than just tumor destruction: immunomodulation by thermal ablation of cancer. *Clin Dev Immunol.* (2011) 2011:160250. doi: 10.1155/2011/160250
- Ngwa W, Irabor OC, Schoenfeld JD, Hesser J, Demaria S, Formenti SC. Using immunotherapy to boost the abscopal effect. *Nat Rev Cancer*. (2018) 18:313–22. doi: 10.1038/nrc.2018.6
- Marconi R, Strolin S, Bossi G, Strigari L. A meta-analysis of the abscopal effect in preclinical models: Is the biologically effective dose a relevant physical trigger? *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0171559. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0 171559
- 11. den Brok MH, Sutmuller RP, van dV, Bennink EJ, Figdor CG, Ruers TJ, et al. *In situ* tumor ablation creates an antigen source for the

(including Th, T<sub>regs</sub>, possibly macrophages) into the invasive tumor margin (**A**; border) and tumor center (**B**) was assessed in immunohistochemistry revealing decreased detection of CD4<sup>+</sup> cells in patients who underwent RFA before surgery. (**C**,**D**) Heat shock protein 70 (HSP70) expression was significantly diminished in the cytoplasm (cyt., **C**) and in the nucleus (nuc., **D**). Staining of cells was automatically calculated (left) in digitalized slides. Numbers represent absolute cell counts with specific staining per high power field (HPF) by automated counting. Exemplary immunohistochemistry stainings are provided in the middle (patients after surgical resection) and right (patients after both RFA and surgical resection) columns (20-fold magnification). Differences were assessed using the Mann Whitney *U*-Test with *p* < 0.05 considered as significant.

Supplementary Table 1 | Patient characteristics.

Supplementary Table 2 | Overview of selected individual peptides for immunological testing.

Supplementary Table 3 | Selection of HLA class I peptides for identification of potential candidate antigens for immune analyses. A detailed description of the different selection steps can be found in **Figure 2** (exemplified for patient IRISS12).

Supplementary Table 4 | Selection of HLA class II peptides for identification of potential candidate antigens for immune analyses. A detailed description of the different selection steps can be found in **Figure 3** (exemplified for patient IRISS12).

generation of antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res.* (2004) 64:4024–9. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-03-3949

- Gonzalez FE, Gleisner A, Falcon-Beas F, Osorio F, Lopez MN, Salazar-Onfray F. Tumor cell lysates as immunogenic sources for cancer vaccine design. *Hum Vaccin Immunother*. (2014) 10:3261–9. doi: 10.4161/21645515.2014.9 82996
- Keenan BP, Jaffee EM. Whole cell vaccines-past progress and future strategies. Semin Oncol. (2012) 39:276–86. doi: 10.1053/j.seminoncol.2012. 02.007
- Bramhall RJ, Mahady K, Peach AH. Spontaneous regression of metastatic melanoma - clinical evidence of the abscopal effect. *Eur J Surg Oncol.* (2014) 40:34–41. doi: 10.1016/j.ejso.2013. 09.026
- Postow MA, Callahan MK, Barker CA, Yamada Y, Yuan J, Kitano S, et al. Immunologic correlates of the abscopal effect in a patient with melanoma. *N Engl J Med.* (2012) 366:925–31. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1112824
- Stamell EF, Wolchok JD, Gnjatic S, Lee NY, Brownell I. The abscopal effect associated with a systemic anti-melanoma immune response. *Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys.* (2013) 85:293–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ijrobp.2012.03.017
- 17. Tran E, Turcotte S, Gros A, Robbins PF, Lu YC, Dudley ME, et al. Cancer immunotherapy based on mutation-specific CD4+ T cells in a patient with epithelial cancer. *Science*. (2014) 344:641–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1251102
- Löffler MW, Mohr C, Bichmann L, Freudenmann LK, Walzer M, Schroeder CM, et al. Multi-omics discovery of exome-derived neoantigens in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Genome Med.* (2019) 11:28. doi: 10.1186/s13073-019-0636-8
- Bassani-Sternberg M, Braunlein E, Klar R, Engleitner T, Sinitcyn P, Audehm S, et al. Direct identification of clinically relevant neoepitopes presented on native human melanoma tissue by mass spectrometry. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:13404. doi: 10.1038/ncomms13404
- Parkhurst MR, Robbins PF, Tran E, Prickett TD, Gartner JJ, Jia L, et al. Unique neoantigens arise from somatic mutations in patients with gastrointestinal cancers. *Cancer Discov.* (2019) 9:1022–35. doi: 10.1158/2159-8290.CD-18-1494
- Le DT, Durham JN, Smith KN, Wang H, Bartlett BR, Aulakh LK, et al. Mismatch repair deficiency predicts response of solid tumors to PD-1 blockade. Science. (2017) 357:409–13. doi: 10.1126/science.aan6733
- 22. Cobbold M, De La PH, Norris A, Polefrone JM, Qian J, English AM, et al. MHC class I-associated phosphopeptides are the targets of memory-like immunity in leukemia. *Sci Transl Med.* (2013) 5:203ra125. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3006061

- Laumont CM, Vincent K, Hesnard L, Audemard E, Bonneil E, Laverdure JP, et al. Noncoding regions are the main source of targetable tumor-specific antigens. *Sci Transl Med.* (2018) 10:eaau5516. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aau5516
- Marijt KA, Blijleven L, Verdegaal EME, Kester MG, Kowalewski DJ, Rammensee HG, et al. Identification of non-mutated neoantigens presented by TAP-deficient tumors. J Exp Med. (2018) 215:2325–37. doi: 10.1084/jem.20180577
- Zhang M, Fritsche J, Roszik J, Williams LJ, Peng X, Chiu Y, et al. RNA editing derived epitopes function as cancer antigens to elicit immune responses. *Nat Commun.* (2018) 9:3919. doi: 10.1038/s41467-018-06405-9
- Liu Y, Dong Y, Kong L, Shi F, Zhu H, Yu J. Abscopal effect of radiotherapy combined with immune checkpoint inhibitors. *J Hematol Oncol.* (2018) 11:104. doi: 10.1186/s13045-018-0647-8
- Widenmeyer M, Shebzukhov Y, Haen SP, Schmidt D, Clasen S, Boss A, et al. Analysis of tumor antigen-specific T cells and antibodies in cancer patients treated with radiofrequency ablation. *Int J Cancer.* (2011) 128:2653–62. doi: 10.1002/ijc.25601
- Barnstable CJ, Bodmer WF, Brown G, Galfre G, Milstein C, Williams AF, et al. Production of monoclonal antibodies to group A erythrocytes, HLA and other human cell surface antigens-new tools for genetic analysis. *Cell*. (1978) 14:9–20. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(78)90296-9
- Nepom BS, Nepom GT, Coleman M, Kwok WW. Critical contribution of beta chain residue 57 in peptide binding ability of both HLA-DR and -DQ molecules. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1996) 93:7202–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.93.14.7202
- Busch FW, Langer M, Pawelec G, Ziegler A, Wernet P, Buhring HJ, et al. HLAclass II antigens on human hematopoietic progenitors. *Blut.* (1987) 54:179–88. doi: 10.1007/BF00320375
- Kowalewski DJ, Stevanovic S. Biochemical large-scale identification of MHC class I ligands. *Methods Mol Biol.* (2013) 960:145–157. doi: 10.1007/978-1-62703-218-6\_12
- 32. Löffler MW, Kowalewski DJ, Backert L, Bernhardt J, Adam P, Schuster H, et al. Mapping the HLA ligandome of colorectal cancer reveals an imprint of malignant cell transformation. *Cancer Res.* (2018) 78:4627–41. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-17-1745
- Käll L, Canterbury JD, Weston J, Noble WS, MacCoss MJ. Semi-supervised learning for peptide identification from shotgun proteomics datasets. *Nat Methods*. (2007) 4:923–25. doi: 10.1038/nmeth1113
- Rammensee H, Bachmann J, Emmerich NP, Bachor OA, Stevanovic S. SYFPEITHI: database for MHC ligands and peptide motifs. *Immunogenetics*. (1999) 50:213–9. doi: 10.1007/s002510050595
- Andreatta M, Nielsen M. Gapped sequence alignment using artificial neural networks: application to the MHC class I system. *Bioinformatics*. (2016) 32:511–7. doi: 10.1093/bioinformatics/btv639
- Sturm M, Schroeder C, Bauer P. SeqPurge: highly-sensitive adapter trimming for paired-end NGS data. *BMC Bioinformatics*. (2016) 17:208. doi: 10.1186/s12859-016-1069-7
- Lundegaard C, Lamberth K, Harndahl M, Buus S, Lund O, Nielsen M. NetMHC-3.0: accurate web accessible predictions of human, mouse and monkey MHC class I affinities for peptides of length 8-11. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2008) 36:W509–12. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkn202
- Behrendt R, White P, Offer J. Advances in Fmoc solid-phase peptide synthesis. J Pept Sci. (2016) 22:4–27. doi: 10.1002/psc.2836
- Widenmeyer M, Griesemann H, Stevanovic S, Feyerabend S, Klein R, Attig S, et al. Promiscuous survivin peptide induces robust CD4+ T-cell responses in the majority of vaccinated cancer patients. *Int J Cancer*. (2012) 131:140–9. doi: 10.1002/ijc.26365
- Wienert S, Heim D, Kotani M, Lindequist B, Stenzinger A, Ishii M, et al. CognitionMaster: an object-based image analysis framework. *Diagn Pathol.* (2013) 8:34. doi: 10.1186/1746-159 6-8-34
- Dunne MR, Michielsen AJ, O'Sullivan KE, Cathcart MC, Feighery R, Doyle B, et al. HLA-DR expression in tumor epithelium is an independent prognostic indicator in esophageal adenocarcinoma patients. *Cancer Immunol Immunother*. (2017) 66:841-50. doi: 10.1007/s00262-017-1983-1

- Remmele W, Stegner HE. Recommendation for uniform definition of an immunoreactive score. (IRS) for immunohistochemical estrogen receptor detection (ER-ICA) in breast cancer tissue. *Pathologe*. (1987) 8:138–40.
- Halama N, Michel S, Kloor M, Zoernig I, Benner A, Spille A, et al. Localization and density of immune cells in the invasive margin of human colorectal cancer liver metastases are prognostic for response to chemotherapy. *Cancer Res.* (2011) 71:5670–7. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-0268
- 44. Stevanovic S, Pasetto A, Helman SR, Gartner JJ, Prickett TD, Howie B, et al. Landscape of immunogenic tumor antigens in successful immunotherapy of virally induced epithelial cancer. *Science*. (2017) 356:200– 5. doi: 10.1126/science.aak9510
- 45. Haen SP, Gouttefangeas C, Schmidt D, Boss A, Clasen S, von HA, et al. Elevated serum levels of heat shock protein 70 can be detected after radiofrequency ablation. *Cell Stress Chaperones*. (2011) 16:495–504. doi: 10.1007/s12192-011-0261-y
- 46. Schueller G, Kettenbach J, Sedivy R, Stift A, Friedl J, Gnant M, et al. Heat shock protein expression induced by percutaneous radiofrequency ablation of hepatocellular carcinoma in vivo. *Int J Oncol.* (2004) 24:609–13. doi: 10.3892/ijo.24.3.609
- Domingo-Musibay E, Heun JM, Nevala WK, Callstrom M, Atwell T, Galanis E, et al. Endogenous heat-shock protein induction with or without radiofrequency ablation or cryoablation in patients with stage IV melanoma. *Oncologist.* (2017) 22:1026–e93. doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2017-0060
- Abuodeh Y, Venkat P, Kim S. Systematic review of case reports on the abscopal effect. *Curr Probl Cancer*. (2016) 40:25–37. doi: 10.1016/j.currproblcancer.2015.10.001
- Freudenmann LK, Marcu A, Stevanovic S. Mapping the tumour human leukocyte antigen (HLA) ligandome by mass spectrometry. *Immunology*. (2018) 154:331–45. doi: 10.1111/imm.12936
- Yadav M, Jhunjhunwala S, Phung QT, Lupardus P, Tanguay J, Bumbaca S, et al. Predicting immunogenic tumour mutations by combining mass spectrometry and exome sequencing. *Nature*. (2014) 515:572–6. doi: 10.1038/nature14001
- Gubin MM, Zhang X, Schuster H, Caron E, Ward JP, Noguchi T, et al. Checkpoint blockade cancer immunotherapy targets tumour-specific mutant antigens. *Nature*. (2014) 515:577–81. doi: 10.1038/nature13988
- Fritsche J, Rakitsch B, Hoffgaard F, Romer M, Schuster H, Kowalewski DJ, et al. Translating immunopeptidomics to immunotherapy-decision-making for patient and personalized target selection. *Proteomics*. (2018) 18:e1700284. doi: 10.1002/pmic.201700284
- Ebner DK, Kamada T, Yamada S. Abscopal effect in recurrent colorectal cancer treated with carbon-ion radiation therapy: 2 case reports. *Adv Radiat Oncol.* (2017) 2:333–8. doi: 10.1016/j.adro.2017.06.001
- Buonaguro L, Petrizzo A, Tagliamonte M, Tornesello ML, Buonaguro FM. Challenges in cancer vaccine development for hepatocellular carcinoma. J Hepatol. (2013) 59:897–903. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2013.05.031
- Dromi SA, Walsh MP, Herby S, Traughber B, Xie J, Sharma KV, et al. Radiofrequency ablation induces antigen-presenting cell infiltration and amplification of weak tumor-induced immunity. *Radiology*. (2009) 251:58–66. doi: 10.1148/radiol.2511072175
- Lhuillier C, Rudqvist NP, Elemento O, Formenti SC, Demaria S. Radiation therapy and anti-tumor immunity: exposing immunogenic mutations to the immune system. *Genome Med.* (2019) 11:40. doi: 10.1186/s13073-019-0653-7
- 57. Chen J, Zurawski G, Zurawski S, Wang Z, Akagawa K, Oh S, et al. A novel vaccine for mantle cell lymphoma based on targeting cyclin D1 to dendritic cells via CD40. J Hematol Oncol. (2015) 8:35. doi: 10.1186/s13045-015-0131-7
- Löffler MW, Chandran PA, Laske K, Schroeder C, Bonzheim I, Walzer M, et al. Personalized peptide vaccine-induced immune response associated with longterm survival of a metastatic cholangiocarcinoma patient. *J Hepatol.* (2016) 65:849–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jhep.2016.06.027
- Zerbini A, Pilli M, Penna A, Pelosi G, Schianchi C, Molinari A, et al. Radiofrequency thermal ablation of hepatocellular carcinoma liver nodules can activate and enhance tumor-specific T-cell responses. *Cancer Res.* (2006) 66:1139–46. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-2244
- Long L, Wei L, Hong W. Meta-analysis of long-term outcomes in patients with colorectal liver metastases undergoing hepatectomy with or without radiofrequency ablation. *Am Surg.* (2018) 84:1913–23.

- Ott PA, Hu Z, Keskin DB, Shukla SA, Sun J, Bozym DJ, et al. An immunogenic personal neoantigen vaccine for patients with melanoma. *Nature*. (2017) 547:217–21. doi: 10.1038/nature22991
- Sahin U, Derhovanessian E, Miller M, Kloke BP, Simon P, Lower M, et al. Personalized RNA mutanome vaccines mobilize poly-specific therapeutic immunity against cancer. *Nature*. (2017) 547:222–6. doi: 10.1038/nature 23003
- Keskin DB, Anandappa AJ, Sun J, Tirosh I, Mathewson ND, Li S, et al. Neoantigen vaccine generates intratumoral T cell responses in phase Ib glioblastoma trial. *Nature*. (2019) 565:234–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0792-9
- Hilf N, Kuttruff-Coqui S, Frenzel K, Bukur V, Stevanovic S, Gouttefangeas C, et al. Actively personalized vaccination trial for newly diagnosed glioblastoma. *Nature*. (2019) 565:240–5. doi: 10.1038/s41586-018-0810-y
- Hodi FS, O'Day SJ, McDermott DF, Weber RW, Sosman JA, Haanen JB, et al. Improved survival with ipilimumab in patients with metastatic melanoma. N Engl J Med. (2010) 363:711–23. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1003466
- Reck M, Rodriguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, Hui R, Csoszi T, Fulop A, et al. Pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for PD-L1-positive non-small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. (2016) 375:1823–33. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1606774
- Forde PM, Chaft JE, Smith KN, Anagnostou V, Cottrell TR, Hellmann MD, et al. Neoadjuvant PD-1 blockade in resectable lung cancer. N Engl J Med. (2018) 378:1976–86. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1716078
- Perez-Riverol Y, Csordas A, Bai J, Bernal-Llinares M, Hewapathirana S, Kundu DJ, et al. The PRIDE database and related tools and resources in 2019: improving support for quantification data. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2019) 47:D442–50. doi: 10.1093/nar/gky1106

**Conflict of Interest:** ML, DK, SS, and SH are the inventors of patents owned by Immatics Biotechnologies GmbH. DK is an employee of Immatics biotechnologies GmbH, GJ is employed by CeGaT GmbH, and BN by Roche Diagnostics. H-GR has ownership interest (including patents) in Immatics, CureVac, and Synimmune.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Citation: Löffler MW, Nussbaum B, Jäger G, Jurmeister PS, Budczies J, Pereira PL, Clasen S, Kowalewski DJ, Mühlenbruch L, Königsrainer I, Beckert S, Ladurner R, Wagner S, Bullinger F, Gross TH, Schroeder C, Sipos B, Königsrainer A, Stevanović S, Denkert C, Rammensee H-G, Gouttefangeas C and Haen SP (2019) A Noninterventional Clinical Trial Assessing Immune Responses After Radiofrequency Ablation of Liver Metastases From Colorectal Cancer. Front. Immunol. 10:2526. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02526

Copyright © 2019 Löffler, Nussbaum, Jäger, Jurmeister, Budczies, Pereira, Clasen, Kowalewski, Mühlenbruch, Königsrainer, Beckert, Ladurner, Wagner, Bullinger, Gross, Schroeder, Sipos, Königsrainer, Stevanović, Denkert, Rammensee, Gouttefangeas and Haen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

